
Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       1                                                                                                              August 17, 2021 

           

County of Inyo 
Board of Supervisors 

Board of Supervisors Room 
County Administrative Center 

224 North Edwards 
Independence, California 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public Notices: (1)  In Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting please contact the Clerk of the Board at 
(760) 878-0373.  (28 CFR 35.102-35.104 ADA Title II). Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the County to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility 
to this meeting. Should you because of a disability require appropriate alternative formatting of this agenda, please notify the Clerk of the Board 72 hours prior to the meeting to 
enable the County to make the agenda available in a reasonable alternative format. (Government Code Section 54954.2).  (2) If a writing, that is a public record relating to an 
agenda item for an open session of a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors, is distributed less than 72 hours prior to the meeting, the writing shall be available for public 
inspection at the Office of the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, 224 N. Edwards, Independence, California and is available per Government Code § 54957.5(b)(1).               

Note: Historically the Board does break for lunch; the timing of a lunch break is made at the discretion of the Chairperson and at the Board’s convenience. 

 

August 17, 2021 - 8:30 AM 

  
 

 1. PUBLIC COMMENT (Join meeting via Zoom here) 
  

 

CLOSED SESSION  
  

 

  2. PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT – Pursuant to Government Code §54957 – Title: County 
Administrator. 

  
 

  3. CONFERENCE WITH COUNTY’S LABOR NEGOTIATORS – Pursuant to 
Government Code §54957.6 – Regarding employee organizations: Deputy Sheriff’s 
Association (DSA); Elected Officials Assistant Association (EOAA); Inyo County 
Correctional Officers Association (ICCOA); Inyo County Employees Association 
(ICEA); Inyo County Probation Peace Officers Association (ICPPOA); IHSS Workers; 
Law Enforcement Administrators’ Association (LEAA). Unrepresented employees: all. 
County designated representatives – County Administrator Leslie Chapman, Deputy 
Personnel Director Sue Dishion, County Counsel Marshall Rudolph, Health and 
Human Services Director Marilyn Mann, and Chief Probation Officer Jeff Thomson. 

  
 

OPEN SESSION (With the exception of timed items, all open-session items may be considered at any 
time and in any order during the meeting in the Board’s discretion.) 

  
 

10 A.M. 4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  

 

  5. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION AS REQUIRED BY LAW. 

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC:  In order to minimize the spread of the COVID-19 virus, Governor Newsom has issued 
Executive Orders that temporarily suspend certain requirements of the Brown Act. Please be advised that the 
Board of Supervisors Chambers are closed to the public, the Board will be conducting its meetings exclusively 
online.  

Board Members and Staff will participate via Zoom webinar, accessible to the public at 
https://zoom.us/j/868254781. Individuals will be asked to provide their name and an email address in order to 
access the videoconference. Anyone who does not want to provide their email address may use the following 
generic, non-functioning address to gain access: donotreply@inyocounty.us.  

Anyone wishing to make either a general public comment or a comment on a specific agenda item prior to the 
meeting or as the item is being heard, may do so either in writing or by utilizing the Zoom "hand-raising” feature 
when appropriate during the meeting (the Chair will call on those who wish to speak). Generally, speakers are 
limited to three minutes. Written public comment, limited to 250 words or less, may be emailed to the Assistant 
Clerk of the Board at boardclerk@inyocounty.us. Your comments may or may not be read aloud, but all comments 
will be made a part of the record. Please make sure to submit a separate email for each item upon which you wish 
to comment. 

 

https://inyococa.v8.civicclerk.com/Meetings/Agenda/ItemFields?id=7609
https://inyococa.v8.civicclerk.com/Meetings/Agenda/ItemFields?id=7609
https://zoom.us/j/868254781
mailto:donotreply@inyocounty.us
mailto:boardclerk@inyocounty.us


Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       2                                                                                                              August 17, 2021 

  
 

  6. PUBLIC COMMENT 
  

 

  7. COUNTY DEPARTMENT REPORTS (Reports limited to two minutes) 
  

 

  8. COVID-19 STAFF UPDATE 
  

 

  9. INTRODUCTIONS - The following new Sheriff's deputies will be introduced to the 
Board: Eric Clinton, Mark Loyd, and Timothy Plunkett. 

  
 

DEPARTMENTAL - PERSONNEL ACTIONS  
  

 

 10. Public Works - Request Board find that, consistent with the adopted Authorized 
Position Review Policy: A) the availability of funding for one (1) Mechanic Trainee 
exists in the Road Fund, as certified by the Public Works Director and concurred with 
by the County Administrator and Auditor-Controller; B) where internal candidates may 
meet the qualifications for the position, the vacancy could possibly be filled through 
an internal recruitment, but an open recruitment is more appropriate to ensure 
qualified applicants apply; and C) approve the hiring of one (1) Mechanic Trainee at 
Range 50 ($3,094 - $3,764) or Mechanic Trainee II at Range 52 ($3,243 - $3,940) 
depending on qualifications. 

  
 

 11. Public Works - Request Board find that, consistent with the adopted Authorized 
Position Review Policy: A) the availability of funding for one (1) Equipment Operator 
Heavy I / II exists in the Roads Budget, as certified by the Public Works Director and 
concurred with by the County Administrator and Auditor-Controller; B) where internal 
candidates may meet the qualifications for the position, the vacancy could possibly 
be filled through an internal recruitment, but an open recruitment is more appropriate 
to ensure qualified applicants apply; and C) approve the hiring of one (1) Equipment 
Operator Heavy I at Range 58 ($3,726 - $4,533) or Equipment Operator Heavy II at 
Range 60 ($3,908 - $4,747), depending on qualifications. 

  
 

CONSENT AGENDA (Approval recommended by the County Administrator) 
  

 

  12. Clerk/Recorder - Request Board approve payment to DFM Associates in an amount 
of $15,720.00 for the annual DFM Associates software License Maintenance and 
Support Fee, contingent upon the Board's adoption of the 2021-2022 annual budget. 

  
 

 13. Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health - Request approval to pay County 
Behavioral Health Directors Association (CBHDA) membership dues for Fiscal Year 
2021- 2022 in an amount not to exceed $19,301, contingent upon the Board’s 
adoption of the Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Budget. 

  
 

 14. Public Works - Request Board approve Resolution No. 2021-43, titled, "A Resolution 
of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of California Authorizing the 
Adoption of Caltrans' Local Assistance Procedures Manual Chapter 10," and 
authorize the Chairperson to sign. 

  
 

DEPARTMENTAL (To be considered at the Board's convenience) 
  

 

 15. County Counsel - Request Board waive further reading of the proposed ordinance 
titled, "An Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of 
California, Repealing and Replacing Certain Sections of Title 22 of the Inyo County 
Code Related to Code Enforcement," and schedule enactment for 11 a.m. 
September 7, 2021 in the Board of Supervisors Chambers, County Administrative 



Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       3                                                                                                              August 17, 2021 

Center, Independence. 
  

 

 16. Health & Human Services - Request Board ratify and approve the agreement 
between the County of Inyo and HolaDoctor Inc. of Doral, FL for compensation of 
services satisfactorily rendered to support Spanish Language Services for Health & 
Human Services activities in Inyo County, in the amount of $30,000 for the period of 
July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon the approval of future budgets, 
and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures 
being obtained. 

  
 

 17. Health & Human Services - Health/Prevention - Request Board ratify and approve 
the agreement between the County of Inyo and Cardno ChemRisk of San Francisco, 
CA for compensation of services satisfactorily rendered to support Epidemiology 
services for Public Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response activities as part of the 
ELC 2 & ELC Expansion Grant in Inyo County, in the amount of $120,000 for the 
period of July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon approval of future 
budgets, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate 
signatures being obtained. 

  
 

 18. Health & Human Services - Social Services - Request Board ratify and approve 
the contract between the County of lnyo and the State of California Department of 
Social Services for the provision of legal consultation and representation in 
administrative action appeals associated with the Resource Family Approval 
program, for the period July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2024 and authorize the HHS 
Director to sign. 

  
 

 19. County Administrator - Personnel - Request Board ratify and approve the contract 
between the County of Inyo and Hanson Bridgett LLP for the provision of Specialized 
Law Enforcement Legal Services and Employment Advice, in the amount of 
$100,000 for the term of July 26, 2021 through June 30, 2022, contingent upon the 
Board’s adoption of the Fiscal Year 2020-2021 Budget, authorize the Chairperson to 
sign the contract and HIPPA Business Associate Agreement, contingent upon 
obtaining all appropriate signatures.  

  
 

 20. County Administrator - Request Board: A) declare a limited amount of office 
furniture staged at the fairgrounds after the move to the County Office Building to be 
surplus; and B) approve the donation of said office furniture to various local agencies 
(4/5ths vote required). 

  
 

 21. Clerk of the Board - Request Board approve the minutes of the regular Board of 
Supervisors meetings of July 27, 2021, August 3, 2021, and August 10, 2021. 

  
 

TIMED ITEMS (Items will not be considered before scheduled time but may be considered any time after 
the scheduled time.) 

  
 

 22. 11 a.m. - County Counsel/County Administrator - Request Board: A) approve an 
ordinance titled, “An Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, 
State of California, Repealing Chapter 2.07 of the Inyo County Code, Pertaining to 
Reorganization of County Departments and Offices;” and B) approve an ordinance 
titled, “An Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of 
California, Repealing Ordinance Number 1044 and Establishing a New Chapter 2.30 
of the Inyo County Code.” 

  
 

 23. 11 a.m. - Planning Department - Request Board: A) receive a presentation from 
staff on General Plan Amendment 2021-01/Inyo County – 2021 General Plan 
Housing Element Update; B) conduct a public hearing; C) approve General Plan 



Board of Supervisors AGENDA                                                                                                       4                                                                                                              August 17, 2021 

Amendment 2021-01/Inyo County – 2021 General Plan Housing Element Update and 
certify that it is a Negative Declaration of Environmental Impact; and D) direct staff to 
send to the California Department of Housing and Community Development for 
certification. 

  
 

COMMENT (Portion of the Agenda when the Board takes comment from the public and County staff) 
  

 

  24. PUBLIC COMMENT 
  

 

BOARD MEMBERS AND STAFF REPORTS  
  

 

 



County of Inyo

Public Works
 

DEPARTMENTAL - PERSONNEL ACTIONS - ACTION 
REQUIRED

 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Sally Faircloth
 
SUBJECT:  Request and Fill Equipment Mechanic Trainee I/II vacant position
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board find that, consistent with the adopted Authorized Position Review Policy: A) the availability of 
funding for one (1) Mechanic Trainee exists in the Road Fund, as certified by the Public Works Director and 
concurred with by the County Administrator and Auditor-Controller; B) where internal candidates may meet the 
qualifications for the position, the vacancy could possibly be filled through an internal recruitment, but an open 
recruitment is more appropriate to ensure qualified applicants apply; and C) approve the hiring of one (1) 
Mechanic Trainee at Range 50 ($3,094 - $3,764) or Mechanic Trainee II at Range 52 ($3,243 - $3,940) 
depending on qualifications.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Road Department lost an employee due to outside recruitment to another agency as of August 12, 2021. This 
position is critical for routine and emergency repairs to all Road Department fleet.  The Mechanic Trainee position 
provides opportunities for training and career advancement within the County Road Department structure as 
Equipment Mechanic classification recruitment has proven to be difficult to find qualified applicants.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The Board could choose not to fill this vacancy. However, this is not recommended as this position is crucial and 
responds to a high volume of repair orders for the County Road Department fleet.  
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Personnel Department for recruitment
Auditor

 
FINANCING:



Agenda Request 
Page 2

This position is funded 100% out of the Road Department budget number 034600 in salaries and benefits object codes.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
 
APPROVALS:
Sally Faircloth Created/Initiated - 8/4/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/4/2021
Sally Faircloth Approved - 8/4/2021
Breanne Nelums Approved - 8/4/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/5/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/5/2021
Sue Dishion Approved - 8/5/2021
Michael Errante Final Approval - 8/5/2021



County of Inyo

Public Works
 

DEPARTMENTAL - PERSONNEL ACTIONS - ACTION 
REQUIRED

 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Sally Faircloth
 
SUBJECT:  Request and Fill Equipment Heavy Operator I / II vacant position
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board find that, consistent with the adopted Authorized Position Review Policy: A) the availability of 
funding for one (1) Equipment Operator Heavy I / II exists in the Roads Budget, as certified by the Public Works 
Director and concurred with by the County Administrator and Auditor-Controller; B) where internal candidates may 
meet the qualifications for the position, the vacancy could possibly be filled through an internal recruitment, but an 
open recruitment is more appropriate to ensure qualified applicants apply; and C) approve the hiring of one (1) 
Equipment Operator Heavy I at Range 58 ($3,726 - $4,533) or Equipment Operator Heavy II at Range 60 ($3,908 
- $4,747), depending on qualifications.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Road Department lost an employee due to outside recruitment to another agency as of July 8, 2021.  This position 
is critical for the daily operations within the Road Department.  It is essential to fill this position in order to maintain the 
consistent level of service for the residents of Inyo County that the Road Department strives to maintain.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The Board could choose not to fill this vacancy. However, this is not recommended as this position is crucial to 
maintaining county roads.  
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
Personnel Department for recruitment
Auditor
 
FINANCING:
This position is funded 100% out of the Road Department budget number 034600 in salaries and benefits object codes.
 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

ATTACHMENTS:
 
APPROVALS:
Sally Faircloth Created/Initiated - 8/4/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/4/2021
Sally Faircloth Approved - 8/4/2021
Breanne Nelums Approved - 8/4/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/5/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/5/2021
Sue Dishion Approved - 8/5/2021
Michael Errante Final Approval - 8/5/2021



County of Inyo

Clerk-Recorder
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Michele Hartshorn
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of annual payment to DFM for Software License Maintenance and Support Fee.
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Clerk/Recorder - Request Board approve payment to DFM Associates in an amount of $15,720.00 for the 
annual DFM Associates software License Maintenance and Support Fee, contingent upon the Board's adoption 
of the 2021-2022 annual budget.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
On April 24, 2007 the Inyo County Board of Supervisors declared DFM Associates as the sole source provider for 
voter registration software and approved a contract between the County of Inyo and DFM Associates for use of 
their EMS voter registration system.  Per the Board approved contract, the initial term of the lease was "Sixty (60) 
months from the installation of the EIMS and continuing thereafter until the next following June 30th.  The entire 
amount to fulfill the financial obligations under the initial lease terms of the contract was encumbered in the 2007-
2008 fiscal year.  Payments were made to DFM Associates monthly from July 1, 2007 to June 30, June 30, 2012.

According to the Article 9 of the contract, "After the expiration of the initial term, this Agreement will automatically 
continue with respect to such Specified DFM Software or such Specified Consulting Services on a year to year 
basis, unless either party gives the other written notice..."

this request is to authorize an annual payment in the amount of $15,720.00 to continue the lease with DFM 
Associates for the term of July 1, 2021 - June 30, 2022.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
On April 24, 2007 the Inyo County Board of Supervisors declared DFM Associates as the sole source provider for 
voter registration software and approved a contract between the County of Inyo and DFM Associates for use of 
their EMS voter registration system and has continued annually to approve DFM as a sole source provider.
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The DFM software system is used to electronically manage voter registration and election administration in Inyo 
County.  the Board can deny the approval of this payment, which would result in the discontinuation of the use of 
the EIMS Voter Registration and Elections Management System and the inability to electronically manage 
election related services as required by State and Federal law.



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
This annual payment will be made from the Elections Budget - General Operating Expenses (011000-5311), 
contingent upon the adoption of the 2021-2022 budget.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. DFM Annual Payment 2021-2022
2. DFM Sole-Source Form & Master Contract 2021-2022
 
APPROVALS:
Michele Hartshorn Created/Initiated - 7/30/2021
Danielle Sexton Approved - 7/30/2021
Michele Hartshorn Approved - 8/5/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/9/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/9/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/9/2021
Michele Hartshorn Final Approval - 8/10/2021



DFM Associates
10 Chrysler, Suite A
lrvine, CA 92618

lnvoice
o

DFMAssociates 949-859-8700
949-859-9512 Fax#

BillTo

Date lnvoice #

71112021 46',t31

Ship To

County of Inyo
Kammi Foote, County-Clerk-Recorder
P.O. Drawer F
Independence, CA93526

P.O. Number Terms Ship S.O. No

Conhact 4127107 Net 30

Quantity Item Code Description U/M Price Each Amount

t2 CA - Inyo EIMS Lease

Per increase letter dated Apnl 1,2021

Annual Invoice:
For the months of July 2021 - Iune2022
Non Taxable Sales

l,310.00

0.00%

15,720.00

0.00

Total $ 15,720.00

www. DFMAssociates. com



1

Sole Source Justification Form

Sole Source: ls awarded for a commodity or services, which can only be purchased from one
supplier, usually because of its specific technological requirements, availability or unique patented
manufacture. The lack of planning is not an overriding circumstance.

This is a sole source because:

n There is only one known source because

n This is a sole provider of a licensed, copyrighted, or patented good or service.

X This is a sole provider of items compatible with existing equipment or systems,

f This is a sole provider of factory-authorized warranty service.

I This is a sole provider of goods or services that perform the intended function or
meet the specialized needs of the County (Please detail in an attachment).

I The requested product is used or demonstration equipment available at a lower -
than-new-cost.

n One source is the only practical way to respond to overriding circumstances that
make compliance with competitive procedures under the Authority's policies not in
the best interest of the Authority (Please detail in an attachment).

Please attach a memorandum to explain why the goods or services are not available
elsewhere, include names and phone numbers of firms contacted.

r Other brandslmanufacturers considered

. Other suppliers considered

r Other (i.e., emergency)

, Describe the item or sen,ice, its function and the total cost estimate (if practical,
separate labor and materials) in the space below or in a separate attached label
Description of ltem or Service.
Please see attached exhibit "A"

DEPARTMENT CONTACT PERSON & TITLE
Kammi Foote

DEPARTMENT NAME
Elections

neeue,srE$ Suppr-rEiricorusuL"tAN'r NAME

DFM Associates

SUPPLIER AODRESS

10 Chrysler # A, lrvine, CA 9261 8

PHONE
760-878-A224

SUPPLI ER CONTACT PERSON

Jeff Oiebolt

SUPPTIEN CONTACIS PHONE NUMSER

L9{qi*s-g:B-ZS-Q.

06t12



2

The County's Purchasing, Policy Manual Section lll.(E), Exceptions to the Competitive
Process/Sole Source and Section lV,(l), Sole Source iiequerits for lndependent Conlractors,
describe when sole sourcing ispermitted. By signing below, Requestor acknowledges that he/she
has read and understands the county's policy on sole source procurements

5l rq lr+
Date

06t12



.l

DFM ASSOCIATES

MASTER AGREEMENT

INYO COUNTY

RECITALS

A' DFM is willing to do any or att of the following at thc requcst of the county:
(l)Toprchase and rcset compute,r Hardwarc to the county;

(2)To lcase or licenso DEM softrrare to the co,nty;

(3) To lcase or subricpnse Thlrd paffy software to thc county; and/or

(4) To provide Consulting Services to the County,

B' Thc purpose of this AECcment is to generally describe thc various productsand serviccs D$'Mis wiuing to-f*ilar-i-"-lnrb{.,iii'irand whcn rha county ehooscs toutilizc thenn' and to establisi'theTasic confracfual rc** and conditions undcr which thoseproducrs and/or serviccs will bept""ic*, rdi;tol;frion4 tcnns andpmvisions sct forthin a separate Adden.dum which ilili 
ryeriry tlr* grouu*t or-service and thc particular tsrmsand provisions applicable rheieto:'h- ;d;il?iil*u-m wir! bccome a parr of thisAgreement' if and when it h*s been signeo an urhatioiiotl, *re county and DFM. NeitherDFM nor the cor? is obrigarcd"i" ,rt. 

91r,r, ,rgl;iiq *, of the products or servicesgenerally describ€d !*io ttittt* and until, ani ri* 
",i-ry 

to *, *nJiiilir, the specific
l|?lftffiTjce 

is identinea on aiparate Addend'm utrut *u t., r*to and signed cm behalf



TERMS AND CONDITION$

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agl.ee as follows:

ARTICLE 1.

DEFINITIONS

For purposes of ttris Agreernent, the following terms shall have the following

definitions, which incorporate b! referencc the standard definitions ofthe computer industry

established by tade usagc or custom to the extent such standard definitions dc not contradict

specific definitions set forth herein:

s,ddqndumlfu!.$enc|arefer$toanyaddendumsignedbytheparties|''"!oatanytime
or from tirne to ti** ffig to this Agreement whictr-specifrcally identifies the product or

senrice to be provided Uy ilfU to tfi" County and the price, payment terms and other

applicable information related thereto.

Mrefers to any computer, whether a main frame, mini.computer,

personal computer * frl*.*er, and related cornputer peripheral equipment and accessories'

compqtc.r l"latd,w4lg*vegdo*r refers to the corporation or other entity which

manufactures or supplies the Computer Hardware'

consrlldrrg services refers t0 any or all of the services which RrM is capable of and

*itting@unfy, includiog.onrultation with the counfy regarding ie data

processing and information systems.

PfM.s-gfusrBrefbrstoandincludesanyorallsoftrvaresystemsdevelopedbyDFM'
which DFM is witling to provide to the County'

I?ilp MaifltenaFce refers to the ability to update a database.

InifiAl-Inqtgllation FSe refers to the fee to be paid by the County to DFM for the initial

in*tullotion of tny Spttifi*d DFM Softrrare and/or any $pecified Computer Hardwnre'

I*sp+s T;p,nn refers to the term of the lease between the county and DFM regarding the

Countyt righl io ** any DFM Software and/or to utilize any Consulting Services" The

initial tease Term will be set forth on the Addendum and will be extended automatically

pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

2



3

Exhibit'.A"

On April 24,200'l the Inyo County Boatd of Supervisols declared DFM Associates as the sole sourcs
provider tbr voter regisfration software and approved a contract between the County of Inyc a1d DFtvl
Associates for use of their EMS voter registration system. Perthe Board approved contract, the initial term of
the lease rvas "Sixfy (60) months from the installation of the EIMS and continuing thereafter unti! the next
following June 30rh.

According to the Article 9 of the contLact, "After the expiration of the initial term, this Agreement will
automatically continue with respect to such Specified DFM Softivare or such Speclfied Consulting Services
on a year to year basis, unless either party gives the other written notice... " Sole-source is justitied for rhis
software for the following reasons:

I. A 'substantial amount of funds, timc and crlergy has been invested in training to use the system.
There would be a significant oost assosiated with training staff on a ,lew sysi.m to perfoim a
niajority of functions within the Department.

2. DFM is one of only two voter registration systems certified for use with VoteCal - the California
stntewide database, which we are cuffently in the process of fully inplementing,

3. The cr.trreut soflware systeru works well fbr the department, has excelle nt supporl and is well suitecl
to our needs.

06/12



Matlqgb refers to any documents, reports, instnrctions or writings, and any
annotations thereto, that explain or depict, generally or in detail, any aspeat of any particular
DFM Software, including but not limited to, all procedures and workings thereoi and the
Manuals may be on any format, including hard copy, on disk or on CD-ROM or any other
media.

Mge$-ly*[ss refers to the monthly charge by DFM to the County for the right of the
County to use any Specified DFM Software or to utilize any Specified Consulting Service.

Prograrns refers to all programs, sets of instructions and statements to be used directly
or indirectly on the Cornputer Hardware to facilitate, directly or indirectly, the use(sj,
maintenance or enhancemcnt of any particular DFM software.

$eft\Y,arp n$h$'npgnen[ refers to the addition of a new nFM Softrvare Subsystem or
the revision of any cxisting $ubsystcrn for any particular DFM software.

So.ftWarc.lybinseannpg refcrs to the maintenance ofthe Programs and the resolution of
any problems with respect to any Programs conceming internal coding and operation thereof.
The term Softrrare Maintenance is meant to include those modificationi, additions and

revisions of any particular DFM Software mandated by new legislative enactments.

$"p,frrvqlplqlpars refcrs to &emostrecentrcvision ofanyparticularDFM Software.

Spppi$q,sl.#qn$.ql.tigg $"p"rvjpsrefers to any particularConsutting Senice identified on
an Addendum attached hereto and signed on behalf of thc County and DFM.

$pecifiqd DFM gofuvsqe refers to any particular DFM $oftware identified on an
Addendum attached hereto and signed on behalf of the county and DFM.

$p*I:ifiqd {)gerating $Jfstsu.$oftwarq refers to the operating system softrvare provided
by a third pefty vendor for the Computer Hardware used by the County on *hich the
Specified DFM Software will operate.

Sub**ggm refers to any portion of any particular DFM Software which is related to a
specific fwctional area within the departrrrent of the County whic.h is using the Specified
DFM Softrvare pursuant to this Agreement.

Ibird Pa$y $rnftwq$l refers to any software, the rights of which are owned orheld by
an corporation or entity other than DFM.

3



EIMS ior Wlndourr
Hardwen Confgurrllon

Hardware Addendum

P.ft tlutnb*

*12923di

tt$T*Ftc-o01el
rdnPRcol0
22tn1C7t

bcptdtt

DFt#LTlrr
P^Alzn

L231}wnp

g.rcttf'do{l

tt*g toaWrttU"rr. gra rnd lppllcrdon Srrvrr

l*,o*o* *o t*Fl8 gt$l Ca{r J{srrfte s'oo*rl;tt Et 2"i6llr

ffi;;;;;;, "t'rru.*o 
2[43 Sorvat' $landafs sttitlo$ 

"'ilh 
5 CB'flt

Llo..nfi
il&* **o (1xnl$rBl' sitrol' Rrntad olMt'"lr

2 x t€e€g 7-2K RPM SATA HOO

NoFhPfY Ortt/6

ornl O$go.td NlCr

4sX IOECS'RIVOVS

i *o*r" g t. tur!4'ldor'l 200il git\tnf(Strnd8rd o' Entafx{m)

t**O *"-nto$ofi rnd Op'nMtnl{a CO Xlt

Bl.b Supfort

OG SaL sYr 2$s std Ed

SOL S.tr H.dh
OC SOL Slt 20of CAI
t\#,..l T.ndn l Svt CAL 2t3 8fi0 OLp Nt t-sc

tJ*. Ooi.at ct th' R"ort'v10 st'nd"d

fdoUt frrobrt l.O Sbtrdrfit ' Wttdot'il Ed[on

E[aE tu wl.rdffi tc'll3t*{olll
O*pnt cto Xft{To"ot lnl& P*ttlurrto 4 Froctoios

USA C.blo

Sc.tt*nc 8{fi*lt! uodltr (LcdT@b' Rqu}

Fulttu at{oo Sclnn r

Elld$ fo.wltrd€'sr ptltltltr I Elrcodt Bfidon

t l*fngtA L'id Sc.ilt r{S,'sd€ R'sdoo

q/tno L.btvtlttr 4oo Turna U$B

Au$ttY

t

1

Ptl€

1,76t.04

68.2G

189.?6

fiu.3e

1,1 15.00

Lt2
600.0o

tJ0o.N0

sge,00

120,99

1.75%

En Prbr

{,?E7.00

1

I

I
1

1

t
I
1

T

10

10

1

{

1

1

t
I

642.00

r89.26

3lxi.$

1,1'16.00

0.12

600.m

9lee.fi)

1,707.00

3t0.07

13,t12.03

6,000.00

20,000.00

3,0.16.75

. $n00

3

,

Tohl Hrrd$ntl 3rd PrtV $ofistt Cot!

Hal6rvrr Configuradal' p(*rf"rnmt I l.ilh$dho Fl6 (t'lot'a 3)

Drtr Co.rv.r*orvElMs Sofi tilr! tnd.lhuol{Tillnhe

$dtr T.t(

Tdl
1000.00

llofihly t'.l.. F.o

So.napiot CtrpZP4 Anldo*r SEndatdl2ttlofl $att$6tc (subccdpdon)

XOTEET

(t;;;*t. ** rrt utmstcr baaod on aitr'Id pndng

(2) $ot*s* H*t$^'drs (hubc$"itthosA'/Jlrll1s) ts h€ trppli64 bv ths county

iri ** * i, n* nrar0rd rf tj:a eounv Furchagst hsrd\llare di€d 
'nd

ineulh hld\flara

1 800.00Aonual

{rt,,r

Page 1 of 1



,l

-mjfil-Jgily- $sJbrya{s*}&sdgr refers to any corporation or orher entity which has
autJrorized DFM as a reseller or grants DFM the right to ure and/or sublicense its software or
which licenses.the County directly to use its software.

ARTICLE 2.
COMPUTER HARDWARE

All of the following provisions of this Article 2 shall apply to rhe purchase of any
Computer Hardware by the County through DFM mless expressly rnodified or supplem*t*i
by the Computer Hardware purchase Addendurn.

2.1 co,rnputelHardwaie E-urchase Add.endu,m. DFM agrees to supply to
the County the Computer Hardware identified on a Computer Hardware purchase .dddendum
attached hercto. The County agrees to pay Dfl*4 to the extent DFM is supplying the
Cornputer Hardware, the purchase price therefore and to perform all othcr oUiig;ioo,
required of it herein, all upon the terms and subject to the conditions sst forth on the
Computer Hardware Purchaso Addendum

2'2 $Sle.egnd Use TaXe$. The County shall be responsible forpaying, and
shall pay, all sales and-use tfl(es applicable to any iterns included as part of thi ioriputg1
Hardware which is sold or resold to it by DFM. tittre county advisesbFM that no ,uL, o,
use [axes are due or collectible, then the Counfy shall indemniS, defend protect and hold
DFM harmless from and with respect to any ctai* related to the collectioq payment or
reporting of such sales or usc taxes, including atl penalties and interest thereon or as a result
of the non-payment thcreof or the ht]*: to nte any retum required to be filed anO aoi
attorncys' fees incurred by DFM in enforcing i* indemnity rights hereunder or in defending
any claim to collect or pay such sales or us€ taxes.

2'3 Dellyery g0$ lnsuranqg. The County shall be responsible forpaying and
shall payn all insurance and delivery charges relative to the delivery of the ionfuter
Hardware to its final location et the installation address. DFM agrees to set forth on the
Computer Hardware Addendum the estirnated cost of, or "not to exceed arnounts,, regarding,
insurance and dclivery charges payable by the Counfy.

2'4 Sggtlris liltetggl. The County grants DFM a securiry inreresr in all items
of the Computer Hardware identified on the computer Hardware purchase Addendum as
collateral for the obligation of the County to pay phrvr for the futt purctrase price therefore.
The county agreos to sign, when and whire appiopriate, any financing staternents (i.e., ucc-

4



Ui11 
^'gvv'^I 

>e

,-, W'9
fiar. Not.tnbt lqFl

Roquert lor TaxPeYtr. -
ldrntl{lclfion Humbor rnd Certillcatlafl

Ass0(tfr rEs

Ghe fsnr tc frr
rrqxur. Oo ?rd?

u.rd to d* litl

tjta

$l

FA
t

iI'i
t

Drrt
taa.r! fr Jrrrl tr

&ril*,t lrr:, I

trA.

b6

sd ME

*rp-r*.* d H Corpo?rra.l fi r*vrrt'U fl oa,i I

ln 9fi.

9,...^"#! a a-l|!a lqn b.a*L9
u tfft;'tcntt{itt.y

8oa. Ff.{.ld
io),N

(tf, td.. td
A,l

frtt

rrtlrtrFrir.

rAJ tl

R.qu..tt'r flril )ra

(t g

L.l.l iart-

& ef

F

r Ar h6ddurl vrho b r cl{rat s rrutfn o(ihr Unll.d

a

U.8. rxrnPt Pqr*-'rn i rro,.. n'.m'rilD'+ ffin'lfrllfrHp.,ll*Si-LLS. ncron, t$tr rloci|gbi;i u-.s.iili q ofng5gliiffi%H"*,
wtf$ddin$ br on fuqlon P

corrrclrd hconr,

llml.mw#umffi$nffi1rf "
;rffiehly itni* to &t Fcttrt t'v"l'

Fq trdrnl trx puryfli, l€s lr csnddgrd r poron if yos

$trlst

;*ntmnffi *f liff ftffi J#n#,.*
st ha t r*trd $lrhr' a

*um'mu' litf.u'fi#fi **fiil'*
tofiittr'' 

ilcr tmffi
ffi:'ffiJf,swln' ffigf-o'

.drubi voQf U.9' lldur I

rhrrl of lirtnrtlP hoottts'

;

. n" U,S. ornr d r dlr*rdcd nttty rd *o' lht fitU'

1) r I I

lltrillr

l'rr' ll

Frnr*r rf

lld cd. rro, lGlillX
?gir frrv, t



I forms) and other documents as may be required to perfect the securiry interest ofDFM in
such collateral. DFM agrees to release its ;ecurify interest in the collateral as soon as the
purchase price therefore has becn paid in full.

2'5 EisF o[!oqg. From and afterthe date upon which each item of hardware
is delivered with inside detivery, to the installation addresi, the County shall assume allrisk
of loss and risk of damage with respect thereto,

2'6 frqftSfff of Wrura,ntleq. DFM agr€es to provide on the DFM Computer
Hardware Addendum a statement regarding the duraiion ofthe warranty from the Third irarty
computer Vendor with respect to Jaeh itim of Computer Hardware for which their is a
warranty of at teast one (l) year or more. DFM rgrrer to transfer and assign to the County
all warranties it receivcs or is entitlcd to from any Computer HardwarJ Vendor whose
computer Hardware has been resold by DFM to the county.

2.7 $ite'-Prep,,aratiqn, Etc. The County shall be solely responsible for, and
shell pay all costs associated with, preparation ofthe site where the Cornpuier Hardware is to
be delivered, including all alterations and installations required in order to cornply wittr all
installation, operating and site specifications of the Computer Hardware Vendor. DFM
agrees to deliver tojlre Counp copies ofthe ComputerHardware Vendor's site specifications
for any Computer Hardware ordered by the County pursuant to this Agreement. All site
prsparation shall be completcd on or before the scireduled delivery dai of the Computer
Hardware.

2.8 gqnqgllatlon* gndlor Delays. If the County cancels or terrninares irs
obligatioa to purchasc any Computer Hardwari for any reasorl or if the County is unable to
take delivery of any Computer Hardware on a timely basis, then, and in sulh even! the
County shall be liable for and agrees,to pay on bshalf ofDFM any cancellation charges, Iate
charges, restocking charges, liquidated darnages or any other rort, o, expenses which DfM
iricurs to the Computer Hardware Vendor as a resuli thcreof, Nottring coniaincd rn this
Section is intended to imply that the County has any right to cancel this Afurr*rnt except ss
otherwise expressly provided in this Agreiment.

2.9 lrl*jallation of Ccnlputqr hlardwqre. Unless orherwise stated on rhe
cornputer Hardware Purchase Addendum or on any Consulting Services Addendum, the
County shall be sole ly responsible for, and shall pay all costs associated with, the instaltation
of the Computer Hardware and the installation of any Third paffy soitware and the
integration and conncction of the Computer Hardware with any ^oper computer equipment
andlor software owned, leased, licensed, sublicsnsed, used or opirated by the Counry.

5



ARTICLE 3.
RIGHT TO USE DFM SOFTWARE

AII of the following provisions of this Article 3 shall apply to the lcase of any

Specified DFM Software by the County from DFM unless expressly modified or

supplemented by the DFM Software Addendum.

3.1 [tM,-$pf"tWAfe".*.dde,ftdurn. DFM agrecs to lease to the County, on a non-

exclusive basis, ttre DFM Software identified on aDFM Software Addendurn. The Specified

DFM Software and all prices and payment tcrms with respect thereto shall bc set forth on the

DFM Software Addendum except to the extent any such provisions are covered by Article 3

or elsewheie in this Agreement. The County shall have no right to use any DFM Software

unless and until the DFM Softrvare Addendum has been signed on behalf ofthe County and

DfM, and then, in such event, the County's rights are limited to the use andlor lease of the

Specificd DFM Software on the tenns set forth herein and therein. The County's rights to

use any Specified DFM Software arc governed and reskicted by the terrns ofthis Agreement.

3.2 tnstallalion of..the Sp.9-efi,Qd.F.FM..$$ffi#RrF. On or before the

installation date set forth on the DFM Software Addendum, or 8s soon thereafter as is

reasonablypracticablo, DFM shall insall the DFM Software. TheDFM Software shall be

deemed to have been installed when the Counfy is able to log into the EIMS and perfonn

maintenance and look-up frrnctions on it's core databases.

3.3 M. The initial installation feeforanySpecifiedDFM
Software will be set forth on the nFM $oftrryare Addendum. The County agrees to pay the

initial installation fee to DFM upon installation of the Specified DFM Software,

3.4 MpnthlvJpe. The initial Monthly Fee for the right to use any Specified

DFM Softrvare will be set forttr on the DFM Softrrare Addendum applicable thereto. As
consideration for the non-exclusive right to use the Specified DFM Software, the County
agrees to pay DFMthe Monthly Fee within thirty (30) days after receipt of a correct invoice.

Unless othenryiss provided on the DFM Software Addendum, the Monthly Fee for the first
ful! month of any Lease Term shall be paid at the time any Specified DFM Software has been

installed. If any rental payment date falls on a day of the month other than the first day of
such month, or if any rental payment is for a period which is $hortcr than one month, the
rental for any fractional month shall accrue on a daily basis for the period from the date such

payment is due to the end of such calendar month or to the end of the Lease Term at arate
per day whieh is equal to one-thirtieth ( I /30) ofthe then cunent l$fonthly Fee. DFM reserves

the right to increase the Monthly Fee, by an amount not to exceed seven percent (7Yo'1per

6



annum, as of July lst of each year of the Lease Term upon ninety (90) days prior written
notice to thc County.

i;

3.5 . DFM grants to the Countythe nonexclusive right to lease and ur. tt 
- 

sp..in"a6-rut softtuure on fr" t.r* and subjectto the conditions set forth in this Agreement. The county's right to use and lease anySpecified DFM-Software specifically excludes the right to sublicense, assign, sublease orotherwise nansfer the Specified DFM Software andloiany ofthe County,s rights hereunderor therein.

3'6 FIM $-ojhfare Relg"aBes. DFM shall provide the county wirh altsofrware Releases for the $pecified nFtut son**r within one hundred twenty (120) daysafter thc new Softwart Releasc becomes generally available to other DFM customers. Thecost of ttre $oftware Roleascs is includecl in td Monthly Fee. Installation of the DFMSo*ware Releases will be coordinated by DFM and a designated representative of theConnty.

3'7 
4u$q,ntrp$, ,Mglnje.$a,nre. A[ softrvare Maintenance, softrvare

Enhancements and Softrrare neteasei srrart be provided and installsd by employees orauthorized agents ofDFM. ' '

3'8 Post lFslallFlicn, sgrvices. DFM agrees toprovide the county wittr post-
installation services as follows:

(a) DFM agrees to provide maintenance of the Specified DFM Softrvare to correctprogram erors and to use good faith reasonable efforts to corrcct compatibility probleins
113p-s1ch Cornputer Haldwarc, Specified DFM Third party Software *O ml SpecifieaDFM Software, the cost of which is included in the Monthly Fee for such Specified DFM
Software; and

(b)DfM agr8es to provide Softrvare Releases covering applicable legislative
changes and enactmeTt o-fryw laws applicable to such specifisd DFMblftware, the cost ofwhich is included in rhe Monthly Fee.

. 3'9 Trai$nU. DFM agrees to provide the county with the following trainingselices with respect to any Specifiid DFM Software:

(a) DFM will estabtish, with thetrelp ofa designatedr"epresentative ofthe Counfy,
which usen will participate in training and onwhich ru6ryrt.*r.

7



(b)DfM will develop a training schedule with sufficient training to allow the

deparftnent or agency of the County, *'hic[ will have primaty responsibility for using the

Specifred DFM Software to operate it'

(c) DFM will conduct the actual training sessions, ineluding 'ohands on" and

forrnar crassroom *irring, with the initial uaining to be on-site at the countyns facilities'

user Eaining costs for any specified DFM software are incruded in the Initial installation

Fee and the Monthly Fee." There are no additional costs for taining' As subsystems of any
-sp"rin*a 

nFM $ofiware are enhanced or changed to conform to new requirernent" usprs will

fi prouiA"a rainid;ith respeot thereto on aa on-going basis. Training with respect to

enhanced or chungei .uU*yrt**s can be on-site ot.tgionul, depending on the material and

individual needs ofthe users'

3.10 ' Notwithstanding any otherprovision

of this Agreement or obligation to perfonn any software

Maintena$ce or to provide the iounty with any Software Enhancements or Releases' or to

;;irr *ytrui"iniiotfrt Ccuntywithrespectto.any Sp€cinedDFM Software ifthe County

fails or refirses ts utilize the most currsnt revisicn of the $pecified. Operating System

soto** required uy niu; provided, however, in any event, DFM shall give the county at

least one-hundred ni*ty ifi0) days prior written nodle of the need to upgrade or replace the

version of the Specinei Op*r:uting System Software which the County is then using, and

DFM shall consult with the County's user Soup regarding the scheduling of such changes'

ARTICLE 4.
CONSULTING SERVICE$

DFM egrees to provide the Counry with any Specified Consulting Services which are

identified on the consutting Services Addendum, including, without limitation, enhancement

and modification p*p*tilring for the County to meet any unique requirements of the

County, subject to afrUaUility"of DFM technical personnel and agreement regardrng a

mutually acceptable hourly rate for DFM's technical personnel' All terms and pricing forthe

ip".in'Ja Consultint i**ir.r, including the naturJ of the Specified Consulting Service,

hourty rate(s) ctrargJC by DFlvftherefore, the payment terms and any other applicable terms

and conditions related thereto, will be set forth on the Consulting Services Addendum'

ARTICLE 5.

OBLIGATIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIFS OF THE COUNTY

8



5.1 Apc-ess to Facijitie$. The County shallprovide DFM and its employees
and authorized agents aicess to the Counfy's facilities, including the Computer Hardware,
and shall provide them with adequate facilities (including a desk, work area and computer),
to enable DFM to perform its obligations under this Agreement in an effective, efficient and
professional manner. Access shall be provided during the County's usual busincss hours
upon reasonable prior notice except in the case of an ernergency when access shall be
provided as soon as is reasonably practicable.

5.2 QglTmercialAc€ess, The County shall limit the commercial accoss to or
use of any Specified DFM Software without the prior written approval of DFM which
approval may be conditioned by DFM upon receipt of an acceptable sublicense agreement
between the County and the proposed corirmercial user and thc payment to DFM by the
County of a reasonable additional license and/or use fee with respcct thereto. The County's
obligation to limit commercial acc€ss or uss is cxpressly restricted to those situations in
which thc County has actual knowledge of such commercial access or uss and the County is
not expressly precluded orprohibitcd by law from enforcing theprovisions of this Seotion
5.2. For purposes hereo{, the term "cornmsrcial access" means flny access to or use of any
Specified DFM Software other than (i) by the County for its own internal usc in order to
fulfill its duties, or (ii) by any person for its non*cornmercial private use; and "non-
cornmercial private use" mcans any use or access by such person who is physically present at
any County premises for which no consideration is paid, charged or receivsd by thc County.
It is contemplated that a business which sells or uses the Coung's Data (as that tcrm is
defined in Section 5.4 below) in a commercial enterprise, such as a title company, can be
included in the cxception described in olause (ii) above to the extent it is physically present at
&e County's facilities when it is accessing or using Ore Specified DFM Software to examine
the County's Data andlor to update its own data base. The t€rm "physically present" is meant
in its literal sense and it is not intended to sover or include off-site access of any kind,
including without limitation, off-site access using modems and other communications
equipment.

5.3 $aepified.,.O*ergline Syelem $gfi{ecE. The county shall be solely
responsible for, and shall pay all costs and expen$es associated with, the purchase or license
of, and the installation and maintenance of;, the appropriate version of the Specified
OperatingSystemsoftwarerequiredbyDFM atany timeorfromtime totime. TheCounfy

, acknowledges and understaflds that upgrading of Computer Hardware and of ttre Speeilied
\ Operating System $oftwars and any ather applicrtians software used in conjunction with ths
DFM Software will be reguired from time to time; provided {gwever, in any event, DFM
shall give the County at least one-hundred twenty (f iOl days priiiwritten notice of the need
to upgrade or replace the version of the Spccified Operating System Software which the

I
1



County is then using, and DFM shall consult with the Countyns ussr goup regarding the

scheduling of such changes.

5.4 BegpsInlf;ffitY fgr ilfq S.Ag$lySgg.t*' At all tirnes during the term of this

Agreement, ip *ghts in the county's Data (as thal term is

aJnnec below). rn aaaition" notrrithstanding any usc by the coun$ of any DFM Softrvare in

,onnr.tioo therewith, thc County shall be solely responsible and accounbble forthe accuracy

and completeness od a[ data and information stored by it in any database in any format

(hereafter referred to as the "County's Datano), and for any use' publication or other

Cisreminution ofthe County's Data. lfthe County uses, publishes or othenpise disseminates,

or othsrwise allows any access to, any portion of the County's Data whether before or after it

has been manipulated by the DFM Softltate, and whether or not it is a commerci*l or non-

commercial *L, by doing so the County is representing to DFM that it has acccpted, ratified

aoa upprou*C tt e at*rrincy and completeness of the 
-County's 

Data and accepts full

r6poriJiUility forit. The Countyherebyegrees to indernnify, dcfen4 protectandholdDFM

harmless from and against *y.tni**,-liabilities, judgmentsn costs and expenses, including

reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, which DFM may incur or suffcr arising out of the

sccuracy or inaccuracy of (which includes omissions to) ttre County's Dage' including'

withouflimitation, clairns of anythird pafiy who acce$ses the County's Data using the DFM

Softtrare.

PRoPRIETARY AsPffitF frc or" $oFrwARE;
CONFIOENTNLffY COVENANT$

0.1 Rrgle.qtlq,ILqf Sqnfidenttati[v,of SFIlt*Sp"{Were. DFM has t*ken

reasonable securiiy measures to protect the secrecy and confidsntiality ofthe DFM Softrrare.

All employEes ofbFM and other persons who have designed, developed or programrned all

or *y pottion of the DFM Software, or any softrvare included therein, or who otherwise have

tcnowlidge of or access thereto, have been adequately notified thal the DFM Software is

proprietaiy to DFM and is not to be diwlged, used or exploited except as expressly

authorized by DFM in writing.

6.2 *lngdefigality Sovenants of-thg qgurttV. The County acknowledges

and agrees that the DFM $oftware, and all constituent parts thereot, is valuable only as long

as it iemains secret and confidential. Accordingly, the County agree$ to take all steps

reasrnably nec€$$ary to protect and rnaintain the confidentiality of all nFM Software zuxl to

prev-ent it ftom ent*rihg the public rJomah or failing into the hanlJs oflothers not b*und by

this Agrccmcnt. In frtrtherance hereof, the County agrees as follows:

10



t

(a}TheCountyshalluseitsgoodfaithreasonableet-f'0rtst*restrictaccesstoany

Cornputer UarOwur" running o*upoui*'oi ac"*ssing the DFM $oftware' and to the DFM

software itselr ,o prru*, uriauthoriz.i p.iror*e r frJrn acquiring significant nr confidential

information concerning the DFM Sofuvare'

(b)Totheextentreasonablypracticable,theCountyshallrequireallpersonswho

will have access to any DFM $lftware, to Sign on an annual basis a oonfidentiality

agreenienr, in a roni prJ"ia-a by DFM which is acceptablc to thc county'

{c}TheCountyshallnatduplicaleorre.nrgducc(excepttofhe:r.mreasonably
required ta b*ek-up the Speci$ied nFM $o{lw*re in *ra ardinaqyiourse of business}' in any

merur€r, any DfM boflware, or any ,o*ponrn or constituent parts ttrereof, and agrees not to

disseminate, display or u$e any DFM Softrvare, or any component^or constituent parts

thereof;, of any iniormation o, *otoial conceming any OffU.Softvarg except as is

reasonably necessary for the co*ty-io pororm its functions using any specified DFM

b"n"*t *A t9 comply with the terms of this Agreement'

(dlThe county shall notif DFM immediately of any and all unauthorized

disclosures, or any;tp-.,; unauthorized disclosures of any DfM Software'

6.SBinding.Hffect.Notrvithstandingthefactthatcertainemployees,agenlso
contractors, ,ubroiltffi o, tii"*rrs of the County are not parties to this Agreement' the

rerms and provisi*, or*iu Article 6 shall be binding upon the county and all ofits officers'

employeeq agcnts, contractors, subcon&actors and licensees'

6.4trieggveffg.f.$pqpjfies,,Hr.l$spfwvare.FvLeoalPragess.Ifatany
rirne, a party ro any litigation inuoloinffiffi"s3,nction or depargnents of the County

which uses any Sp;;i?irJbfM Sofrarel seeks by way of litigation or legal process to

discover information in any way related to any Specifiid DFM Software, or requires the

production of any $p".in*O pFM6oft,Hare, or &ny cornponentorconstituentpartthereof' the

County shall prornptly notiry DFM of such matter as soolt as the complaint, subpoena or

discovery request has-been served on the Counfy or its lawyers, but in no event later than ten

( l0) days after service thereof, Prior !o the time specified in the legal document' court order'

subpocna or rnoving papers for the disclosure of information relating to, or the delivery of all

Li *V portion of any Specified DFM Softwaren the Coun$ shall cooperate with DFM so a$

to maintain, to the maximum extent reasonably practicable and permitted by law'.$e

confidentiality and secrecy of all Specified DF1i Software and to request, if requested by

DFM, a protcctivc order oith, court or legal forum to avoid fiXlher disclosure or dirrulgence

of any matters relating to any Specified nFU Softrpare and toassure the continued protection

11



of the confidentialiry thereof. Howevern such action is to occur only in the event that DFM is

unabte to make d;it i;;*ention inro said legal action or proceeding. DFM shall

reirnburse the county-lo.-uil-rr*onaule legal feeJand expenses which it incurs resulting

fto* actions it has taken pursuant to this Section'

AR,TICLE 7.
WARRANTIES AN D LIMITATION$

7.1|dmitedW+rrantx.$pecifiedD[!4sffhilgr-e.DFyw€rrants,forthe
sole benefit of the that the Specified DFM Software

shall be capable ofperfomring the core functions set forth on ttre DFM Software Addendum

related thereto, subject to the limitations set forth in section ?.2 belowand on the specified

DFM Software edden4um. This is DFM's sole express warranty with respect to any

Specified DFM Son*ar"" Any claim !f *r* Counry against DFM for breach of its express

warrd*y must be in writing and must be promptly Oeti"ereC by the County to DFM' In the

event of any breach of DFM's cxpress *.t"tity' the Counfy's sole andexcfusive remedy

against DFM, and DFM's sole and exclusive ranffty to the county, shalt be that DFM at its

sole cost and rxpeore, tn"ff exercise good faith (for all purposes of this Agreemenf the term

.?ood faith. shall have the same meaning as that t**, is defured and used in Califomia

Comrnercial Code Section 2103(1)S)) rea,Jonable efforts to provide adequate programming

services to correcf rurt intt*tini'd"fr.t, as DFM and the county deem necessery or

appropriate. warranty service performed in accordance with this section shall be performed

;ir;d normal *r*t Auy business hgurs, excluding DFM hotidays' With-respect to any

reported errors tirai resutt or wilr resurt in significant intemrption of the county's

piar.ti"lry or don"n time ("Business Impacting Faitur-es"), DFM shatl use its best efforts to

trg* eror concrti"" pr*ta*tt withiniwenty'no* (24) hours after receipt of such report'

with respest to any r-p"ttta etrors th{ do not constitute Business Impacting Failures' DFM

,t uil uu, its good iirith ,*u*ooable efforts to begin errot coffection procedures no later than

seventy-two (?2) trours after receipt of such t"pon. DFIvI's sole and exclusive obligation

under the foregoi"g ;;;t tntn * to exircise its good faith reasoTblt ef,forts to

implement uppropriut* ,11o1. ,orrrctions in response to notices frorn the Counfy of such

errors. In the eventDFM does noremedy the tsusiness ImpactingFailures yi*hin 30 days of

notification by the County, County may terminate lease payments and cease utilizing

software. The County mayelect to continue lease payments and utitize a sixty-day iransition

period as conditioned in Article l0'4'

7 .2 W.Aqrarjy himljplimp .*S,pe*t[ed",RFI'vl $g'ftt4/fltq" Notwithqtanding the

warranty pro'iri*iilEih in s*iion i.'i above, a[ of DFM's obligations with respect to

,"-h;#;ies $hatt be conringent upon the county' use of th*.specified DFM software in

1?



4ccsrdiince \'vith fhis Agreenlent and in accorciance with instructions pruvicled by DFM fielmtirne to time, including ilrose set fortir in rn* rur*;;l-, -r rhe sarne may be amencled,strppicmcntecl or nlodifieel lron time t* tirne. DllM shail-have no warrnng oblignticn:

(a) with respect to any portion of the specified DFM softqrare which has been:

(i) operated by trre county or its 
. 

elnproyees, {gent.s, cCInrraetors,subcontractors or licensees in a manner inconsistent wirh the requirements set rCIfth in theManuals or elsewhere, or that has been modified by any party other than DFM;

DFM; fii) Damaged in any manner by any cause other than any act or omission of

(iii) operated or rnaintained in environmental conditions outside theparametersdesignated by DFM in ttre Manuals or elsewhnre;

(iv) subjected to extreme power surges or erectromagnetic fierd(s);

(vj R*instailed witherut the prinr written consent of DFM; or(vi) Detennined try DFM tu ituu* * .o* o, defect, which fuct is ecnveyecl tothe countytogethu with supplemental instructions on how to avoiel srcircumvent th* erroror defect' and rhe counfy raiit orrefirses to fotlow the supplemental instructions,

{b} As a result eif or in ftny way canneefed with nny enor or defect in the $pecifiedilperafing $ystem soff[urare and/*iany npplication *on***provided by nrry Third partysgftwere vendo6 prCIvidcd, however, ir *u*tr *";;i, DFi; wiu use ier good faith re*sonebleeff<xts to resolvc tlre prohlem to fh; extent that aresolution is reasonably available byreprogrcmming the DFM Softrrare;

(c) As a result of orin anywfty connected with rhe Countyos fhilure or refusal touse fhe specified operating systern soJlware oi io ip,grud, its computar l{ardware asrequested hy DFM; qrr

(d) As a resutt of or in any connected with any of the county,s Data.

7.3
DFM ponsNor

REPRESENT OR WARRJI'NT T}IAT T}M $pncrflsn ilFM SoTTwnne wILL BEFREEFRoM ERRoRsOR TIIAT ALL ERNORS IN ANY $PacIFIrn $IfM $orrw*sr W,;1.1" Bs coRREcl"ED. THgWannnr*ry sTATED tN Sncr.to|,I 7.1 ts rrlf, sor_E AND *XCLI,J$IVE, W*Rn;trurY fiF"FgREp sY
wARIIANl"tgsT}FM" TT{ERE A&E No oTHER

13

rrESPHCTINc THE $PEcIFIED DFM $oRTwaRE,



EIfHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY WARRANfi oF DE$lGN',

MERCFI,ANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE' EVEN IF DFM HAS BEEN

INFORMED OR IS OT}IERWISE MADE AWARE OF $UCH PUR'POIE' NO ACENT OF DFM IS

AUTHORTZED TO ALTER OR EXCEED THE WnnneNrv OBLICATIONS OF DFM SET F9RTH rN TH1S

ARTICLE 7.

. THr
7.4

COIINTY ACKNOWLEDGES THE COMTTEXITY AND INTERRELATIONSHIPS OF EAC}I OF THE

COMPONENT AND CONSTITUENT PARTS COMPRISING AI'TY SPECNEO DFM SONTWNRE. THE

CO MITY FURTHER ACKNOWLEDCES AND AOREES THAT TI{E MONTIIL v Fg,E WHICH DFM IS

cHARGINC FCIR ANY SPTCTMN DFM soFTwAR.EDoEsNOTINCLUDEAI.[YCoNSIDERATIoNF0R

AsSUMPTION AV DFM OF TT*H RISK oF THE coLNTY's INCIDENT"AL oR CoNSEQUENTIAL

DAMAGES WHICH MAY AzuSA IN CONNECTION wrH Trm CotNTY's usg oF AI'IY SPEcIFnED

DFM SOTTWNNT' ACCORDINCLY, THE COI,NTY AGREES T'HAT DFM SHALL NOT BE

RESPONSIBLE TO TTM COUT'ITY, ORANY DEPARTMENT , AcENcY OR SUBDIVTSION TI{EREOF'

FOR AIry INCIDEhITAL OR CONSHQUENTLAL DAMACES ARISINC Our oF TttE LICENSINO'

LEASINC OR USE OT ANY sppcrmn DFM Sorrwnnr; PRovIDED HoWEVER TI{AT DFM SH.ALL

BE RESPONSTBLE FOR SUCH rNcmeilrer, (nur Nor coNsgQununnl) COSTS AND EXPENSES

ARISIN6 IN CONNECTTON WITH ANY INFRTNCEMENT OR ALLECED INFRINOEMENT OF THIRD

PARTY PROPzuETARY R.ICHTS AS SET FORTH IN ARTTCIB 8 NETOW.

7.5
TANC'BLE*ERSONAL'RO'ERTY, rNCf,UpnFnrq'COr**I^ITERIIARPWAREWHICHARERESOLD

sy DFM TO THE c6rnt-rY, ARE SOLD "As Is' AND "pITH ALL FAULTS"; TROVIDED'

HOWEVER, DFM F{SRAFY ASSTCNS TO Tt{E COgNrv ALL OF ITS RICHTS UNDER ANY

wARRANfiES IT RBCETVES FROM flTg CO*IPUTER HARDWARE VSNDOR. DFM MAKES NO

REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY AS TO THE TYPE, NATURE OR KIND OF WARRANTY' tF ANY'

FROM rrm, COUPUTER HARDWARE VNNNON. EXCNPT A$ SET FORTH TN THIS SgCTTON 7.5'

THERE ARE NO OTHER EXPRFSS OR IMPLIED \ryARRANTIES OR OBTICATIONS OF DFM WITFT

R.ESPECTT0THEcoMPUTnRHARnwAREANDALLTMPLIEDWARRANTIES,INCLUDINGBUTN0T

LTMITED To ANy *ARRANT' oF DEstcN, MER.ILANTABILITY oR FITNE'S FoR A PARTI.IiLAR

pURPOSE, EVEN IP DFM HAS BEE,N INFORMED OR IS OTHSRry1SE MADE AWARE OF SUCH

puRposE, ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY EXCLUDEn. No AGENT OF DFM ts AU'I-HORIZED TO ALTER

OR EXCEED TgE WERRNNTY OBLICATIONS OT DFM SET FORTH tN THIS ANNCU 7. TXE

COTNqTV FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AfiREES THAT ANY MARK.UP OR, COMMISSION WHICH

DFM RECEIVES IN CONNECTION WITH THE SALS OF THE COMPUTER HARDWARE DOES NOT

INCLUDE ANY CONSIDERATION FOR ASSUMPTION NV DFM OF THE R'ISK OF THE COLINTY,S

INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAcES WHICH MAY AzuSE IN CONNECTTON WITH THE

coLNw,s u*, o, *'J*b**;il il;wARE. AcconnrNcr.{THr couNrv ACIREEs n{Ar

DFM SHALL Nor BH REspoNstBLr, To rur CouN'r.]/, oR ANY DEPARTMENT' AGENCY oR

14



SU BDIVISION THEREOF, FOR ANY INCTDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISTNC OUTOF
THE PURCHASE OR USE OFANY COMPUTER HARDWARE.

ARTICLE 8.
HOLD HARMLESS _ COPYRIGHTS, PATENTS AND LICEN$HS

8"1 Indsntnification by.QFM. DFM, at its own expense, shall indemniS,
defend, protect and hold the County harmless against any claim which may be brought
against the County or its oflicers, agents or ernployess, to the extent that it is based on a
claim that thc County's use of the Specified DFM Software pursuant to this Agrccmenq or
any of its components or constituent parts leased or licensed hereunder, infringes any patent,
copynght, license or hade secret of any third party, and in such event, DFM shall pay alt of
those costs and damages, including expenses andreasonable attorneys' fees, finally awarded
against the County or any of its officers, agents or employees attributable to sush claim. To
the extent allowed by law, con*ol ofthe defense, including all negotiations and discussions
regarding compromise and settlemen! shall be vested in DFM, but shall be with the advise
and consent of the County. The obligations of DFM set forth in this $ection are conditional
upCIn compliancc by the County with all ofthe provisions set forth in Sections 8.2 through
8.3 below.

8.2 Notice of Claimq. The County covenants and agrees to provide DFM with
written notice ofany actual, threatened or potential infringement claim within thirty (30) days
of notice thereof by or to the County.

8.3 RemFdiAlA$tion. I4intheopinionofDFlvlthe$pecifiedDFMSoftware
or any of its components leased to the County is likely to or has become the subject of a
claim of infringement ofpatents, copyrigbts, licenses or trade secrsts ofanyttrirdparly, thcn,
without diminishing DFM's obligations to sadsry the final award, DFM may, at its option
and expense, either (i) obtain the right fcr the Counff to continue to use ttre Specified DFM
Sofrware and its components leased hereunder, or (ii) substitute for the allegedly infringing
cornponcnts other equally suilable components mutually satisfactoryto the County and DFM.

ARTICLE 9.
TERM

The initial Lease Term for any Specified DFM Software or any Specified Consulting
Serrrice shall be set forth on the Addendum applicable theretoi After the expiration of the
initial term, this Agreement shall aijibmatically continuewith respect to such Specified DFM

15



Software or such Specified Consulting Service on a year to year basis, unless either parfy

gi.4r the other written notice, at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the term, of
its decision not to renew the term hereof with respect tc such Specified DFM Softrvare or

sucir Specified Consulting Service, in which case the term as its reiates to such Specified

Coorulting Service and/oisuch Specified DFM Software shall terminate on the June 30th at

tt * **piriion of its term. Continuance of the term of this agreement may include a

negotiated increase in the Monthly Fee"

ARTICLE 10.

RIGFIT TO TERMINATE OR SUSPEND PERFORMANCH; BREACHF$

10.1 |lon-4p*fop.fiatio::,of Eqnds. The continuationofthis Agreement as it

relates to any Specinea Consuttiag Servicc or to any Specified DFM Software after June

30ttr of the County's fiscal year, is subject to appropriation by the County's Board of
Sulxrvisors forthe necessary funding hereof. Inthe event ofnon-appropri-ati9n of fiutds for

thJ Monthly Fee, or any other consideration payable to DFM hereunder, this Agreernent will
automaticaily and immediately terminate on June 30th of the then-current County fiscal year

end as to any Specified Consulting Service and the Specified DFM Software for which no

appropriation was approved. However, in no event shall this Agreement be tenninated, as

provid.O in this Seciion, for the pu{pose of replacing any Specified Consulting Service

*dlor any Specified DFM Software. fuiy atempt by the County to replace any Specified

Consulting Service and/or any Specified DFM Softrrare prior to the expiration of the term set

forth in the Addendum applicable thereto, shall be deemed to be a material breach by the

County of this Agreemeni and the damages to which DFM will be entitled as a result thereof

shall assume, foi these purposes, that the County had fully appropriated all frmds for the

particular Consulting Service andlor the Specified DFM Software for the full term set forth

in ttre Addenda related thereto. Any permissible termination of this Agreement pursuant to

this Section shall not relieve the County of its obligations set forth in Article 6 above.

fi.z CgU"nty_Sreqgnes, For purposes of this Agreement the term "County

Breach" or "Coungr Breaches" means any one or more of the following events, acts or

ocsurTences:

(a) Any breach by the County, or any of its officers, employees, agents,

contractors, subcontractors or licensees, of any of the provisions of Article 6; provided,

however, instead of terminating the Ageement, DFM, in its sole and absolute discretion,

may give notice to the County of the breaeho demanding adgguate as$ura$ces from *re

Counqr thnt it willpratect the praprietary interest of DFM and rEmedy all prior breaches. In
the svent that thc C*unty fail* tc pravicle such adequate assurances and to remedy such

16



breaches within seventy-two (72) hours of receipt of the notice (Suspense Period"), tire
Agreement will automatically terminate as if no demand for adequate assurances had been

made. For purposes of &is Section, the parties agree that the Suspense Period is reasonable

based on the proprietary interest to be protected by DFM and the interest of the County to
continue the right to use any Specified DFM Software.

(b) AnV rnodification of any DFM Software which is accomplished or undertaken
by the County, its employees, or its authorized agents subject to this Agreement other than
DFM or its employces or authorized agents, shall give DFM the right to terminate the

Agreement, or any portion thereof related to the Specified DFM Softrvare which was subject
to the unauthorized modification.

(c) Any breach by the County of any of its monetary obligations to DFM in which
event DFM shall havc the right at any time after thirty (30) days prior written notice, to
suspend its performance under this Agreement and, if the County Breach'continues for an
additional thirty (30) days, then DFM may, at its optiorl terrninate the Agrcement, or any
portion thereofrelated to the Specified Consulting Service or Specified DFM Softrvare which
was involved in such breach.

(d)AnV material breach by the County of any of its other obligations under this
Agreement (other than.thoss obligations described in subparagraphs (a) through (c) above),
which continues for a period of thirty (30) days after written notiae thereof from DFM
speciffing thc nature of the breach and tire curative action, if any, which must be taken, in
which event the provisions of Section 10.4 shall become applicable at the expiration of the
thifiy (30) day period if the breach has not been fully cured at that time,

$ubject to the provisions of Section 10.4 below, the remedies in favor of DFM set forth in
this Section 10.2 are not exclusive and DFM shall have the right to pursue any other remedy
to which it may be entitled.

10.3 Debilitating Svent. Any of the following cvents, which occurs with
respect to DFM, shall be deemed to be a "Debilitating Event" and shall cause ttris Agreement

to be modified immediately upon notice to the Counfy of such Debilitating Event and shall
cause the Agreement to terminate automatically fwo hundred forly (240) days thereafter:

(a) Any assignment by DFM for the benefit of its creditors; or the entry of a court
order appointing a receiver or trustee for all or substantially all of DFM's assets or properties,

which o.gder shall nqf. $e vacated, set aside qr stayed within siaff,(f0) days from the day of
entry of said court order; or the filing by DFM of a petition in banknrptcy or the

17



cor$mencemsnt of any similar proceeding under any law for the relief of debtors by or

against DFM; or

(b) Any permanent cessation by DFM of its business, which is not succeed to by a

successor in interest; or

(c) fuiy voluntary termination or dissolution of DFM pursuant to,which the rights

of DFM under this Agreement have not been hansferred to a successor in interest.

10.4 TranEition PgIgd. Forpurposcs of this Agreernent, lhe term "Transition
period,o ,hull *rrffiffi@?ty p"tiod immediately fotlowing the occurrence of a

co.rory Breach other tha$ a county Breach related to the payment of money to DFM, or two

hundrid forty (240) days following the occurrcnce of a Debilitating Event, whichever is

appticalte. fnir Agreement shail cJntinue, and all obligations ofthe parties hereunder shall

reirain, in full forcJand effect duringthe Transition Period subject only to legal impatryents

on tt* ability ofDFM to perform ifthe Transition Period arises as a result of a Debilitating

Event. provided, however, in no event shall ttre Transition Period extend beyond the

expiration of the term of ttris Agreernent. The obligations of the County set forth in this

ngfrc*rnt shall continue, to thJsxtent applicable, notwithstanding the termination of this

o llis a 3 is n s slthc "Q.P t*ilgAt . Ex p igl3ls a B[ Jrp n *ilio"n Jb-riod'

(a) Immediately upon the termination of ttris Agreemen! the County shall return to

DFM uny uni alt tangible manifestations of any DFM Software previously delivered by DFM

to the Cognty, and any copies, duplicates or reproduetions thereof;, whether authorized or not'

(b) In the event of the occurrence of a Debilitating Event, the County shall be

permitted io'continue to use any Specified DFM Software during the Transition Period;

provided, however, DFM will not provide any Softrrare Maintenance, Softrvare

bnh*.ments or Software Releases during such period of time; and, provided, further, the

obligation of the County to pay the Monthly Fee shall be reduced to an arnount equal to

eigh-ty percent (80%) ofthe apiticaUte Monthly Fee which would otherwise be applicable

during such period.

10.6 Qption tUfurclElge the Speqified$fM $oftW-are. In the event of the

tennination of iltit egt**t*nt at ieiaieO tc any Specified DFM Software, where such

termination is as the result of a Debilitating Event, but only in s.y,ch event, the County shall

havc the right and optioir to purchase the copy of the $pbcified SItN4 software (including a

Agreement.

10.5

18



copy of the source code) which it has installed on its Cornputer Hardware ("Software

Purchase Option") on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Section:

(a) In order to exercise its option pursuant to this Section, the County must deliver
to DFM written notice ("Option Notice") of its intent to exercise the Softrvare Purchase

Option, speciffing the Specified DFM Software which it desires to purchase, and it must
deliver the Option Notice to DFM prior to the expiration of the Transition Period.

(b) The Purchase Price (as that term is defined bclow) is payable in cash in full not
later than thirly (30) days after receip by DFM of the Option Notice.

(c) The Purchasc Price shall be equal to sixty (60) tirnes the then applicable
Mon*rly Fee for the Specified DFM Software which is the subject of the Software Purchase

Option ifthe termination is during the first year afterthe commencencnt ofthe initial tenn of
this Agreement as it is rclated to such $pecified DFM Softrvare, forfy-eigl$ (48) times the
then applicabls Monthly Fee if the terminatiou is during the second year of the initial term,

and thirfy-six (36) times the then applicable Monthly Fee if thc termination is at any other
time.

(d) The Softrvare Purchase Option is personal to the County and may not bc sold or
assigned. Shict compliance by the County with atl of the provisions of this Section is
required. Failure to strictly comply with the tirne frames shall cause the Software Purchase

Option to terminate.

ARTICLE 11.
NO JOINT VENTURE

Nothing contained in ttris Agrcement, or in any Addenda, shall be deemed or
construed as creating a joint venture or partnership betrveen the parties. Except as expressly

set forth herein, no party by virtue of this Agreement or any Addenda is authorized as an

agent, employee or legal repre$entative of any other perty, and the relationship of the parties

is, and at all times will continue to be, that of independent contractors.

ARTICLE 12.
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

' Nonvithstanding any provision of this Agreement or ofarif'Addenda to the contrary,

either pafiy shall have the right to seek and obtain injunctive relief against the other party

19



frorn any judicial or administrative aurhority having jurisdiction, including any municipal or

supe.ioi court of the State of California or any federal district court'

ARTICLE 13.

MISCE LI-ANEOUS PROVI$ION$

13.1 Permile" and..Licenqgs, DFM and all of its employees and agents shall

secure and maintai" i" f** *u*tt ti*.** and permits as are required of DFM by law in

connection the furnishing of equipment, malerials or services necessary for DFM's

performance under this APeement.

13.2 l,lotiCqg. All notices, requests, demands and other communications

required or conternffihereunder shalt be in writing, shalt be penonally delivered or sent

by registered or ceriified mail, postage prepai4 return ieceipt requcsted and shall be deemed

to frie been given upon the earlier of (a) the date of personal delivery to the person to

receive such notice ut *, address indicated below or (b) if mailed to the person to receive

sush notice at the address indicated below, four (4) br.lsiness days after the date ofposting by

the United States post gffice as evideaced by the execution of the rehm receipt" The parties

addressss, for all purposes herco{, sre as follows:

lf to DFM: DFM Associates
l0 Chrysler
Irvinc, California 92618
Attn: Thomas G. Diebolt, President

lf to the CountY:

Notice of change of address shall be given by written notice but shatl not be deemed effective

until it has been given in the manner detailed in this Section.

13.3 Not uged.

13.4 Nq---"
1g.5. 

. " Ag5ignmed., The County and DFM shall nbt be entitled to assign this

Agreement or any rf i6 rtghtr or interest in this Agreement, including any rights or interests

2A



in any Addenda. This Agreement contemplates a license between DFM and the County
without any right to license, sublicense, assign or sublease. Except as providcd herein, thil
Agreernent shall be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and
assigns.

13"6 Lantion,s. The captions ofthe sections and subsections ofthis Agreement
are included for reference purposes only and are not intended to be a part of this Agreement
or in e$y way to define, lirnit or describe the scope cr intent of the particular provision to
which they refer.

13.7 qerden Singglar endPlura"f NtllnhpJ. The neuter gender inctudes rhe
feminine and masculine, the masculine includes the feminine and neuter, and the feminine
includes ths masculine and neutcr, and each includes a corporation, parhrership or other legal
cntity when ths conte $ so reguires. Also, the singutar shall include the plural number where
the context so requires and visa versa.

13.8 lntergUpffltiog. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that each has
been given thc opportunity to independently review this Agreement with tegal counsel, and
has the requisite experience and sophistication to undsrstand, intcrprct and agree to the
particular language of the provisions hereof. In the event of any ambi$dty in or dispute
regarding the interpretation of this Agreement, or any provision hcreof, the interpretation of
this Agreement shall not be resolved by any rule providing for interpretation against thcparfy
who causes the uncertainty to exist or ogainst the parly who is the draffsman of this
Agreement.

13.9 Farti*l lnva$di,tyend Sgjt?tabilig. If any provision of this Agrccmcnt
shall be held or deemed to be, or shall, in fact, be inoperative or unenforceable as applied in
any particular case because if conflicts with any other provision or provisions hereof or any
constitution or statute or rule of public policy, or for any other rcason, such circumstances
shall not have the cffect ofrendering the provision in question inoperative or unenforceable
in any other csse or circumstance, or of rendering any other provision or provisions herein
contained invali4 inoperative or unenforceable to any exitent whatsoeyer; provided, however,
if any provision of this Agreement relating to the payment of monies to DFM or any
provision of Articles 6,7,11 or 13 is found to be inoperative or unenforceable for any
reason, then in such event, such provision shall not be severed from or read out of this
Agreement. The invalidity of any one or more pluases, sentences, cleuses, sections or
subsections of this Agreement shall not afflect the remaining portions thereof except as
provided in the preceding sentence. 

,.st*

21



l3.l0EtjrthglAsgr;rqnpeq.,Eachpartyagrl$tocoCIperatcfullywiththeOtlrer
narry a'cr ro **.rutffiTililir'*stru'rents, aocurrrcnts ^;;;;;"*ents' 

and to give such

-rrr*r*, 
v*,$en *r-r-*-, u, nroy u* l*r*n*rrry rcquest; uy t!: otlrlr fl*v' 

t* hetter

eviclc*ce and r*flect;-;;;-*rion,,i***rJu** 
in oo., *,rn,*'ipiir*J uy this Agree'msnr'' utd

to carry into effect tf" ini** and purposes of this Agreement'

13.11NolrrplipdWaiv"'erg...fr,failureelfeltlrer.partyatallyliT.*u'^fr.omtimet*
time to require p*rroffiEuy tt * otrr*, iurr'y of any .et..::";;;ereof 

shall not affect in any

way rhe righr ro rr;;;;;;h'purfo'o*i** *t uny t*t*' ti*tino' trtu' the waiver by either

perry of a breach "l;l;il#il;;il;;.d 
or haitr ;;;;;; *-iver of such pr*vision'

l3.l2ApntiSablefaW"T'iuAgteeRr*nfshallbegovernedtry'interpreicdunqfer'anel
c*nsrruetr *d *ndffifr?*ou*unr*Tiii';;';;;;;.r 

d;;, Jr ooi *'* taws pertai'ins tt:

confli*ts nr ch'ice,,traws, of trr" s,*J-r*uio*iu uppl;;bil- esre€menr$ rnaer* atr<tr to

be performert wholil;t'ltitt the State of California'

13.13 C,o-unlerppfts' 
'This Agreement and any Adclenda may bc executed

simulraneousry inffi or more ro*,*#fl1,"#il;ffi#Le-tilrtrati 
constitute one and

the same instrumcnt'

13'14 ' Tt' Agreement *{ tll Addenda

incorporated hereil, and alr other ugffiffi-*,qyr;;ft;F*q"ired to be delivered

in connection herewith, conrain trr* Jti*.*lrot rrai,,e^i,dffi" *,* n111rs hereto with

,,up *,* ro the *o: [i,i,-i* t -***;;$X*,yff* t-ffi'1{!fr:ff q-l1
*#rrn or oral negotiations and "trt-tT::r:'"T:i;;;ff;*ir provision of this

ffiik;1Tf$#j*#r.w::*xt_ffi ;xffi ,llH-ll#lnin*i,ineuna

;ifr;d bY all of the Parties hereto'

22

'*a



lN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly exccuted this Agreement as of the

date fint above mentioned,

DFM ASSOCIATES, a California COUNTY OF INYO, a political subdivision of
the $tate of California

Cha{

Thomae . Diebolt
President

Its

)

?

23

drG. r.



EIM$TM for Windows SOFTWARE ADDENDUM

WHEN SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE COUNTY ANO DFTII

THIS ADDE}IDUII' SHALL BECOIIE A PART OF THAT

CERTAIN rulASTE R AGREEIIiENT' DATED AS OF

("MASTER AGREEMENT'}

4 1 l*p.adTapJs, I-{n*fis,J'issnse: $600'

50 l*iti*l h&rrthly"lisp: $ I 000'00'

g[Ms*isanacronymforgl.ectionlnformationlvlanagementSystemandmeansthe

cornputer roft*ur, ,t-r*;a by-DFM il; il the various f'**t**t used to register and

rnarra&s vorefs, 
"r.*tioiiomcials 

and pofiing nlacelS;1ell as the eleetion process itself"

E114SrM includes the EIMS rnr Sot*i "ur'u nIry '" Suhsystems' any F'IMS rF{

Enhancement and any EIMS * sonwa," R*t"tt'' EIMS N is proprietary to DFM and

;fb;t is made ta Article 6 of the Agreement"

l0Corefunptiqn:ThecorefunctionoftheElMswistogathcrandmaintaindata
for use in the prscess -f r-eil;;i;;;;*;t ancl the prncersing of elections' The

ability of thc EIMS'* t* purfono,itl* *ot* funstions is dependent tlp'on' emong

otherthings, all sf the following: {l} *recuracy andcrmpltieotst of the Cowrty's

Dstr; ana (z) cclnrinual "-iff."*i.n 
by the carurty of the accuracy aRd

comploteness of the County's Data'

z0 RM ru: EIMS n is more particularly described on Exhibit A

attachedheretoandincorporatedhereinbythisreference.

30 l4sXnllaliog: The DFMSoftrvare shall be deemed tohavebeen instelled when the

County is able to perform'dlt;*it- rnaintenance of the Voter File' the

Precinct District Fi[e and the $fieet Guide'

sr zao?

60lsiXiglleagsJprrn: Sixty (60) months from the installation of the EIMS ru and

conrinuing therJfter uniil th* n"*r rJro*ing June 30th (subject to extension as

pi*iata In ettittt 9 of the Master Agreement)'

24



j

70 lnco$or€lion of Ma,pterAqrcefirqfrj. The provisions ofthe MasterAgreemenr?
including, without lirniation, Article 3, are incorporated herein by this rcference
as ifset forth in full.

DFM A$SOCIATES, a Califomia
Corporation

Thomas G. Diabolt
President

COUNTY OF INYO, a political subdivision of
the State of Califomia

lls

1i

aon

,*tt('r

25



EXHIBIT A

ElMs@forWndowsincludeethefollowingfunctionalModules:

--t#ifil 
rnaintain precinc,ts, distric-ts and the rerationship between those

entities.

"**ffi and maintain street segments and their relationship te precincts"

Etr-ffitr?#maintain office types, office definitions, and incumbent data.

Y%Hate 
and maintain voter registration records. A*ows for rnaintaining active,

canceledandinactivevoterrecords.Providesduplicatechecking,customertape

generation, and other reporting features'

ffisofaffidavitsprovidedtothirdpartiesandtracksthose

subsequentlY roturned

ffillingplaces,electionofficersandelect!onnightworkers.

Maintain history'

ffiefinitionsincludingcontests,candidatEsandmeasures.Provides

Ballot typing, consolidation, election officer and polling place management for the

election. P.ro{g99,election related maillngs and reports' Maaage Absentee/Mailed

ballot voters.

26



.

Petition Ghecklnq
@information.definenewpetitions,setectrandomsample,provldes

system dlrected signature checking.

Reso-uf..c-gs

--Msnage 
county epecific information and options"

lI

*..y|
27

''+4,



Uill nogwv4^ I bv

,/

."' W'$
F.d.HoYft*tffil

Rcqueri for'frxPaYrr-.- 
^,

ldcntlltcrtloil f unrUcr and Gartlllcltlon
Gltr lcill lo iltr
|tSxh(. Oo mtt
rrrdto h. fi&

$ll
d

t
}I
il*T

l
T

Lrrl rcirlir(,rrbttitw *pfis{t.l

Purpra of

A 5,5o<tfr T€

H Corrattlgr fl ruarnr*rr fl Anll "" '"'""''
R.{r+(h.r ll.na r{t&*

I b g

rdtn r'ilh th.
aurnbd

t.tl atrlr
o,

o{ doil. or

13(

gJrlraaa i.rr, r Fadr -trqs H
b{lr1cldg€L;ri*g(

a1 b*rfl irrn b'arq
LJ ifr{rd4{11

Chrdr ..a.!dtf* 1-r

,o**r tsnb., J* rro)

Ctt, ta.. r'!C
t'r'A, ffi

ilrlt

3.
a

e rn hdrldlrl trilro b rclthcn r t*lderlt ol h. uoltad

I

fr
1. c.dfv h* lhe T!{ fotJ fm dvim L cst'ol &t ygu r'

wri{fr'tor'r nrtnor to bc lilffid}'
llfit rly e't* yo, n tnt sbFA lo brrlcp wtll*told*q' r
i Cn* **lrbn lrorn b'€hp witl*roldlnc f yo{ rr 

'
U.& urnPt PrPa-'ft i *"*"'ff '.ppti€Ult yo$ rt atro crlify'lng thrl o r
u.U- 

"#l"irfiiocraii 
itr" ol ry-prrlncrufiio h€ortrc

Fqn i u,s, tndc or *ng|$ lff?Tng**rltlltold'r.tc ur od fsrle'r I

corrr**rd hcorno'

Hmr ll I r.qrnltr"Cttfl you r frm othc.thrr.F*m W"e lo

;.i;;'il,;}tN. trJ "**i 
il *r rqu;tt/r to'rn r n b

;Uilfit *mi*rto 6'a P6n $r"o'

Fc fud*rl ltr pvoall, you n rondderd r p*ron il yoql

$r/rllnt

;*f Wf'fr f iltli:,ffiJ#H''*"
sl tr ttr*tid Bild*r' or

ffi'mH'Sfi.3,'Sqr$#tiiil'..
s*mnffirdfftE&iffifri:,ffiffiffiffi&*'
Ffin Vr'g hrr no( t -,..rc'.ivoU' t-nrtnr*rq b r?kod to

ffisiffi Hlr"lJffi'1ryfib. H#s n,

:*

fh. t'f,aotl ttro g'lvrr Fofi $l-S la lt{ prtnrlhlp fs

ffi*;trsH'Hlil;ffiffifs-'.
#tn'Hfi A,xil<tx-. t-ii * trt'nrrxr h hr unltod

htrtx tr h tt!. tsm*rn! rilF:
i fn U.S. orvn( d r dhrrErrdad infy rfid not hr d'ty'

t{arl* ts rnsr..t cal

F,rl I

J'v' ll

I;*r,f ra

l'fi
ci, H!, lOAltI l*1i F. rr.rfiS



;

TNYO COTINTY VOTER REff}S1]IA:nON SYSTEM DATABASE PROJECT

STATEMENTOF WORK

The spccific objective for DiiM and lnyo County is to replace-the current softwarc

.ppli&i-; .uricntly in usc i* lnya County with thc saftwsre from DFM Associates'

The projcct will bc in full productign { Junc 30, 200?. DFM will ossist lnyo County

w ith'thc following high-lcvel fun*llonal components:

0 tnitiel rollout of thc conrputer hnrdw$s and software infrastructure

deliverable to the Inyo founry Clerk's Qffiee'

nlrrsgllttionoftheDFMsoftwarerpplicationontothchardwale.

0 Data conversir:n ot'existing lnyo coilnty voter Registration datn into the new

databus* *fr:ri*rtu* "itf,I 
nfftf applicetion. Thii ccneiss of bnthdata and

images (nf se*nned documents or signrlures if any)'

n Training of Inyo County staffin the use ofthe new softrrare'

Dellvcnbler (InYo CountY)

Inyo County is recporuible for the following deliverables and will work in conjunAion

wim nfM on f*edback where rpprupriare:

, Inyr County wiil ensurc that fhE atrpropriatc stajf and rcsouses rrc assigrred and

uo*tatlte to thi. projcct. nese iniua*, bt* tt* rlot lirnited to, olections pcrsonnel'

technicst $upport spcoialisl networkadmlnistraton, and rnanagemont ss needed'

' Inyo Counry will ensurs that the data that is providcd t's the Conhactor is sufficient

for convcrsion nceds.

r Inyo County wiu be responsible for the inslrllation of nctwotk in&ashttcturc'

fl Inyo County will bo responsible for providing an appropriatc lscstion for thc

hatdware and appropriatc power/network connections and acc€ss'

O lrryo County wliiUe'responsible far Eeceivirtg the hardwarc inspoating t1e shipment

and documenting any tlarnaged enntaincrs along with the shipping compsfiy's

assnt/driver.

I liyo county will bc responsible for all equipment stsrage in n ssfc {nd securr

tocation r:ntil DFM As$ocistcs personnct a.rive *n-site to in$tall the hardware

C lnyo County will bc responsibti for forwarding coples of the packing lists of each

shipment as theY anive to DFM.

Deliverrbler (Dnl$

DFM is rcsp6nsitrle far the fcllowing delivcrables and will work in conjunction with lnyo

Counry on input and feedbask where nppropriate:

artft



a

DFM will bc responsibl: n:#ffifrllih ** rhe c'rrenr $ysrem.

31il ;lii fi; *il*lill ;;; *"u'.g tlrc server h*c*u,* in coLr'tv speciried

ffiltlu be re.*poruible for server and apprication software insratation onto

hardware.
DFMwinberesponsibleforensuringallscannersandprintersworkwiththeinstalled

Sft'llifit responsihle for inresration t::lgiTlltins instaIlation of thc

;;;;l*i;"-n a ncw set of hardtarq functional testirtg'

DFM will bc resporurot"Hh;;ffi;g ;i** to ileetions perxonnel

I

I

I

rF effiilv
ApR CI8 fiffirg

iityLi LuLl{lty

tiu

al..*t'



County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Behavioral Health
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Lucy Vincent
 
SUBJECT:  Approval to Pay CBHDA Association Dues
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request approval to pay County Behavioral Health Directors Association (CBHDA) membership dues for Fiscal 
Year 2021- 2022 in an amount not to exceed $19,301, contingent upon the Board’s adoption of the Fiscal Year 
2021-2022 Budget.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
This request comes before you, consistent with the County Purchasing Policy, for approval of payment of annual 
dues.  CBHDA, the association of Behavioral Health Directors, is staffed by an experienced team that works 
closely with CSAC, RCRC and other State partners to ensure education of legislators, advocacy with statewide 
stakeholders, and fiscal advocacy with the State and the Department of Healthcare Services (DHCS) for public 
behavioral health programs. In addition to its role in providing leadership, advocacy, and support for public 
behavioral health programs, CBHDA convenes behavioral health professionals for the purpose of informing 
public policy and improving the delivery of behavioral health services.
                       
CBHDA has proved to be an effective organization, bringing needed resources, especially for small counties, to 
track and advocate around MediCal policies and regulations as related to functioning as the Specialty Mental 
Health MediCal and Drug MediCal Plan. In addition, CBHDA provides advocacy and support in such areas as the 
implementation of the Mental Health Services Act, the Substance Abuse Block Grant, the Mental Health Block 
Grant, CalAIM, LPS reform and the Continuum of Care reform.  The Deparment respectfully requests your 
Board's authorization to pay the annual dues.  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
If dues are not paid, Inyo County would not have direct access to the resources, education and information 
available to participating counties.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
All of California’s County Behavioral Health programs



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
FINANCING:
The funding is a combination of Federal, State, and Behavioral Health Realignment funds. This expense will be 
budgeted in Behavioral Health (045200) in General Operating (5311).
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. CBHDA 2021-22 Annual Update
2. CBHDA 2021-22 Dues Invoice
 
APPROVALS:
Lucy Vincent Created/Initiated - 8/2/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/3/2021
Lucy Vincent Approved - 8/3/2021
Marilyn Mann Approved - 8/10/2021
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 8/11/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/11/2021
Marilyn Mann Final Approval - 8/11/2021















County of Inyo

Public Works
 

CONSENT - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Trevor Taylor
 
SUBJECT:  Adopt LAPM Chapter 10 - Consultant Procurement 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve Resolution No. 2021-43, titled, "A Resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the County 
of Inyo, State of California Authorizing the Adoption of Caltrans' Local Assistance Procedures Manual Chapter 
10," and authorize the Chairperson to sign.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Department of Public Works regularly procures architectural and engineering consultants for projects that 
require additional technical assistance or that exceed staff capacity to perform in house.  For consultant contracts 
that are reimbursed using State or Federal funds, the Code of Federal Regulations dictates that local agencies 
must adopt the policies and procedures of the Local Assistance Procedures Manual, Chapter 10 - Consultant 
Procurement via formal resolution.  In order to remain in compliance and to avoid jeopardizing the loss of federal 
or state funding, this resolution is presented to your board for approval.      
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The Board could choose not to approve the resolution.  This is not recommended as this is a requirement for 
reimbursing consultant contracts with state or federal funds.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
N/A
 
FINANCING:
There is no fiscal impact for this action.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Proposed Resolution No. 2021-43

https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/local-assistance/documents/lapm/ch10.pdf
https://dot.ca.gov/-/media/dot-media/programs/local-assistance/documents/lapm/ch10.pdf


Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
APPROVALS:
Trevor Taylor Created/Initiated - 7/30/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/30/2021
Trevor Taylor Approved - 7/30/2021
Michael Errante Approved - 8/2/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/2/2021
Michael Errante Final Approval - 8/3/2021



 
 

 
  

    
 

     
 

 
   

   
 

   
 

   
 

  
 

 
   

  
       

    
   

 
   

    
 

  
      

    
   

 
    

 
 

 
 

 
 

      
    

 
  

 
 
 

  

RESOLUTION NO. ________ 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS
 OF THE 

COUNTY OF INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
AUTHORIZING THE ADOPTION OF CALTRANS’ 

LOCAL ASSISTANCE PROCEDURES MANUAL CHAPTER 10 

WHEREAS, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors through the Department of Public Works is 
responsible for the execution of State and Federal funded project(s); and 

WHEREAS, the provision of 23 CFR 172.5(b), sub-recipients shall develop and 
sustain organizational capacity and provide the resources necessary for the procurement, 
management, and administration of engineering and design related consultant services, reimbursed in 
whole or in part with Federal-Aid Highway Program funding as specified in 23 U.S.C. 106(g)(4)(A); 
and 

WHEREAS, 23 CFR 172.5(b)(1) requires sub-recipients to adopt written policies and 
procedures prescribed by the awarding State Transportation Agency for the procurement, 
management, and administration of engineering and design related consultant services in accordance 
with applicable Federal and State laws and regulations; and 

WHEREAS, the State of California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) has developed 
the Local Assistance Procedures Manual (LAPM), Chapter 10, Consultant Selection which sets forth 
policies and procedures for procurements and managements of contracts for engineering and 
design related consultant services contracts on federal and state funded transportation projects to ensure 
compliance with applicable Federal and State laws and regulations; and 

WHEREAS, LAPM Chapter 10, Consultant Selection, describes the consultant selection and 
procurement process local agencies must follow to maintain eligibility for federal and 
state reimbursement; and 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that by the Inyo County Board of Supervisors 
ADOPTS Caltrans LAPM Ch.10, Consultant Selection, and any updates thereto, in the 
procurement of A&E services for state and federal funded projects. 

The forgoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the Inyo County Board of Supervisors at a 
regular meeting held on ________________, by the following vote: 

AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN:

        ___________________________________
        Chairperson, Board of Supervisors

ATTEST:

Clerk of the Board

by_______________________________
 Assistant Clerk of the Board 



County of Inyo

County Counsel
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Grace Chuchla
 
SUBJECT:  Proposed Title 22 Ordinance
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board waive further reading of the proposed ordinance titled, "An Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors 
of the County of Inyo, State of California, Repealing and Replacing Certain Sections of Title 22 of the Inyo 
County Code Related to Code Enforcement," and schedule enactment for 11 a.m. September 7, 2021 in the 
Board of Supervisors Chambers, County Administrative Center, Independence.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
On August 3, 2021, your Board received a presentation from County Counsel and County Administration 
regarding code enforcement issues in Inyo County.  The purpose of this presentation was to receive input from 
your Board regarding proposed updates to Title 22, which governs code enforcement.  At this presentation, your 
Board was supportive of making the following changes to Title 22:

1. Shortening the timeline for the various notices that must go to a property owner
2. Adding graduated automatic financial penalties if property owners do not comply after receiving multiple 

notices 
3. Giving discretion to the Code Enforcement Officer to lengthen the required notice periods if the property 

owner appears to be making a good faith effort to remedy the code violations 
4. Specially assessing the costs of abatement work against the subject property if the property owner 

refuses to voluntarily comply and refuses to repay the County for costs that it has incurred in abating the 
nuisance 

County Counsel and County Administration have taken these comments and prepared a draft ordinance to 
update Title 22.  That ordinance is being presented today to your Board for consideration and potential approval. 
 Also attached is a flowchart to summarize the enforcement process set out in the ordinance.  

When speaking with other departments about these changes to Title 22, the Planning Department commented 
that they believed that the administrative penalties being imposed by this ordinance were too high for some 
residents.  The current draft of the ordinance reflects the fee schedule proposed by your Board on August 3, 
although your Board is free to alter this schedule based on the Planning Department's comments. 
 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose not to approve this ordinance and instead send it back to staff with any edits or 
modifications that your Board would like to make. 
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Title 22 Update Ordinance
2. Code Enforcement Complaint Form
3. Code Enforcement Flow Chart
 
APPROVALS:
Grace Chuchla Created/Initiated - 8/10/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/10/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/10/2021
Grace Chuchla Approved - 8/10/2021
Leslie Chapman Final Approval - 8/10/2021



ORDINANCE NO. 21-_______

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF INYO, 
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, REPEALING AND REPLACING CERTAIN SECTIONS OF 

TITLE 22 OF THE INYO COUNTY CODE RELATED TO CODE ENFORCEMENT

The Board of Supervisors of Inyo County ordains as follows:

SECTION ONE. PURPOSE.

The purpose of this Ordinance is to update Title 22 of the Inyo County Code.

SECTION TWO. AUTHORITY.

This Ordinance is enacted pursuant to the authority given the Inyo County Board of Supervisors 
by California Government Code section 25845, which authorizes the Board of Supervisors to 
create a procedure for the abatement of public and private nuisances.

SECTION THREE. REPEAL AND REPLACEMENT OF TITLE 22.

The current version of Title 22 of the Inyo County Code is hereby repealed in its entirety and 
replaced with the new version of Title 22, attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

SECTION FOUR. SEVERABILITY.

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any reason held to 
be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. The Board hereby 
declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each and every section, subsection, 
sentence, clause, or phrase not declared invalid or unconstitutional without regard to whether any 
portion of this Ordinance would be subsequently declared invalid or unconstitutional.

SECTION FIVE. CEQA COMPLIANCE.

This ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to 
CEQA Guidelines Section 15060(c)(2) (the activity will not result in a direct or reasonably 
foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment) and Section 15060(c)(3) (the activity is 
not a project as defined in Section 15378 of the CEQA Guidelines, because it has no potential for 
resulting in physical change to the environment, directly or indirectly.) 

SECTION SIX. EFFECTIVE DATE.

This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect thirty (30) days after its adoption.
Before the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the adoption hereof, this ordinance shall be 
published as required by Government Code Section 25124. The Clerk of the Board is hereby 
instructed and ordered to so publish this ordinance together with the names of the Board 
members voting for or against the same.



PASSED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of August, 2021, by the following vote:

AYES: _______
NOES: _______
ABSTAIN: _______
ABSENT: _______

________________________________
JEFF GRIFFITHS, Chairperson
Inyo County Board of Supervisors

ATTEST: Leslie Chapman 
Clerk of the Board

By: _____________________________
Darcy Ellis
Assistant Clerk of the Board



Exhibit A



Chapter 22.04 Purpose and Administration

Section 22.04.010 Short Title

This title shall be known as the Inyo County Code Enforcement Ordinance.

Section 22.04.020 Application 

This title applies generally to all real and personal property within Inyo County (“the County”) 
and to all Inyo County Code provisions regulating the use thereof.

A. This title is established pursuant to Government Code section 25845 to abate nuisances 
within the county, as well as other violations of the Inyo County Code delineated herein.

B. It is the intent of the board of supervisors to delegate to the County Administrator the 
powers and duties it has under Government Code section 25845, as allowed by section 
25845(h) and (i) for the abatement of nuisances.

C. This title supplements other enforcement provisions of this Code whether delineated 
specifically or not, but this title does not limit any Code provision empowering a 
department head charged with enforcing this Code to use in his or her discretion any 
relevant provision identified in the Code which favors more stringent measures of 
enforcement including, without limitation, procedures allowing for summary abatement, 
imposition and level of penalties, and otherwise.

D. Every owner or occupant of real and personal property within the County is required to 
maintain such property in accordance with the provisions of the Code and any applicable 
state or federal laws or regulations, and such owner shall be liable for violations of the 
code regardless of any contract or agreement that the owner might have with a third party 
regarding the property.

Section 22.04.030 Reference

Whenever reference is made to any portion of this title, the reference applies to this title as 
adopted and any subsequent amendments or additions.

Section 22.04.040 Nonexclusive Remedies

The remedies provided in this title are cumulative, and shall be in addition to any other remedies 
provided by law. Nothing in this title shall be deemed to prevent the County from commencing 
any other available civil or criminal proceeding to abate a nuisance under applicable provisions 
of state or other law.

Section 22.04.050 Declaration of Purpose

The board finds that the enforcement of the Code and applicable state codes within the County is 
an important public service, critical to the protection of the public health, the improvement of the 
quality of life in the community, enhancement of public safety and the general welfare of the 



citizens. The board further finds that a comprehensive code enforcement system that uses a 
combination of administrative and judicial remedies will substantially facilitate compliance with 
the Code. Thus, the board adopts this title to:

A. Provide a comprehensive method for the identification and abatement of certain 
nuisances within the County as delineated in the Inyo County Code, and state statutes 
and regulations and to impose any costs of abatement against the owners of the 
offending properties as a personal obligation and/or as a lien against real property.

B. Provide for the protection and the general welfare of the general public and of residents 
within the vicinity of properties or conditions constituting public nuisances of a 
continuing nature or with enduring or long-lasting effects to the public health, public 
safety, public peace, public comfort or public convenience, or property within the 
community whether proscribed by statute, ordinance or not.

C. Provide the citizens of the County with attractive communities consistent with the 
residents’ values and, thereby, protect property values.

D. Allow the citizens of the County to actively participate in the community enhancement 
process.

Chapter 22.08 Definitions and Prohibitions

Section 22.08.010 Nuisance Defined

A nuisance shall mean any of the following:

A. Any violation of any provision of the Inyo County Code, the Inyo County General Plan, 
any county area or specific plan, airport land use plan, any variation or subpart of the 
foregoing, or any other land-use planning document duly approved by the board of 
supervisors or the planning commission;

B. Any violation of a term or condition of any license or permit duly issued by the county, 
including but not limited to any building or grading permit, conditional use permit, or any 
form of land-use approval governing real property in the county;

C. Any violation of any ordinance or resolution of the board of supervisors, whether or not 
codified;

D. Any violation of state law, including but not limited to the State Housing Law 
(commencing with Section 17910 of the California Health and Safety Code) or California 
Civil Code Section 3479;

E. Any violation of the State Building Standards Code, codified in Title 24 of the California 
Code of Regulations, as the same may be amended from time to time by the State 
Building Standards Commission, and subject to any local variances duly adopted by the 
county;

F. Any condition in the County that is declared or determined by a court of competent 
jurisdiction to constitute a nuisance;



G. Any condition in the County that is declared or determined by resolution, ordinance or 
other formal action of the board of supervisors to constitute a nuisance.

Section 22.08.020 Public Nuisance Defined

A public nuisance shall mean any nuisance that affects at the same time an entire community or 
neighborhood, or any considerable number of persons, although the extent of the annoyance or 
damage inflicted upon individuals may be unequal; or any public nuisance as defined by state 
law or the Inyo County Code.

Section 22.08.030 Prohibition

No person shall commit, create or contribute to the creation of a nuisance or a public nuisance in 
the county, nor shall anyone allow a condition constituting a nuisance or a public nuisance to 
exist on property in the county that is within their ownership or control. Whenever there is cause 
to believe that a nuisance or a public nuisance exists within the unincorporated area of the 
county, the County Counsel, the County Administrator, the District Attorney, and their designees 
are empowered to the fullest extent permitted by law to initiate and pursue administrative and 
judicial enforcement actions to determine and abate the public nuisance and/or to punish any 
person responsible for creating or maintaining the nuisance.

Chapter 22.12 Administration and Enforcement

Section 22.12.010 Complaint Process

All complaints regarding nuisances or public nuisances made to any County department shall be 
made in writing on a form provided by the Code Enforcement Department, provided however 
that elected officials or employees of any government agency may make oral complaints.  All 
complaints shall include the name of the complaining party.  

Section 22.12.020 Adoption of Code Enforcement Regulations

In addition to the provisions of this code, each department director may abide by such provisions 
of the Code defining his or her enforcement obligations that supplement the department 
director’s authority. Each department director is authorized to adopt and enforce reasonable 
regulations consistent with the purposes, intent, and express terms of this enforcement code as he 
or she deems necessary to implement the purposes, intent, and express terms of the Code. 

Section 22.12.030 Authority to Enter and Inspect

A. To the extent allowed by law, the department director or designee, including, but not 
limited to, the code enforcement officer, may enter and inspect any property regarding a 
violation of the provisions of the Code. The department director or designee, including, 
but not limited to, the Code Enforcement Officer, may make any examinations and 
surveys as necessary in performing these inspections as permitted by law and consistent 



with legally recognized privacy rights. These duties may also include the taking of 
photographs, samples or other physical evidence. All inspections, entries, examinations 
and surveys shall be conducted in a reasonable manner.

B. If a property is unoccupied, the department director or designee, including, but not 
limited to, the Code Enforcement Officer shall make a reasonable effort to locate the 
owner or other persons having charge or control of the property and request entry.

C. If an owner, lawful occupant, or the respective agent, employee, or representative 
therefor refuses permission to enter a dwelling and/or inspect its interior, the County 
acting by and through such persons authorized to enforce this Code may seek an 
administrative inspection warrant pursuant to the procedures provided by California Code 
of Civil Procedure Sections 1822.50 through 1822.59, as amended from time to time and 
such other provisions of law as authorize entry. See Chapter 1.08.

D. No person authorized to enter buildings shall enter any dwelling between the hours of six 
p.m. of any day and eight  a.m. of the succeeding day, without the consent of the owner 
or occupants of the dwelling, nor enter any dwelling for which the occupants have 
refused entry without a proper written order executed and issued by a court of competent 
jurisdiction.

Section 22.12.040 Process Following Determination of Violation 

A. Opportunity to Correct. If a violation of any local ordinance or provision of the Inyo 
County Code is determined to exist, an Inyo County Code Enforcement Officer, or his or 
her deputy or designee (collectively referred to herein as “the Code Enforcement 
Officer”), may notify the involved property owner or legal occupant (collectively referred 
to herein as “Property Owner”) and may issue and serve a verbal or written First Notice 
of Violation (“First Notice”) on the property owner enumerating the violations and 
requiring correction of the violation within fourteen (14) days. 
 

B. Final Notice of Violation. If the violation is continuing fourteen (14) days after the First 
Notice was served, the Code Enforcement Officer may issue and serve a Final Notice of 
Violation (“Final Notice”) on the Property Owner requiring correction of the violation 
within fourteen (14) days.

C. Order of Abatement and Imposition of Administrative Penalties. If the violation 
continues fourteen (14) days after the Final Notice was served, the Code Enforcement 
Officer may issue and serve an Order of Abatement and Imposition of Administrative 
Penalties (“Order of Abatement and Penalties”).  The Order of Abatement and Penalties 
is deemed final, if not appealed pursuant to the procedures and timeline set forth in 
subsection (E).

1. Penalties assessed via the Order of Abatement and Penalties shall be calculated as 
follows:



i. For non-commercial activities, land uses, or properties
1. $25.00 per day for the first 30 days
2. $50.00 per day for the next 30 days
3. $100.00 per day for any subsequent days 

ii. For commercial activities, land uses, or properties
1. $100.00 per day for the first 30 days
2. $250.00 per day for the next 30 days 
3. $500.00 per day for any subsequent days 

iii. For both non-commercial and commercial, penalties shall begin to accrue 
fourteen (14) days after service of the Order of Abatement.  Each and 
every day during which a property owner continues to maintain a violation 
at his or her property constitutes a separate and distinct offense, each of 
which may be subject to a separate penalty.  

iv. In no event shall the total penalties imposed exceed $10,000 for a non-
commercial activity, land use, or property or $50,000 for a commercial 
activity, land use, or property, regardless of the number of days that the 
violation(s) is/are maintained. 

D. Notice of Completion. The property owner shall be responsible for notifying the Code 
Enforcement Officer when the violation(s) identified in the Order of Abatement and 
Penalties have been fully abated.  The Code Enforcement Officer may then schedule an 
inspection of the property.  If the inspection reveals that the violations have been fully 
abated to the satisfaction of the Code Enforcement Officer, the Code Enforcement 
Officer may issue the property owner a Notice of Completion and Total Owed (“Notice 
of Completion”), which states the full amount of administrative penalties and any other 
costs of abatement due to the County.  Any amount stated in the Notice of Completion 
shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the date of service, in the absence of a timely 
submitted request for an appeal pursuant to subsection (E).   

E. Appeal Procedures.
1. Within fourteen (14) days following service of the Order of Abatement and 

Penalties, the Property Owner may file a written appeal with the Code 
Enforcement Officer setting forth all reasons why the Order of Abatement and 
Penalties should be modified or reversed.

i. The issues to be decided during this appeal shall be limited to whether the 
violation(s) identified in the Order of Abatement and Penalties constitute a 
nuisance and/or violation of state, federal, or local ordinances or laws.  

ii. This appeal shall not consider any issues enumerated in subsection (E)(2). 
2. Within fourteen (14) days following service of the Notice of Completion, the 

Property Owner may file a written appeal with the Code Enforcement Officer 



setting forth all reasons why the administrative penalties, costs, and/or fees stated 
in the Notice of Completion are excessive or erroneous.  

i. The issues to be decided during this appeal shall be limited to challenging 
the amount of administrative penalties, costs, and/or fees imposed on the 
property owner. 

ii. This appeal shall not consider any issues enumerated in subsection (E)(1). 
3. Procedures applicable to all appeals 

i. The request for an appeal must include the following information: 
1. The name, address and phone number of the appellant;
2. Sufficient information to identify the Order of Abatement and 

Penalties or Notice of Completion that is being contested; and
3. The grounds on which the Order of Abatement and Penalties or 

Notice of Completion is being contested.
ii. The Code Enforcement Officer shall forward the appeal to the Planning 

Director, who shall schedule the appeal to be heard by the Inyo County 
Planning Commission at the next available Planning Commission meeting.

iii. The Code Enforcement Officer has the burden of proving that a 
nuisance/code violation existed when the Order of Abatement and 
Penalties was served or that the amount of administrative penalties, fees, 
and/or costs charged in the Notice of Completion are proper and 
reasonable.

iv. The cited property owner may present written and oral evidence to show 
there was no violation at the time the Order of Abatement and Penalties 
issued or that the administrative penalties, fees, and/or costs charged in the 
Notice of Completion are incorrect, improper, excessive, or unreasonable.

v. The rules of evidence shall not apply to the hearing.
vi. All parties to the appeal may be represented by an attorney.

vii. The Planning Commission shall issue a written decision.  The Planning 
Commission shall have the power to uphold or vacate the imposition of 
the Order of Abatement and Penalties; to modify the amount of 
administrative penalties, fees, and/or costs charged in the Notice of 
Completion; and to fashion any other relief as the Planning Commission 
deems to be just and proper.

viii. Enforcement of an Order of Abatement and Penalties or Notice of 
Completion is stayed pending the issuance of the Planning Commission’s 
ruling, which shall issue within thirty (30) days of the close of the hearing.

ix. The Planning Commission’s ruling shall be served on the cited property 
owner by the Code Enforcement Officer within ten days of issuance. 

x. The Planning Commission’s ruling shall be a final and binding decision 
with no right of further appeal



F. All costs including, without limitation, reasonable administrative and attorney fees 
associated with an abatement proceeding, shall be charged to the cited property owner.

G. The Code Enforcement Officer may choose to lengthen the 14-day period stated in 
subsection (C)(1)(iii) if the Code Enforcement Officer determines that the Property 
Owner is making a good-faith effort to remedy the violation(s).  The Code Enforcement 
Officer may choose to shorten any notice period stated in this section if the Code 
Enforcement Officer determines that shortened notice periods are necessary to protect 
public health or mitigate an emergent situation. If the Code Enforcement Officer chooses 
to shorten or lengthen any such periods, the Code Enforcement Officer shall provide the 
Property Owner with the new deadlines in writing and shall state in writing the facts and 
circumstances that justify the modifications of the timelines stated in this section.  

Section 22.12.040 Enforcement of Order of Abatement 

A. If the violation continues fourteen (14) days after the finalization of the Order of 
Abatement and Penalties, the Code Enforcement Officer shall submit the Order of 
Abatement and Penalties to County Counsel to pursue and any all legal options to 
forcibly abate the violation, including but not limited to: 

a. A request to the Superior Court to issue an abatement warrant pursuant to Civ. 
Code section 1822.50, et seq.; 

b. The appointment of a receiver; 
c. A request to the district attorney to prosecute the violation to the extent allowed 

by law in the district attorney’s discretion.

B. Should the County conduct abatement work on a property due to the Property Owner’s 
failure to conduct abatement work mandated by an Order of Abatement and Penalties, the 
Code Enforcement Officer shall present an itemized Demand for Payment (“Demand”) to 
the Property Owner.  The Demand shall include:

1. A description of the work done;
2. An itemized account of the costs and receipts of performing the work, including 

both the costs of physically abating the nuisance and the county’s administrative 
costs and attorneys’ fees related to enforcement of this section;

3. A description of any administrative penalties assessed against the property 
pursuant to section 22.12.040(C).

4. A street address, assessor’s parcel number, legal description, or other description 
sufficient to identify the premises;

5. A demand for payment of all abatement costs and administrative penalties within 
thirty (30) days after service of the Demand.



C. If the Code Enforcement Officer determines that the costs of abatement and other 
circumstances surrounding the property are sufficient to necessitate a special assessment, 
the Demand shall include the following additional information:

1. A statement that failure to pay all abatement costs within 30 days after service of 
the Demand may result in the levy of a special assessment in that amount against 
the property;

2. The date, time, and place where the Code Enforcement Officer will request that 
the board of supervisors conduct a noticed public hearing to order the special 
assessment. The time and place specified for the hearing shall be no sooner than 
thirty (30) days after service of the Demand;

3. A statement that the board of supervisors will hear and consider objections and 
protests to the proposed special assessment at the public hearing.

4. A statement that the Code Enforcement Officer will not pursue the request for a 
special assessment if all abatement costs are paid in full within 30 days of service 
of the Demand. 

D. Any administrative penalties or costs of abatement that are not specially assessed against 
a property may be recorded as a lien against the property.  

Section 2.12.050 Special Assessment Procedure

If so ordered by the board of supervisors following the public hearing described in section 
2.12.040(C), upon the recordation of the board of supervisors order imposing the special 
assessment, the amount stated in the order shall constitute a special assessment upon the 
described property, pursuant to section 25845(d) of the Government Code. The enforcement 
officer shall deliver the notice of lien to the Auditor who shall enter the amount of the lien on the 
assessment roll as a special assessment. Thereafter, the amount set forth shall be collected at the 
same time and in the same manner as ordinary county taxes, and shall be subject to the same 
penalties and same procedures for foreclosure and sale in case of delinquency as provided for 
ordinary county taxes. Such lien shall be at parity with the liens of state and county taxes.

Section 22.12.060 Method of Service

Documents issued pursuant to Title 22 may be served on the property owner via any of the 
following methods:

A. Personal service: personal service may be accomplished by personally delivering the 
documents to the address of the intended recipient between the hours of 9 am and 5 pm 
(for business addresses) or 8 am and 8 pm (for residential addresses).  The documents 
must be placed in a clearly labeled envelope and left with an individual over the age of 18 
or placed in a conspicuous location if no individual is available to receive them. 

B. Posting and Mailing: posting and mailing requires both of the following:



1. Posting the document(s) on any real property within the County in which the 
County has knowledge that the property owner has a legal interest, or at the 
location at which the violation occurred. Posting shall be placed in a position that 
is likely to catch the attention of a person entering the property, including but not 
limited to a front door, gate, or near a mailbox; and

2. Mailing the document(s) by first class mail, postage prepaid, to any mailing 
address of the property owner.

C. By Mail: service by mail may be accomplished by sending the document(s) by first class 
mail, postage prepaid, to the location that the violation occurred, or to any other mailing 
address of the property owner.

D. Electronic Service: Per written agreement of the property owner and the County, the 
parties may agree to exchange documents via email on such terms as agreed by the 
parties.

Service shall be complete at the time of personal or electronic service, or one (1) day after 
posting and mailing, or five (5) days after service by mail.  As used in this subsection, “days” 
shall mean calendar days.

Section 22.12.070 Authority to Issue Criminal Citations and Make Arrests

Pursuant to California Penal Code section 836.5(d), the Board hereby finds that any Inyo 
County Code Enforcement Officer, the Inyo County Administrative Officer, and any 
designees of the aforementioned officers have a duty to enforce the provisions of Title 22 of 
the Inyo County Code.  The Board does hereby authorize them to arrest persons violating 
any provision of Title 22 of the Inyo County Code or issue a written notice to appear 
pursuant to and in accordance with California Penal Code section 836.5.

Section 22.12.080 Disclaimer of Liability

Nothing in this title shall be construed as requiring the county to enforce its prohibitions 
against all properties that may violate such prohibitions. The county envisions that this title 
will be enforced, in the county’s prosecutorial discretion, as resources permit. This title is 
not intended to and shall not be construed or given effect in a manner that imposes upon the 
county or any officer or employee thereof a mandatory duty of care towards persons and 
property within or without the county so as to provide a basis of civil liability for damages, 
except as otherwise imposed by law.



1 

County of Inyo 
Administrative Services 

Code Enforcement Division 
PO Drawer N 

Independence, California 93526 
760.878.8576 

CODE ENFORCEMENT COMPLAINT FORM 

Please complete all sections of this form. You may be contacted for additional information about 
the alleged violation. Inyo County does not accept anonymous complaints. Code Enforcement 
will make every effort to keep your identity confidential. However, this may not be possible in 
all cases.   

Upon receipt of a complaint, Code Enforcement will conduct an independent investigation of the 
violations that you allege in this form. Based on the results of that independent investigation, the 
Code Enforcement Department will decide how to respond to each complaint.     

REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION: 

Name: 

Address:

Day Time Phone:

Cell Phone: 

Email Address: Preferred Method of Communication 

LOCATION OF ALLEGED VIOLATION: 

Address:

Assessor’s Parcel No: (If known) 

Cross Street: 

Property Owner’s Name: 



2 
 

PLEASE DESCRIBE IN DETAIL THE NATURE OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION(S): 

Use additional sheets of paper if needed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Is this an urgent situation that is creating an immediate hazard?  Yes__ No__ If yes, 
explain: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Have you contacted any other enforcement agency about this problem?  Yes__ No__   If 
yes, explain: 

 

 

 

 

 



3 
 

What steps have you already taken to resolve this problem? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

How is this violation detrimentally impacting you? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I certify that the information above is accurate, truthful and complete. 

Signature                                                     Date 

 

Please return this form by email to srennie@inyocounty.net or by mail to Administrative 
Services, PO Drawer N, Independence, CA 93526. 

 

mailto:srennie@inyocounty.net


Inyo County Code Enforcement Process

1. Identify violation and provide a verbal or written first notice
2. 14 days later  issue a Notice of  Violation 
3. 14 days later  issue an Order of Abatement and Imposition 

of Admin. Penalties 
a. Opportunity for appeal  the appealable issues are 

limited to whether the violation at issue is a nuisance
4. 14 days later (or at discretion of the code enforcement 

officer)  admin penalties begin to accrue  
a. $25 / $50 / $100 per day for residential 
b. $100 / $250 / $500 per day for commercial

                               Property Owner Complies                                                                                                        Property Owner Does Not Comply

At any point in the process, once the property 
owner has fixed the problem, the property owner 
must notify the code enforcement officer, who 
will conduct an inspection and, if satisfied, issue a 
Notice of Completion that states the total 
penalties due (if any).

After receiving the Notice of Completion, the 
property owner may appeal to challenge whether 
the admin penalties are correctly calculated and 
reasonable.

The Order of Abatement is considered final 14 
days after it is issued, and the code enforcement 
officer may request county counsel to pursue 
enforcement via an abatement warrant if the 
problem is still not resolved.

If granted, the warrant permits the County to go 
on to the property, remedy the problem, and bill 
the property owner for the costs it incurs. That bill, 
which includes the cost of abatement and any 
admin penalties, must be paid in 30 days.  If it is 
not paid, the code enforcement officer may either 
record the bill as a lien against the property or 
request that the Board order a special assessment 
against the property.



County of Inyo

Health & Human Services
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Genoa Meneses
 
SUBJECT:  Agreement between Inyo County and HolaDoctor Inc.
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board ratify and approve the agreement between the County of Inyo and HolaDoctor Inc. of Doral, FL 
for compensation of services satisfactorily rendered to support Spanish Language Services for Health & Human 
Services activities in Inyo County, in the amount of $30,000 for the period of July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023, 
contingent upon the approval of future budgets, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all 
appropriate signatures being obtained.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
While responding to the Coronavirus pandemic, Inyo County's Health & Human Services department has noticed 
a lack of timely creation, execution, and dissemination of multi-platform and bi-lingual communication that 
reaches, resonates, and engages members of the community. As we move further into recovery and Health & 
Human Services programming resumes day-to-day services and support, HHS would like to address and better 
support individuals and families throughout Inyo County navigate the available programming, services, and 
support available by ensuring all available documents, education & outreach materials, advertisements, social 
media, forms, websites, and meetings (when relevant) are accessible in their preferred language. It is important 
to have all of our resources available in multiple languages in order to continue creating awareness and access 
to Inyo County Health & Human Services programs and opportunities for all members of our community.
 
In March 2021, when the Public Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response Team received an award letter for the 
Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) Expansion Grant, HHS Leadership and Managers discussed the 
importance of creating better communication campaigns that create better equity for all members of our 
community. To this end, the team approved $30,000 towards language services to be shared between HHS 
budgets as needed to review, update, or create documents in English and Spanish through June 30, 2023.

At the March 29, 2021 Public Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response meeting, team members approved a 
Language Services Request for Proposals (RFP), which was revised days later to include all Health & Human 
Services departments. The RFP specifics that funding will support the provision of language translation services 
from English to Spanish to support communication with the Inyo County community. The RFP was reviewed by 
Inyo County Counsel on March 31, 2021. The RFP was published on April 1, 2021 and remained open Friday, 
April 15 at COB (5:00 pm). During the proposal period, nine (9) proposals were received. Once the submission 
period closed, the HHS Language Services Review Committee began reviewing each proposal completeness, 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

depth and breadth of experience, multi-language experience, and comprehensive billing.
 
The HHS Language Services Review Committee selected HolaDoctor Inc’s proposal based on its merits at the 
May 3, 2021 meeting, in the amount of $30,000.00, which shall be used to support translation services from 
English to Spanish for Health & Human Services programming throughout Inyo County. 
 
We respectfully request your Board approve the agreement with HolaDoctor Inc. and authorize the Chairperson 
to sign.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose not to approve the agreement, which would result in the various Health & Human 
Services departments inability to update and/or develop materials in multiple languages in a timely manner.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
State, Federal and Realignment funding. This contract has been budgeted in CMH (045200), Social Services 
(055800) and ELC #2 (610390) in object code Professional Services (5265). The cost of translations will be billed 
to each requesting division. No County General Funds.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. HolaDoctor Inc. Contract
 
APPROVALS:
Genoa Meneses Created/Initiated - 7/21/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/21/2021
Genoa Meneses Approved - 7/23/2021
Anna Scott Approved - 7/29/2021
Stephanie Tanksley Approved - 7/30/2021
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 8/6/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/6/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/9/2021
Aaron Holmberg Approved - 8/9/2021
Marilyn Mann Final Approval - 8/10/2021



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 1     05/21/2019 

 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

 
AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

  

INTRODUCTION 

 

 WHEREAS,  the  County  of  Inyo  (hereinafter  referred  to  as  "County")  may  have  the  need  for  

the ___________________________  services  of  _____________________________________________ 

of  ________________________________ (hereinafter referred to as "Contractor"), and in consideration of 

the mutual promises, covenants, terms, and conditions hereinafter contained, the parties hereby agree as 

follows: 

 TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF WORK. 

 The Contractor shall furnish to the County, upon its request, those services and work set forth in 
Attachment A, attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein.  Requests by the County to the 
Contractor to perform under this Agreement will be made by _________________________________, 
whose title is: __________________________________. Requests to the Contractor for work or services to 
be performed under this Agreement will be based upon the County's need for such services.  The County 
makes no guarantee or warranty, of any nature, that any minimum level or amount of services or work will be 
requested of the Contractor by the County under this Agreement.  County by this Agreement incurs no 
obligation or requirement to request from Contractor the performance of any services or work at all, even if 
County should have some need for such services or work during the term of this Agreement. 
 
 Services and work provided by the Contractor at the County's request under this Agreement will be 

performed in a manner consistent with the requirements and standards established by applicable federal, 

state, and County laws, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions.  Such laws, ordinances, regulations, and 

resolutions include, but are not limited to, those which are referred to in this Agreement. 

2. TERM. 

 The term of this Agreement shall be from                           to                                      

unless sooner terminated as provided below.  

3. CONSIDERATION. 

 A. Compensation.  County shall pay to Contractor in accordance with the Schedule of Fees 

(set forth as Attachment B) for the services and work described in Attachment A which are performed by 

Contractor at the County's request.  

 B. Travel and per diem. Contractor will not be paid or reimbursed for travel expenses or per 

diem which Contractor incurs in providing services and work requested by County under this Agreement.  

 C. No additional consideration. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Contractor 
shall not be entitled to, nor receive, from County, any additional consideration, compensation, salary, wages, 
or other type of remuneration for services rendered under this Agreement.  Specifically, Contractor shall not 
be entitled, by virtue of this Agreement, to consideration in the form of overtime, health insurance benefits,  
retirement benefits, disability retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays, or other paid leaves 
of absence of any type or kind whatsoever. 
 D. Limit upon amount payable under Agreement. The total sum of all payments made by the 
County to Contractor for services and work performed under this Agreement shall not exceed 
________________________________________________________________________________ Dollars  

Spanish Language Translations                                  HolaDoctor Inc. 

                Doral, Florida

                     Marilyn Mann
    Health & Human Services Director

       July 1, 2021          June 30, 2023

                                                       Thirty Thousand and zero cents

                                       HolaDoctor Inc. 

           Health & Human Services: Language Services

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 2     05/21/2019 

($______________________________) (hereinafter referred to as "contract limit").  County expressly 
reserves the right to deny any payment or reimbursement requested by Contractor for services or work 
performed which is in excess of the contract limit. 
 E. Billing and payment. Contractor shall submit to the County, once a month, an itemized 
statement of all services and work described in Attachment A, which were done at the County's request.  This 
statement will be submitted to the County not later than the fifth (5th) day of the month.  The statement to be 
submitted will cover the period from the first (1st) day of the preceding month through and including the last 
day of the preceding month.  This statement will identify the date on which the services and work were 
performed and describe the nature of the services and work which were performed on each day.  Upon timely 
receipt of the statement by the fifth (5th) day of the month, County shall make payment to Contractor on the 
last day of the month.  
 F. Federal and State taxes.   
 
  (1) Except as provided in subparagraph (2) below, County will not withhold any federal 
or state income taxes or social security from any payments made by County to Contractor under the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. 
  (2) County will withhold California State income taxes from payments made under this 
Agreement to non-California resident independent contractors when it is anticipated that total annual 
payments to Contractor under this Agreement will exceed one thousand four hundred ninety nine dollars 
($1,499.00). 
  (3) Except as set forth above, County has no obligation to withhold any taxes or 
payments from sums paid by County to Contractor under this Agreement.  Payment of all taxes and other 
assessments on such sums is the sole responsibility of Contractor.  County has no responsibility or liability for 
payment of Contractor's taxes or assessments. 
  (4) The total amounts paid by County to Contractor, and taxes withheld from payments 
to non-California residents, if any, will be reported annually to the Internal Revenue Service and the California 
State Franchise Tax Board.  To facilitate this reporting, Contractor shall complete and submit to the County 
an  Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form W-9 upon executing this Agreement. 
 

4. WORK SCHEDULE. 

 Contractor's obligation is to perform, in a timely manner, those services and work identified in 

Attachment A which are requested by the County.  It is understood by Contractor that the performance of 

these services and work will require a varied schedule.  Contractor will arrange his/her own schedule, but will 

coordinate with County to ensure that all services and work requested by County under this Agreement will 

be performed within the time frame set forth by County. 

5. REQUIRED LICENSES, CERTIFICATES, AND PERMITS. 

 A. Any licenses, certificates, or permits required by the federal, state, county, municipal 
governments, for contractor to provide the services and work described in Attachment A must be procured by 
Contractor and be valid at the time Contractor enters into this Agreement or as otherwise may be required.  
Further, during the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain such licenses, certificates, and permits  
in full force and effect.  Licenses, certificates, and permits may include, but are not limited to, driver's licenses, 
professional licenses or certificates, and business licenses.  Such licenses, certificates, and permits will be 
procured and maintained in force by Contractor at no expense to the County.  Contractor will provide County, 
upon execution of this Agreement, with evidence of current and valid licenses, certificates and permits which 
are required to perform the services identified in Attachment A.  Where there is a dispute between Contractor 
and County as to what licenses, certificates, and permits are required to perform the services identified in 
Attachment A, County reserves the right to make such determinations for purposes of this Agreement. 

30,000.00

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 3     05/21/2019 

 B. Contractor warrants that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in covered transactions by any 
federal department or agency.  Contractor also warrants that it is not suspended or debarred from 
receiving federal funds as listed in the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or Non-
procurement Programs issued by the General Services Administration available at: http://www.sam.gov.  
 

6. OFFICE SPACE, SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT, ET CETERA. 

 Contractor shall provide such office space, supplies, equipment, vehicles, reference materials, and 

telephone service as is necessary for Contractor to provide the services identified in Attachment A to this 

Agreement.  County is not obligated to reimburse or pay Contractor, for any expense or cost incurred by 

Contractor in procuring or maintaining such items.  Responsibility for the costs and expenses incurred by 

Contractor in providing and maintaining such items is the sole responsibility and obligation of Contractor. 

7. COUNTY PROPERTY. 

 A. Personal Property of County. Any personal property such as, but not limited to, protective or 
safety devices, badges, identification cards, keys, etc. provided to Contractor by County pursuant to this 
Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of County.  
Contractor will use reasonable care to protect, safeguard and maintain such items while they are in 
Contractor's possession.  Contractor will be financially responsible for any loss or damage to such items, 
partial or total, which is the result of Contractor's negligence. 
 B. Products of Contractor's Work and Services.  Any and all compositions, publications, plans, 
designs, specifications, blueprints, maps, formulas, processes, photographs, slides, video tapes, computer 
programs, computer disks, computer tapes, memory chips, soundtracks, audio recordings, films, audio-visual 
presentations, exhibits, reports, studies, works of art, inventions, patents, trademarks, copyrights, or 
intellectual properties of any kind which are created, produced, assembled, compiled by, or are the result, 
product, or manifestation of, Contractor's services or work under this Agreement are, and at the termination of 
this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of the County.  At the termination of the Agreement, 
Contractor will convey possession and title to all such properties to County. 
 
8. INSURANCE. 

 For the duration of this Agreement Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance of the scope 

and amount specified in Attachment C and with the provisions specified in that attachment.  

9. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR. 

 All acts of Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees, relating to the performance of this 

Agreement, shall be performed as independent contractors, and not as agents, officers, or employees of 

County.  Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, has no authority to bind or incur any obligation on behalf of 

County.  Except as expressly provided in Attachment A, Contractor has no authority or responsibility to 

exercise any rights or power vested in the County.  No agent, officer, or employee of the Contractor is to be 

considered an employee of County.  It is understood by both Contractor and County that this Agreement shall 

not under any circumstances be construed or considered to create an employer-employee relationship or a 

joint venture.  As an independent contractor: 

 A. Contractor shall determine the method, details, and means of performing the work and 
services to be provided by Contractor under this Agreement. 
 B. Contractor shall be responsible to County only for the requirements and results specified in 
this Agreement, and except as expressly provided in this Agreement, shall not be subjected to County's 
control with respect to the physical action or activities of Contractor in fulfillment of this Agreement. 
 C. Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees are, and at all times during the term of this 
Agreement shall, represent and conduct themselves as independent contractors, and not as employees of 
County. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444

http://www.sam.gov/


 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 4     05/21/2019 

 

10. DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 

 Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and its officers, officials, employees 
and volunteers from and against any and all liability, loss, damage, expense, costs (including without 
limitation costs and fees of litigation) of every nature arising out of or in connection with Contractor’s 
performance of work hereunder or its failure to comply with any of its obligations contained in the 
agreement, except such loss or damages which was caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct 
of the County. 
 
11. RECORDS AND AUDIT. 

 
 A. Records.  Contractor shall prepare and maintain all records required by the various 
provisions of this Agreement, federal, state, county, municipal, ordinances, regulations, and directions.  
Contractor shall maintain these records for a minimum of four (4) years from the termination or completion of 
this Agreement.  Contractor may fulfill its obligation to maintain records as required by this paragraph by 
substitute photographs, microphotographs, or other authentic reproduction of such records. 
 B. Inspections and Audits.  Any authorized representative of County shall have access to any  
books, documents, papers, records, including, but not limited to, financial records of Contractor, which 
County determines to be pertinent to this Agreement, for the purposes of making audit, evaluation, 
examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the period such records are to be maintained by Contractor.  
Further, County has the right, at all reasonable times, to audit, inspect, or otherwise evaluate the work 
performed or being performed under this Agreement. 
 

12. NONDISCRIMINATION. 

 During the performance of this Agreement, Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees shall not 

unlawfully discriminate in violation of any federal, state, or local law, against any employee, or applicant for 

employment, or person receiving services under this Agreement, because of race, religion, color, national 

origin, ancestry, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, age, or sex.  Contractor and its agents, 

officers, and employees shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Government Code section 12900, et seq.), and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder in the 

California Code of Regulations.  Contractor shall also abide by the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-

352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued pursuant to said act. 

13. CANCELLATION. 

 This Agreement may be canceled by County without cause, and at will, for any reason by giving to 

Contractor thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to cancel.  Contractor may cancel this Agreement 

without cause, and at will, for any reason whatsoever by giving thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to 

cancel to County. 

14. ASSIGNMENT. 

 This is an agreement for the services of Contractor.  County has relied upon the skills, knowledge, 

experience, and training of Contractor as an inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor shall not 

assign or subcontract this Agreement, or any part of it, without the express written consent of County.  

Further, Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due under this Agreement without the prior 

written consent of County. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 5     05/21/2019 

15. DEFAULT. 

 If the Contractor abandons the work, or fails to proceed with the work and services requested by 

County in a timely manner, or fails in any way as required to conduct the work and services as required by 

County, County may declare the Contractor in default and terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days written 

notice to Contractor.  Upon such termination by default, County will pay to Contractor all amounts owing to 

Contractor for services and work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination.   

16. WAIVER OF DEFAULT. 

 Waiver of any default by either party to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be waiver of any 

subsequent default.  Waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver 

of any other or subsequent breach, and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this 

Agreement unless this Agreement is modified as provided in paragraph twenty-two (22) below. 

17. CONFIDENTIALITY. 

 Contractor further agrees to comply with the various provisions of the federal, state, and county laws, 

regulations, and ordinances providing that information and records kept, maintained, or accessible by 

Contractor in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, shall be privileged, restricted, 

or confidential.  Contractor agrees to keep confidential all such information and records.  Disclosure of such 

confidential, privileged, or protected information shall be made by Contractor only with the express written 

consent of the County. Any disclosure of confidential information by Contractor without the County’s written 
consent is solely and exclusively the legal responsibility of Contractor in all respects.  

 Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, names of persons receiving public social 

services are confidential and are to be protected from unauthorized disclosure in accordance with Title 45, 

Code of Federal Regulations Section 205.50, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 

and Sections 10850 and 14100.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and regulations adopted pursuant 

thereto.  For the purpose of this Agreement, all information, records, and data elements pertaining to 

beneficiaries shall be protected by the provider from unauthorized disclosure.  

18. CONFLICTS. 

 Contractor agrees that it has no interest, and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which 

would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the work and services under this Agreement. 

19.   POST AGREEMENT COVENANT. 

 Contractor agrees not to use any confidential, protected, or privileged information which is gained 

from the County in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, for any personal benefit, 

gain, or enhancement.  Further, Contractor agrees for a period of two years after the termination of this 

Agreement, not to seek or accept any employment with any entity, association, corporation, or person who, 

during the term of this Agreement, has had an adverse or conflicting interest with the County, or who has 

been an adverse party in litigation with the County, and concerning such, Contractor by virtue of this 

Agreement has gained access to the County's confidential, privileged, protected, or proprietary information. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 6     05/21/2019 

20. SEVERABILITY. 

 If any portion of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 

declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if it is found in contravention of any federal, state, or 

county statute, ordinance, or regulation, the remaining provisions of this Agreement, or the application 

thereof, shall not be invalidated thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect to the extent that the 

provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

21. FUNDING LIMITATION. 

 The ability of County to enter this Agreement is based upon available funding from various sources.  

In the event that such funding fails, is reduced, or is modified, from one or more sources, County has the 

option to cancel, reduce, or modify this Agreement, or any of its terms within ten (10) days of its notifying 

Contractor of the cancellation, reduction, or modification of available funding.  Any reduction or modification of 

this Agreement made pursuant to this provision must comply with the requirements of paragraph twenty-two 

(22) (Amendment). 

22. AMENDMENT. 

 This Agreement may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or subtracted from, by the mutual 

consent of the parties hereto, if such amendment or change is in written form and executed with the same 

formalities as this Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement to maintain continuity. 

23. NOTICE. 

 Any notice, communication, amendments, additions, or deletions to this Agreement, including 

change of address of either party during the terms of this Agreement, which Contractor or County shall be 

required, or may desire, to make, shall be in writing and may be personally served, or sent by prepaid first 

class mail to, the respective parties as follows: 

   County of Inyo 
                                                                          Department 
                                                                          Address 
                                                                          City and State 
 
   Contractor: 
                                                                          Name 
                                                                          Address  
                                                                          City and State 
 
24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 

 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements otherwise between the parties not embodied herein or incorporated herein by 

reference, shall be of any force or effect.  Further, no term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, 

discharged, or terminated, unless the same be in writing executed by the parties hereto.  

  ////       //// 

Health & Human Services
163 May Street
Bishop, California 93514

HolaDoctor Inc. 
2001 NW 107 Avenue, 2nd Floor
Doral, Florida 33172

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444

Adam Hill

7/21/2021

Robert DiCianni

7/22/2021



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 8     05/21/2019 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

 AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

 TERM: 

           FROM:                          TO:       

 SCOPE OF WORK: 

  07/01/2021      06/30/2023

                                          HolaDoctor Inc. 

           Health & Human Services: Language Services

Contractor will: 
A. Provide translation services for previously developed, as well as continuous education and outreach materials; 
 
B. Provide translation services for privacy agreements, Release of Information (ROI), various department forms and 
other annual plans/updates; 
 
C. Outreach support to the Latinx communities through targeted education and advertisements to include local media 
outlets and social media; and 
 
D. Provide a detailed invoice to designated HHS staff.

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 9     05/21/2019 

 ATTACHMENT B 

  
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

 AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

 

TERM: 

   FROM:                              TO:    

 SCHEDULE OF FEES: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  07/01/2021      06/30/2023

                                          HolaDoctor Inc. 

           Health & Human Services: Language Services

For services satisfactorily rendered, and upon receipt of monthly invoices, the County agrees to compensate the 
Contractor for total expenditures in an amount not to exceed $30,000.00, incurred from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 
2023, based upon services provided. 
 
Actual language translation service costs are to be invoiced to Inyo County - Health & Human Services (HHS), 
ATTN to: Sonja Velarde and Genoa Meneses once a month, in an itemized statement that includes: 
- The date on which the service(s) was performed; 
- Which HHS Department requested the service (see Dept. breakdown below); 
- Description of the services performed, include translation language; 
- The hourly rate breakdown + details for any fees; and 
- The total cost of all services. 
 
The statement to be submitted must cover the period from the 1st of the month through and including the last day of 
the month. In accordance with paragraph 3. E - Billing and Payment: monthly invoices with attached expenditure 
information and fiscal receipts including supporting documentation to what is being claimed, should be received by 
lnyo County – Health & Human Services no later than five (5) days after the end of the month. lnyo County – Health 
& Human Services retains the right to withhold payment until satisfactory receipt and review of those materials has 
taken place. 
 
lf all budget funds are paid out early in the contract period (prior to June 30, 2023), the contract will be considered 
complete and invoices with a zero balance do not need to be submitted. The County retains sole discretion to renew 
for additional terms, without a competitive bid process, subject to contractor performance, continued funding 
availability, and Health & Human Services approval. 
 
Invoice Due Dates: the first business day of the month, but no later than five (5) days after then end of the month. 
 
Agreed Upon Translation Services Fees:  
Spanish: Translation per new word = $0.09 | Translation per repeat word = $0.03 
 
Total Budget: Health & Human Services - $30,000 
 
Health & Human Services – Departments:  
- HHS Administration 
- HHS Fiscal 
- Public Health & Prevention (includes COVID-19, First 5, & WIC) 
- Aging & Social Services 
- Behavioral Health

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 10     05/21/2019 

 

ATTACHMENT  C 

 

 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

TERM: 

 

   FROM:                              TO:     

 

SEE ATTACHED INSURANCE PROVISIONS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  07/01/2021      06/30/2023

                                          HolaDoctor Inc. 

           Health & Human Services: Language Services

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



Attachment C: Insurance Requirements for HHS Provider Services 
 

 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards – HHS Provider Services, 20210406 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims 
for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the 
performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or 
employees.  
 
MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE  
Coverage shall be at least as broad as:  
 

Commercial General Liability (CGL): ISO Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an “occurrence” 
basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury, sexual 
misconduct, and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. If a general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply 
separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall 
be twice the required occurrence limit. The CGL policy shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, 
additional insured status as specified as follows.  

 
Additional Insured Status. Inyo County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers 
are to be covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability 
arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including 
materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations. 
General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the 
Contractor’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or if not available, 
through the addition of both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 if 
a later edition is used).  

 

Automobile Liability: ISO Form Number CA 00 01 covering any auto (Code 1), or if Contractor 
has no owned autos, hired (Code 8), and non-owned autos (Code 9), with limit no less than 
$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. May be waived with signed 
letter on Contractor’s letterhead certifying that no vehicle or mobile equipment will be used in 
the execution of the agreement.  

 
Workers’ Compensation: as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and 
Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. May be waived with signed letter on Contractor’s letterhead certifying that 
Contractor has no employees. 
 
Professional Liability: Insurance as appropriate to the Contractor’s profession (errors and 
omissions, medical malpractice, etc.), with limit no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or 
claim, $3,000,000 aggregate. Professional liability insurance coverage is normally required if 
Contractor is provided a professional service regulated by the state; however, other 
professional contractors, such a computer software designers and claims administration 
providers, should also have professional liability. Check with Risk Management if PL is 
required.  
 
Cyber Liability Insurance, with limits not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, 
$2,000,000 aggregate. Cyber liability requirement may be waived if Contractor will not be 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



Attachment C: Insurance Requirements for HHS Provider Services 
 

 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards – HHS Provider Services, 20210406 

receiving/storing/transmitting personally identifiable information (PII) or personal medical 
information (PMI). Coverage shall be sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations 
as is undertaken by Contractor in this agreement and shall include, but not be limited to, claims 
involving infringement of intellectual property, including but not limited to infringement of 
copyright, trademark, trade dress, invasion of privacy violations, information theft, damage to 
or destruction of electronic information, release of private information, alteration of electronic 
information, extortion and network security. The policy shall provide coverage for breach 
response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties as well as credit monitoring expenses 
with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. Check with Risk Management if CL is 
required. 

 
If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown 
above, Inyo County requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher 
limits maintained by the Contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified 
minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to Inyo County.  
 
OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS  
The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:  
 
Primary Coverage  
For any claims related to this contract, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary 
coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects Inyo County, its officers, officials, 
employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Inyo County, its 
officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it.  
 
Notice of Cancellation  
Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be canceled, except 
with notice to Inyo County.  
 
Waiver of Subrogation  
Contractor hereby grants to Inyo County a waiver of any right to subrogation which any insurer 
of said Contractor may acquire against Inyo County by virtue of the payment of any loss under 
such insurance. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect 
this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not Inyo County 
has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer.  
 
Self-Insured Retentions  
Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by Inyo County. Inyo County may 
require the Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of ability 
to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the 
retention. The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured 
retention may be satisfied by either the named insured or Inyo County.  
 
Acceptability of Insurers  
Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the state with a 
current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to Inyo County.  

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



Attachment C: Insurance Requirements for HHS Provider Services 
 

 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards – HHS Provider Services, 20210406 

 
Claims Made Policies (should be applicable only to professional liability) 
If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the 

beginning of contract work.  

2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five 
(5) years after completion of the contract of work.  

3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy 
form with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor must 
purchase “extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of 
contract work.  

 
Verification of Coverage  
Contractor shall furnish Inyo County with original Certificates of Insurance including all 
required amendatory endorsements (or copies of the applicable policy language effecting 
coverage required by this clause) and a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the 
CGL policy listing all policy endorsements to Inyo County before work begins. However, failure 
to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the Contractor’s 
obligation to provide them. Inyo County reserves the right to require complete, certified copies 
of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at 
any time.  
 
Subcontractors  
Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting all the 
requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Inyo County is an additional 
insured on insurance required from subcontractors.  
 
Special Risks or Circumstances  
Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the 

nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances. 

-end- 

DocuSign Envelope ID: D153B167-4901-48B4-AB29-67504831C444



County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Health/Prevention
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Genoa Meneses
 
SUBJECT:  Agreement between Inyo County and Cardno ChemRisk
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board ratify and approve the agreement between the County of Inyo and Cardno ChemRisk of San 
Francisco, CA for compensation of services satisfactorily rendered to support Epidemiology services for Public 
Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response activities as part of the ELC 2 & ELC Expansion Grant in Inyo County, 
in the amount of $120,000 for the period of July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023, contingent upon approval of 
future budgets, and authorize the Chairperson to sign, contingent upon all appropriate signatures being obtained.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
From the onset of the stay-at-home order, in response to the Coronavirus pandemic, Inyo County's Public Health 
& Prevention/COVID-19 Response Team has achieved basic emergency response for our residents, but 
struggled with processing and analyzing available data to make better and long-term decisions. The Public 
Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response Team wants to continue helping families throughout Inyo County 
navigate continued COVID-19 risks, including exposures, timely testing, isolation/quarantine, and 
comprehensible vaccine information, all while looking back at the data available and how it applies to all corners 
of our County so that we can learn from the pandemic and plan for a better future.

In March 2021, when the Public Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response Team received an award letter for the 
Epidemiology and Laboratory Capacity (ELC) Expansion Grant, HHS Leadership and Managers discussed the 
importance of creating a better understanding of what has happened and what could happen, so that we could 
better ensure health equity for all members of our community. Being able to fund dedicated epidemiology 
services to help Inyo County Public Health & Prevention programs and opportunities through the available ELC 
funding is a new and unique opportunity to analyze data that could help with the continued safety and recovery of 
our community. To this end, the team approved $120,000 towards epidemiology services for the remainder of the 
grant period (through June 30, 2023) to address needs and information surrounding COVID-19, Public Health & 
Prevention, and Disaster Preparedness in Inyo County.

At the March 29, 2021 Public Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response meeting, team members approved an 
Epidemiology Services Request for Proposals (RFP). The RFP specifics that funding will support the analysis of 
data on current and emerging public health and behavioral health problems in Inyo County during the COVID-19 
pandemic response and recovery, including the interpretation of health indicators, risk factors, and disease 
surveillance information. The RFP was reviewed by Inyo County Counsel on March 31, 2021. The RFP was 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

published on April 1, 2021 and remained open until Friday, April 15 at COB (5:00 pm). During the proposal 
period, one (1) proposal was received. Once the submission period closed, the Epidemiology Services Review 
Committee began reviewing each proposal completeness, depth and breadth of experience, publications, and 
comprehensive billing.
 
The Epidemiology Services Review Committee selected Cardno ChemRisk’s proposal based on its merits at the 
May 27, 2021 meeting, in the amount of $120,000.00, which shall be used to support epidemiology services for 
Public Health & Prevention/COVID-19 Response in Inyo County. This additional support will help evaluate the 
quality and efficiency of Inyo’s epidemiological reporting and surveillance so that we can better respond to 
current and future emergent health situations.
 
We respectfully request your Board approve the agreement with Cardno ChemRisk  and authorize the 
Chairperson to sign.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose not to approve the agreement, which would result in the Public Health & 
Prevention/COVID-19 Response Team inability to analyze, evaluate, and prepare for emergent health situations 
under the ELC 2 and ELC Expansion grant funding.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
Federal Funding. This contract will be budgeted in the ELC #2 budget (610390) in object code Professional 
Services (5265). No County General Funds.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Cardno ChemRisk Contract
 
APPROVALS:
Genoa Meneses Created/Initiated - 7/21/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/21/2021
Genoa Meneses Approved - 7/23/2021
Anna Scott Approved - 7/26/2021
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 8/6/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/6/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/9/2021
Aaron Holmberg Approved - 8/9/2021
Marilyn Mann Final Approval - 8/10/2021



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 1     05/21/2019 

 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

AND CARDNO CHEMRISK 
FOR THE PROVISION OF PART TIME CONTRACT EPIDEMIOLOGIST SERVICES 

  

INTRODUCTION 

 

 WHEREAS,  the  County  of  Inyo  (hereinafter  referred  to  as  "County")  may  have  the  need  for  

the Epidemiology services of Cardno ChemRisk of San Francisco, CA (hereinafter referred to as 

"Contractor"), and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, terms, and conditions hereinafter 

contained, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

 

 TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF WORK. 

 The Contractor shall furnish to the County, upon its request, those services and work set forth in 
Attachment A, attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein.  Requests by the County to the 
Contractor to perform under this Agreement will be made by Anna Scott, whose title is: Director of Public 
Health & Prevention.  Requests to the Contractor for work or services to be performed under this Agreement 
will be based upon the County's need for such services.  The County makes no guarantee or warranty, of any 
nature, that any minimum level or amount of services or work will be requested of the Contractor by the 
County under this Agreement.  County by this Agreement incurs no obligation or requirement to request from 
Contractor the performance of any services or work at all, even if County should have some need for such 
services or work during the term of this Agreement. 
 
 Services and work provided by the Contractor at the County's request under this Agreement will be 

performed in a manner consistent with the requirements and standards established by applicable federal, 

state, and County laws, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions.  Such laws, ordinances, regulations, and 

resolutions include, but are not limited to, those which are referred to in this Agreement. 

2. TERM. 

 The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2023 unless sooner terminated as 

provided below.  

3. CONSIDERATION. 

 A. Compensation.  County shall pay to Contractor in accordance with the Schedule of Fees 

(set forth as Attachment B) for the services and work described in Attachment A which are performed by 

Contractor at the County's request.  

 B. Travel and per diem. Contractor will not be paid or reimbursed for travel expenses or per 

diem which Contractor incurs in providing services and work requested by County under this Agreement.  

 C. No additional consideration. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Contractor 
shall not be entitled to, nor receive, from County, any additional consideration, compensation, salary, wages, 
or other type of remuneration for services rendered under this Agreement.  Specifically, Contractor shall not 
be entitled, by virtue of this Agreement, to consideration in the form of overtime, health insurance benefits,  
retirement benefits, disability retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays, or other paid leaves 
of absence of any type or kind whatsoever. 
 D. Limit upon amount payable under Agreement. The total sum of all payments made by the 
County to Contractor for services and work performed under this Agreement shall not exceed One Hundred 
Twenty Thousand and Zero Cents



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 2     05/21/2019 

($120,000) (hereinafter referred to as "contract limit").  County expressly reserves the right to deny any 
payment or reimbursement requested by Contractor for services or work performed which is in excess of the 
contract limit. 
 E. Billing and payment. Contractor shall submit to the County, once a month, an itemized 
statement of all services and work described in Attachment A, which were done at the County's request.  This 
statement will be submitted to the County not later than the fifth (5th) day of the month.  The statement to be 
submitted will cover the period from the first (1st) day of the preceding month through and including the last 
day of the preceding month.  This statement will identify the date on which the services and work were 
performed and describe the nature of the services and work which were performed on each day.  Upon timely 
receipt of the statement by the fifth (5th) day of the month, County shall make payment to Contractor on the 
last day of the month.  
 F. Federal and State taxes.   
 
  (1) Except as provided in subparagraph (2) below, County will not withhold any federal 
or state income taxes or social security from any payments made by County to Contractor under the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. 
  (2) County will withhold California State income taxes from payments made under this 
Agreement to non-California resident independent contractors when it is anticipated that total annual 
payments to Contractor under this Agreement will exceed one thousand four hundred ninety nine dollars 
($1,499.00). 
  (3) Except as set forth above, County has no obligation to withhold any taxes or 
payments from sums paid by County to Contractor under this Agreement.  Payment of all taxes and other 
assessments on such sums is the sole responsibility of Contractor.  County has no responsibility or liability for 
payment of Contractor's taxes or assessments. 
  (4) The total amounts paid by County to Contractor, and taxes withheld from payments 
to non-California residents, if any, will be reported annually to the Internal Revenue Service and the California 
State Franchise Tax Board.  To facilitate this reporting, Contractor shall complete and submit to the County 
an Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form W-9 upon executing this Agreement. 
 
4. WORK SCHEDULE. 

 Contractor's obligation is to perform, in a timely manner, those services and work identified in 

Attachment A which are requested by the County.  It is understood by Contractor that the performance of 

these services and work will require a varied schedule.  Contractor will arrange his/her own schedule, but will 

coordinate with County to ensure that all services and work requested by County under this Agreement will 

be performed within the time frame agreed upon by both Parties. 

5. REQUIRED LICENSES, CERTIFICATES, AND PERMITS. 

 A. Any licenses, certificates, or permits required by the federal, state, county, municipal 
governments, for contractor to provide the services and work described in Attachment A must be procured by 
Contractor and be valid at the time Contractor enters into this Agreement or as otherwise may be required.  
Further, during the term of this Agreement, Contractor must maintain such licenses, certificates, and permits  
in full force and effect.  Licenses, certificates, and permits may include, but are not limited to, driver's licenses, 
professional licenses or certificates, and business licenses.  Such licenses, certificates, and permits will be 
procured and maintained in force by Contractor at no expense to the County.  Contractor will provide County, 
upon execution of this Agreement, with evidence of current and valid licenses, certificates and permits which 
are required to perform the services identified in Attachment A.  Where there is a dispute between Contractor 
and County as to what licenses, certificates, and permits are required to perform the services identified in 
Attachment A, County reserves the right to make such determinations for purposes of this Agreement. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 3     05/21/2019 

 B. Contractor warrants that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in covered transactions by any 
federal department or agency.  Contractor also warrants that it is not suspended or debarred from 
receiving federal funds as listed in the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or Non-
procurement Programs issued by the General Services Administration available at: http://www.sam.gov.  
 
6. OFFICE SPACE, SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT, ET CETERA. 

 Contractor shall provide such office space, supplies, equipment, vehicles, reference materials, and 

telephone service as is necessary for Contractor to provide the services identified in Attachment A to this 

Agreement.  County is not obligated to reimburse or pay Contractor, for any expense or cost incurred by 

Contractor in procuring or maintaining such items.  Responsibility for the costs and expenses incurred by 

Contractor in providing and maintaining such items is the sole responsibility and obligation of Contractor. 

7. COUNTY PROPERTY. 

 A. Personal Property of County. Any personal property such as, but not limited to, protective or 
safety devices, badges, identification cards, keys, etc. provided to Contractor by County pursuant to this 
Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of County.  
Contractor will use reasonable care to protect, safeguard and maintain such items while they are in 
Contractor's possession.  Contractor will be financially responsible for any loss or damage to such items, 
partial or total, which is the result of Contractor's negligence. 
 B. Products of Contractor's Work and Services.  Any and all compositions, publications, plans, 
designs, specifications, blueprints, maps, formulas, processes, photographs, slides, video tapes, computer 
programs, computer disks, computer tapes, memory chips, soundtracks, audio recordings, films, audio-visual 
presentations, exhibits, reports, studies, works of art, inventions, patents, trademarks, copyrights, or 
intellectual properties of any kind which are created, produced, assembled, compiled by, or are the result, 
product, or manifestation of, Contractor's services or work under this Agreement are, and at the termination of 
this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of the County.  At the termination of the Agreement, 
Contractor will convey possession and title to all such properties to County.  With consent of the County, 
contractor may publish articles in peer-reviewed journals, submit abstracts, publish other written works of 
interest to the professional field, or present at professional conferences based upon the collaborative work as 
described in Attachment A. 
 
8. INSURANCE. 

 For the duration of this Agreement Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance of the scope 

and amount specified in Attachment C and with the provisions specified in that attachment.  

9. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR. 

 All acts of Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees, relating to the performance of this 

Agreement, shall be performed as independent contractors, and not as agents, officers, or employees of 

County.  Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, has no authority to bind or incur any obligation on behalf of 

County.  Except as expressly provided in Attachment A, Contractor has no authority or responsibility to 

exercise any rights or power vested in the County.  No agent, officer, or employee of the Contractor is to be 

considered an employee of County.  It is understood by both Contractor and County that this Agreement shall 

not under any circumstances be construed or considered to create an employer-employee relationship or a 

joint venture.  As an independent contractor: 

 A. Contractor shall determine the method, details, and means of performing the work and 
services to be provided by Contractor under this Agreement. 
 B. Contractor shall be responsible to County only for the requirements and results specified in 
this Agreement, and except as expressly provided in this Agreement, shall not be subjected to County's 
control with respect to the physical action or activities of Contractor in fulfillment of this Agreement. 

http://www.sam.gov/


 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 4     05/21/2019 

 C. Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees are, and at all times during the term of this 
Agreement shall, represent and conduct themselves as independent contractors, and not as employees of 
County. 
 

10. DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 

 Contractor shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify County and its officers, officials, employees 
and volunteers from and against any and all liability, loss, damage, expense, costs (including without 
limitation costs and fees of litigation) of every nature arising out of or in connection with Contractor’s 
performance of work hereunder or its failure to comply with any of its obligations contained in the 
agreement, except such loss or damages which was caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct 
of the County. 
 
11. RECORDS AND AUDIT. 
 
 A. Records. Contractor shall prepare and maintain all records required by the various 
provisions of this Agreement, federal, state, county, municipal, ordinances, regulations, and directions.  
Contractor shall maintain these records for a minimum of four (4) years from the termination or completion of 
this Agreement.  Contractor may fulfill its obligation to maintain records as required by this paragraph by 
substitute photographs, microphotographs, or other authentic reproduction of such records. 
 B. Inspections and Audits.  Any authorized representative of County shall have access to any  
books, documents, papers, records, including, but not limited to, financial records of Contractor, which 
County determines to be pertinent to this Agreement, for the purposes of making audit, evaluation, 
examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the period such records are to be maintained by Contractor.  
Further, County has the right, at all reasonable times, to audit, inspect, or otherwise evaluate the work 
performed or being performed under this Agreement. 
 
12. NONDISCRIMINATION. 

 During the performance of this Agreement, Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees shall not 

unlawfully discriminate in violation of any federal, state, or local law, against any employee, or applicant for 

employment, or person receiving services under this Agreement, because of race, religion, color, national 

origin, ancestry, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, age, or sex.  Contractor and its agents, 

officers, and employees shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 

(Government Code section 12900, et seq.), and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder in the 

California Code of Regulations.  Contractor shall also abide by the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-

352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued pursuant to said act. 

13. CANCELLATION. 

 This Agreement may be canceled by County without cause, and at will, for any reason by giving to 

Contractor thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to cancel.  Contractor may cancel this Agreement 

without cause, and at will, for any reason whatsoever by giving thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to 

cancel to County. 

14. ASSIGNMENT. 

 This is an agreement for the services of Contractor.  County has relied upon the skills, knowledge, 

experience, and training of Contractor as an inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor shall not 

assign or subcontract this Agreement, or any part of it, without the express written consent of County.  

Further, Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due under this Agreement without the prior 

written consent of County. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 5     05/21/2019 

15. DEFAULT. 

 If the Contractor abandons the work, or fails to proceed with the work and services requested by 

County in a timely manner, or fails in any way as required to conduct the work and services as required by 

County, County may declare the Contractor in default and terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days written 

notice to Contractor.  Upon such termination by default, County will pay to Contractor all amounts owing to 

Contractor for services and work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination.   

16. WAIVER OF DEFAULT. 

 Waiver of any default by either party to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be waiver of any 

subsequent default.  Waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a waiver 

of any other or subsequent breach, and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of this 

Agreement unless this Agreement is modified as provided in paragraph twenty-two (22) below. 

17. CONFIDENTIALITY. 

 Contractor further agrees to comply with the various provisions of the federal, state, and county laws, 

regulations, and ordinances providing that information and records kept, maintained, or accessible by 

Contractor in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, shall be privileged, restricted, 

or confidential.  Contractor agrees to keep confidential all such information and records.  Disclosure of such 

confidential, privileged, or protected information shall be made by Contractor only with the express written 

consent of the County. Any disclosure of confidential information by Contractor without the County’s written 

consent is solely and exclusively the legal responsibility of Contractor in all respects.  

 Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, names of persons receiving public social 

services are confidential and are to be protected from unauthorized disclosure in accordance with Title 45, 

Code of Federal Regulations Section 205.50, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 

and Sections 10850 and 14100.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and regulations adopted pursuant 

thereto.  For the purpose of this Agreement, all information, records, and data elements pertaining to 

beneficiaries shall be protected by the provider from unauthorized disclosure.  

18. CONFLICTS. 

 Contractor agrees that it has no interest, and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which 

would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the work and services under this Agreement. 

19.   POST AGREEMENT COVENANT. 

 Contractor agrees not to use any confidential, protected, or privileged information which is gained 

from the County in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, for any personal benefit, 

gain, or enhancement.  Further, Contractor agrees for a period of two years after the termination of this 

Agreement, not to seek or accept any employment with any entity, association, corporation, or person who, 

during the term of this Agreement, has had an adverse or conflicting interest with the County, or who has 

been an adverse party in litigation with the County, and concerning such, Contractor by virtue of this 

Agreement has gained access to the County's confidential, privileged, protected, or proprietary information. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 6     05/21/2019 

20. SEVERABILITY. 

 If any portion of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 

declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if it is found in contravention of any federal, state, or 

county statute, ordinance, or regulation, the remaining provisions of this Agreement, or the application 

thereof, shall not be invalidated thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect to the extent that the 

provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

21. FUNDING LIMITATION. 

 The ability of County to enter this Agreement is based upon available funding from various sources.  

In the event that such funding fails, is reduced, or is modified, from one or more sources, County has the 

option to cancel, reduce, or modify this Agreement, or any of its terms within ten (10) days of its notifying 

Contractor of the cancellation, reduction, or modification of available funding.  Any reduction or modification of 

this Agreement made pursuant to this provision must comply with the requirements of paragraph twenty-two 

(22) (Amendment). 

22. AMENDMENT. 

 This Agreement may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or subtracted from, by the mutual 

consent of the parties hereto, if such amendment or change is in written form and executed with the same 

formalities as this Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement to maintain continuity. 

23. NOTICE. 

 Any notice, communication, amendments, additions, or deletions to this Agreement, including 

change of address of either party during the terms of this Agreement, which Contractor or County shall be 

required, or may desire, to make, shall be in writing and may be personally served, or sent by prepaid first 

class mail to, the respective parties as follows: 

   County of Inyo 
   HHS – Public Health & Prevention   Department 
   1360 N. Main St., Suite 203-C   Address 
   Bishop, CA 93514    City and State 
 
   Contractor: 
   Cardno ChemRisk     Name 
   235 Pine St, Suite 2300    Address  
   San Francisco, CA 94104   City and State 
 
24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. 

 This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and no representations, inducements, 

promises, or agreements otherwise between the parties not embodied herein or incorporated herein by 

reference, shall be of any force or effect.  Further, no term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, 

discharged, or terminated, unless the same be in writing executed by the parties hereto.  

25. CONSEQUENTIAL LOSS. 

Neither party shall be liable to the other party in any circumstances for any indirect, economic, special or 

consequential loss or damage including but not limited to loss of revenue, loss of production or loss of profit. 

26.  LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 7     05/21/2019 

Notwithstanding any other clause in this Agreement, the total aggregate liability of the Contractor to the 

County for any claims, losses, costs or damages arising out of or in connection with the Contractor’s 

performance of the Agreement, whether under the law of contract, tort (including negligence), statute or 

otherwise, shall be limited to the extent permissible by law to five times the total compensation received by 

the Contractor, or the limits of the relevant insurance policies pursuant to this Agreement, whichever is 

greater. 

  ////       //// 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 8     05/21/2019 

 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

AND CARDNO CHEMRISK 
FOR THE PROVISION OF PART TIME CONTRACT EPIDEMIOLOGIST SERVICES 

 

 IN  WITNESS  THEREOF,  THE  PARTIES  HERETO  HAVE  SET  THEIR  HANDS  AND  SEALS 

THIS                DAY OF                                           ,         . 

 

 

COUNTY OF INYO     CONTRACTOR 

 

 

By:                                                                   By:                                            

  Signature                      Signature 

 

 _________________________________  _______________________________________       
  Print or Type Name              Print or Type Name  
 
Dated:  ___________________    Dated:          

       

      

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY:   

                                                                                      

  

County Counsel  

 

_________________________________________ 

 

APPROVED AS TO ACCOUNTING FORM: 

 

       

County Auditor 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS: 

   

                                                                           

Personnel Services 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS: 

   

                                                                                      

County Risk Manager 

 

 

  

 

Mark Garavaglia

     7/26/2021



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 9     05/21/2019 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

  

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 
AND CARDNO CHEMRISK 

FOR THE PROVISION OF PART TIME CONTRACT EPIDEMIOLOGIST SERVICES 

 TERM: 

FROM: 7/1/2021 TO: 6/30/2023 

 SCOPE OF WORK: 

Contractor will: 

A. Conduct jurisdictional records review and provide County with written analysis in a format agreed upon by 

both Parties. 

B. Analyze data on other emerging public health and behavioral health problems as assigned. 

C. Analyze and interpret health indicators, risk factor and disease surveillance information. 

D. Evaluate quality and efficiency of County’s epidemiological reporting and surveillance systems and 

procedures and make recommendations for enhancement. Develop surveillance and/or evaluation methods 

for collecting specific data as requested by County. 

E. Provide periodic written reports, in a format agreed upon by both Parties, as requested by County and 

appropriate to the services described in the Contract. 

F. Assist County in the development of written protocols for emergeny health situations. 

G. Assist County with reporting and documentation in the preparation of apply for grants, as applicable. 

H. Attend and participate in virtual: training(s), orientation, and meetings as requested by Inyo County. 

I. Provide County with copies of licenses, certificates of insurance, and evidence of education upon request. 

J. Perform and assist in collection, analysis, interpretation, and evaluation of technical, medical, demographic, 

and statistical data and laboratory results. 

K. Manipulate and analyze large, complex data sets. 

L. Identify relationships and trends in data as well as factors that could affect the results of research. 

M. Identify problems and conduct research to develop and implement solutions. 

N. Organize, execute, and document multi-dimensional projects. 

O. Complete all of the above work in a 100% remote capacity; the contractor will not be driving or using 

mobile equipment to fulfill any aspect of the contract duties above. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 10     05/21/2019 

 ATTACHMENT B 

  
AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

AND CARDNO CHEMRISK 
FOR THE PROVISION OF PART TIME CONTRACT EPIDEMIOLOGIST SERVICES 

 

TERM: 

FROM: 7/1/2021 TO: 6/30/2023 

SCHEDULE OF FEES: 

For services satisfactorily rendered, and upon receipt of monthly invoices, the County agrees to compensate 

the Contractor for total expenditures in an amount not to exceed $120,000.00, incurred from June 15, 2021 to 

June 30, 2023, based upon services provided. 

 

Actual epidemiology service costs are to be invoiced to Public Health & Prevention lnyo County (ATTN: Anna 

Scott and Genoa Meneses) once a month, in an itemized statement that includes the date on which the 

services/work was performed, description of the services/work performed, who performed the services, the 

hourly rate breakdown, and the total cost of all services. 

Expenditures beyond the agreed-upon epidemiology, must be approved in advance with express written 

permission and included in the monthly invoice for reimbursement and include supporting documentation 

(receipts).  The statement to be submitted must cover the period from the 1st of the month through and 

including the last day of the month. 

In accordance with paragraph 3. E - Billing and Payment: monthly invoices with attached expenditure 

information and fiscal receipts including supporting documentation to what is being claimed, should be 

received by Public Health & Prevention lnyo County no later than five (5) days after the end of the month. 

Public Health & Prevention retains the right to withhold payment until satisfactory receipt and review of those 

materials has taken place. 

lf all budget funds are paid out early in the contract period (prior to June 30, 2023), the contract will be 

considered complete and invoices with a zero balance do not need to be submitted. The County retains sole 

discretion to renew for additional terms, without a competitive bid process, subject to contractor performance, 

continued funding availability, and Health and Human Services (HHS) - Public Health & Prevention approval. 

lnvoice Due Dates: the first business day of the month, but no later than five (5) days after then end of the 

month. 

Budget: to be paid for services provided between June 2021 to June 30, 2023 = $120,000 

All invoices will be paid in accordance with 2021 Cardno ChemRisk Rate Sheet, attached. 



 County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 116  
 (Independent Contractor) 
 Page 11     05/21/2019 

 

ATTACHMENT  C 

 

 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO 

AND __________________________________________________________ 

FOR THE PROVISION OF _____________________________________________________ SERVICES 

 

TERM: 

 

FROM: 7/1/2021 TO: 6/30/2023 

 

SEE ATTACHED INSURANCE PROVISIONS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Attachment C: Insurance Requirements for HHS Provider Services 
 

 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards – HHS Provider Services, 20210406 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims 
for injuries to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the 
performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, or 
employees.  
 
MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE  
Coverage shall be at least as broad as:  
 

Commercial General Liability (CGL): ISO Form CG 00 01 covering CGL on an “occurrence” 
basis, including products and completed operations, property damage, bodily injury, sexual 
misconduct, and personal & advertising injury with limits no less than $3,000,000 per 
occurrence. If a general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply 
separately to this project/location (ISO CG 25 03 or 25 04) or the general aggregate limit shall 
be twice the required occurrence limit. The CGL policy shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, 
additional insured status as specified as follows.  

 
Additional Insured Status. Inyo County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers 
are to be covered as additional insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability 
arising out of work or operations performed by or on behalf of the Contractor including 
materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations. 
General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the 
Contractor’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or if not available, 
through the addition of both CG 20 10, CG 20 26, CG 20 33, or CG 20 38; and CG 20 37 if 
a later edition is used).  

 

Automobile Liability: ISO Form Number CA 00 01 covering any auto (Code 1), or if Contractor 
has no owned autos, hired (Code 8), and non-owned autos (Code 9), with limit no less than 
$1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage. May be waived with signed 
letter on Contractor’s letterhead certifying that no vehicle or mobile equipment will be used in 
the execution of the agreement.  

 
Workers’ Compensation: as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, and 
Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. May be waived with signed letter on Contractor’s letterhead certifying that 
Contractor has no employees. 
 
Professional Liability: Insurance as appropriate to the Contractor’s profession (errors and 
omissions, medical malpractice, etc.), with limit no less than $3,000,000 per occurrence or 
claim. Professional liability insurance coverage is normally required if Contractor is provided a 
professional service regulated by the state; however, other professional contractors, such a 
computer software designers and claims administration providers, should also have 
professional liability. Check with Risk Management if PL is required.  
 
Cyber Liability Insurance, with limits not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence or claim, 
$2,000,000 aggregate. Cyber liability requirement may be waived if Contractor will not be 
receiving/storing/transmitting personally identifiable information (PII) or personal medical 



Attachment C: Insurance Requirements for HHS Provider Services 
 

 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards – HHS Provider Services, 20210406 

information (PMI). Coverage shall be sufficiently broad to respond to the duties and obligations 
as is undertaken by Contractor in this agreement and shall include, but not be limited to, claims 
involving infringement of intellectual property, including but not limited to infringement of 
copyright, trademark, trade dress, invasion of privacy violations, information theft, damage to 
or destruction of electronic information, release of private information, alteration of electronic 
information, extortion and network security. The policy shall provide coverage for breach 
response costs as well as regulatory fines and penalties as well as credit monitoring expenses 
with limits sufficient to respond to these obligations. Check with Risk Management if CL is 
required. 

 
If the Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown 
above, Inyo County requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or the higher 
limits maintained by the Contractor. Any available insurance proceeds in excess of the specified 
minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be available to Inyo County.  
 
OTHER INSURANCE PROVISIONS  
The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:  
 
Primary Coverage  
For any claims related to this contract, the Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary 
coverage at least as broad as ISO CG 20 01 04 13 as respects Inyo County, its officers, officials, 
employees, and volunteers. Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by Inyo County, its 
officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of the Contractor’s insurance and 
shall not contribute with it.  
 
Notice of Cancellation  
Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be canceled, except 
with notice to Inyo County.  
 
Waiver of Subrogation  
Contractor hereby grants to Inyo County a waiver of any right to subrogation which any insurer 
of said Contractor may acquire against Inyo County by virtue of the payment of any loss under 
such insurance. Contractor agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect 
this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or not Inyo County 
has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the insurer.  
 
Self-Insured Retentions  
Self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by Inyo County. Inyo County may 
require the Contractor to purchase coverage with a lower retention or provide proof of ability 
to pay losses and related investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the 
retention. The policy language shall provide, or be endorsed to provide, that the self-insured 
retention may be satisfied by either the named insured or Inyo County.  
 
Acceptability of Insurers  
Insurance is to be placed with insurers authorized to conduct business in the state with a 
current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, unless otherwise acceptable to Inyo County.  
 



Attachment C: Insurance Requirements for HHS Provider Services 
 

 

County of Inyo Insurance Standards – HHS Provider Services, 20210406 

Claims Made Policies (should be applicable only to professional liability) 
If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:  
1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the 

beginning of contract work.  

2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five 
(5) years after completion of the contract of work.  

3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy 
form with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Contractor must 
purchase “extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of 
contract work.  

 
Verification of Coverage  
Contractor shall furnish Inyo County with original Certificates of Insurance including all 
required amendatory endorsements (or copies of the applicable policy language effecting 
coverage required by this clause) and a copy of the Declarations and Endorsement Page of the 
CGL policy listing all policy endorsements to Inyo County before work begins. However, failure 
to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall not waive the Contractor’s 
obligation to provide them. Inyo County reserves the right to require complete, certified copies 
of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by these specifications, at 
any time.  
 
Subcontractors  
Contractor shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting all the 
requirements stated herein, and Contractor shall ensure that Inyo County is an additional 
insured on insurance required from subcontractors.  
 
Special Risks or Circumstances  
Inyo County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the 

nature of the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances. 

-end- 



2021 Rate Sheet

Title Hourly Rate

Senior Managing Principal $ 575 - 600
Managing Principal $ 500 - 565
Senior Principal $ 450 - 500
Principal $ 400 - 450
Principal Science Advisor $ 375 - 400
Senior Managing $ 350
Managing $ 280
Senior Supervising $ 270
Supervising $ 255
Senior $ 245
Health Scientist I - II $ 215 - 225
Senior Associate I - II $ 175 - 190
Associate I - II $ 150 - 165
Assistant I - II $ 130 - 145
Research Associate I - II $ 100 - 120
Administrative $ 75

Other Direct Costs
Direct Project Expense* $ 8/hour
Subcontractor Markup 20%
Expense Markup 20%

*Expenses associated with the allocation of internal administrative costs such 
as telephone, fax, copy jobs less than 100 pages, postage, administrative 
support, etc. that are too small to track and allocate individually.

Note: Outstanding balances over 45 days are subject to 9% APR.



County of Inyo

Health & Human Services - Social Services
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Tyler Davis
 
SUBJECT:  Approval and ratification of the contract with California Department of Social Services
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board ratify and approve the contract between the County of lnyo and the State of California 
Department of Social Services for the provision of legal consultation and representation in administrative action 
appeals associated with the Resource Family Approval program, for the period July 1, 2021 through June 30, 
2024 and authorize the HHS Director to sign.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Department of Health and Human Services began implementation of the Resource Family Approval (RFA) 
program, which replaces the former Foster Care Licensing process, in January 2017.The California Department 
of Social Services, which has historically provided legal consultation and representation in administrative action
appeals associated with the former program, continues to provide this services to counties implementing RFA, 
The legal staff are well versed in the regulations governing RFA, as well as the former approval and licensing 
processes, which continue to exist until full transition to RFA is completed. While counties have the option to use 
their own counsel for these types of actions, this could result in increased cost to the County and CDSS is able to 
provide this services at no additional cost to the county.

The attached contract for the period beginning July 1,2021 through June 30, 2024,will allow lnyo County Health 
and Human Services to continue receiving these valuable services from CDSS. This comes to you as an 
approval and ratification request, as CDSS has been delayed in fonvarding these contracts to counties for 
processing. The Department is respectfully requesting that your Board approve and ratify the contract with CDSS 
and authorize the HHS Director to sign the contract.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The County could opt to utilize the services of County Counsel for representation in these actions, which would 
result in costs to the RFA program and require County Counsel to be fully trained in the legal issues of RFA, as 
well as the former Foster Care Licensing and Relative/Non Related Extended Family Member Approval process.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:



Agenda Request 
Page 2

lnyo County Probation and California Department of Social Services
 
FINANCING:
There are no County costs associated with this contract.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. CDSS Agreement
 
APPROVALS:
Tyler Davis Created/Initiated - 8/4/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/4/2021
Keri Oney Approved - 8/10/2021
Marilyn Mann Approved - 8/11/2021
Melissa Best-Baker Approved - 8/11/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/11/2021
Marilyn Mann Final Approval - 8/11/2021



2. The term of this Agreement is:



1360 N Main St.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 1 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

SCOPE OF WORK 

This Agreement is entered into by and between the California Department of Social 
Services, hereinafter referred to as the CDSS, and the County of Inyo, hereinafter 
referred to as the County, for the purpose of establishing the responsibilities of the 
CDSS and the County in the provision and receipt of certain services, including legal 
consultation and legal representation in administrative action appeals as described 
within section III of this Agreement, associated with the Resource Family Approval 
(RFA) program of the County child welfare services agency and the State of California, 
pursuant to California Welfare and Institutions Code section 16519.5 et seq. 
Hereinafter, the County and CDSS may be referred to collectively as the “Parties”, or 
individually as a “Party”. If identified below in Section VII, the CDSS and County have 
agreed that certain services for the family evaluation, complaint investigations or home 
health and safety assessments shall be provided as described in Sections IV, V and VI 
of this Agreement.   

I. Background

The RFA program was created to provide a unified, family-friendly, and child-
centered process to replace the multiple processes for licensing foster homes,
approving relatives and nonrelative extended family members as foster care
providers, and approving adoptive families; establish a single set of standards for
approvals which allow for the safety, permanence, and well-being needs of the
children who have been victims of child abuse and neglect; reduce the use of
congregate care placement settings; and decrease the length of time for each child
to obtain permanency. Pursuant to Government Code section 30029.7, subdivision
(a)(3), the County and CDSS may enter into an agreement for CDSS to provide
services or activities related to RFA.  The County and CDSS have identified certain
services or activities to be provided by CDSS in order to expedite the delivery of
services to children and nonminor dependents who reside or may reside in a
resource family home.

II. Definitions

A. “County” means the largest political division of the State having corporate
powers, wherein the County’s powers are exercised through its board of
supervisors or through agents and officers acting under the authority of the board
or authority conferred by law (Govt. Code § 23000 et seq.). As used in this
Agreement, the County includes agents, officers, directors, and County
employees who conduct RFA activities on behalf of the County, as described in
Welfare and Institutions Code section 16519.5 et seq.

B. “Resource Family Approval” or “RFA” program means the program wherein an
applicant seeks to meet the home environment assessment and permanency



Agreement 21-5017  Page 2 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

assessment standards of the State of California as set forth by CDSS, with an 
approval provided by the County or applicable Foster Family Agency. This 
approval is in lieu of the existing foster care license, relative or nonrelative 
extended family member approval, and the adoption home study.  

C. “Respondent” means an applicant, resource family parent, or individual who has
been served with a Notice of Action and is the subject of an administrative action.
For matters that shall be heard by the CDSS State Hearings Division, a
“Respondent” also means a “claimant,” as defined in CDSS Manual of Policy and
Procedures section 22-001.

D. “Written Directives” (WDs)1 means the written processes, standards, and
requirements issued by the CDSS to implement the RFA Program. (See WDs
section 3-01(a) (101). The WDs have the same force and effect as regulations;
ensure that a county uses the same standards for RFA; and ensure that a county
does not implement policies or procedures that conflict with or attempt to
supersede the WDs; (WDs section 2-01.)

III. Legal Consultation and Legal Representation on Appeals/State Hearings Division
(SHD) and Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH)

A. Role of the CDSS Legal Division in the Provision of Legal Consultation and Legal
Representation on Appeals:

1. The CDSS Legal Division shall act as the sole legal representative on behalf
of the County in the provision of legal consultations and legal representation
on appeals to an RFA Notice of Action.  The County is the client and is the
final decision maker on decisions affecting the legal rights of the County.

a. The Parties shall maintain confidentiality in all communications in
accordance with any applicable confidentiality laws, privacy laws, and
laws governing attorney-client relationships.
(1) For the purposes of this section, the County shall ensure that the

agents, directors, officers, and employees of the County who conduct
RFA activities on behalf of the County, are familiar with and follow
applicable laws for privacy and confidentiality, as well as protect and
maintain the confidential nature of the communications created by
attorney-client relationships, including, but not limited to, Evidence
Code section 952 and applicable case law.

1 Version 7 of the Written Directives was used as a reference in creating this 
Agreement. The Written Directives may be revised by CDSS during the term of this 
Agreement and shall be in effect from the date of revision. 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 3 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

2. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the CDSS Legal Division will
represent the County on all appeals to an RFA Notice of Action for denial or
rescission of resource family approval, denial or rescission of a criminal
record exemption, or exclusion of an individual and shall appear on behalf of
the County at all proceedings related to such actions that are heard by the
SHD or the OAH.  Nothing in this section shall preclude a County
representative from being present at an RFA hearing.

3. If the County chooses to represent itself on an appeal in an individual case, it
shall not send a Statement of Facts as described in Section III(D) to the
CDSS Legal Division to request representation and shall not seek legal
advice or direction from the CDSS Legal Division.  In those cases, the County
hearing representative will receive legal advice and direction from County
Counsel or their designee.  The CDSS Legal Division will not provide legal
representation or advice.

4. The Parties agree that CDSS Legal Division’s scope of work shall not include
legal consultation or representation regarding the following:

a. Writs or lawsuits or similar actions filed by or against the County, except
that the CDSS Legal Division may be available to consult with the County
on any such actions arising out of an RFA action as described herein;

b. Requests for information or documents from the County such as Public
Records Act requests or subpoenas issued to the County;

c. Placement of a dependent child or nonminor dependent;
d. Relative or non-relative extended family member approvals pursuant to

the “Harris” case;
e. Child Abuse Central Index grievance hearings;
f. Dependency or delinquency matters;
g. Assistance with issuing or serving an investigatory subpoena or warrant;
h. Hearings or proceedings regarding jurisdictional disputes where no Notice

of Action for denial or rescission of resource family approval, or denial or
rescission of a criminal record exemption, has been served;

i. Defending the county on a Temporary Suspension Order (TSO); and
j. Any other matter within the authority and direction of the County Counsel.

B. Duties of the County and the CDSS Legal Division Regarding Consultation:

1. In compliance with the WDs or regulations issued pursuant to Welfare and
Institutions Code section 16519.5, the County is required to consult with legal
counsel prior to service of a Notice of Action for denial or rescission of
resource family approval, or denial or rescission of a criminal record
exemption; and is required to consult with the CDSS Legal Division when
recommending the exclusion of an individual.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 4 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

2. Pursuant to this Agreement, legal consultation for denials or rescissions for
which the County seeks CDSS Legal Division representation shall be with the
CDSS Legal Division, and not County Counsel.

3. The County may request a legal consultation with the CDSS Legal Division
regarding legal or evidentiary issues related to an investigation, family
evaluation or other matters affecting the approval.

4. If the County seeks a TSO against a resource family’s approval, in addition to
consulting with the CDSS Legal Division on the matter, the County shall
consult with their County Counsel prior to service of a TSO.  The County
should follow its internal procedures for an RFA TSO.

5. Legal consultation shall not include technical assistance regarding program
requirements or procedures, RFA implementation or statewide policies; these
issues shall be referred to the CDSS RFA County Liaison, RFA Policy
Analyst, or RFA Inbox.

6. The County shall work with the CDSS RFA County Liaison to schedule a
regular monthly legal consult meeting, or as needed. If a matter is urgent,
such as a situation warranting the immediate exclusion of an individual or a
TSO, the County may contact their CDSS RFA County Liaison by phone,
email or in-person and request an urgent consult with their assigned CDSS
Legal Division consulting attorney.

7. Prior to a scheduled legal consult, the County shall obtain the evidence
necessary to support the information contained in the legal consultation
memo related to the County’s finding, position, or action requested.

8. The County shall prepare a confidential legal consultation memo for each
matter upon which legal advice is sought through a consult with the CDSS
Legal Division. A copy of the RFA legal consult memo form can be obtained
through the CDSS RFA County Liaison. Upon request, the CDSS RFA
County Liaison will provide technical assistance to the County regarding the
program requirements or procedures including but not limited to family
evaluations, RFA implementation, statewide policies, legal consult procedures
or how to draft the Notice of Action, legal consultation memo or statement of
facts.  Both Parties shall maintain the confidentiality of all attorney-client
communications, including the legal consult memo.

9. Using a secure or encrypted format, or a secure file transfer protocol, the
County shall send a properly completed legal consult memo, the draft Notice
of Action, as well as relevant attachments related to the request for consult
including, but not limited to, investigations, court records or arrest reports.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 5 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

These documents shall be sent to the CDSS RFA County Liaison and the 
consulting attorney at least five (5) business days prior to the date of the 
regularly scheduled consult.  

 
10. The consult meeting is an opportunity for the CDSS Legal Division consulting 

attorney and CDSS RFA County Liaison to discuss the information in the 
consult memo provided by the County with the appropriate County staff. 
Accordingly, the County should make its best efforts to have the assigned 
County RFA worker or probation officer with knowledge of the facts described 
in the consult memo present at the consult. If the approval worker or 
probation officer cannot attend in person, the worker or probation officer 
should attend by teleconference.  If that is not possible, the supervisor who is 
familiar with the facts of the matter shall attend.  

 
11. If a matter to be discussed at the consult involves a recommendation for an 

exclusion action, a family evaluation conducted by CDSS, an investigation 
conducted by CDSS, or  dual or multiple programs (e.g., RFA and a child care 
license), the County shall identify and request the appropriate CDSS RFA 
staff, CDSS adoptions staff or CDSS Community Care Licensing Division 
(CCLD) staff to attend or teleconference into the consult.  

 
a. The County may request the assistance of the CDSS RFA County Liaison 

in arranging for the necessary CDSS staff to attend.   
b. The County and CDSS shall share evidence and information regarding 

related investigations, assessments, or actions as required by the WDs. 
c. Agents of the County who conduct activities as described in Welfare and 

Institutions Code section 16519.5 may be present during the portion of a 
consultation that is applicable to a matter for which the agent acted on 
behalf of the County, and for which the agent’s presence is needed to 
discuss the information in the consult memo provided by the County. The 
County shall ensure that the agent of the County is aware of and complies 
with the confidentiality of the legal consult, the legal advice provided, and 
the confidentiality of any information shared, as required by law. 

 
12. The CDSS Legal Division consulting attorney shall review the legal consult 

memo, the draft Notice of Action and attachments and shall advise the 
County regarding the Notice of Action, the proper hearing forum, and any 
other matter related to an investigation or proposed action.  If the legal 
consult memo or draft Notice of Action are incomplete, said attorney may 
return them to the County to complete them or refer the County to the CDSS 
RFA County Liaison for technical assistance. 

 
13. The CDSS Legal Division consulting attorney shall document the legal advice 

in writing within 3 to 5 business days, or as agreed upon at the consult, and 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 6 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

submit the documentation to the County and the CDSS RFA County Liaison. 
If the matter involves dual or multiple programs or an exclusion action, the 
CDSS Legal Division consulting attorney shall provide the relevant CCLD 
Regional Office staff (licensing action) or CDSS RFA County Liaison (RFA 
exclusion action) with a copy of the consult memo and legal advice.  

14. If the advice of the CDSS Legal Division consulting attorney is to proceed with
an action that affects the approval, the County should notify the child(ren)’s
placement worker, as applicable.

15. If the County fails to comply with the requirements of this Section III(B), the
County waives its right pursuant to this Agreement to have CDSS Legal
Division representation on the appeal.

C. County Duties Regarding Processing the Notice of Action and Appeal (NOA)

1. The County shall serve the Notice of Action in accordance with Welfare and
Institutions Code section 16519.6 and the WDs or regulations. The County
shall ensure the file contains adequate documentation regarding service of
the Notice of Action to the correct address, such as certified mail receipts,
and/or a proof of service in accordance with WDs, Article 12: Due Process.

2. If the matter includes an exclusion action or CCLD action, the County shall
coordinate administrative actions, including service of the Notices of Action,
notice of a related licensing action by CCLD, an exclusion order, or the filing
of formal pleadings, with CDSS. (WDs, Article 12.)

3. If an appeal is filed, the County is responsible to comply with the law, WDs or
regulations, and internal procedures including, but not limited to, the following:

a. Date-stamp the appeal and envelope;
b. Update the appeal status in the Notice of Action database (in AARS);
c. For OAH cases, immediately send the acknowledgment of appeal to

Respondent and begin preparing the case for the CDSS Legal Division as
described in paragraph D;

d. For SHD cases, begin preparing the case to be sent to the CDSS Legal
Division at the same time the appeal is forwarded to the SHD as described
in paragraph D;

e. Obtain legal case number from CDSS RFA County Liaison and add
number to Statement of Facts; and

f. Forward the appeal to SHD by uploading the NOA and appeal to SHD’s
Appeals Case Management System (ACMS).



Agreement 21-5017  Page 7 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

D. Preparing the Case to Send to the CDSS Legal Division After Receipt of an
Appeal:

1. To obtain the CDSS Legal Division’s representation on an RFA appeal, the
County shall prepare a Statement of Facts using the current versions of the
following confidential attorney-client forms:

a. Form RFA-9029: Statement of Facts Summary Sheet – Resource Family
b. Form RFA- 9029C: Complaint and Immediate Deficiencies Log

Continuation
c. Form RFA-9029D: RFA Statement of Facts Dividers
d. Form RFA-9029W: Witnesses Continuation

2. For SHD cases, the County shall prepare the Statement of Facts, a draft
position statement, and copies of all approval file documents within ten (10)
business days of receipt of an appeal.  The documents shall be sent
electronically to the CDSS Legal Division by encrypted email or Secure File
Transfer (in AARS) at the same time the appeal is forwarded to SHD (WDs,
Article 12).  The County shall maintain the confidentiality of the attorney-client
privileged Statement of Facts forms during any transmission of the forms or in
any files maintained by the County. The County shall use the draft position
statement template provided by CDSS when drafting the position statement.
The County shall comply with the WDs section 10-05 related to retention of
the Resource Family File.

3. For OAH cases that involve a TSO or immediate exclusion action, the County
shall prepare the Statement of Facts forms and copies of the RFA documents
and evidence identified in the RFA 9029D: RFA Statement of Facts Dividers
and send to the CDSS Legal Division and CDSS RFA County Liaison by
encrypted email or Secure File Transfer within ten (10) business days of
receipt of the appeal. Hard copies of the original documents shall also be sent
by mail.

4. For all other OAH cases, the County shall prepare and mail to the CDSS RFA
County Liaison the Statement of Facts forms and originals of all relevant
documents within thirty (30) days of receipt of the appeal. The CDSS RFA
County Liaison will review the documents, provide any technical assistance
necessary, and then forward to the CDSS Legal Division.

5. The County shall make its best efforts to obtain certified court and law
enforcement or other relevant records prior to sending the case to the CDSS
Legal Division.  If certified records are received after the case has been
forwarded, then the County shall forward them to the CDSS Legal Division.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 8 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

6. Prior to finalizing the Statement of Facts, the County shall verify that the
witness list contact information in Form RFA-9029: Witness List is current and
updated, including the current placement and placement worker information
for any child or nonminor dependent victim or witness.

E. Duties of the County and CDSS Legal Division after the CDSS Legal Division
Receives the Case:

1. Upon receipt of the case file, the CDSS Legal Division shall be responsible for
the following:

a. Logging the case into the Legal Case Tracking System (LCTS) and
immediately assigning the case to a CDSS Legal Division hearing
attorney.

b. Preparing a new case memo identifying the hearing attorney and the
hearing attorney’s contact information and emailing it to the County staff
identified on the Statement of Facts and the CDSS RFA County Liaison.

2. The CDSS Legal Division hearing attorney will review the complete file to
determine if the evidence is sufficient to go forward with the requested
administrative action. If not, the County will be consulted, and the file may be
closed without filing and sent back to the County for an informal resolution or
to obtain more evidence.

3. For cases to be heard at SHD, the CDSS Legal Division hearing attorney will
review the draft Position Statement prepared by the County and work with the
County to finalize it.  Provided that the County provides the necessary and
relevant information in a timely fashion, the CDSS Legal Division is
responsible for filing the Position Statement and exhibits with SHD.  The
County shall be responsible for making available to Respondent all relevant
documents in the County’s possession in accordance with the WD’s.  Prior to
disclosure to Respondent, the County shall withhold or redact documents that
are confidential or privileged as required by law.

4. For cases to be heard at OAH, the hearing attorney will prepare, sign and file
the Accusation or Statement of Issues in accordance with the County’s
request in the Statement of Facts case summary and serve on the
Respondent(s):

a. A copy of the filed Accusation or Statement of Issues will be provided to
the County welfare director or chief probation officer or designee.

b. If there are any substantive changes to the allegations at issue that were
identified in the Statement of Facts case summary provided by the
County, the CDSS Legal Division shall consult the County welfare director,



Agreement 21-5017  Page 9 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

chief probation officer, or designee for approval prior to filing the 
Accusation or Statement of Issues.  

c. A CDSS Legal Division attorney may sign an amended Accusation or
Statement of Issues on behalf of the County, if the amendment is
approved by the welfare director, probation officer or designee.  The
CDSS Legal Division shall file a copy of the amended pleading with OAH,
as applicable.

5. If a resolution is sought prior to hearing, the CDSS Legal Division will discuss
settlement options with the County, Respondent, CCLD or CDSS Program if
applicable, draft the settlement agreement, and supervise its finalization.  The
County shall have the final decision on whether to approve a settlement. If a
Respondent seeks to withdraw the appeal or notice of defense, the CDSS
Legal Division shall prepare a written withdrawal for Respondent to sign, and
if the matter has been set for hearing, submit a copy to the Administrative
Law Judge.

6. For OAH cases, the CDSS Legal Division will prepare and serve documents
on Respondent in accordance with Government Code sections 11507.5 and
11507.6.

7. While the RFA administrative action is pending, the County shall keep the
assigned CDSS Legal Division hearing attorney informed of new
developments that occur prior to the hearing (e.g., new arrests or new
evidence), and of any changes in the Respondent’s address or other contact
information.  The County shall timely forward any phone calls or
correspondence from Respondent, his or her authorized representative, or
SHD to the CDSS Legal Division hearing attorney.

8. The County shall assist the CDSS Legal Division, if necessary, in locating
witnesses, with the service of subpoenas for appearance at hearing, and with
the transportation of witnesses to the hearing.  The County shall notify the
assigned CDSS Legal Division hearing attorney if there are concerns about
the testimony of a child or similarly vulnerable witness at hearing as specified
in WDs, Article 12. The County shall assist the CDSS Legal Division hearing
attorney in providing information or facilitating contact with the witness’s
placement worker or treatment provider if a motion to protect the witness is
determined to be necessary. The County shall provide for the use of one-way
closed-circuit television or video in accordance with WDs, section 12-16
(Conduct of Hearing; Confidentiality and Procedures), as applicable.

9. The CDSS Legal Division will represent the County at the prehearing
conference, settlement conference, and hearing before SHD or OAH, and
prepare any necessary motions, briefs, subpoenas, settlement documents or



Agreement 21-5017  Page 10 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

other hearing documents, including those related to the County’s withdrawal 
of a NOA and defaults, as outlined in the Written Directives. 

10. The County shall be responsible for the following hearing-related duties and
costs, including but not limited to the following:

a. Reserving hearing rooms;
b. Interpreters;
c. Court reporters;
d. Witness and expert witness fees;
e. Security, if it is determined by the CDSS Legal Division hearing attorney,

the county or an administrative law judge that a threat exists to the health
and safety of those persons attending a hearing;

f. Obtaining records needed for hearing; and
g. Other hearing-related costs.

11. Following the SHD or OAH hearing, a proposed decision is adopted or
rejected by the CDSS Director or designee.  If the decision is rejected, the
CDSS shall review the record and prepare the final decision and order, in
accordance with the established standard.

12. The CDSS will serve the final decision and order on all parties, including the
County.

13. The CDSS Legal Division may represent the County in a request for
reconsideration of the decision and order, a request for rehearing, or a
request to set aside a default decision and order. If a conflict of interest exists,
then representation by CDSS Legal Division shall be subject to the written
consent of the parties and compliance with the Rules of Professional Conduct
and paragraph G of this section.

14. The CDSS Legal Division shall update the statewide data system (i.e., AARS)
with the final order or resolution.

F. Conflict Resolution:

1. If the County and the CDSS Legal Division consulting or hearing attorney
disagree with how to proceed on a matter, the matter shall be resolved as
follows:

a. The matter shall be elevated to the County RFA supervisor and the CDSS
Legal Division attorney’s supervisor to meet and confer to resolve the
matter.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 11 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

b. If no agreement is reached, the matter shall be elevated to the next
County supervisor or manager level, and for the CDSS Legal Division, to
the Assistant Chief Counsel to meet and confer to resolve the matter.

c. If still no agreement is reached, the matter shall be elevated to the Senior
Assistant Chief Counsel and the equivalent County RFA program
manager level to meet and confer to resolve the matter.

2. The County has the final decision on how to proceed on a matter, which shall
be consistent with the CDSS Legal Division attorney’s ethical duties regarding
the minimum standards of evidence necessary to proceed with an action and
the considerations identified below in paragraph F.3. of this section.

3. The resolution discussion shall include consideration of the minimum legal
requirements for an action in the applicable statutes and WDs or regulations,
any risks attendant to administrative litigation including a negative outcome at
hearing, any risks to the health and safety of a child or nonminor dependent
that may be caused by a failure to take action, and CDSS oversight
responsibilities as mandated by law.

4. Nothing in this section shall interfere with the Parties’ termination rights and
the right of the CDSS Legal Division to withdraw from representation pursuant
to the terms of this Agreement or applicable law.

G. Professional Responsibility; Conflict of Interest in Representation

1. The County acknowledges that the attorneys within the CDSS Legal Division
have an ethical and legal duty to avoid a conflict of interest or the appearance
of a conflict of interest when providing legal services to the County.

2. Pursuant to the California Rules of Professional Conduct, the CDSS Legal
Division’s attorneys may not be permitted to represent a client when there is a
conflict of interest. If applicable, the CDSS Legal Division attorney is required
to take certain actions which may include, but are not limited to, withdrawal
from representation for individual cases or obtaining informed written consent
from each client for individual cases.

3. The Parties acknowledge that there exists an appearance of a conflict of
interest or an actual conflict of interest due to the CDSS Legal Division
representing both CDSS and the County in administrative actions falling
within the jurisdiction of both agencies.  By the signing of this Agreement, the
Parties are providing their written consent to the CDSS Legal Division’s dual
representation of both CDSS and the County, where applicable.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 12 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

4. In all other matters in which there exists an appearance of a conflict of 
interest or an actual conflict of interest, the CDSS Legal Division consulting or 
hearing attorney shall report the conflict to the County in writing as soon as 
possible after discovering the conflict. Potential conflicts of interests that may 
arise in RFA matters include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 
a. Dual program matters involving an RFA and licensing action where the 

County and CDSS disagree on how to proceed; 
b. Conflicts regarding the CDSS oversight function over the County’s RFA 

program; 
c. Conflicts due to a lawsuit pending against CDSS or the County; and 
d. A request by the County for reconsideration of a CDSS issued order. 

 
H. Withdrawal from Representation 

 
1. If a County fails to follow legal advice or fails to perform any of its duties as 

set forth in this Agreement, the CDSS Legal Division retains the right to 
withdraw on referred cases by sending a written notice identifying those 
case(s) from which it is withdrawing to the County as specified in Exhibit A, 
Attachment 1, page 4, Paragraph O (Notices), subparagraphs 2 (United 
States Mail) or 3 (Email). 
  

2. The Parties acknowledge and agree that the CDSS Legal Division must 
decline or terminate representation on cases as required by the California 
Rules of Professional Conduct.  

 
IV. Family Evaluation 

 
A. Provision of Family Evaluation Services 

 
1. If identified in Section VII that the County and CDSS agree that the CDSS 

Adoptions Services Bureau shall provide family evaluation services on behalf 
of the County, in part or in full, this Section IV provides the terms and 
conditions of such services.  

 
2. In conducting the family evaluation services, the CDSS Adoptions Services 

Bureau will adhere to the requirements specified the Welfare and Institutions 
Code section 16519.5 and the RFA WDs sections: Definitions, 3-01; Forms, 
3-02; County Reporting Requirements, 4-03; Implementation of Resource 
Family Approval Program by a County, 4-05; and Family Evaluation, 6-05. 

 
B. The CDSS Adoptions Services Bureau and County agree to coordinate efforts in 

the following areas: 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 13 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

1. Exchange of information about resource family applicants and keeping each
Party informed of general progress in the family evaluations and changes that
may affect the evaluation.  This exchange may include, but is not limited to,
any information (e.g. complaints, concerns, adverse actions) that would
reflect the suitability of the prospective resource family.

2. Communication regarding the general progress of the evaluation that may
affect the work provided by each Party, including potential inability to
complete the evaluation, as needed.

3. Establishing mutually agreed upon timelines for completing the family
evaluation.

4. Complying with the applicable laws and the RFA WDs relevant to family
evaluations.

5. Providing other appropriate and necessary coordination as needed.

C. Responsibilities of the County

1. The County will take the following actions:

a. Refer resource family applicants to the appropriate CDSS Adoptions
Regional Office for a family evaluation.

b. Provide all necessary documents as they become available to the CDSS
Adoptions Regional Office in order to conduct a family evaluation,
including, but not limited to, RFA applications, home health and safety
assessment, training records health history screening results, personal
letters of references, whether criminal record clearances or exemptions
were granted or denied, substantiated reports of child abuse and neglect,
Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) records, and employment
verifications.

c. Notify resource family applicants that the County may share confidential
information with CDSS to conduct a family evaluation and that CDSS will
perform the family evaluation for the County.

D. Responsibilities of the CDSS

1. The CDSS will take the following actions:



Agreement 21-5017  Page 14 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

a. An Adoptions Supervisor will assign each family evaluation within five 
business days to a CDSS Adoptions Specialist with a Master’s degree in 
Social Work who may also be a Licensed Clinical Social Worker.  

b. Conduct an evaluation of resource family applicants according to the RFA 
WDs section 6-05: Family Evaluation. Evaluation to be initiated within two 
weeks of being assigned. 

c. Conduct a separate face-to-face interview of all persons living in the home 
as specified in RFA WDs section 6-05(a)(2). 

d. Request approval from the County to refer an applicant for a psychological 
evaluation, drug and alcohol assessment or testing, counseling, or other 
services during the evaluation as necessary. Associated costs of the 
services of the referrals shall be the responsibility of the County and paid 
by the County outside this Agreement to the applicable service provider. 

e. Prepare a written family evaluation that includes an evaluation of the 
information obtained during a family evaluation of the resource family 
applicant, including a risk assessment, and recommendations that RFA be 
approved or denied based on information gathered through the family 
evaluation. 

f. CDSS will provide the County with the written family evaluation report 
within sixty (60) days of receipt of the referral for the family evaluation, 
with priority for completed family evaluations for relatives with emergency 
placements, unless further information is needed to complete the 
evaluation. 

g. Ensure all records provided to CDSS by the County and all information 
obtained in order to conduct a family evaluation are kept confidential as 
specified in RFA WDs section 4-04: Confidentiality. 

h. Provide for a copy of the family evaluation file upon request of the County 
staff responsible for the provision of RFA services.   

i. Provide a CDSS Adoptions Specialist to testify as to the family evaluation 
if the results of a family evaluation are at issue during an administrative 
hearing.  

j. Absent pending litigation or other good cause identified by CDSS, the 
Adoptions Regional Office shall retain the records of the family evaluation 
for ninety (90) days after an evaluation is provided to the 
County.  Thereafter, the family evaluation file shall be securely delivered 
to the County.  The County shall retain the closed evaluation file in 
accordance with the retention policies of CDSS. Access to a copy of the 
family evaluation file shall be made available to CDSS (or its agents or 
representatives) upon request in the event of audit, or as required or 
permitted by law.  



Agreement 21-5017  Page 15 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

k. For each request, the County shall provide a copy within ten (10) business 
days, unless the request is identified as urgent. The County shall use it 
best efforts to provide a copy within the period identified by CDSS for an 
urgent request. 

 
E. Conflict Resolution 

 
1. The County and the CDSS will use customary and available problem-solving 

methods and resources in efforts to resolve differences.  Any disagreements 
or conflicts regarding resource family evaluation services provided by the 
Parties for a particular individual will be resolved as follows: 
 
a. The primary social worker from the County and the CDSS will meet and 

confer to resolve differences regarding a particular family evaluation. 
b. If the primary social workers are unable to resolve differences, the County 

supervisor and the CDSS supervisor and primary social workers will meet 
and confer to resolve differences. 

c. If the supervisors and social workers are unable to resolve differences, the 
County Program Manager and the CDSS Adoptions Regional Office 
Manager and their respective supervisors and social workers will meet 
and confer to resolve differences. 

d. If the differences remain unresolved through the process specified above, 
the matter will be referred to the next higher level of management for each 
of the Parties until the matter is resolved.    
 

F. Conflict of Interest 
 
1. The CDSS Adoptions Regional Office staff conducting family evaluations shall 

be instructed to avoid a conflict of interest or the appearance of a conflict of 
interest when rendering services.  

 
2. The CDSS shall direct CDSS Adoptions Specialists to RFA WDs section 4-

02(g) to identify any conflict of interest.  If there exists an appearance of a 
conflict of interest or an actual conflict of interest, the Adoptions Specialist 
shall report the conflict to his/her supervisor, who may transfer responsibility 
for the evaluation to another Adoptions Specialist. 

 
V. Complaint Investigations  
 

A. Agreement to Provide Complaint Investigation Services 
 

1. The County and CDSS agree that the CDSS CCLD shall investigate on behalf 
of the County all complaint allegations, made against resource families, if 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 16 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

these services are identified in Section VII; this Section V provides the terms 
and conditions agreed upon by the Parties for all such investigations.  

 
2. In conducting complaint investigations, the CCLD Regional Office will adhere 

to the requirements specified in RFA WDs sections 3-01, 3-02, 4-03, 4-05, 
and 9-06A. 
 

B. Coordination of Efforts 
 
The CDSS and County agree to coordinate efforts in the following areas: 

 
1. As necessary, exchange information about each resource family complaint 

investigation and keep each Party informed of general progress in the 
complaint investigation and changes that may affect the result.  This 
exchange may include, but is not limited to, any information (e.g. concerns, 
post complaint events, or adverse actions) relevant to the complaint 
investigation. 

 
2. As needed, communicate the general progress in the complaint investigation 

that may affect the work provided by each Party, including potential inability to 
complete the complaint investigation. 

 
3. Establish mutually agreed upon timelines for providing requested information 

or responses for actions not specified in the RFA WDs or applicable law.   
 

4. Provide other appropriate and necessary coordination as needed. 
 

C. Complaint Referral to the CCLD  
 

1. After the preliminary review specified in RFA WDs section 9-06A(c), the 
County will refer each complaint that requires an investigation to the 
appropriate CCLD Office within one (1) business day following receipt of the 
complaint as specified in RFA WDs section 4-03(e).  

 
2. The referral must be in writing and include the physical address location of 

the County’s file for the resource family, the contact information of the 
custodian of the resource family’s file, the contact information of the 
complainant, and detailed information regarding the complaint allegation.  

 
 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 17 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

D. Complaint Assignment

1. Upon receipt of the complaint referral, the CCLD Regional Office shall create
a file and associated file complaint number in a CCLD database for each
resource family complaint investigation.

2. Upon receipt of the referral of the complaint, the CCLD Regional Office will
immediately assign the complaint to staff for investigation.

3. Upon assignment, the assigned CCLD Regional Office staff will contact the
custodian of the resource family file and undertake a process to secure
access to the resource family file or a copy of the file.

a. The County agrees to allow the CCLD Office staff to have access to the
resource family’s file or to be provided a copy, upon request.  If a copy will
be provided electronically, the County is responsible for securely
transferring the file to the appropriate CCLD Regional Office staff.

E. File Review and Initial Complaint Investigation

1. Upon receipt of a copy of the resource family’s file or access to the file, the
CCLD Regional Office staff shall undertake the following:

a. Review the file for any conflicts of interest in order to comply with the
conflict of interest provisions in RFA WDs section 9-06A(o) and (p).
(1) If a conflict exists or appears to exist, the CCLD Regional Office staff

shall immediately report the conflict to his or her supervisor, who may
transfer responsibility for the complaint investigation to another staff
member.

b. Review the resource family’s file and any related licensing files.
c. Confirm whether any adverse action against the resource family is

currently in process by CDSS or the County, or previously undertaken or
concluded by either Party. If such exist, documentation regarding the
adverse action shall be made available by the County or other Division of
CDSS.
(1) The additional documentation of any adverse actions shall be reviewed

and made a part of the complaint investigation file.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 18 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

2. Initial Investigation Activities

a. The CCLD Regional Office staff will interview the complainant, if known.
b. Witnesses of the alleged RFA violation may be contacted by the CCLD

Regional Office during the initial investigation and throughout the period
the complaint investigation remains open.

c. Any documentation received during the complaint investigation shall be
made a part of the complaint investigation file.

F. The Initial 10-Day Visit to the Resource Family Home

1. The CCLD Regional Office staff will conduct an unannounced visit to the
resource family’s home within ten (10) calendar days of receipt of the
complaint referral, except as specified in RFA WDs section 9-06A(j), (k),
and (o).

2. The initial 10-day visit shall be fully documented in the CCLD complaint
investigation file.

G. New Allegations

The CCLD Regional Office staff shall immediately report any new allegation(s)
disclosed during an investigation to the County.

H. RFA Deficiencies

The CCLD Regional Office staff shall report any known or potential deficiencies
unrelated to the complaint to the County so the County RFA staff can take
appropriate action in response.

I. Further Investigation Required

The CCLD Regional Office staff will notify the County if the complaint
investigation cannot be completed within ninety (90) days after the initial10-day
visit because further investigation is required.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 19 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

J. Complaint Investigation Report

1. The CCLD Regional Office staff will prepare a written complaint investigation
report containing a finding for each allegation as either substantiated,
inconclusive, or unfounded.

2. The CCLD Regional Office staff will forward the written complaint
investigation report to the County upon completion.

3. If the County disagrees with the CCLD Regional Office complaint
investigation report findings, then it shall contact the CCLD Regional Office to
discuss and/or to request additional clarification.

K. Notification to Resource Family and Complainant

1. Upon receipt of the complaint investigation report, the County shall deliver a
copy of the complaint investigation report to the resource family.

2. Upon request by the County, the CCLD Regional Office staff responsible for
the complaint investigation report will provide technical assistance.

3. The County shall notify the complainant, if known, of the findings of the
complaint investigation.

L. Follow-Up

For substantiated findings, the County RFA staff shall develop a corrective action
plan for the resource family to correct identified deficiencies, or may take other
action as specified in the RFA WDs.  Nevertheless, if a County determines that it
is not possible to correct an identified deficiency, then the County shall document
the deficiency and may proceed with the necessary administrative action as
specified int the RFA WDs.

M. Cross-Reporting Investigation Results

The County shall report investigation results as specified in applicable law, RFA
WDs sections 4-04 and 9-06C, or as required by this Agreement.



Agreement 21-5017  Page 20 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

N. Records 
 

1. Absent threatened or pending litigation or other good cause identified by 
CDSS, records related to the complaint investigation shall be held by the 
CCLD Regional Office for the duration of this Agreement and for three (3) 
years following the expiration or termination of this Agreement or three (3) 
years following the end date of the provision of complaint investigation 
services, whichever first occurs. Thereafter, the records for the complaint 
investigations specified in this Agreement shall be delivered to the County. 

 
2. Within ten (10) calendar days of the County’s written request, the CCLD 

Regional Office shall provide a copy of any complaint investigation file 
created pursuant to this Agreement.  
 

O. Reporting Complaints with Investigations Pending 
 

The CCLD Regional Office shall provide to the County monthly written reports of 
complaint investigations open longer than ninety (90) days and subject to further 
investigation. 
 

VI.  Home Health and Safety Assessment  
 

A. Provision of Home and Health Safety Assessment Services 
 
1. If identified in Section VII that the County and CDSS agree that the CDSS 

Adoptions Services Bureau shall provide home health and safety assessment 
services on behalf of the County, in part or in full, this Section VI provides a 
description of the services and the responsibilities of the Parties. 

2. In conducting the home health and safety assessment services as described 
in the Written Directives (WDs), Article 6, section 6-02: Home Environment 
Assessment, paragraph (a) (2), the CDSS Adoptions Services Bureau will 
adhere to the requirements specified in the Welfare and Institutions Code 
section 16519.5, the most recently published version of the RFA WDs, and 
the most recently published version of the Form RFA-032.  Resource Family 
Home Health and Safety Assessment Checklist (hereinafter referred to as 
Form RFA-03). As appropriate CDSS shall refer to the WDs, to complete the 
Form RFA-03 and provide the required summary. 

 
B. The CDSS Adoptions Services Bureau and the County agree to coordinate 

efforts in the following areas: 
 

2 The RFA-03 form includes applicable instructions in the WDs sections 11-01 through 
11-16 regarding First Aid supplies including but not limited to provisions regarding self-
administering, storing and documenting. 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 21 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

1. Exchange information about resource family applicants and keep each other 
informed of general progress in the home health and safety assessment and 
changes that may affect the assessment.  This exchange may include, but is 
not limited to, any information (e.g. complaints, concerns, adverse actions) 
that would reflect the suitability of the prospective resource family 
applicant(s). 
 

2. As needed communicate the general progress in the assessment that may 
affect the work provided by each Party, including facts or circumstances 
which may delay or prevent the completion of the assessment within sixty 
(60) days. 

 
3. Establish mutually agreed upon timelines for completing the home health and 

safety assessment when such cannot be completed within sixty (60) days. 
Comply with the RFA WDs relevant to home health and safety assessments. 

 
4. Provide other appropriate and necessary coordination as needed. 
 

C. Responsibilities of the County 
 

1. The County will take the following actions: 
 
a. Refer resource family applicants to the appropriate CDSS Adoptions 

Regional Office for a home health and safety assessment. 
b. Timely provide all necessary documents to the CDSS Adoptions Regional 

Office, using a secure or encrypted format, or a secure file transfer 
protocol, so that each home health and safety assessment may be 
completed within sixty (60) days. 

c. Notify resource family applicants that CDSS will perform the home health 
and safety assessment for the County. 

d. Conduct the background checks and related activities as described in the 
RFA WDs, section 6-03A. 

e. For items identified as incomplete in the Home, Health and Safety 
Assessment provided by CDSS or form RFA 03 the County shall be 
responsible for verifying completion prior to approval of the resource 
family. 

 
D. Responsibilities of the CDSS  

 
1. The CDSS will take the following actions:  

 
a. Assign a CDSS Adoptions Specialist with a Master’s degree in Social 

Work who may also be bilingual and/or a Licensed Clinical Social Worker 
for each home health and safety assessment. 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 22 of 24  
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 
 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

 

 

b. Conduct a home health and safety assessment according to the RFA WDs 
section 6-02(a)(2):  that includes all of the following:  A health and safety 
assessment of the home and grounds, outdoor activity space and storage 
areas of the applicant’s home using form RFA-03:  Resource Family 
Home Health and Safety Assessment Checklist, to determine compliance 
with certain sections of Article 11 of the WDs and, if applicable, section 
11.1-07: Additional Home and Grounds Requirements for Specialized 
Resource Families. 

c. Prepare a summary of the home health and safety assessment in a written 
format that includes an evaluation of the information obtained during a 
home health and safety assessment of the resource family applicant’s 
home and property, e.g. if there are items that needed to be repaired or 
purchased. 

d. CDSS will provide the County with the written summary report, that also 
includes the completed original Form RFA 03, within sixty (60) days of 
receipt of the referral from the County for the home health and safety 
assessment. 

e. Ensure all records provided to CDSS by the County and all information 
obtained in order to conduct a home health and safety assessment are 
kept confidential as specified in RFA WDs section 4-04: Confidentiality. 

f. Provide for a copy of the home health and safety assessment file upon 
request of the County staff responsible for the provision of RFA services. 

g. Provide a CDSS Adoptions Specialist to testify in regards to the home 
health and safety assessment if the results of a home health and safety 
assessment are at issue during an administrative hearing. 

h. Absent pending litigation or other good cause identified by CDSS, the 
Adoptions Regional Office shall retain the records of the home health and 
safety assessment for ninety (90) days after an assessment is provided to 
the County.  Thereafter, the home health and safety assessment file shall 
be securely delivered to the County.  The County shall retain the closed 
assessment file in accordance with the retention policies set forth in Article 
10, section 10-05 of the Written Directives.  Access to a copy of the home 
health and safety assessment section of the resource family file shall be 
made available to CDSS (or its agents or representatives) upon request in 
the event of a review or audit, as permitted by law, or as required by court 
order. 

 
E. Conflict Resolution  

 
1. The County and the CDSS will act in good faith to resolve differences.  Any 

disagreements or conflicts regarding resource family home health and safety 
assessments and how they are performed will be resolved as follows: 

 



Agreement 21-5017  Page 23 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

a. The primary social worker from the County and the CDSS will meet and
confer to resolve differences regarding home health and safety
assessments.

b. If the primary social workers are unable to resolve differences, the County
supervisor and the CDSS supervisor and primary social workers will meet
and confer to resolve differences.

c. If the supervisors and social workers are unable to resolve differences, the
County Program Manager and the CDSS Adoptions Regional Office
Manager and their respective supervisors and social workers will meet
and confer to resolve differences.  Requests shall be made by written
communication such as email to /from the county to/from the relevant
CDSS Adoptions Regional Office Manager.  Response times between the
parties will be no longer than seven calendar days.  Communication may
be in person or by telephone. Meetings will continue until the differences
are resolved.

d. If the differences remain unresolved through the process specified above,
the matter will be referred to the next higher level of management for each
of the Parties until the matter is resolved if appropriate.

F. Conflict of Interest

1. The CDSS Adoptions Regional Office staff conducting home health and
safety assessments shall be instructed to avoid a conflict of interest or the
appearance of a conflict of interest when rendering services.

2. The CDSS shall direct CDSS Adoptions Specialists to RFA WDs section 4-
02(g) to identify any conflict of interest.  If there exists an appearance of a
conflict of interest or an actual conflict of interest, the Adoptions Specialist
shall report the conflict to his/her supervisor, who may transfer responsibility
for the home health and safety assessment to another Adoptions Specialist.

VII. Identification of Services

The Parties identify that in addition to the services of section III, Legal Consultation
and Legal Representation on Appeals, the services described in Section IV,
Section V and/or Section VI are a part of this Agreement, if checked below:

Section IV, Family Evaluation   ☐
Section V, Complaint Investigations       ☐
Section VI, Home Health and Safety Assessment   ☐



Agreement 21-5017  Page 24 of 24 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services 

EXHIBIT A 
(Standard Agreement) 

In the event this Agreement expires or is terminated with open evaluations, 
investigations, assessments, or legal consultations or representation, CDSS may 
complete such services in accordance with the terms in this Agreement. 

VIII. Project Representatives

The Project Representatives during the term of this Agreement shall be:

CDSS

Name: Meryl Press 
Title: RFA Policy Analyst 
Address: 744 P Street, MS 8-13-552 

Sacramento, CA 95814 
 Phone: (916) 651-9431 

  Email: Meryl.Press@dss.ca.gov 

County of Inyo      

Name:  Keri Oney 
Title: Deputy Director 

Inyo County Health and Human Services 
Address:  920 N. Main Street 

Phone: 
 Bishop, CA 93514 

      (760) 872-0902 
Email:       koney@inyocounty.us  

Either party may make changes to the Project Representative information by giving 
ten (10) calendar days written notice to the other Party.  Said changes shall not 
require an amendment to this Agreement. 

IX. Authority to Enter into This Agreement

Each Party entering into this Agreement represents the existence of the authority
to enter into this Agreement.



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services    Page 1 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

A. Term

The initial term of this Agreement shall commence on July 1, 2021 and shall
terminate on June 30, 2024 (the “Initial Term”).   This Agreement may be renewed
by written amendment on a year-to-year basis for each one-year renewal period,
upon its commencement, to constitute part of the “Term” for all purposes
hereunder.

B. Termination

1. Termination without Cause:  Each Party reserves the right to terminate
this Agreement at any time and for any reason upon provision of ninety
(90) days’ advance written notice to the other Party in accordance with
paragraph O (Notices).

2. Termination for Cause:  Each Party reserves the right to terminate the
Agreement for cause. In addition, if either Party defaults under this agreement,
the agreement may be terminated by the non-defaulting Party effective upon
provision of forty-five (45) days advance written notice of termination provided
to the defaulting Party in accordance with paragraph O (Notices).

3. Default Costs:  In the event of termination of this Agreement due to a
default by either Party, the non-defaulting Party shall not be liable for any
costs incurred by the defaulting Party in connection with such termination.

4. Return of Materials:  Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement, each Party shall return to the other Party any and all
materials, equipment or documents provided by the other Party in
connection with the activities governed by this Agreement within ten (10)
business days of written demand therefor.

C. Ineligible for Federal Assistance

This Agreement is void or voidable if the either Party receives reliable information
that the other Party has been debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment,
excluded or disqualified under the non-procurement common rule, or otherwise
declared ineligible from receiving Federal agreements, certain sub-agreements,
and certain Federal assistance and benefits.

D. Amendments

This Agreement may be modified, amended, or supplemented only by a written
amendment, signed by a Representative from each Party, who has the authority to



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services    Page 2 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

act on behalf of their respective Party. Each Party is responsible for obtaining the 
necessary approval(s) before entering into any amendment. 

E. Time

1. Time is of the essence for the performance of the services of this
Agreement.  Each Party shall promptly comply with the terms of this
agreement and in the performance of the activities described in Exhibit A,
Sections III, IV, V, and VI. If a Party is unable to comply with a term or
requirement of this Agreement, it shall promptly notify the other Party’s
Project Representative of the inability to comply with the particular
requirement or term.

2. Each Party to this Agreement shall devote such time to the performance of the
activities described in Exhibit A as may be reasonably necessary for the
satisfactory performance of the obligations of this Agreement.

3. The Party failing to meet the timelines described in the services in Exhibit A,
Sections III, IV, V and VI of this Agreement shall be responsible for any fees or
costs imposed by the applicable law which result due to the other Party.

F. Default

Neither party shall be considered to be in default of this agreement to the extent
the performance is prevented or delayed by any cause, present or future, which is
beyond the reasonable control of the Party.

G. Conflict of Interest

The Parties agree to enforce the requirements of the California Government Code,
Section 1090 et seq. and Sections 87100 through 87105 to prevent a public officer
or employee, including a subcontractor, from participating in an activity that would
constitute a conflict of interest.

H. Nondiscrimination

The Parties shall not discriminate in the employment of persons necessary to
perform this Agreement on any legally impermissible basis, including on the basis
of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical disability, mental
disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, sex, gender,
gender identity, gender expression, age, sexual orientation, or military and veteran
status.



Agreement 21-5017  Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services          Page 3 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

1. The Parties represent that each is aware and shall follow: a) Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964, including subsequent amendments (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et 
seq.); b) the Age Discrimination Act of 1967 (29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.); c) Title I 
of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 2008 (42 U.S.C. § 12101 et seq.); and 
d) the California Fair Employment and Housing Act (California Govt. Code, § 
12900 et seq.), including the related regulations commencing at 2 CCR § 
11006 et seq.    

 
2. In the provision of services each Party shall be responsible for the actions of its 

employees, directors or officers so that employees and applicants for 
employment and any member of the public are free from any unlawful 
discrimination.   

 
3. The Parties agree to include the non-discrimination and compliance provision of 

this paragraph in all sub-agreements, if any, to perform services under this 
Agreement. 

 
I. Change in Statutes or Regulations  

 
If there is a change of statute or regulations, including the Written Directives 
(WDs), applicable to the performance of this Agreement, both Parties agree to be 
governed by the new provisions, unless either party gives Notice to terminate 
pursuant paragraph O of this Agreement or identifies through written 
correspondence that the changes in law require negotiation of the responsibilities 
or terms of the Agreement. 

 
J.  Assignment 
  

Except as specifically authorized within the Agreement, no rights may be assigned 
and no duties under this Agreement may be delegated by a Party without the prior 
written consent of the other, and any attempted assignment or delegation without 
such consent shall be void. Each successor or assignee of the applicable Party to 
this agreement shall be held jointly and severally liable under this agreement. 

 
K.  Responsibility of Project Representatives 
 

All matters concerning the administration of this Agreement, which are within the 
responsibility of the Parties shall be under the direction of, or shall be submitted to, 
the respective Project Representative or the party’s employee specified, in writing, 
by the Project Representative.  A Party may, in its sole discretion, change its 
designation of its Project Representative upon providing written notice to the other 
Party at least ten days prior to such change in accordance with paragraph O 
(Notices).  The Project Representatives for the Parties are specified in the Exhibit 
A, Page 25, Section VIII. 



Agreement 21-5017  Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services          Page 4 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 

L.  Waiver 
 

1. Any waiver shall be memorialized in writing, and signed by the Project 
Representative of each Party. However, neither Party may waive provision or 
right in the Agreement that is a required act specified in the WDs. 

 
2. The failure of either Party to enforce any right or provision of this agreement 

shall not be construed as a waiver by the other Party of its rights under the 
agreement and shall not prevent the other Party from subsequently enforcing 
such right or provision.  

 
M. Cumulative Rights  

 
The rights and remedies of the Parties herein are cumulative and are in addition to 
any other rights or remedies that the Parties may have at law or in equity.   

 
N.  Severability 
 

Should any part, term, portion, or provision of this agreement be finally decided by 
a court of competent jurisdiction to be in conflict with any law of the United States 
or the State of California, or otherwise be unenforceable or ineffectual, the validity 
of the remaining parts, terms, portions, or provisions will be deemed severable and 
will not be affected thereby, provided such remaining portions or provisions can be 
construed in substance to constitute the Agreement which the Parties intended to 
enter into in the first place. 

 
O. Notices 
  

A notice to the other Party in the administration of this Agreement shall be given to 
the Party’s Project Representative by regular mail, or by email as more particularly 
specified in this paragraph.  Any such notice will be deemed given on: 

 
1. Personal Service: The day the notice is personally delivered to the Party’s 

Project Representative. 
 
2. United States Mail: Five days after the date the notice is deposited in the 

United States mail, addressed to a Party’s Project Representative with first-
class postage fully prepaid;  

 
3. Email: On the day the notice is transmitted by email to the email address of the 

Party’s Project Representative as specified in Section VIII, provided an original 
of such notice is deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the Party’s 
Project Representative, on the same day as the email transmission. 

 



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services    Page 5 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

P. Compliance with Applicable Laws

The Parties shall comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws now, or
hereafter, in force, and with any applicable regulations, in performing the work and
providing the service specified in this agreement.  This obligation includes, without
limitation, the acquisition, and maintenance of any permits, licenses, or other
entitlements necessary to perform the duties imposed expressly or impliedly under
this Agreement.

Q. Negotiated Agreement

This Agreement was negotiated between the Parties. Neither Party is deemed to
be the Party which prepared this Agreement within the meaning of California Civil
Code, section 1654.

R. Independent Advice

Each Party represents that in executing this Agreement it does so with full
knowledge of the   rights and duties it may have with respect to the other Party.
Each Party also represents that it has received independent legal advice from its
attorney with respect to the matters set forth in this agreement and the rights and
duties arising out of this Agreement, or that such Party willingly foregoes any such
consultation.

S. Information Subject to a Business Associate Agreement

The Parties agree to identify for the other Party protected health information in the
records that was provided through a business associate agreement of a covered
entity, as required by 42 U.S.C 1320d and its implementing regulations at 45 CFR
Parts 142, 160, 162, and 164, collectively referred to as the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act Privacy Rule.

T. Conflicting Disclosure Laws

The Parties agree to follow the requirements of the law for the disclosure of
confidential records.  When in doubt as to whether a record in its possession
should be disclosed or withheld, each Party agrees to contact its Legal Counsel for
direction.

U. Mailing of Confidential Information

The Parties may use the United States Postal Service to deliver records containing
personal or confidential information to the other provided that the record(s) are
double enveloped with the interior envelope identified as confidential with the name
of the recipient of the mail on the interior envelope.  Additionally, each shall require



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services    Page 6 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

that the records being delivered shall only be delivered to the addressee with an 
acknowledgement of receipt.  The Party sending the records is responsible for 
obtaining a copy of the signed receipt and maintaining it. 

V. Transporting Records

The Parties agree that all records containing personal or confidential information
shall be transported in a secure manner.  When using a third party who is not a
Party to this Agreement to transport records to the other Party, the Parties each
agree to notify the other before sending records to the other containing personal or
confidential information, as defined in law.  Notice may be provided electronically,
but receipt of the message must be confirmed before commencing the transport of
the records to the other Party.  Additionally, except for personal delivery by a
representative of the Parties a bonded courier service shall be used.  The records
shall be securely double-enveloped or boxed with the interior envelope or box
identified as confidential and properly addressed to the intended
recipient/employee.  Upon delivery, the courier shall obtain a signed
acknowledgement of receipt from the entity receiving the documents.  The Party
sending the records is responsible for obtaining a copy of the signed receipt and
maintaining it.

W. Indemnification

1. Claims Arising from Acts or Omissions of the County

The County hereby agrees to defend and indemnify the CDSS, its agents,
officers, and employees (hereinafter collectively referred to as the CDSS),
from any claim, action or proceeding against the CDSS arising from the
County’s negligence in the performance of the services and activities of this
Agreement, including omissions to act. At its discretion, the CDSS may
participate at its own expense in the defense of any claim, action or
proceeding, but such participation shall not relieve the County of any obligation
imposed by this Agreement.  The CDSS shall notify the County promptly of
any claim, action or proceeding and cooperate fully.

2. Claims Arising from Acts or Omissions of the CDSS

The CDSS hereby agrees to defend and indemnify the County, its agents, 
officers, and employees (hereinafter collectively referred to as the County), 
from any claim, action or proceeding against the County arising from CDSS’ 
negligence in the performance of the services and activities of this Agreement, 
including omissions to act. At its discretion, the County may participate at its 
own expense in the defense of any claim, action or proceeding, but such 
participation shall not relieve the CDSS of any obligation imposed by this 



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services    Page 7 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

Agreement.  The CDSS shall notify the County promptly of any claim action or 
proceeding and cooperate fully. 

X. Relationship of the Parties

The CDSS is acting as a contractor for the delivery of the services; this is not a
joint venture agreement between the Parties.  It is understood by both Parties that
this Agreement does not create an employer-employee relationship between the
Parties.  Each Party agrees that it shall not enter into agreements or make
representations or promises on behalf of the other Party, except as identified in
Exhibit A.

Y. Bankruptcy

The Parties shall immediately notify the other in the event that either ceases
conducting business in the normal manner or becomes insolvent, makes a general
assignment for the benefit of creditors, suffers or permits the appointment of a
receiver for its business on assets, or avails itself of, or becomes subject to, any
proceeding under the Federal Bankruptcy Act or any other statute of this state
relating to insolvency or protection of the rights of creditors.

Z. Insurance Requirements

The CDSS is a self-insured public entity, which possesses the ability to cover
liabilities, including general, professional, motor vehicle, and workers’
compensation liabilities arising from or connection with the performance of services
under this agreement by CDSS, its employees, officers, or directors.  Evidence of
self-insurance is provided with Exhibit A, Attachment 3. Evidence of CDSS’ self-
insurance for liabilities, from the use of motor vehicles includes owned, non-owned,
and hired vehicles used by CDSS employees in the performance of services, is
provided with Exhibit A, Attachment 4.

AA. Title to Documents; Copyrights 

The reports, forms and other materials produced by the CDSS pursuant to this 
Agreement are the property of the CDSS and shall not be subject to any copyright 
claimed by the County, its employees, subcontractors or agents.  However, the 
County may use for administrative purposes completed materials developed or 
produced by the CDSS. Incomplete documents or projects may not be used 
without the prior written consent of the CDSS.  Records, reports, or documents 
containing personal or confidential information shall not be used for any 
commercial purpose and shall not be copyrighted by either Party, including the 
employees, officers, directors, or agents of each Party. 



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 1 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services    Page 8 of 8  

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

BB. Venue 

It is agreed by the Parties to this Agreement that, unless expressly waived by 
CDSS, any action brought to enforce provisions of this Agreement for declaratory 
relief shall be filed and remain in a court of competent jurisdiction in the County of 
Sacramento in the State of California. 

CC. Controlling Law

The validity, interpretation and performance of this Agreement shall be construed
under the laws of the State of California, or when applicable federal law.

DD. Entire Agreement

This Agreement is the entire Agreement of the Parties for the performance of the
services described in Exhibit A. There are no understandings or agreements
pertaining to this Agreement except as are expressly stated in writing in this
Agreement or in any document attached hereto or incorporated by reference.  It is
the intention of the Parties hereto that this Agreement shall supersede any prior
agreements, discussions, commitments, representations, agreements, written, or
oral, between the Parties.



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 2 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 1 of 2 

Information Security Requirements 

I. Information Security Incidents and/or Breaches

A. Discovery and Notification of Incidents and/or Breaches.  CDSS shall be
responsible for facilitating the Incident and/or Breach response process as
described in California Civil Code 1798.29(e), California Civil Code 1798.82(f), and
SAM 5340, Incident Management.  CDSS shall notify the CDSS Program Contract
Manager and the County Information Security and/or Privacy Officer within one
working day by telephone call and email upon the discovery of the Incident and/or
Breach affecting the security of County Confidential, Sensitive, and/or Personal
(CSP) Information if the County CSP was, or is reasonably believed to have been,
acquired by an unauthorized person, or there is an intrusion, potential loss, or
unauthorized use or disclosure of the County CSP is in violation of the Agreement,
this provision, the law, or potential loss of the County CSP that is in violation of this
Attachment 2.  CDSS shall take:

1. Prompt corrective action to mitigate any risks or damages involved with the
Incident and/or Breach and to protect the operating environment;

2. Any action pertaining to such unauthorized disclosure required by applicable
Federal and State laws and regulations.

B. Isolation of System or Device.  A system or device, containing County CSP,
compromised by an Incident and/or Breach involving an exploitation of a technical
vulnerability, shall be promptly disconnected from CDSS’ production environment
with access to only individuals who are participating in the investigation, mitigation,
and remediation of the Incident and/or Breach.  Such system or device shall
remain disconnected from the production environment until the risk from the
exploited vulnerability has been adequately mitigated.  The County must be
contacted prior to placing the previously compromised system or device, containing
County CSP, back in the production environment.  The affected system or device,
containing County CSP, shall not be returned to operation in the production
environment until the County Information Security and/or Privacy Officer gives its
approval.

C. Investigation of Incidents and/or Breaches.  CDSS shall promptly investigate
such Incidents and/or Breaches.

D. Updates on Investigation.  CDSS shall provide regular (at least once a week)
email updates on the progress of the Incident and/or Breach investigation to the
CDSS Program Contract Manager and the County Information Security and/or
Privacy Officer.



Agreement 21-5017 Exhibit A – Attachment 2 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 2 of 2 

E. Written Report.  CDSS shall provide a written report of the investigation to the
CDSS Program Contract Manager and the County Information Security and/or
Privacy Officer within fifteen (15) working days of the discovery of the Incident
and/or Breach.  To the extent CDSS has such information, the report shall include
but not be limited to the following:

1. CDSS point of contact information;

2. Description of what happened, including the date of the Incident and/or Breach
and the date of the discovery of the Incident and/or Breach, if known;

3. Description of the types of County CSP that were involved, and the extent of
the information involved in the Incident and/or Breach;

4. A description of the unauthorized persons known or reasonably believed to
have improperly used or disclosed County CSP;

5. A description of where the County CSP is believed to have been improperly
transmitted, sent, or utilized;

6. A description of the probable causes of the improper use or disclosure;

7. Whether Civil Code sections 1798.29 or 1798.82 or any other federal or state
laws requiring individual notifications of breaches are triggered; and

8. Full, detailed corrective action plan, including information on measures that
were taken to halt and/or contain the Incident and/or Breach.

F. Notification of Individuals.  CDSS shall notify individuals of the breach or
unauthorized use or disclosure when notification is required under applicable state
or federal law as determined by the County.  CDSS shall pay any costs of such
notifications, as well as any costs associated with the breach.  The CDSS
Program Contract Manager and the County Information Security and/or Privacy
Officer shall promptly approve the time, manner and content of any such
notifications, and such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.



DGS 
C A L I F O R N I A DEPARTMENT OF 

GENERAL SERVICES Governor Gavin Newsom 

July 1, 2021 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

PUBLIC LIABILITY AND WORKERS' COMPENSATION 

INSURANCE FISCAL YEAR JULY 1, 2021 / JUNE 30, 2022 

Whom It May Concern: 

In accordance with Government Code section 11007.4, the State of California has elected to 

be self-insured for liability exposures. Under this form of insurance, the State and its 

employees acting in the course and scope of their employment are insured for tort liability 

arising out of official State business. All claims against the State of California based on tort 

liability should be presented as a government claim to the Government Claims Program, 

P.O. Box 989052 MS 414, West Sacramento, CA 95798-9052. (Gov. Code section 900, et. 
seq.) Internet link: https://www.dgs.ca.gov/ORIM/Services/Page-Content/Office-of-Risk-and- 
Insurance-Management-Services-List-Folder/File-a-Government-Claim 

The State of California has also elected to be insured for its motor vehicle liability exposures 

through the State Motor Vehicle Liability Self-Insurance Program (VELSIP). This program 

provides liability coverage arising out of the operations of motor vehicles used by state 

employees for official state business (California Vehicle Code Sections 17000 and 17001). 

Motor vehicle liability claims against the State of California should be presented to the Office 

of Risk and Insurance Management. P.O. Box 989052 MS-403, West Sacramento, CA 

95798- 9052, (800) 900-3634, Claims@dgs.ca.gov If your motor vehicle liability claim is not 

resolved within six months from the date of loss, California law requires you to file a formal 

claim with the Government Claims Program, P.O. Box 989052 MS 414, West Sacramento , 

CA 95798-9052. (Gov. Code section 900, et. seq.) Internet link: 

https://www.dgs.ca.gov/ORIM/Services/Page-Content/Office-of-Risk-and-Insurance- 

Management-Services-List-Folder/File-a-Government-Claim 

The State of California has a Master Agreement with the State Compensation Insurance Fund 
regarding workers' compensation benefits for all state employees, as required by the Labor 

Code. 

Lynan Graf 

Associate Risk Analyst 
Office of Risk and Insurance Management 

Phone : (916) 376-5290 

Fax: (916) 376-5275 
Lynan.qraf@dgs.ca.gov 

Office of Risk and Insurance Management / State of California / Department of General Services 
707 3rd Street. Suite 1-330 West Sacramento, CA 956051 / P (916) 376-5300 f (916) 376-5275 

Exhibit A - Attachment 3 
Page 1 of 1

Agreement 21-5017
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services

https://www.dgs.ca.gov/ORIM/Services/Page-Content/Office-of-Risk-and-Insurance-Management-Services-List-Folder/File-a-Government-Claim
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/ORIM/Services/Page-Content/Office-of-Risk-and-Insurance-Management-Services-List-Folder/File-a-Government-Claim
mailto:Claims@dgs.ca.gov
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/ORIM/Services/Page-Content/Office-of-Risk-and-Insurance-Management-Services-List-Folder/File-a-Government-Claim
https://www.dgs.ca.gov/ORIM/Services/Page-Content/Office-of-Risk-and-Insurance-Management-Services-List-Folder/File-a-Government-Claim
mailto:Lynan.qraf@dgs.ca.gov


June 7, 2021 

Governor Gavin Newsom 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA AUTOMOBILE 
LIABILITY / PHYSICAL DAMAGE 

FISCAL YEAR JULY 1, 2021 / JUNE 30, 2022 

To Whom It May Concern: 

Please accept this letter as certification that the State of California has elected 
to be self-insured for liability and physical damage arising out of the ownership, 
maintenance, and operation of land motor vehicles. 

Under this program, the Office of Risk and Insurance Management administers 
liability claims arising out of the operation of the vehicle. Physical Damage to 
such vehicle may be reimbursed by the Employing State Agency in accordance 
with State Administrative Manual (SAM) sections 2420 and 4116. 

Sincerely, 

Lynan Graf 

Lynan Graf 
Department of General Services 
Associate Risk Analyst 
(916) 376-5290
Lynan.Graf@dgs.ca.gov

Division, Branch or Office Name Here | State of California | California Government Operations Agency 
707 3rd Street, # of Floor | West Sacramento, CA 95605 | t (916) 376-5000 f (916) 376-5018 

Exhibit A - Attachment 4
Page 1 of 1

Agreement 21-5017
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services

mailto:Lynan.Graf@dgs.ca.gov


Agreement 21-5017 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 1 of 6 
 

EXHIBIT B 
(Standard Agreement) 

 
BUDGET DETAIL AND PAYMENT PROVISIONS 

 
A. Invoicing and Payment 

 
1. The maximum amount payable under this Agreement shall not exceed $0. 

Shown below are the amounts that cannot be exceeded for each of the fiscal 
year(s): 
 
21/22  $0.00 
22/23  $0.00 
23/24  $0.00 
 

2. For services satisfactorily rendered, and upon receipt and approval of the 
invoice(s), County agrees to pay CDSS for said services in accordance with 
the rates specified below: 
 
a.  Invoicing for Family Evaluations 

 
i. If Family Evaluations were identified in Exhibit A, Section VII, as part 

of this Agreement, CDSS shall provide quarterly invoices in arrears for 
each quarter in which the Family Evaluation services were completed. 
The quarterly invoices shall include for each completed Family 
Evaluation the non-federal cost per case rate. 
 

ii. The CDSS shall track each Family Evaluation and invoice for the non-
federal share of $1,683.00 per each Family Evaluation.1  CDSS shall 
not invoice for the amount of the services involving the federal funds 
share. The non-federal share of costs for each fiscal year shall be 
subject to change based on the applicable federal discount rate for 
that year. 

 
iii. The County shall pay CDSS quarterly for the completed Family 

Evaluations. For payment the County shall draw down funds from the 
General Fund RFA allocation. Once the total RFA allocation is 

 
1 The estimated cost to complete each Family Evaluation is $2,305.00. The federal funds 
share is $622.00.    



Agreement 21-5017 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 2 of 6 
 

exceeded, the County shall use its Local Revenue Fund (LRF) for 
subsequent payment(s). 

 
iv. If it is determined by CDSS that the average family evaluation greatly  

exceeds the estimated hours, CDSS shall provide the documentation 
regarding the number of hours to the County. For any extension of this 
Agreement or subsequent agreement for these services the amount 
paid to CDSS may be increased for the next fiscal year(s). 
 

v. If the Exhibit A identifies that CDSS shall provide only a portion of the   
County’s Family Evaluations, the cost of the Family Evaluation shall 
be the same as identified in section A, paragraph 2 (a) (ii), above. 

 
b. Invoicing for Complaint Investigations 

 
i. If Complaint Investigations were identified in Exhibit A, Section VII, as 

part of this Agreement, CDSS shall provide quarterly invoices in 
arrears for each quarter in which the Complaint Investigations were 
completed. The quarterly invoices shall include, for each completed 
complaint investigation, the non-federal cost per case rate. 

 
ii. The CDSS shall track each Complaint Investigation and invoice for 

the non-federal cost of $1,453.00. 2  CDSS shall not invoice for the 
amount of the services involving the federal funds share. The non-
federal share of costs for each fiscal year shall be subject to change 
based on the applicable federal discount rate for that year. 

 
iii. The County shall pay CDSS quarterly.  For payment the County shall 

draw down funds from the General Fund RFA allocation.  Once the 
total RFA allocation is exceeded, the County shall use its LRF for 
subsequent payment(s). 

 
iv. If it is determined by CDSS that the average complaint investigation 

greatly exceeds the estimated hours, CDSS shall provide the 
documentation regarding the number of hours to the County.  For any 
extension of this Agreement or subsequent agreement for these 

 
2 The estimated cost to complete each Complaint Investigation is $1,991.00.  The federal 
funds share is $538.00.  



Agreement 21-5017 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 3 of 6 
 

services the amount paid to CDSS may be increased for the next 
fiscal year(s). 
 

v. If the Exhibit A identifies that CDSS shall provide only a portion of the 
County’s Complaint Investigations, the cost of the Complaint 
Investigation shall be the same as identified in this Exhibit B, section 
A, paragraph 2 (b)(ii), above. 

 
c. Invoicing for Home Health and Safety Assessments 

 
i. If Home Health and Safety Assessments were identified in Exhibit A, 

Section VII, as part of this Agreement, CDSS shall provide quarterly 
invoices in arrears for each quarter in which the Home Health and 
Safety Assessments services were completed. The quarterly invoices 
shall include, for each open Home Health and Safety Assessment, the 
non-federal cost per case rate. 

 
ii. The CDSS shall track each Home Health and Safety Assessment and 

invoice for the non-federal share of cost of $474.00 per each Home 
Health and Safety Assessment.3  CDSS shall not invoice for the 
amount of the services involving the federal funds share.  The non-
federal share of costs for each fiscal shall be subject to change based 
on the applicable federal discount rate for that year. 

 
iii. The County shall pay CDSS quarterly. For Payment the County shall 

draw down funds from the General Fund RFA allocation.  Once the 
total RFA allocation is exceeded, the County shall use its Local 
Revenue Fund (LRF) for subsequent payment(s). 

 
iv. If it is determined by CDSS that the average Home Health and Safety 

Assessment greatly exceeds the estimated hours, CDSS shall provide 
the documentation regarding the number of hours to the County. For 
any extension of this Agreement or subsequent agreement for these 
services the amount paid to CDSS may be increased for the next 
fiscal year(s). 

 

 
3 The estimated cost to complete each Home, Health and Safety Assessment is $649.00. 
The federal funds share is $175.00.    



Agreement 21-5017 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 4 of 6 
 

v. If the Exhibit A identifies that CDSS shall provide only a portion of the 
County’s Home Health and Safety Assessments, the cost of the Home 
Health and Safety Assessments shall be the same as identified in this 
Exhibit B, section A, paragraph 2 (c)(ii), above.  

3. The County shall be responsible for payment of the contracted services and 
activities provided by CDSS in accordance with rates above from the 
following sources and in the following order: 

 
*  General Fund Resource Family Approval allocation (if such exists in the  
    State Budget); 
*  the County’s 2011 Realignment LRF; and  
*  other County funds.       

 
4. Continuation of Services 

 
In the event this Agreement expires or is terminated with open Family 
Evaluations, Complaint Investigations, Home Health and Safety 
Assessments or Legal Consultations or Legal Representation on 
Appeals/SHD and OAH Hearings, CDSS may complete such actions in 
accordance with the terms of this Agreement; submit invoices as identified in 
this Exhibit B, withhold a corresponding portion of the RFA Allocation to 
complete such activities from a current or subsequent fiscal year, and 
receive payment from the County from its LRF for a current or subsequent 
fiscal year. 
 

5. Cost Increase  
 

During the term of this Agreement, and as the Budget Act allows, CDSS and 
the County may approve increases in the service levels for each of the 
services provided by CDSS and increase the amount that the County shall 
pay CDSS from the County’s General Fund RFA allocation and the LRF. 
 

6. Invoices shall include the Agreement No. 21-5017 and Index Code 2552 and 
shall be submitted in triplicate or as otherwise requested by the County nor 
more frequently than quarterly in arrears to:    
 
                    Inyo County Health and Human Services  
                              Address: 920 N. Main Street 

      Bishop, CA 93514 
                               Attn: Keri Oney 

 



Agreement 21-5017 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 5 of 6 

7. Should the County receive services in excess of $750,000 in federal
assistance, Invoices shall include the CFDA number: 93.658 and the CFDA
Program Title: Resource Family Approval.

Any invoices submitted without the above referenced information may be
returned to CDSS for reprocessing.

8. For each invoice, the County shall route to the appropriate personnel
responsible for the prompt review and payment. For disputed invoices, if any,
the County shall specifically identify those services which are in dispute, for
which additional information is necessary, in its subsequent correspondence
with CDSS.

9. Undisputed invoices shall be paid promptly, and no later than 45 days from
receipt of the original invoice. The County shall also pay for those services
which are undisputed within 45 days of receipt of the original invoice.

B. State Budget Contingency Clause

1. It is mutually agreed that if the Budget Act of the current year and/or any
subsequent years covered under this Agreement does not appropriate
sufficient funds for the program, this Agreement shall be of no further force
and effect.  In this event, CDSS shall have no liability to pay any funds
whatsoever to Contractor or to furnish any other considerations under this
Agreement and Contractor shall not be obligated to perform any provisions
of this Agreement.

2. If funding for any fiscal year is reduced or deleted by the Budget Act for
purposes of this program, CDSS shall have the option to either cancel this
Agreement with no liability occurring to the State, or offer an Agreement
amendment to Contractor to reflect the reduced amount.

C. For Contracts with Federal Funds

1. It is mutually understood between the parties that this Agreement may have
been written before ascertaining the availability of Congressional
appropriation of funds, for the mutual benefit of both parties, in order to avoid
program and fiscal delays which would occur if the Agreement were
executed after that determination was made.

2. This Agreement is valid and enforceable only if sufficient funds are made
available to the State by the United States Government for the term of this
Agreement for the purposes of this program.  In addition, this Agreement is
subject to any additional restrictions, limitations, or conditions enacted by the
Congress or any statute enacted by the Congress which may affect the
provisions, terms, or funding of this Agreement in any manner.



Agreement 21-5017 
CDSS/Inyo County Health and Human Services Page 6 of 6 

3. It is mutually agreed that if the Congress does not appropriate sufficient
funds for the program, this Agreement shall be amended to reflect any
reduction in funds.

4. CDSS, at its option, may terminate this Agreement upon 30-days notice, or
to amend the Agreement to reflect any reduction in Federal funds.

D. Review

Each party reserves the right to review service levels and billing procedures as they
impact charges against this Agreement.



County of Inyo

County Administrator - Personnel
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Sue Dishion
 
SUBJECT:  Contract with HansonBridgett
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board ratify and approve the contract between the County of Inyo and Hanson Bridgett LLP for the 
provision of Specialized Law Enforcement Legal Services and Employment Advice, in the amount of $100,000 for 
the term of July 26, 2021 through June 30, 2022, contingent upon the Board’s adoption of the Fiscal Year 2020-
2021 Budget, authorize the Chairperson to sign the contract and HIPPA Business Associate Agreement, 
contingent upon obtaining all appropriate signatures. 
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The firm provides the County with advice and representation in specialized law enforcement  employment and 
labor law matters.  It is recommended that the County contract with HansonBridgett for these legal services.  The 
County previously had utilized the services of their partner Alfonso Estrada to provide advice and representation.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
The County could decline to approve the agreement with Hanson Bridgett LLP and attempt to find other legal 
counsel to assist the County in these matters, or could seek to provide these services through in-house lawyers. 
 Neither alternative is recommended because of the specialized nature of the legal services required.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
The Personnel Department has budgeted for outside legal counsel contracts in FY 2021/2022 Personnel Budget 
Unit 010800
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Inyo County - Hanson Bridgett LLP Contract
 



Agenda Request 
Page 2

APPROVALS:
Denelle Carrington Created/Initiated - 8/11/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/11/2021
Sue Dishion Approved - 8/11/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/11/2021
Amy Shepherd Final Approval - 8/11/2021



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 1 100615

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO
AND HANSON BRIDGETT LLP

FOR THE PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES

INTRODUCTION

WHEREAS, the County  of  Inyo  (hereinafter referred to as "County")  may  have  the  need  for  
the legal services of Hanson Bridgett LLP, of Los Angeles, California, (hereinafter referred to as 
"Contractor"), and in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants, terms, and conditions hereinafter 
contained, the parties hereby agree as follows:

TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1. SCOPE OF WORK.

The Contractor shall furnish to the County, upon its request, those services and work set forth in 
Attachment A,   attached   hereto   and by reference incorporated herein.    Requests by the County to the 
Contractor to perform under this Agreement will be made by County Administrator or her designee. 
Requests to the Contractor for work or services to be performed under this Agreement will be based upon 
the County's need for such services.  The County makes no guarantee or warranty, of any nature, that any 
minimum level or amount of services or work will be requested of the Contractor by the County under this 
Agreement.  County by this Agreement incurs no obligation or requirement to request from Contractor the 
performance of any services or work at all, even if County should have some need for such services or work 
during the term of this Agreement.

Services and work provided by the Contractor at the County's request under this Agreement will be 
performed in a manner consistent with the requirements and standards established by applicable federal, 
state, and County laws, ordinances, regulations, and resolutions.  Such laws, ordinances, regulations, and 
resolutions include, but are not limited to, those which are referred to in this Agreement.

2. TERM.

The term of this Agreement shall be from July 26, 2021, until June 30, 2022, unless sooner 
terminated as provided below.

3. CONSIDERATION.

A. Compensation.    County shall pay to Contractor in accordance with the Schedule of Fees 
(set forth as Attachment B) for the services and work described in Attachment A which are performed by 
Contractor at the County's request. 

B. Travel and per diem.    County shall reimburse Contractor for travel expenses and per diem 
which Contractor incurs in providing services and work requested by County under this Agreement.  
Contractor shall request approval by the County prior to incurring any travel or per diem expenses.  
Requests by Contractor for approval to incur travel and per diem expenses shall be submitted to the office 
of County Counsel. Travel and per diem expenses will be reimbursed in accordance with the rates set forth 
in the Schedule of Travel and Per Diem Payment (Attachment C). County reserves the right to deny 
reimbursement to Contractor for travel or per diem expenses which are either in excess of the amounts that 
may be paid to under the rates set forth in Attachment C, or which are incurred by the Contractor without the 
prior approval of the County. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 2 100615

C. Incidental Expenses.    County shall reimburse Contractor in accordance with the Schedule 
of Fees (Attachment B) for those Incidental Expenses which are specifically identified in the Schedule of 
Fees and which are necessarily incurred by the Contractor in providing the services and work requested by 
County under this Agreement. Reimbursement by County for such Incidental Expenses will be limited to 
Contractor's actual cost without regard to any administrative or overhead expenses incurred by Contractor 
in obtaining or utilizing such incidental services or supplies.  Reimbursement for actual costs will not exceed 
the amounts set forth in the Schedule of Fees.

D. No additional consideration.    Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, Contractor 
shall not be entitled to, nor receive, from County, any additional consideration, compensation, salary, 
wages, or other type of remuneration for services rendered under this Agreement.  Specifically, Contractor 
shall not be entitled, by virtue of this Agreement, to consideration in the form of overtime, health insurance 
benefits, retirement benefits, disability retirement benefits, sick leave, vacation time, paid holidays, or other 
paid leaves of absence of any type or kind whatsoever.

E. Limit upon amount payable under Agreement.   The total sum of all payments made by the 
County to Contractor for services and work performed under this Agreement, including travel and per diem 
expenses, if any, shall not exceed $100,000 (One Hundred Thousand Dollars) hereinafter referred to as 
"contract limit."  County expressly reserves the right to deny any payment or reimbursement requested by 
Contractor for services or work performed, including travel or per diem, which is in excess of the contract 
limit.

F. Billing and payment.    Contractor shall submit to the County, once a month, an itemized 
statement of all hours spent by Contractor in performing services and work described in Attachment A, 
which were done at the County's request.  This statement will be submitted to the County not later than the 
last day of the month following the month in which services were rendered.  The statement to be submitted 
will cover the period from the first (1st) day of the preceding month through and including the last day of the 
preceding month.  This statement will identify the date on which the hours were worked and describe the 
nature of the work which was performed on each day. Contractor's statement to the County will also include 
an itemization of any incidental expenses, or travel or per diem expenses which have been approved in 
advance by County, incurred by Contractor during that period.  The itemized statement for incidental 
expenses, travel expenses and per diem will include receipts for lodging, meals, and other incidental 
expenses in accordance with the County's accounting procedures and rules.  Upon timely receipt of the 
statement by the last day of the month, County shall make payment to Contractor within 30 days after 
receipt of the statement. 

G. Federal and State taxes.

(1) Except as provided in subparagraph (2) below, County will not withhold any federal or state 
income taxes or social security from any payments made by County to Contractor under 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

(2) County will withhold California State income taxes from payments made under this 
Agreement to non-California resident independent contractors when it is anticipated that 
total annual payments to Contractor under this Agreement will exceed one thousand four 
hundred ninety nine dollars ($1,499.00).

(3) Except as set forth above, County has no obligation to withhold any taxes or payments 
from sums paid by County to Contractor under this Agreement.  Payment of all taxes and 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 3 100615

other assessments on such sums is the sole responsibility of Contractor.  County has no 
responsibility or liability for payment of Contractor's taxes or assessments.

(4) The total amounts paid by County to Contractor, and taxes withheld from payments to non-
California residents, if any, will be reported annually to the Internal Revenue Service and 
the California State Franchise Tax Board.  To facilitate this reporting, Contractor shall 
complete and submit to the County an Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Form upon 
executing this Agreement.

4. WORK SCHEDULE.

Contractor's obligation is to perform, in a timely manner, those services and work identified in 
Attachment A which are requested by the County.  It is understood by Contractor that the performance of 
these services and work will require a varied schedule.  Contractor will arrange his/her own schedule, but 
will coordinate with County to insure that all services and work requested by County under this Agreement 
will be performed within the time frame set forth by County.

5. REQUIRED LICENSES, CERTIFICATES, AND PERMITS.

A. Any licenses, certificates, or permits required by the federal, state, county, municipal 
governments, for contractor to provide the services and work described in Attachment A must be procured 
by Contractor and be valid at the time Contractor enters into this Agreement.  Further, during the term of this 
Agreement, Contractor must maintain such licenses, certificates, and permits in full force and effect.  
Licenses, certificates, and permits may include, but are not limited to, driver's licenses, professional licenses 
or certificates, and business licenses.  Such licenses, certificates, and permits will be procured and 
maintained in force by Contractor at no expense to the County.  Contractor will provide County, upon 
execution of this Agreement, with evidence of current and valid licenses, certificates and permits which are 
required to perform the services identified in Attachment A.  Where there is a dispute between Contractor 
and County as to what licenses, certificates, and permits are required to perform the services identified in 
Attachment A, County reserves the right to make such determinations for purposes of this Agreement.

B. Contractor warrants that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for 
debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in covered transactions by any 
federal department or agency.  Contractor also warrants that it is not suspended or debarred from 
receiving federal funds as listed in the List of Parties Excluded from Federal Procurement or Non-
procurement Programs issued by the General Services Administration available at: http://www.sam.gov. 

6. OFFICE SPACE, SUPPLIES, EQUIPMENT, ETC.

Contractor shall provide such office space, supplies, equipment, vehicles, reference materials, and 
telephone service as is necessary for Contractor to provide the services identified in Attachment A to this 
Agreement.  Except for those incidental expenses specifically identified in the Schedule of Fees (Attachment 
B), County is not obligated to reimburse or pay Contractor, for any expense or cost incurred by Contractor in 
procuring or maintaining such items.  Responsibility for the costs and expenses incurred by Contractor in 
providing and maintaining items not specifically set forth in the Schedule of Fees (Attachment B), is the sole 
responsibility and obligation of Contractor.

7. COUNTY PROPERTY.

http://www.sam.gov/


County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 4 100615

A. Personal Property of County.    Any personal property such as, but not limited to, protective 
or safety devices, badges, identification cards, keys, etc. provided to Contractor by County pursuant to this 
Agreement are, and at the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of County.
Contractor will use reasonable care to protect, safeguard and maintain such items while they are in 
Contractor's possession.  Contractor will be financially responsible for any loss or damage to such items, 
partial or total, which is the result of Contractor's negligence.

B. Products of Contractor's Work and Services.   Any and all compositions, publications, 
plans, designs, specifications, blueprints, maps, formulas, processes, photographs, slides, video tapes, 
computer programs, computer disks, computer tapes, memory chips, soundtracks, audio recordings, films, 
audio-visual presentations, exhibits, reports, studies, works of art, inventions, patents, trademarks, 
copyrights, or intellectual properties of any kind which are created, produced, assembled, compiled by, or 
are the result, product, or manifestation of, Contractor's services or work under this Agreement are, and at 
the termination of this Agreement remain, the sole and exclusive property of the County.  At the termination 
of the Agreement, Contractor will convey possession and title to all such properties to County.

8. WORKERS' COMPENSATION.

Contractor shall provide Statutory California Worker's Compensation coverage and Employer's 
Liability coverage for not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for all employees engaged in services or 
operations under this Agreement.  The County of Inyo, its agents, officers and employees shall be named as 
additional insured or a waiver of subrogation shall be provided. 

9. INSURANCE.

For the duration of this Agreement Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance of the scope 
and amount specified in Attachment D and with the provisions specified in that attachment.

10. STATUS OF CONTRACTOR.

All acts of Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees, relating to the performance of this 
Agreement, shall be performed as independent contractors, and not as agents, officers, or employees of 
County.  Contractor, by virtue of this Agreement, has no authority to bind or incur any obligation on behalf of 
County.  Except as expressly provided in Attachment A, Contractor has no authority or responsibility to 
exercise any rights or power vested in the County.  No agent, officer, or employee of the Contractor is to be 
considered an employee of County.  It is understood by both Contractor and County that this Agreement 
shall not under any circumstances be construed or considered to create an employer-employee relationship 
or a joint venture.  As an independent contractor:

A. Contractor shall determine the method, details, and means of performing the work and 
services to be provided by Contractor under this Agreement.

B. Contractor shall be responsible to County only for the requirements and results specified in 
this Agreement, and except as expressly provided in this Agreement, shall not be subjected to County's 
control with respect to the physical action or activities of Contractor in fulfillment of this Agreement.

C. Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees are, and at all times during the term of this 
Agreement shall, represent and conduct themselves as independent contractors, and not as employees of 
County.

11. DEFENSE AND INDEMNIFICATION.



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 5 100615

Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless County, its agents, officers, and employees 
from and against all claims, damages, losses, judgments, liabilities, expenses, and other costs, including 
litigation costs and attorney's fees, arising out of,  resulting from, or in connection with, the performance of 
this Agreement by Contractor, or Contractor's agents, officers, or employees.  Contractor's obligation to 
defend, indemnify, and hold the County, its agents, officers, and employees harmless applies to any actual 
or alleged personal injury, death, or damage or destruction to tangible or intangible property, including the 
loss of use.  Contractor's obligation under this paragraph extends to any claim, damage, loss, liability, 
expense, or other costs which is caused in whole or in part by any act or omission of the Contractor, its 
agents, employees, supplier, or any one directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or anyone for whose 
acts or omissions any of them may be liable.

Contractor's obligation to defend, indemnify, and hold the County, its agents, officers, and 
employees harmless under the provisions of this paragraph is not limited to, or restricted by, any 
requirement in this Agreement for Contractor to procure and maintain a policy of insurance.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the indemnification and other obligations described in this Section 11 
shall not apply to any claim, action or proceeding arising out of or resulting from any negligent or willful act 
constituting or which could be brought as a claim for legal malpractice against Contractor, its officers, 
employees, agents, or subconsultants.  In the event of any such claim, County shall make such claim as a 
claim resulting from legal malpractice and not under the general indemnity provision of this section.

To the extent permitted by law, County shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Contractor, its 
agents, officers, and employees from and against all claims, damages, losses, judgments, liabilities, 
expenses, and other costs, including litigation costs and attorney's fees, arising out of, or resulting from, the 
active negligence, or wrongful acts of County, its officers, or employees.

12. RECORDS AND AUDIT.

A. Records.  Contractor shall prepare and maintain all records required by the various 
provisions of this Agreement, federal, state, county, municipal, ordinances, regulations, and directions.  
Contractor shall maintain these records for a minimum of four (4) years from the termination or completion 
of this Agreement.  Contractor may fulfill its obligation to maintain records as required by this paragraph by 
substitute photographs, microphotographs, or other authentic reproduction of such records.

B. Inspections and Audits.   Any authorized representative of County shall have access to any 
books, documents, papers, records, including, but not limited to, financial records of Contractor, which 
County determines to be pertinent to this Agreement, for the purposes of making audit, evaluation, 
examination, excerpts, and transcripts during the period such records are to be maintained by Contractor.  
Further, County has the right, at all reasonable times, to audit, inspect, or otherwise evaluate the work 
performed or being performed under this Agreement.

13. NONDISCRIMINATION.

During the performance of this Agreement, Contractor, its agents, officers, and employees shall not 
unlawfully discriminate in violation of any federal, state, or local law, against any employee, or applicant for 
employment, or person receiving services under this Agreement, because of race, religion, color, national 
origin, ancestry, physical handicap, medical condition, marital status, age, or sex.  Contractor and its agents, 
officers, and employees shall comply with the provisions of the Fair Employment and Housing Act 
(Government Code section 12900, et seq.), and the applicable regulations promulgated thereunder in the



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 6 100615

California Code of Regulations.  Contractor shall also abide by the Federal Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-
352) and all amendments thereto, and all administrative rules and regulations issued pursuant to said act.

14. CANCELLATION.

This Agreement may be canceled by County without cause, and at will, for any reason by giving to 
Contractor thirty (30) days written notice of such intent to cancel.  Contractor may cancel this Agreement 
without cause, and at will, for any reason whatsoever by giving thirty (30) days written notice of such intent 
to cancel to County.

15. ASSIGNMENT.

This is an agreement for the services of Contractor.  County has relied upon the skills, knowledge, 
experience, and training of Contractor as an inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor shall not 
assign or subcontract this Agreement, or any part of it, without the express written consent of County.  
Further, Contractor shall not assign any monies due or to become due under this Agreement without the 
prior written consent of County.

16. DEFAULT.

If the Contractor abandons the work, or fails to proceed with the work and services requested by 
County in a timely manner, or fails in any way as required to conduct the work and services as required by 
County, County may declare the Contractor in default and terminate this Agreement upon five (5) days 
written notice to Contractor.  Upon such termination by default, County will pay to Contractor all amounts 
owing to Contractor for services and work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination.  

17. WAIVER OF DEFAULT.

Waiver of any default by either party to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be waiver of any 
subsequent default.  Waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a 
waiver of any other or subsequent breach, and shall not be construed to be a modification of the terms of 
this Agreement unless this Agreement is modified as provided in paragraph twenty-four (24) below.

18. CONFIDENTIALITY.

Contractor further agrees to comply with the various provisions of the federal, state, and county laws, 
regulations, and ordinances providing that information and records kept, maintained, or accessible by 
Contractor in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, shall be privileged, restricted, 
or confidential.  Contractor agrees to keep confidential all such information and records.  Disclosure of such 
confidential, privileged, or protected information shall be made by Contractor only with the express written 
consent of the County. Any disclosure of confidential information by Contractor without the County’s written 
consent is solely and exclusively the legal responsibility of Contractor in all respects. 

Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, names of persons receiving public social 
services are confidential and are to be protected from unauthorized disclosure in accordance with Title 45, 
Code of Federal Regulations Section 205.50, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, 
and Sections 10850 and 14100.2 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and regulations adopted pursuant 
thereto.  For the purpose of this Agreement, all information, records, and data elements pertaining to 
beneficiaries shall be protected by the provider from unauthorized disclosure. 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 7 100615

19. CONFLICTS.

Contractor agrees that it has no interest, and shall not acquire any interest, direct or indirect, which 
would conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the work and services under this 
Agreement.

20.  POST AGREEMENT COVENANT.

Contractor agrees not to use any confidential, protected, or privileged information which is gained 
from the County in the course of providing services and work under this Agreement, for any personal 
benefit, gain, or enhancement.  Further, Contractor agrees for a period of two years after the termination of 
this Agreement, not to seek or accept any employment with any entity, association, corporation, or person 
who, during the term of this Agreement, has had an adverse or conflicting interest with the County, or who 
has been an adverse party in litigation with the County, and concerning such, Contractor by virtue of this 
Agreement has gained access to the County's confidential, privileged, protected, or proprietary information.

21. SEVERABILITY.

If any portion of this Agreement or application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be 
declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, or if it is found in contravention of any federal, state, or 
county statute, ordinance, or regulation, the remaining provisions of this Agreement, or the application 
thereof, shall not be invalidated thereby, and shall remain in full force and effect to the extent that the 
provisions of this Agreement are severable.

22. FUNDING LIMITATION.

The ability of County to enter this Agreement is based upon available funding from various sources.  
In the event that such funding fails, is reduced, or is modified, from one or more sources, County has the 
option to cancel, reduce, or modify this Agreement, or any of its terms within ten (10) days of its notifying 
Contractor of the cancellation, reduction, or  modification of available funding.  Any reduction or modification 
of this Agreement made pursuant to this provision must comply with the requirements of paragraph twenty-
four (24) (Amendment).

23. ATTORNEY'S FEES.

If either of the parties hereto brings an action or proceeding against the other, including, but not 
limited to, an action to enforce or declare the cancellation, termination, or revision of the Agreement, the 
prevailing party in such action or proceeding shall be entitled to receive from the other party all reasonable 
attorney's fees and costs incurred in connection therewith.

24. AMENDMENT.

This Agreement may be modified, amended, changed, added to, or subtracted from, by the mutual 
consent of the parties hereto, if such amendment or change is in written form and executed with the same 
formalities as this Agreement, and attached to the original Agreement to maintain continuity.

25. NOTICE.

Any notice, communication, amendments, additions, or deletions to this Agreement, including 
change of address of either party during the terms of this Agreement, which Contractor or County shall be 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 8 100615

required, or may desire, to make, shall be in writing and may be personally served, or sent by prepaid first 
class mail to, the respective parties as follows:

COUNTY OF INYO:
County Administrator        
P.O. Box N
224 North Edwards Street
Independence, CA 93526                              

CONTRACTOR:
HANSON BRIDGETT
777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 4200
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Attn: Alfonso Estrada

26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.

This Agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and no representations, inducements, 
promises, or agreements otherwise between the parties not embodied herein or incorporated herein by 
reference, shall be of any force or effect.  Further, no term or provision hereof may be changed, waived, 
discharged, or terminated, unless the same be in writing executed by the parties hereto. 

27. COUNTERPARTS.  

This Agreement may be signed in counterparts and all parts together shall be considered one agreement.  
The parties agree that this Agreement may be deemed executed by the delivery of signatures of the Parties 
by DocuSign or electronic transmission.

//// ////

[Signatures on following page]



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 9 100615

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO
AND HANSON BRIDGETT LLP

      FOR THE PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES

IN WITNESS THEREOF, THE PARTIES HERETO HAVE CAUSED THIS AGREEMENT TO BE 
EXECUTED BY THEIR AUTHORIZED SIGNATORIES THIS ________ DAY OF AUGUST, 2021.

COUNTY OF INYO HANSON BRIDGETT LLP (Contractor)

By:________________________________ By:________________________________________
Name:_____________________________ Name:_____________________________________
Title:_______________________________ Title:______________________________________

Dated:                                           Dated:___________________________________

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND 
LEGALITY:
   

                                         
County Counsel

APPROVED AS TO ACCOUNTING FORM:

                                        
County Auditor

APPROVED AS TO PERSONNEL REQUIREMENTS:

                                        
Personnel Services

APPROVED AS TO INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS:

                                        
County Risk Manager



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 10 100615

ATTACHMENT A

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO
AND HANSON BRIDGETT LLP

 FOR THE PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES

TERM:

FROM: July 26, 2021, until June 30, 2022.

SCOPE OF WORK:

1. Contractor shall provide legal services including advice and also representation of the County and 
such of its agents, officers and employees as the County may designate, in applicable litigation before state 
and federal courts, and county, state and federal administrative agencies.  Contractor shall receive direction 
from the Inyo County Board of Supervisors, County Counsel and/or County Administrator or designees. 
Contractor shall also provide all secretarial and clerical support reasonably and customarily necessary to 
perform such services under this Agreement. 

2.         Contractor shall maintain and retain files and materials on cases and other matters upon which 
Contractor is working.  Electronic copies of documents received and created by Contractor shall be delivered 
to the County Counsel’s office to be stored.  

3.          Contractor shall file and serve required pleadings, notices, discovery documents and materials on 
behalf of the County, its officers, or employees.   The Office of County Counsel will cooperate with Contractor 
with regard to filing and service in Inyo County.    

4.          Contractor may send to the Office of County Counsel, one copy of those pleadings, notices, 
discovery, documents and materials to be appropriately delivered to County officers and employees.  The 
Office of County Counsel will then make necessary copies and deliver the pleadings, notices, discovery, 
documents and materials to the County officers and employees. 

5.         Contractor shall take the actions necessary to have all pleadings, notices, discovery, documents and 
materials, which are to be served upon the County or its officers and employees after their first general 
appearance, served upon both Contractor at his offices and the County Counsel at the Independence office.  
Contractor shall also provide to the County Counsel at the Independence office, one copy of all pleadings, 
notices, discovery and other documents served and or filed by Contractor on behalf of the County, its officers 
or employees in electronic format. 

6.       Contractor, shall not bill for attorney’s time in performing work or services which would ordinarily and 
customarily be performed by a legal secretary or clerical support. 

7.        Contractor shall not accept other employment which will interfere or cause a conflict of interest with 
representation of the County of Inyo and its agents, officers and employees without prior written approval 
from County Counsel.



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 11 100615

ATTACHMENT B

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO
AND HANSON BRIDGETT LLP

               FOR THE PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES

TERM:

FROM: July 26, 2021, until June 30, 2022.

SCHEDULE OF FEES:

1. COMPENSATION:

Alfonso Estrada: $345.00/hour
            Of Counsel/Associates: $250-350.00/hour
            Paralegal: _______
            Travel: Same as Above

2.         INCIDENTAL EXPENSES:

Contractor shall not be obligated to advance costs on behalf of County; however, for the purposes of 
convenience and in order to expedite matters, Contractor reserves the right to advance costs on behalf of the 
Client with Client’s prior approval in the event a particular cost item exceeds $2,000.00 in amount and without 
the prior approval of Client in the event a particular cost item totals $2,000.00 or less. Typical cost items 
include, by way of example and not limitation, document preparation and word processing, long distance 
telephone charges, fax/telecopy charges (at $0.10 per page), appearance fees, messenger fees, travel costs, 
bonds, witness fees, deposition and court reporter fees, transcript costs, expert witness fees, investigative 
fees, etc.
           



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 12 100615

ATTACHMENT C

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO
AND HANSON BRIDGETT LLP

FOR THE PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES

TERM:

FROM: July 26, 2021, until June 30, 2022.

SCHEDULE OF TRAVEL AND PER DIEM PAYMENT

          Travel shall be at the County’s request and will be billed at cost.
         Per diem travel from portal to portal will be at the current IRS rate.



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 13 100615

ATTACHMENT D

AGREEMENT BETWEEN COUNTY OF INYO
AND HANSON BRIDGETT LLP                    

FOR THE PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES

TERM:

FROM: July 26, 2021, until June 30, 2022.

Insurance Requirements for Professional Services

Consultant shall procure and maintain for the duration of the contract insurance against claims for injuries 
to persons or damages to property which may arise from or in connection with the performance of the 
work hereunder by the Consultant, its agents, representatives, or employees.

MINIMUM SCOPE AND LIMIT OF INSURANCE 
Coverage shall be at least as broad as:

1. Commercial General Liability (CGL):  Insurance Services Office Form CG 00 01 covering CGL 
on an “occurrence” basis for bodily injury and property damage, including products-completed 
operations, personal injury and advertising injury, with limits no less than $1,000,000 per 
occurrence. If a general aggregate limit applies, either the general aggregate limit shall apply 
separately to this project/location or the general aggregate limit shall be twice the required 
occurrence limit.

2. Automobile Liability:  Insurance Services Office Form Number CA 0001 covering, Code 1 (any 
auto), or if Consultant has no owned autos, Code 8 (hired) and 9 (non-owned), with limit no less 
than $500,000 per accident for bodily injury and property damage.

3. Workers’ Compensation insurance as required by the State of California, with Statutory Limits, 
and Employer’s Liability Insurance with limit of no less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily 
injury or disease. 
(Not required if consultant provides written verification it has no employees)

1. Professional Liability (Errors and Omissions) Insurance appropriate to the Consultant’s 
profession, with limit no less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

If the Consultant maintains higher limits than the minimums shown above, the County requires and 
shall be entitled to coverage for the higher limits maintained by the Consultant. Any available 
insurance proceeds in excess of the specified minimum limits of insurance and coverage shall be 
available to the County.

Other Insurance Provisions
The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:

Additional Insured Status



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 14 100615

1. The County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers are to be covered as additional 
insureds on the CGL policy with respect to liability arising out of work or operations performed by or 
on behalf of the consultant including materials, parts, or equipment furnished in connection with such 
work or operations. General liability coverage can be provided in the form of an endorsement to the 
Consultant’s insurance (at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 11 85 or both CG 20 10 and CG 20 
37 forms if later revisions used). 

Other Insurance Provisions 

The insurance policies are to contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following provisions:

Primary Coverage
For any claims related to this contract, the Consultant’s insurance coverage shall be primary 
insurance as respects the County, its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers. Any insurance 
or self-insurance maintained by the County, its officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall 
be excess of the Consultant’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.

Notice of Cancellation
Each insurance policy required above shall state that coverage shall not be canceled, except 
with notice to the County.

Waiver of Subrogation
Consultant hereby grants to County a waiver of any right to subrogation which any insurer of said 
Consultant may acquire against the County by virtue of the payment of any loss under such insurance.  
Consultant agrees to obtain any endorsement that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, 
but this provision applies regardless of whether or not the County has received a waiver of subrogation 
endorsement from the insurer.  

Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions
Any deductibles or self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the County. The 
County may require the Consultant to provide proof of ability to pay losses and related 
investigations, claim administration, and defense expenses within the retention.  

Acceptability of Insurers
Insurance is to be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A:VII, 
unless otherwise acceptable to the County.

Claims Made Policies
If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made basis:    

1. The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the date of the contract or the 
beginning of contract work.

2. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at least five (5) 
years after completion of the contract of work.

3. If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made policy 
form with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, the Consultant must purchase 
“extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of contract work.  

Verification of Coverage
Consultant shall furnish the County with original certificates and amendatory endorsements or 
copies of the applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this clause.  All 
certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by the County before work 
commences.  However, failure to obtain the required documents prior to the work beginning shall 
not waive the Consultant’s obligation to provide them.  The County reserves the right to require 



County of Inyo Standard Contract - No. 123
(Independent Contractor - Schedule of Fees Including Incidental 

Expenses/Schedule of Per Diem)
Page 15 100615

complete, certified copies of all required insurance policies, including endorsements required by 
these specifications, at any time. 

Subcontractors
Consultant shall require and verify that all subcontractors maintain insurance meeting all the requirements 
stated herein.

Special Risks or Circumstances
County reserves the right to modify these requirements, including limits, based on the nature of 
the risk, prior experience, insurer, coverage, or other special circumstances.    



County of Inyo

County Administrator
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Denelle Carrington
 
SUBJECT:  Declare items surplus and approve donation of furniture
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board: A) declare a limited amount of office furniture staged at the fairgrounds after the move to the 
County Office Building to be surplus; and B) approve the donation of said office furniture to various local agencies 
(4/5ths vote required).
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
California Government Code section 25365 allows the Board of Supervisors, upon a 4/5ths vote, to donate the 
County's personal property that it declares to be surplus to local public agencies.  All County Departments have 
now had the chance to claim any items that they wanted, and the rest of the items need to be surplused. This item 
is on for your Board to declare certain personal property to be surplus to the County, and to donate said property 
to certain local public agencies.

With the move to the new County Office Building, the County had a stockpile of old and used office furniture 
staged at the fairgrounds. All County Departments now have had the opportunity to go through the surplus and 
the rest of the furniture needs to be made available to other public local agencies. As such, staff requests that the 
Board declare said furniture to be surplus, and to donate that furniture to those agencies pursuant to Government 
Code section 25365.  
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could choose to not approve but this is not recommended.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
No fiscal impact.
 
ATTACHMENTS:



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
APPROVALS:
Denelle Carrington Created/Initiated - 8/12/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/12/2021
Denelle Carrington Approved - 8/12/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/12/2021
Amy Shepherd Approved - 8/12/2021
Leslie Chapman Final Approval - 8/12/2021



County of Inyo

Clerk of the Board
 

DEPARTMENTAL - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Assistant Clerk of the Board
 
SUBJECT:  Approval of Board of Supervisors Meeting Minutes
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Request Board approve the minutes of the regular Board of Supervisors meetings of July 27, 2021, August 3, 
2021, and August 10, 2021.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The Board is required to keep minutes of its proceedings. Once the Board has approved the minutes as 
requested, the minutes will be made available to the public via the County’s webpage, www.inyocounty.us.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
N/A
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
N/A
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
N/A
 
FINANCING:
N/A
 
ATTACHMENTS:
 
APPROVALS:
Darcy Ellis Created/Initiated - 8/11/2021
Darcy Ellis Final Approval - 8/11/2021



County of Inyo

County Counsel/County Administrator
 

TIMED ITEMS - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Marshall Rudolph, Leslie Chapman
 
SUBJECT:  Proposed Ordinances
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
11 a.m. - County Counsel/County Administrator - Request Board: A) approve an ordinance titled, “An 
Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of California, Repealing Chapter 2.07 of the 
Inyo County Code, Pertaining to Reorganization of County Departments and Offices;” and B) approve an 
ordinance titled, “An Ordinance of the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo, State of California, Repealing 
Ordinance Number 1044 and Establishing a New Chapter 2.30 of the Inyo County Code.”
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
For a number of reasons, not the least of which includes a more efficient budgeting structure, County 
administration recommends your Board relocate the Veterans Services Officer to a place within the CAO's 
Department. This action requires an ordinance because the Veterans Services Officer was previously organized 
within the Sheriff's Department via ordinance.  As discussed in the Background section of this staff report, staff 
recommends you concurrently repeal Inyo County Code Chapter 2.07.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
Normally the movement of a position like the VSO would be routine business for a county board of supervisors. 
However, Inyo County is in a relatively unique spot here given the existence of "Measure A" and Inyo County 
Code Chapter 2.07, which codified Measure A.  Measure A generally provides that no Board ordinance changing 
the structure of a County department or office is effective until it is thereafter approved by the voters.
 
Measure A was a citizens initiative measure placed on the March 7, 2000, Inyo County consolidated statewide 
primary election ballot. A majority of the citizens voting approved Measure A although issues were raised at the 
time regarding its likely unconstitutionality. Notwithstanding Measure A being passed, in 2001, the Board moved 
the Veterans Service Officer into the Sheriff’s Department without adhering to the requirements of Measure A. 
Additionally, in 2004, the Board reorganized the Environmental Health Department via consolidating (1) the 
Animal Control Program with the Sheriff’s Department and (2) the Mosquito Abatement Program with the Ag 
Department, also without adhering to the requirements of Measure A. However, in 2006, the Board codified the 
substance of Measure A as Chapter 2.07 of the Inyo County Code.  That codification did not affect the validity or 
invalidity of Measure A.  And Chapter 2.07 itself is arguably an unconstitutional attempt to delegate to the voters 
a discretionary power that is in the nature of a public trust which cannot be exercised by anyone except the 
Board of Supervisors.



Agenda Request 
Page 2

 
The Office of the County Counsel previously opined, and continues to opine, that a court would most likely find 
Measure A to be an unconstitutional attempt to use the initiative power because, among other reasons, your 
Board was delegated exclusive power over the organization of County Departments and certain Offices by the 
State Legislature (pursuant to the California Constitution).  However, given the codification of Chapter 2.07 by 
your Board requiring your organizational decisions to be ratified by the electorate, the recommendation to re-
organize the veterans service officer within the County government, and the potential for your Board to come 
across the same or similar issues in the future, staff recommends that Chapter 2.07 be repealed concurrently 
with the relocation of the VSO.  This would leave only the applicability and likely unconstitutionality of Measure A 
as the key remaining issues needing resolution if litigation is commenced over the relocation of the VSO.
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:
Your Board could make no changes to the location of the VSO within the County government.  This is not 
recommended based on the reasons provided for moving the VSO above.
 
Your Board could change the location of the VSO but also leave Inyo County Code Chapter 2.07 in place.  This is 
not recommended because your Board would then need to submit the Ordinance to the voters in order to comply 
with Chapter 2.07, which is itself arguably unconstitutional.  Or, if you did not choose to comply with Chapter 
2.07, then the validity of the Ordinance would be exposed to a lawsuit based on a failure to adhere to the 
provisions of Chapter 2.07, in addition to the potential claims regarding the applicability of Measure A.  Any 
similar future actions would be subject to the same costs and/or litigation exposures if Chapter 2.07 is left in 
place.
 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. Ordinance Repealing Chapter 2.07
2. Ordinance Replacing Chapter 2.30
 
APPROVALS:
John Vallejo Created/Initiated - 7/27/2021
John Vallejo Approved - 7/27/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 7/27/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 7/29/2021
Sue Dishion Approved - 8/4/2021
Leslie Chapman Final Approval - 8/10/2021



Page 1 

ORDINANCE NO. ________

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF 
INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, REPEALING CHAPTER 2.07 OF THE

INYO COUNTY CODE, PERTAINING TO REORGANIZATION OF COUNTY 
DEPARTMENTS AND OFFICES

WHEREAS, pursuant to the California Constitution, the State Legislature has delegated 
to county boards of supervisors the exclusive power to organize the structure of County 
Departments and certain County Offices; and

WHEREAS, in March of 2000, the County’s voters approved a citizens initiative 
measure identified as “Measure A”, that interferes with the Board of Supervisors’ ability 
to carry out that exclusive power by requiring voter approval of any ordinances the Board 
may wish to enact that would alter the structure of County departments and offices; and

WHEREAS, in 2006, the Board of Supervisors codified Measure A as Chapter 2.07 of 
the Inyo County Code, via Ordinance 1044; and

WHEREAS, the current Board of Supervisors determined that Chapter 2.07 is 
unconstitutional; and

WHEREAS, this ordinance does not affect the validity or invalidity of Measure A.

NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo ordains as 
follows:

SECTION I:  Chapter 2.07 is repealed in its entirety.

SECTION II:  EFFECTIVE DATE

This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect thirty (30) days 
after its adoption. Before the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the adoption hereof, this 
Ordinance shall be published as required by Government Code Section 25124.  The Clerk 
of the Board is hereby instructed and ordered to so publish this Ordinance together with 
the names of the Board members voting for and against same.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS __ DAY OF ________, 2021.

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:



Page 2 

_______________________________
Jeff Griffiths, Chairperson
Inyo County Board of Supervisors

ATTEST:
Leslie Chapman
Clerk of the Board

By:______________________________________
        Darcy Ellis, Assistant



Page 1 

ORDINANCE NO. ________

AN ORDINANCE OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE COUNTY OF 
INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, REPEALING ORDINANCE NUMBER 1044 

AND ESTABLISHING A NEW CHAPTER 2.30 OF THE INYO COUNTY CODE, 
PERTAINING TO THE VETERANS SERVICES OFFICER

WHEREAS, pursuant to the California Constitution, the State Legislature has delegated 
to county boards of supervisors the exclusive power to organize the structure of County 
Departments and certain County Offices; and

WHEREAS, in March of 2000, the County’s voters approved a citizens initiative 
measure identified as “Measure A”, that interferes with the Board of Supervisors’ ability 
to carry out that exclusive power by requiring voter approval of any ordinances the Board 
may wish to enact that would alter the structure of County departments and offices; and

WHEREAS, in 2004, Inyo County located the Veterans Services Office within the 
Sheriff’s Department without adhering to the requirements of Measure A; and

WHEREAS, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors has determined that Measure A is 
unconstitutional; and

WHEREAS, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors has also determined that it will now 
be more efficient and effective to locate the Veterans Services Office within the County 
Administrator’s Office, which will require enactment of an ordinance.

[INTENTIONALLY BLANK]



Page 2 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Board of Supervisors of the County of Inyo ordains as 
follows:

SECTION I:  Inyo County Ordinance No. 1044 is hereby repealed.

SECTION II: Military and Veterans Code Section 970 allows the board of supervisors of 
any county to appoint, prescribe the qualifications of and fix the compensation of the 
county veterans service officer. Military and Veterans Code Section 970 also provides 
that two or more counties may jointly establish a single veterans service office which 
shall serve all the counties that agreed to the joint establishment of that office. Military 
and Veterans Code Section 972 provides that the board of supervisors may provide the 
veterans service officer with such assistance and facilities as it deems necessary. Finally, 
Government Code Section 24308 authorizes a county board of supervisors, by ordinance, 
to organize the delivery of services by consolidating, integrating, or separating duties and 
functions of county officers and organizational units within departments, to the extent 
deemed necessary by the board of supervisors.

SECTION III: Chapter 2.30 is hereby added to the Inyo County Code to read as follows:

“2.30.010 Location. The County Veterans Service Office is located within the 
County Administrator’s Office.

2.30.020 Duties.

The County Veterans Service functions are as follows:

    A.   Administering the aid provided for in, and investigating all claims, 
applications or request for aid made pursuant to the terms of Chapter 5, Division 4 
of the Military and Veterans Code;

    B.   Assisting every veteran of any war of the United States and the dependent 
of every deceased veteran, in presenting and pursuing any claim the veteran may 
have against the United States and establishing the veteran’s right to any 
privilege, preference, care, or compensation provided for by the laws of the 
United States or of this State;

    C.   Presenting and pursuing claims against the United States referred by any 
public agency pursuant to Section 721 of the Military and Veterans Code;

    D.   Administering and certifying oaths and affirmations, taking and certifying 
affidavits and acknowledgements, and exercising any other power of a notary 
public, as part of the veterans officer duties under Chapter 5, Division 4 of the 
Military and Veterans Code in assisting veterans with respect to their affairs;



Page 3 

    E.   Establishing offices in Independence, Bishop, and such other locations as 
are provided by the county, and performing outreach services and activities in 
other areas as are reasonable and necessary;

    F.    Any other duties provided for the county veterans service officer by the 
State of California; and

    G.   All other related duties and functions as determined by the county.

2.30.030 Assets. Upon location within the County Administrator’s Office, all 
assets of the county Veterans Service Office held by it or any other County 
Department shall become assets of the County Administrator’s Office.

2.30.040 Personnel. Upon location within the County Administrator’s Office and 
except as provided in Section 2.30.050 below, all employees and other personnel 
who serve the county veterans service office and perform veterans service 
functions, shall remain employees of the County and become the personnel of the 
County Administrator’s Office at their existing or equivalent classifications, and 
at their existing salaries and benefits that include accrued and unused vacation, 
sick-leave, flex-time, and health and pension plans. Further employment seniority 
of an employee of the County Veterans Service Office upon the Veterans Service 
Office being located within the County Administrator’s Office shall be counted 
towards seniority in the County Administrator’s Office and all time spent in the 
same, equivalent, or higher classification shall be counted toward classification 
seniority.

2.30.050 Veterans Service Officer—Qualifications, appointment, duties, and 
compensation.

A.   Any person appointed as the Veterans Service Officer shall have the 
following qualifications:

1.    Shall be a veteran as defined by Section 980 of the Military 
and Veterans Code;

B.   The Veterans Service Officer shall be appointed by (and report to) the 
board of supervisors or its designee.

C.   The Veterans Service Officer’s duties shall be those set forth in 
Military and Veterans Code Section 970 et seq., and the ordinance codified in this 
section.

2.30.060 [RESERVED]

2.30.070 Agreement for joint Inyo-Mono Veterans Service Office.



Page 4 

Mono County may agree in writing to the joint establishment of a Inyo-Mono 
veterans service office as established under the provisions of this chapter. Should 
Mono County not agree, or cease to agree at any time to the joint establishment of 
the Veterans Service Officer as provided for by this chapter, then this chapter 
shall provide only for the establishment and location of the Inyo County Veterans 
Service Officer.”

SECTION III:  EFFECT ON PRIOR AGREEMENTS

This ordinance shall not have any effect on agreements entered into with Mono County 
pursuant to the provisions of former Inyo County Code Section 2.30.070, and any such 
agreements shall remain in full force and effect according to the terms of any such 
agreements.

SECTION IV:   EFFECTIVE DATE
This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force and effect thirty (30) days 

after its adoption. Before the expiration of fifteen (15) days from the adoption hereof, this 
Ordinance shall be published as required by Government Code Section 25124.  The Clerk 
of the Board is hereby instructed and ordered to so publish this Ordinance together with 
the names of the Board members voting for and against same.

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS __ DAY OF ________, 2021.

AYES:

NOES:

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

_______________________________
Jeff Griffiths, Chairperson
Inyo County Board of Supervisors

ATTEST:
Leslie Chapman
Clerk of the Board

By:______________________________________
        Darcy Ellis, Assistant



County of Inyo

Planning Department
 

TIMED ITEMS - ACTION REQUIRED
 
MEETING:  August 17, 2021
 
FROM:  Cathreen Richards
 
SUBJECT:  2021 Housing Element Update
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:
11 a.m. - Planning Department - Request Board: A) receive a presentation from staff on General Plan 
Amendment 2021-01/Inyo County – 2021 General Plan Housing Element Update; B) conduct a public hearing; C) 
approve General Plan Amendment 2021-01/Inyo County – 2021 General Plan Housing Element Update and 
certify that it is a Negative Declaration of Environmental Impact; and D) direct staff to send to the California 
Department of Housing and Community Development for certification.
 
SUMMARY/JUSTIFICATION:
The General Plan Housing Element is required pursuant to California Government Code Section 65580 et seq., 
and works to provide housing for all of Inyo County’s residents.   Housing Element law is one of the most 
complicated of the General Plan Elements and it must be approved by the State. The County’s Housing Element 
was last updated in 2014 and the current update is due August 30, 2021.
 
The 2014 Housing Element was reviewed and revised by staff. This update consisted of replacing the outdated 
demographics included in the element; a review of the policies already in place and where the county is with 
regard to them; addressing the 2021 Regional Housing Needs Allocationt (RHNA) and, revisions to the current 
policies and programs based on new state regulations for housing elements, as well as, comments received 
through public and stakeholder input.
 
ANALYSIS
Housing Element law declares that the availability of housing is of vital statewide importance, and the attainment 
of decent housing and a suitable living environment for every Californian is a priority of the highest order. Inyo 
County’s Housing Element provides for adequate housing for its population based on income brackets.
 
Demographics
New demographic information revealed that very little has changed in Inyo County since 2014 with regard to the 
types of people who live in Inyo County based on race and ethnicity, income, and housing needs. It has also not 
changed much in total population. In in 2013 there were 14,696 people and in 2020 14,763, illustrating a 0.4-
percent growth rate (or 67-people) during the 7-year period.
 
Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA)



Agenda Request 
Page 2

The slow growth of Inyo County along with a national recession and housing crisis, led the State to greatly 
reduce the 2014 RHNA from the 2009 allocation. In 2009 the County was to plan for a total of 435 units; in 2014 
the number was reduced to 160. For 2020 the number has increased to 205.  A breakdown of units by income 
category can be seen on the following table:    
 
Income Level 2021 RHNA Allocation Unit Provided by Land 

Inventory
Shortfall/Surplus

Extremely Low 23 23 0
Very Low 23 23 0
Low 40 85 +45
Moderate 39 110 +71
Above Moderate 80 80 0
Total 205 321 +116
 
Three sites have been identified for the extremely low, very low, low and moderate income categories. One is on 
Main Street in Big Pine and the other two are located outside of the Bishop City limits, one is just to the south of 
the Jack in the Box restaurant and the other is across Highway 395 on First Street. The eighty above moderate 
income units are identified on parcels scattered throughout the northern part of the County (More specifically the 
Owens Valley) as infill.
 
New State legislation
This round of Housing Element updates requires numerous changes by the State and includes the following:  
 

 Transitional and supportive housing, group homes and residential care facilities need to be updated for 
definitions and/or where they are required to be allowed There are also new parking requirements for 
these

 Program for ADU/JADU development
 Low Barrier Navigation Centers need to be added
 A RHNA sites monitoring program 
 Updates to density bonus language
 A program for creating extremely low income units
 Rehabilitation program for extremely low income units 
 Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing section is required and programs to address issues identified in it.

 
Staff addressed these requirements by proposing:

 The State’s preferred language for transitional and supportive housing and group homes be allowed in all 
zoning districts with the same permitting requirements as any other residential unit in the same zoning 
district and updating their definitions and parking requirements

 A summary of the County’s housing rehabilitation and ADU loan program and a program to continue to 
explore more ways to increase ADU development

 The addition of a definition for Tiny Homes
 Updates to the Density Bonus section of the code to meet current State regulations
 Changing the Central Business zone to allow by right multi-family housing (currently requires a 

Conditional Use Permit)
 Reviewing the County’s residential zones to see if allowing for second homes on some of them is 

appropriate
 Removing the Mobile Home overlay. It is not compliant with State law and is not used
 Setting a goal to rehabilitate 15-units over the planning period with a focus on extremely low, very low and 

low income units
 Explore the possibility and potential funding opportunities for infrastructure development in the more rural 



Agenda Request 
Page 3

areas of the County
 Adding an Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing section, with corresponding programs.

 
Staff presented a public review draft of the Housing Element Update to the Commission in June 2020 and 
subsequently sent it to HCD for review. HCD staff sent comments that have been addressed in the updated 
version (attached). The changes are in red underline.

Tribal Consultations - General Plan Amendment
On October 28, 2020 the County initiated Native American Consultation pursuant to the California Government 
Code Sections 65040.2, 65092, 65351, 65352.3, 65352.4, 65562.5 for a 90-day request for consulation period, 
with the Big Pine Band of the Owens Valley, Bishop Paiute Tribe, Fort Independence Community of Paiute, 
Timbisha Shoshone, Kern Valley Indian Council, Walker River Reservation and the Lone Pine Paiute Shoshone.

No Tribe requested consultation.
 
Public and Stakeholder Meetings 
A total of 7 public workshops and hearings were held for the Housing Element Update from November 2020 
through August, 2021. These included surveys about what the County needs with regard to housing and about 
issues related to accessibility and fair housing. The comments collected at all of the meetings were used to 
prepare the housing programs section.  The programs included based on public input include:
 
• Research into whether or not to allow for more than one ADU/JADU per parcel
• Definition for Tiny Homes
• Research into whether or not to allow for more rooms available for rent per single-
  family home
• Research on the availability of grants or low interest loans for infrastructure
  development in the more remote areas of the County.
• Housing Specialist to include helping with fair housing issue complaints.
 
The Public Review Draft of the Housing Element Update was made available for review and comment on the 
County’s webpage on April 5, 2021. The Draft was also sent to outreach participants and presented to the 
Planning Commission at an advertised public workshop on April 26, 2021.

Environmental Review

On May 17, 2021 the County initiated Native American Consultation pursuant to Assembly Bill 52 (AB52) and per 
Public Resource Code Section 21080.3.1(b) for a 30-day consultation request period with the Big Pine Band of 
the Owens Valley, Bishop Paiute Tribe, Fort Independence Community of Paiute, Timbisha Shoshone, Kern 
Valley Indian Council, Walker River Reservation, 29 Palms Band of Mission Indians, Cazaban Band of Mission 
Indians, Torres Martinez Desert Cahuilla Indians and the Lone Pine Paiute Shoshone Tribe. Only the Bishop 
Paiute Tribe requested consultation. It was held on May 27, 2021. Staff presented the Housing Element to the 
Tribe.

They had no comments.
 
On June 18, 2021 a Notice of Availability for an Initial Study and Draft Negative Declaration of Environmental 
Impact to the State Clearinghouse and County Clerk for public review and comment. The comment period ended 
on July 18, 2021.

No comments were received.
 
CONSISTENCY 
 



Agenda Request 
Page 4

The updated sections and information in the Housing Element Update are consistent with the current policies 
within the Housing Element and to other General Plan elements. It is also consistent with the purposes and intent 
of the Zoning Ordinance and the individual zoning districts. Specific updates to the Zoning Ordinance, as 
previously pointed out will be necessary to bring the proposed Housing Element Update into conformance with 
State law.
 
RECOMMENDATIONS
On August 11, 2021 the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on the Draft Housing Element and 
provided the opportunity for public comment. No one from the public offered comments on the Draft.  After a staff 
presentation of the update and Planning Commission discussion, they Planning Commission approved a 
resolution (2021-01) recommending that the Board of Supervisors certify that General Plan 2021-01/Inyo County 
– Housing Element Update is a Negative Declaration of Environmental Impact and approve it.
 
BACKGROUND/HISTORY OF BOARD ACTIONS:
 
ALTERNATIVES AND CONSEQUENCES OF NEGATIVE ACTION:

1. Do not approve the 2021 Housing Element Update. This is not recommended as the 2021 Housing 
Element Update is required by State law.

2. Direct staff to make changes to the Draft 2021 Housing Element Update. This is not recommended as it 
could delay the County meeting the August 30, 2021 deadline.

 
OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT:
 
FINANCING:
Staff time used to prepare the 2021 Housing Element Update is being paid for by a Local Early Acion Planning 
(LEAP) grant administered by HCD.
 
ATTACHMENTS:
1. 2021 Housing Element Update Draft
2. Planning Commission Resolution
 
APPROVALS:
Cathreen Richards Created/Initiated - 8/3/2021
Darcy Ellis Approved - 8/3/2021
Marshall Rudolph Approved - 8/11/2021
Cathreen Richards Final Approval - 8/11/2021



INYO COUNTY HOUSING ELEMENT  

2021 Housing Element Update 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County i April 2021 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Table of Contents ........................................................................................................................................ i 

List of Tables .............................................................................................................................................. iii 

Chapter One: Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 1 

Purpose of the Element ...................................................................................... 1 

Public Participation .............................................................................................. 1 

Consistency with the General Plan ................................................................... 4 

Chapter Two: Housing Needs .................................................................................................................. 4 

Population ............................................................................................................. 4 

Employment ......................................................................................................... 6 

Household Characteristics .................................................................................. 8 

Household Income ............................................................................................ 12 

Affordability of Housing .................................................................................. 13 

Housing Stock Characteristics ......................................................................... 16 

Special Housing Needs ..................................................................................... 18 

Chapter Three: Need, Resources and Constraints and Affirmatively Further Fair Housing ........ 26 

Regional Housing Need .................................................................................... 26 

Resources and Constraints ............................................................................... 28 

Other Housing Resources ................................................................................ 38 

Analysis of Governmental Constraints ........................................................... 38 

Provision for a Variety of Housing Types ..................................................... 44 

Analysis of Non-Governmental Constraints ................................................. 53 

Chapter Four: Review and Revise .......................................................................................................... 56 

Chapter Five: Housing Program ............................................................................................................. 57 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County ii April 2021 
 

Goals and Policies .............................................................................................. 57 

Quantified Objectives .................................. Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County iii April 2021 
 

LIST OF TABLES 
 
Table 2- Population Growth Trends (2010–2020) – Unincorporated Inyo County .... 5 
Table 3 - Inyo County Population (1960–2020) ................................................................ 5 
Table 4 - Inyo County Population by Race/Ethnicity 2018 ............................................ 6 
Table 5 - Employment by Industry (2020) – Unincorporated Inyo County ................. 7 
Table 6  - Growing Lower Income Occupations in the Eastern Sierra Region, 2016–

2026 ................................................................................................................................. 8 
Table 7 - Household Growth Trends (1980–2018) – Unincorporated Inyo County ... 9 
Table 8 - Population by Household Type (2000-2010) – Unincorporated Inyo 

County ............................................................................................................................. 9 
Table 9 - Households by Tenure (1980–2010) – Unincorporated Inyo County......... 10 
Table 10 - Overcrowded Households (2018) – Unincorporated Inyo County ........... 11 
Table 11- Housing Cost Burden (2020) – Unincorporated Inyo County .................... 12 
Table 12 - Inyo County-State Income Limits by Household Size (2020) .................... 13 
Table 13 - Housing Affordability by Income Level – Inyo County (2020) ................. 14 
Table 14 - Point-in-Time Rental Survey ........................................................................... 15 
(Bishop, Big Pine, Independence, Lone Pine 2020) ........................................................ 15 
Table 15 - Inyo County Median Home Sales:  2014-2019 ............................................. 16 
Table 16 - Housing Units by Type (2010– 2020) – Unincorporated Inyo County .... 17 
Table 17 -  Housing Units by Age – Unincorporated Inyo County (2013-2017) ....... 18 
Table 18 - Unincorporated Inyo County Households by Income Level (2013-2017)

 ........................................................................................................................................ 19 
Table 19 - Persons with Disability by Employment Status ............................................ 20 
Table 20 - Persons with Disabilities by Disability Type ................................................. 21 
Unincorporated Inyo County ............................................................................................. 21 
Table 21 - Householders by Tenure by Age – Unincorporated Inyo County ............. 22 
Table 22 - Household Size by Tenure – Unincorporated Inyo County ....................... 23 
Table 23 - Female Headed Households – Unincorporated Inyo County .................... 23 
Table 24  - Homeless Persons - Inyo County (2020) ...................................................... 24 
Table 25 - Number of Farmworkers (2017) – Inyo County .......................................... 25 
Table 26 - Farmworkers by Days Worked (2017) – Inyo County ................................. 26 
Table 27 - Regional Housing Needs (2019-2029) – Unincorporated Inyo County .... 27 
Table 28 - Progress toward Regional Housing Needs (2019 to 2029) ......................... 28 
Table 29 - Inyo County Opportunity Areas by Block Group ....................................... 33 
Table 36 - Vacant Land Inventory – Unincorporated Inyo County ............................. 33 
Table 37 - RHNA and Vacant Land Summary ................................................................ 38 
Table 38 - Land Use Designations ..................................................................................... 39 
Table 39 - General Plan Land Use Designations for Residential and Commercial 

Uses ............................................................................................................................... 41 
Table 40 - Additional Residential Zoning District Development Standards ............... 43 
Table 41 - Housing Types Permitted by Zoning District ............................................... 44 
Table 42 - Inyo County Typical Fees for a Typical Residential Development ........... 51 
Table 43 - Process, Procedures and Timeframes ............................................................. 52 
Table 44 - Quantified Objectives ....................................................................................... 70 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 1 April 2021 
 

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION 
PURPOSE OF THE ELEMENT 

 
In response to California’s critical housing needs, the state legislature enacted housing element law 
to fulfill the goal of adequate, safe and affordable housing for every Californian. The attainment of 
housing for all requires the cooperation of local and state governments. Housing element law 
requires local governments to adequately plan to meet their existing and projected housing needs 
including their share of the regional housing need. The Housing Element is one of required 
elements of a jurisdiction’s General Plan in the State of California. 
 
Housing element law is the State’s main market-based strategy to increase housing supply. The law 
recognizes the most critical decisions regarding housing development that occur at the local level 
within the context of the general plan. In order for the private sector to adequately address housing 
needs and demand, local governments must adopt land-use plans and regulatory schemes that 
provide opportunities for, and do not unduly constrain, housing development for all income groups.    
California Government Code Section 65588 requires that local governments regularly review and 
revise the Housing Element of their General Plans. For Inyo County, this is every eight years. Inyo 
County’s last Housing Element update was in 2014 for the 5th Cycle. 
 
California Housing Element laws have been added since the County’s last Update. The 
State increased its ability to enforce Housing Element requirements, and the ability for 
the public to challenge a jurisdiction’s compliance with Housing Element law. Inyo 
County’s 6th Cycle Housing Element Update has been created to comply with current 
State housing law as well as other federal, state and local regulations. 
 
REVIEW AND REVISE 

 
California State Housing Element Law (California Government Code Article 10.6) 
establishes the requirements for the Housing Element. Table summarizes the State’s 
current Housing Element requirements, including special needs housing and identifies 
what chapter the applicable California Government Code sections are addressed in the 
County’s 2021- 2029 Housing Element Update.  

Table 1 – Government Requirements 
 

Current Housing Element Requirements 2021-
2029 

Issues Requiring Analysis Gov. Code 
Section 

Reference in 
Housing Element 

Analysis of employment trends. Section 65583.a Chapter 2, 
Employment 

Projection and quantification of existing and projected 
housing needs for all income groups. Section 65583.a 

Chapter 2, 
Households 
Cost Burden, 

Chapter 3 
AFFH 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 2 April 2021 
 

 

Analysis and documentation of housing characteristics, including 
cost for housing compared to ability to pay, overcrowding, and 
housing condition. 

 
Section 65583.a 

Chapter 2, 
Households 
Cost Burden, 

Chapter 3 
AFFH 

An inventory of land suitable for residential development including 
vacant sites and sites having redevelopment potential. 

 
Section 65583.a 

 
Chapter 3 Sites 

Suitable 

Analysis of existing and potential governmental constraints 
upon the maintenance, improvement or development of 
housing for all income levels. 

 
Section 65583.a 

 
Chapter 3 
Analysis of 

Governmental 
Constraints 

Analysis of existing and potential nongovernmental (private 
sector) constraints upon maintenance, improvement or 
development of housing for all income levels. 

 
Section 65583.a 

 
Chapter 3 
Analysis of 

Non-
Governmental 

Constraints 
Analysis concerning the needs of the homeless. Section 65583.a Chapter 3 

AFFH 
Analysis of special housing needs: persons with disabilities, elderly, 
large families, farm workers, and female-headed households. 

 
Section 65583.a 

 
Chapter 3 

AFFH 

Analysis of opportunities for energy conservation 
with respect to residential development. Section 65583.a Chapter 3 

Analysis of 
Non-

Governmental 
Constraints 

Identification of Publicly-Assisted Housing 
Developments. Section 65583.a Chapter 2 

Special 
Housing 
Needs 

Identification of Units at Risk of Conversion to 
Market Rate Housing. Section 65583.a Chapter 2 

Special 
Housing 
Needs 

Identification of the goals relative to the maintenance, 
improvement, and development of housing. 

 
Section 65583.a Chapter 5 Goals and 

Policies 

Analysis of quantified objectives and policies relative 
to the maintenance, improvement, and development 
of housing. 

 
Section 65583.b 

 
Chapter 5 
Goals and 
Policies 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 3 April 2021 
 

 

Identification of adequate sites that will be made 
available through appropriate action with required 
public services and facilities for a variety of housing 
types for all income levels. 

 

Section 65583.c(1) 

 

Chapter 3 Sites 
Suitable 

Identification of strategies to assist in the 
development of adequate housing to meet the needs 
of low and moderate-income households. 

 
Section 65583.c(2) 

 
Chapter 5 
Goals and 
Policies 

Description of the Public Participation Program in the 
formulation of Housing Element Goals, Policies, and 
Programs. 

 
Section 65583.d 

Chapter 1 
Introduction 

Description of the Regional Housing Needs 
Assessment (RHNA)  

 
Section 65583.e 

Chapter 3 
Regional 

Housing Need 

Analysis of Fair Housing, including Affirmatively Furthering 
Fair Housing. 

 Chapter 3 
AFFH 

Review of the effectiveness of the past Element, 
including the City’s accomplishments during the 
previous planning period. 

 
Section 65583.f 

Chapter 4 
 

 
 

 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

The Housing Element reflects the values and preferences of Inyo County residents. The County 
engaged the public throughout the Update process. A total of 7 public workshops and hearings were 
held for the Housing Element Update from November 2020 through August, 2021. These included 
surveys about what the County needs with regard to housing and about issues related to accessibility 
and fair housing. The comments collected at all of the meetings were used to prepare the housing 
programs section.  
 
Programs included based on public input include: 

• Research into whether or not to allow for more than one ADU/JADU per parcel (Program 
3.1.2) 

• Definition for Tiny Homes (Program 3.1.3) 
• Research into whether or not to allow for more rooms available for rent per single-family 

home (Program 3.2.4) 
• Research on the availability of grants or low interest loans for infrastructure development in 

the more remote areas of the County (Program 5.3.1). 
• Housing Specialist to include assistance in taking fair housing issue (Program 3.1.7). 

 
The Public Review Draft of the Housing Element Update was made available for review and 
comment on the County’s webpage on April 5, 2021. The Draft was also sent to outreach 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 4 April 2021 
 

participants and presented to the Planning Commission at an advertised public workshop on April 
26, 2021. No comments where provided at the workshop that caused changes to the Draft. More 
detailed information about these workshops and hearings can be found in Appendix A.  
 
CONSISTENCY WITH THE GENERAL PLAN 
 
The Housing Element is consistent with the goals and policies of the current Inyo County General 
Plan. Each element in the General Plan was updated in 2001. No General Plan land use designations 
or regulations regarding them have been revised since 2001 that would trigger the need to update the 
General Plan to meet the policies and objectives of the Housing Element, or to provide for the 
County’s fair share of the regional housing need.  
  
This Housing Element will continue to be amended as necessary to maintain consistency with the 
Inyo County General Plan by incorporating appropriate revisions to the goals and policies.  
Additionally, the County will maintain consistency throughout the planning period upon any 
amendments to the Inyo County General Plan. 
 
CHAPTER TWO: HOUSING NEEDS 
 
POPULATION 
Population Growth Trends  

An understanding of the demographics of Inyo County – past, present, and future – is essential to 
the process of updating the Housing Element. According to the Department of Finance, the 
population of the entire county as of January 1, 2020 was 18,584 and 14,763 for the unincorporated 
area. Table 1 shows population growth trends from 1970 to January 2020 for the unincorporated 
county.   

In the 1960s, Inyo County experienced a 4-percent growth rate as the county gained popularity as a 
destination for recreation activities and retirement. This was the largest population boom in Inyo 
County since the early 1900s. In the 1970s, the county saw continued but more limited growth.  
Population growth slowed in the 1980s, when it increased by only 244 people. Most of this 
population growth was the result of in-migration of older persons of retirement or near-retirement 
age. 

The 2000 Census showed unincorporated Inyo County as one of the few California jurisdictions that 
lost population. In the ten-year period from 1990 to 2000, Inyo County’s population declined by 390 
individuals. The 2010 Census indicated that population grew by 251 people, or 1.7-percent. The 
2020 Census was not completed at the time of this update, but based on estimated population 
between 2010 and 2020 the population in unincorporated Inyo County grew by 96 people or less 
than 1 percent (0.6). The population of the unincorporated county has increased at an average 
annual rate of 0.4 percent, or six people per year, between 2013 and 2020.   

 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 5 April 2021 
 

 
Table 2- Population Growth Trends (2010–2020) – Unincorporated 

Inyo County 
 

Year Population Numerical 
Change 

Average Annual Change 

Number Percentage 

1970 12,073 -- -- -- 

1980 14,562 2,489 249 2% 

1990 14,806 244 24 0.2% 

2000 14,416 -390 -39 -0.3% 

2008 14,601 185 23 0.2% 

2010 14,667 66 18 0.1% 

2013 14,696 29 8 0.1% 

2020 14,763 67 6 0.4% 

*Source: Census Bureau (2010 Census, 2000Census, SF3: P1 and 1990 Census, STF3: P1), 2008 DOF (Report E-5); HCD-
HE Data Packages 2013 and 2020. 

According to California Department of Finance (DOF) information, the total population of Inyo 
County January 1, 2020 was 18,584. Table 2 shows how the total county population between 1960 to 
the beginning of 2020 was distributed between the City of Bishop (the only incorporated city in the 
county) and unincorporated Inyo County. Between 1960 and 2020, the distribution of the county’s 
population between the unincorporated area and the City of Bishop remained stable. As the table 
shows, at the beginning of 2020 79-percent of the total county population resided in unincorporated 
areas, while the balance (21-percent) resided in the City of Bishop.  

Table 3 - Inyo County Population (1960–2020) 
 

Year Total 
Population City of Bishop Percentage Unincorporated 

County Percentage 

1960 11,684 2,875 25% 8,809 75% 

1970 15,571 3,498 23% 12,073 78% 

1980 17,895 3,333 19% 14,562 81% 

1990 18,281 3,475 19% 14,806 81% 

2000 17,945 3,575 20% 14,416 80% 

2008 18,152 3,551 20% 14,601 80% 

2010 18,546 3,879 21% 14,667 79% 

2013 18,573 3,877 21% 14,696 79% 

2020 18,584 3,821 21% 14,763 79% 
*Source: California Department of Finance, Historical Census Population of Counties in California, 1850–
1990; City/County Population & Housing Estimates, 1990–1998 (Report E-5); City/County Population & 
Housing Estimates, 2000–2008 (Report E-5); HCD-HE Data Packages2013 and 2020 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 6 April 2021 
 

Table 3 provides a summary of the population by race/ethnicity for Inyo County (unincorporated 
and Bishop) from the 2014-2018 ACS. Those reporting White, American Indian, and 
Hispanic/Latino race and/or ethnicity made up the majority of the population in the 
unincorporated county with 63-percent, 13-percent, and 20-percent, respectively. The share of the 
population of American Indians and Hispanic/Latinos in Bishop differed from that of the 
unincorporated county. In Bishop, American Indians represented less than 1-percent of the city’s 
population, which is 11-percent less than the share in the unincorporated county (13-percent). The 
Hispanic/Latino population in Bishop was 7-percent higher than in the unincorporated County (27-
percent and 20-percent respectively).  

Table 4 - Inyo County Population by Race/Ethnicity 2018 
 

  Unincorporated 
County Bishop Total County 

 Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Race/Ethnicity       

White 9,022 63% 2,535 67% 11,557 64% 

Black or African 
American 141 1% 31 1% 172 1% 

American Indian 
or Alaskan Native 1,941 13% 15 < 1% 1,956 11% 

Asian 169 1% 101 3% 270 1% 

Hawaiian or Pacific 
Islander 34 < 1% 0 0 34 < 1% 

Hispanic/Latino 2,862 20% 1,032 27% 3,894 21% 

Some other race 15 < 1% 0 0 15 < 1% 

Two or more races 209 < 1% 88 2% 297 2% 

Total Population 14,393 100% 3,802 100% 18,195 100% 
Source: ACS 2014-2018  

EMPLOYMENT 
The economic base of the county consists of employers that primarily serve the local population and 
tourists. Two major employment sectors in the county are considered export employers: hotels and 
the federal and state components of public administration. The local-serving employers are affected 
almost exclusively by population and income trends while export industries are affected by factors 
external to Inyo County. Table 4 provides a summary of employment by industry for Inyo County as 
reported by the 2014-2018 American Community Survey (ACS). 

Of nearly 6,572 total jobs, the education and healthcare industry was the largest employer in the 
unincorporated county at about 23-percent, and the arts, entertainment, recreation and 
accommodations was about 17-percent. The next largest category is retail trade at 10-percent and 
public administration follows with 9-percent of total employment.            



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 7 April 2021 
 

Economic projections suggest a continued increase in tourism-related employment and income, and 
only marginal growth in other private sector industries. The tourism expansion generates increases in 
higher paying government jobs, with the effect of increasing per capita income despite the lower pay 
of other tourism-supported business sectors, such as retail and lodging. Other demographic trends 
can contribute to the upward push in local incomes, such as the continued influx into the county of 
retirees with independent incomes and lower than average household sizes. 

 
Table 5 - Employment by Industry (2020) – Unincorporated Inyo 

County 
 

Employment by Industry Unincorporated 
  Estimate Percent 

Civilian employed population 16 years and over 6,572 100% 
Educational services, and health care and social assistance 1,483 23% 
Arts, entertainment, and recreation, and accommodation and 

  
1,096 17% 

Retail trade 675 10% 
Public administration 621 9% 
Construction 547 8% 
Transportation and warehousing, and utilities 490 7% 
Other services, except public administration 411 6% 
Professional, scientific, and management, and administrative 

    
362 6% 

Agriculture, forestry, fishing and hunting, and mining 285 4% 
Finance and insurance, and real estate and rental and leasing 256 4% 
Manufacturing 161 2% 
Information 110 2% 
Wholesale trade 75 1% 

                  *Source: ACS 2014-2018 

The California Employment Development Department (EDD) published projections for the fastest 
growing occupations in the Eastern Sierra Region (Alpine, Inyo and Mono Counties) for the years 
2016 to 2026. Table 5 displays the top ten occupations that were projected to have the most growth 
in the Region that have annual median incomes less than Inyo County’s median income of $52,874. 

The fastest growing top ten lower-income occupations in the region are projected to add 1,460 jobs 
by 2026 a growth of 12-percent among lower-income occupations. The “Healthcare Support” 
occupation category is projected to have the largest growth in the region, at 40-percent between 
2016 and 2026, earning an annual median salary of $38,748, which would fall into the Low Income 
category. The “Maids and Housekeeping” occupation category has lowest wage earners among the 
fastest growing occupations in the region, earning an annual median salary of $24,481, which falls 
into the Very Low income category. 

 

 

 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 8 April 2021 
 

Table 6  - Growing Lower Income Occupations in the Eastern Sierra 
Region, 2016–2026 

 

Occupation 

Annual 
Average 

Employment Percentage 
Change 

Annual 
Median 
Salary 

2016 2026 

Healthcare Support 200 280 40% $38,748 

Hotel, Motel and Resort Desk 
Clerks 340 410 20.6% $26,798 

Maids and Housekeeping 940 1,100 17% $24,481 

Building and Grounds Cleaning and 
Maintenance 1,420 1,640 15.5% $26,363 

Personal Care and Service  780 900 15.4% $27,361 

Protective Services 490 560 14.3% $48,396 

Installation, Maintenance, and 
Repair 820 920 12.2% $46,105 

Food Preparation and Serving 3,020 3,380 11.9% $26,127 

Office and Administrative Support 2,310 2,520 9.1% $35,754 

Sales and Related Occupations 1,450 1,520 4.8% $28,026 

Total Occupation Growth 11,770 13,230 12% -- 
Source: Employment Development Department, Labor Market Info: “Fastest Growing Occupations,” 2016-2026. 

 
HOUSEHOLD CHARACTERISTICS 
Household Growth Trends 

In 1980, there were 5,654 households in unincorporated Inyo County. According to the 2000 
Census, the unincorporated county had grown to 6,033 households, representing a 6-percent 
increase between 1980 and 2000. In 2010 the household number had grown to 6,301. According to 
the January 2020 estimate provided by HCD there are 6,148 households in unincorporated Inyo 
County representing a 2.4-percent decrease from 2010 (2020 Census data was not available at the 
time of this update). 

Inyo County’s aging population has a significant effect on household characteristics, as household 
trends for seniors differ from other demographic cohorts. Nineteen-percent of the unincorporated 
county’s estimated 2018 population was at least 65-years of age. Statewide, 9.6-percent of the 
population is at least 65 years old. The high percentage of residents aged 65 and over suggests that 
Inyo County is an attractive location for retirees, and/or the people who live in Inyo County choose 
to age in place.   



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 9 April 2021 
 

Table 7 - Household Growth Trends (1980–2018) – Unincorporated 
Inyo County 

 

Year Households 
Numerical 

Change 
Percentage Change 

1980 5,654 -- -- 

1990 5,884 230 4% 

2000 6,033 149 2.5% 

2010 6,301 268 4% 

2018 6,148 153 -2% 
Source: Census Bureau (2010 Census P12, 2000 Census, SF3: H6 and 1990 Census, STF3: H4) and DOF (E-5 Report) HCD Data 
Package 2020 

Of the total population in unincorporated Inyo County (14,342), the majority 11,603 (81-percent) 
are living in households. Table 7 presents a summary of the differing household types in the 
unincorporated county in 2018.  

Table 8 - Population by Household Type (2000-2010) – Unincorporated 
Inyo County 

 

Household Type 
 

Number Percentage 

Family Households 4,300 53% 

    Married Couple 3,211 40% 

    Male Householder 283 3% 

    Female Householder 806 10% 

Non-family Households 3,783 47% 

Total Households 8,083 100% 
             Source: American Community Survey 2014-2018 DP02 

Households by Tenure 

According to the 2018 ACS, 72-percent of the households in unincorporated Inyo County are owner 
occupied. This was a decrease of 2-percent from 2010. Table 8 provides a summary of the change in 
tenure in the unincorporated portion of the county between 1980 and 2018. The ratio of owner to 
renter moves back and forth by 2-3-percent over time, indicating relative stability. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 10 April 2021 
 

Table 9 - Households by Tenure (1980–2010) – Unincorporated Inyo 
County 

 
 1990 2000 2010        2018  

 Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Owner 4,227 72% 4,386 73% 4,230 70% 4,434 72% 

Renter 1,657 28% 1,647 27% 1,804 30% 1,714 28% 

 5,884 100% 6,033 100% 6,034 100% 6,148 100% 
Source: Census Bureau (ACS 2014-2018; 2010 Census SF1: H16; 2000 Census, SF 3: H7; 1990 Census, SF 3: H8) 

According to 2018 ACS the vacancy rate in the unincorporated portion of the county was 17.6-
percent, a difference of about a 1-percent increase from the 2010 vacancy rate. This indicates that 
there has not been a significant change in the characteristics of the County’s housing status.  

Per the 2018 ACS data there are 1,312 vacant units in the unincorporated county representing 17.6-
percent all units, of these, 719 were reported vacant as second homes used for “seasonal, recreational, or 
occasional use.” These vacant homes represent about 55-percent of the vacancies in the 
unincorporated county, showing a growing trend of second homeownership (vacant second homes 
represented 46-percent of vacancies in 2000). This trend can have a significant effect on housing 
availability and housing conditions for full time residents within the community. 

The 2018 ACS reported that there were 59-rental units vacant and 6 rented, but not occupied. This 
is about 12-percent of the vacant housing units. There were only 3 homes for sale based on the same 
ACS date. This represents less than a half of a percent of the vacant units.  This is a direct reflection 
of the tight real estate market and lack of private land available for new development. The majority 
of privately owned land in Inyo County that is realistically developable - already is.       

Given these factors, housing growth has been minimal in Inyo County in recent years. In order to 
facilitate development of affordable housing, the County currently enforces and encourages state law 
allowing for the placement of mobile homes on all residentially zoned lots and Accessory Dwelling 
Unit (ADU) development. The County has also adopted a short-term rental ordinance that does not 
allow for non-hosted rentals. This means that an owner or resident has to be on the property at all 
times during a short-term rental, which makes the short-term rental of a whole housing unit by an 
absentee owner a zoning violation.  In addition, current County policy is designed to concentrate 
new growth within and contiguous to existing communities (e.g., Bishop, Big Pine, Independence, 
Lone Pine). This will ensure development of housing units in the places of greatest need and where 
infrastructure is readily available. 

Overcrowded Households 

The United States Census Bureau defines an overcrowded household as a housing unit occupied by 
more than one person per room (not including kitchens and bathrooms). Units with more than 1.5 
persons per room are considered severely overcrowded and indicate a significant housing need.   



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 11 April 2021 
 

According to the 2018 American Community Survey, only 156 of the total households in the 
unincorporated County (6,148), approximately 2.5-percent, were in overcrowded situations. This 
percentage is low compared to the statewide average of 6.7-percent. Overcrowding has been 
declining since 1980 in the unincorporated areas of Inyo County. In 1990, there were 287 
overcrowded households, the 2000 Census reported 237, in 2010 there were 159 and in 2018 there 
were 156. 

Table 9 presents overcrowding data for the unincorporated county and California as a whole. As 
seen in the table, 1-percent of all owner-occupied households were overcrowded, compared to 6-
percent of renter-occupied households. The state reported higher percentages of overcrowding for 
owners (4-percent) and renters (13-percent).         

Table 10 - Overcrowded Households (2018) – Unincorporated Inyo 
County 

 

Households 
Owners Renters 

Total 
Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Total Overcrowded Households 61 1% 95 6% 156 

     1–1.5 Persons per Room 61 1% 85 5% 149 

     1.5 or More Persons per Room 0 0 10 1% 10 

Total Households  4,434 72% 1,714 28% 6,148 

Statewide Overcrowding Rates 4% 13%  
Source: ACS 2018; 2021 HCD Data Package 

Households Cost Burden 

Cost burden calculations were provided by HCD data. As a rule of thumb, housing is considered 
affordable if less than 30-percent of household income is spent on rent or mortgage. Table 10 
compares cost burden for housing between owners and renters for different income categories. 

According to 2012-2016 HCD data, 24-percent of all households (both renter and owner) paid more 
than 30-percent of their income on housing costs. This is less than in 2010 when it was 32-percent. 
Table 10 shows the number of households by income category that spent over 30-percent 
(constituting a cost burden) on housing in unincorporated Inyo County.  

Based on HCD household income data, the median household income (1-person) for the County is 
$52,500, lower-income households (those earning up to 80-percent of the median income) are those 
making up to $ 42,000 per year.  According to the data, there were approximately 535 lower-income 
renter households (extremely low, very low and low) that suffered from cost burdens in paying 
housing costs, representing 31-percent of all renter households. The percentage of lower-income 
owner households that experienced a cost burden was higher with approximately 620 households or 
14-percent of all owner households (a more detailed analysis can be found in the Affirmatively 
Further Fair Housing section).  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 12 April 2021 
 

Table 11- Housing Cost Burden (2020) – Unincorporated Inyo County 
 

Housing Cost as a Percentage of Household Income 
Renter-Occupied Households 

Income Range Households Paying > 
30% of Income 

Total 
Households 

% of Total Cost 
Burdened Households  

Extremely Low 180 260 69% 
Very Low 195 320 61% 
Low 160 395 41% 
Moderate 20 260 8% 
Above Moderate 25 510 5% 

Subtotal 580 1,745 31% 
Owner-Occupied Households 
Extremely Low 210 345 61% 
Very Low 240 500 48% 
Low 170 760 22% 
Moderate 70 390 18% 
Above Moderate 285 2,445 12% 

Subtotal 975 4,440 22% 
TOTAL 1,510 6,185 24% 

                      Source: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2020 

HOUSEHOLD INCOME 
Household income is one of the most significant factors affecting housing choice and opportunity.  
Income largely determines a household’s ability to purchase or rent housing. The state and federal 
government classify household income into several groupings based upon the relationship to the 
county adjusted median income (AMI), adjusted for household size. The State of California utilizes 
the income groups presented in Table 11. For purposes of the Housing Element, the state income 
definitions are used throughout the document. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 13 April 2021 
 

Table 12 - Inyo County-State Income Limits by Household Size (2020) 

 
Source: California Department of Housing and Community Development, 2020 

AFFORDABILITY OF HOUSING 
As shown in Table 11, HCD publishes official state income limits each year. The income categories 
are used as a determinant for qualifying households for housing programs as well as to understand 
how much households in the county can afford to spend on housing costs. Table 12 provides a 
summary of the 2020 state income limits for households by household size. The income limits are 
sorted by income group and presented as monthly income, monthly rent, and maximum (max.) sales 
price.   

Monthly income is determined by dividing the annual income limit by 12-months. Monthly rent is 
30-percent of the monthly income, which is the standard for determining affordable monthly 
housing cost. Maximum sales price is an estimate of the maximum amount a household could afford 
assuming a 4-percent interest rate over 30 years, in which no more than 30-percent of the 
household’s gross monthly income is spent on housing cost.   

For example, a 2-person household with an annual income of $26,350 has a gross monthly income 
of $2,196 and is considered to be a very low-income household. The affordable rent that the 
2-person household could afford without being cost burdened is $659, and the maximum sales price 
of a home this household can afford is $79,026.   

The affordable monthly rent and the maximum purchase price of homes in each income category 
will be used to determine the availability of housing affordable to each income group. This analysis 
can be found in the following sections of this Housing Element: Housing Rental Market and 
Housing Sales Market.  

 

 1 
person 

2 
persons 

3 
persons 

4 
persons 

5 
persons 

6 
persons 

7 
persons 

8 
persons 

Extremely 
Low (0-
30%) 

 
$15,800 

 
$18,050 

 
$21,720 

 
$26,200 

 
$30,680 

 
$35,160 

 
$39,640 

 
$44,120 

Very Low  
(31-50%) 

 
$26,300 

 
$30,050 

 
$33,800 

 
$37,550 

 
$40,600 

 
$43,600 

 
$46,600 

 
$49,600 

Low 
(51-80%) 

 
$42,100 

 
$48,100 

 
$54,100 

 
$60,100 

 
$64,950 

 
$69,750 

 
$74,550 

 
$79,350 

Median  
(100%) 

 
$52,550 

 
60,100 

 
$67,600 

 
$75,100 

 
$81,100 

 
$87,100 

 
$93,100 

 
$99,150 

Moderate  
(81-
120%) 

 
$63,050 

 
$72,100 

 
$81,100 

 
$90,100 

 
$97,300 

 
$104,500 

 
$111,700 

 
$118,950 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 14 April 2021 
 

Table 13 - Housing Affordability by Income Level – Inyo County 
(2020) 

 
Income Group 1-Person 2-Person 3-Person 4-Person 

Extremely Low 

Monthly Income $1,317 $1,504 $1,808 $2,183 

Monthly Rent $395 $451 $542 $655 

Max. Sales Price $49,817 $58,313 $72,121 $89,266 

Very Low 

Monthly Income $2,192 $2,504 $2,817 $3,1297 

Monthly Rent $658 $751 $845 $938 

Max. Sales Price $89,721 $103,831 $118,094 $132,204 

Low 

Monthly Income  $3,508 $4,008 $4,508 $5,008 

Monthly Rent $1,053 $1,203 $1,353 $1,503 

Max. Sales Price $149,653 $172,412 $195,170 $217,929 

Median 

Monthly Income  $4,379 $5,008 $5,633 $6,258 

Monthly Rent $1,314 $1,503 $1,690 $1,878 

Max. Sales Price $189,253 $217,929 $246,302 $274,827 

Moderate 

Monthly Income  $5,254 $6,008 $6,758 $7,508 

Monthly Rent $1,576 $1,803 $2,028 $2,253 

Max. Sales Price $229,005 $263,447 $297,586 $331,724 
Source: 2020 Income Limits, California Department of Housing and Community Development, April 2020 
Note:  Affordable housing cost for renter-occupied households assumes 30% of gross household income, not including utility cost. 
Monthly mortgage calculation: https://www.zillow.com/mortgage-calculator/house-affordability/#zmm-calc-help 
Note:  Affordable housing sales prices are based on the following assumed variables:  30-year fixed rate mortgage at 4% annual interest rate, no money down, 
$800 per year homeowners insurance and 1.2 property tax rate. 

Housing Rental Market 

A survey of fair market rental rates for single-family and multi-family housing in Inyo County was 
obtained in October 2020. Comparing the market rental rates with the affordable monthly rent 
amounts presented in Table 13 helps determine the supply of affordable housing for each income 
level. According to the results of the surveyed rental rates and the monthly rental amounts that 
households with 1 to 4 persons can afford, households that fall between the very low-income and 
low-income category can afford rental rates for multi-family housing. The survey results show that 
households at or below the very low-income category pay in excess of 30-percent of the monthly 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 15 April 2021 
 

gross household income. Households at or above the low-income category earn sufficient monthly 
incomes to afford the median monthly rental rates found in the survey for all housing types (single-
family, multi-family, and mobile homes).    

Table 13 reports median rental rates for the county as a whole. Communities in and around Bishop 
tend to offer rental rates at or above the county median rental rates. Conversely, the communities of 
Independence and Lone Pine typically have rental rates that are below the county median rates.    

Table 14 - Point-in-Time Rental Survey  
(Bishop, Big Pine, Independence, Lone Pine 2020) 

 

NUMBER OF BEDROOMS 
SINGLE-FAMILY MULTI-FAMILY 

MEDIAN RENT NUMBER OF  
UNITS SURVEYED MEDIAN RENT NUMBER OF  

UNITS SURVEYED 
1 BEDROOM $788 14 $650 12 

2 BEDROOM $850 23 $750 16 

3+ BEDROOM $1,750 33 N/A 0 

TOTAL $1,500 49 $750 31 
Source: Point-in-Time Rental Survey, Inyo County October and December 2020 

Housing Sales Market 

Home sales prices have been analyzed and compared with the affordability data in Table 12. This 
analysis allows the County to identify which income groups have the most difficult time finding 
affordable housing.  

New Home Sales 

The resale price of homes in the county between 2009 and 2014 as provided by the County Assessor 
is shown on Table 14. The assessor sales data is shown for the communities of Unincorporated 
Bishop, Bishop, Big Pine, Independence, Lone Pine, and the county as a whole. According to the 
Assessor’s report, the median sales price for mobile homes situated in mobile home parks in the 
county as a whole was  $22,000, which means that households at or above the extremely low-income 
range can afford to purchase a mobile home without being cost burdened. The community with the 
lowest median mobile home sale price in a park was Lone Pine at $5,000.  

The median price at which condominium units sold in the county as a whole was $152,500, 
affordable to households earning above moderate income. The City of Bishop was the only 
community to have condo sales and the median price was $152,500. It is difficult to calculate the 
resale amount of projects with 2 or more units, because the median price reports the total cost of 
the project and not each individual unit. The median sales price for duplex projects in the county 
was $193,500, with the lowest median sale price in Independence at $117,000. The median sale price 
of projects with 3 and 4 units in the county as a whole was $202,500. 

Single-family homes have the highest median sales price of all the unit types. Between 2009 and 
2014, the median sales price for single-family homes in the county as a whole was $310,000. This is 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 16 April 2021 
 

up by $33,500 from the 2010 number of $276,500. The extremely low household income group 
identified in Table 12 would be able to afford the median resale price of a single-family home in the 
very rural areas of south and southeast Inyo County where there are not many services. The 
community of Independence had the second lowest median sales price of single-family homes at 
$175,000 and would be affordable to the Low Income Group. The overall median sales prices for all 
housing types in the entire county increased from $150,000 in 2014 to $215,000 in 2020. The 
increase in the median sales prices can be attributed to the better economic conditions than what 
was found for the 2014 Housing Element update analysis. This increase in sales prices also indicates 
that housing is becoming less affordable to more income groups.  

Table 15 - Inyo County Median Home Sales:  2014-2019 
 

Community Single-
family Condo Two 

Units 

Three 
Units 
and 

Above 

Mobile Home 

In park On Private 
Property 

Unincorporated Bishop $390,000 $180,000 $445,000 $182,850 $22,000 $250,000 

Bishop $284,000 $137,000 $300,000 $336,000 $23,500 $275,000 

Big Pine $265,000 -- $197,000 362,500 $53,835 $179,000 

Independence $175,000 -- $150,000 60,000 $15,250 $82,000 

Lone Pine $199,000 -- $133,000 153,500 $2,000 $140,000 

Other areas North $380,000 -- -- -- -- -- 

Other areas South $65,000 -- $27,000 -- $15,000 $25,000 

County Total $310,000 $150,000 $193,500 $202,500 $21,000 $177,500 
Source: Inyo County Assessor’s Office, October, 2020 

HOUSING STOCK CHARACTERISTICS 
Housing Units by Type  

As shown in Table 15, unincorporated Inyo County contains a variety of housing types, including 
4,689 detached single-family residences, 137 attached single-family residences, 2,267 mobile homes, 
and 290 multi-family units (includes “2–4 units” and “5 plus units”).  

Single-family homes represent the dominant type of housing in the County. Between 2010 and 2020, 
the number of detached single-family residences increased by less than a percent from 4,850 to 
4,879; the number of attached single-family residences increased by 3-percent from 128 to 137 units 
between 2010 and 2020. 

Mobile homes are the second most popular housing type in Inyo County. Between 2010 and 2020 
the number of mobile homes increased from 2,206 to 2,226 a 3-percent increase. This shows that 
mobile homes are still a popular housing type in the county, likely due to their affordability and the 
rural nature of the County. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 17 April 2021 
 

Table 15 shows how Inyo County’s housing stock has changed between 2010 and 2020. Not a lot of 
new building occurred during this time. A total of 58 units have been added to the unincorporated 
portion of Inyo County’s housing stock, an increase of less than 1-percent.  

Table 16 - Housing Units by Type (2010– 2020) – Unincorporated Inyo 
County 

 

Housing 
Unit Type 

2010 2020                                        
                                                      

Change 
 

Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage 

Single-Family Detached 4,850 64% 4,879 64% 29 0.5% 

Single-Family Attached 128 2% 137 2% 4 3% 

2–4 units 229 3% 229 3% 84 0% 

5 Plus Units 139 2% 139 2% 6 0% 

Mobile Home * 2,206 29% 2,226 29% 62 3% 

Total Units 7,552 100% 7,610 100% 58 0.7% 

Source:  HCD Data Package, 2020 
*Mobile home category includes “Other” (e.g.., RVs, campers). 

Between 2010 and 2020, the county experienced an increase in single-family development and in 
total mobile homes. This is a little different from the trend since 1990 where single family homes 
had the highest share of new residential development.  

Mobile Homes are, especially in rural areas, a common alternative option for affordable housing. 
The time between 2010 and 2020 has shown an overall rise in all real estate prices. This would create 
a need in the housing market for more affordable options. There has also been an increase in single 
family attached units another more affordable type of housing.  

Housing Stock Conditions 

Structures older than 30-years are used as the accepted standard determining the need for “major 
rehabilitation.”  Based on the 2020 HCD Date Package, approximately 82-percent, or 5,634 units, of 
all housing units within the unincorporated areas of the county were older than 30-years of age, 
indicating that much of the County’s housing stock either needs or has had major rehabilitation. It 
also illustrates the very low rate of new housing construction in the County. This data is presented in 
Table 16 below. The County’s Building and Safety inspectors find that approximately 10-percent of 
the County’s housing is in need of some rehabilitation. This estimate is based on a condition 
criterion of the housing unit not being at the code standard of the time in which it was built. Using 
the HCD data package unit number of 7,610 would indicate that about 761 units are in need of 
some level of rehabilitation. The County has addressed this with the formation of a low interest 
rehabilitation loan program, as well as, IMACA, County Planning and Building and Safety staffs 
providing information to the owners of housing in need of rehab about USDA, CDBG and HOME 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 18 April 2021 
 

financial help programs. A program has been added to this 2021 Update to rehabilitate 3-housing 
units per year during the Planning (Program 1.1.1). 

Table 17 -  Housing Units by Age – Unincorporated Inyo County 
(2013-2017) 

 
Year Structure Built Number Percentage 

  Built 2014 or later 58 1% 

  Built 2010 to 2013 156 2% 

  Built 2000 to 2009 567 8% 

  Built 1990 to 1999 744 10% 

  Built 1980 to 1989 1,309 18% 

  Built 1970 to 1979 1,733 23% 

  Built 1960 to 1969 1,045 14% 

  Built 1950 to 1959 599 8% 

  Built 1940 to 1949 697 9% 

  Built 1939 or earlier 552 7% 

Total 7,460 100% 
Source:  HCD Data Package, 2020 

 
SPECIAL HOUSING NEEDS 
Certain segments of the population may have more difficulty in finding decent, affordable housing 
due to special circumstances. In unincorporated Inyo County, these “special needs” groups include 
extremely low-income households, senior citizen households, large families, disabled and 
developmentally disabled persons, single-parent-headed households, the homeless, and farmworkers.   
 
Extremely Low-Income Households 

Table 17 displays the share of households by income category by HUD adjusted median family 
income (HAMFI) in the unincorporated portion of the county. The data presented in the table is 
reported by CHAS (Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy) in 2018. According to CHAS, 
between2013-2017 9-percent of all households were extremely low-income. Of the 755 extremely 
low-income households, 380 are renters and 375 are owners. In conjunction with local community 
agencies and nonprofit service providers, the County has supported providing assistance to lower-
income households and will continue to work to implement programs providing support that meets 
the housing needs of all income segments in the county.  

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 19 April 2021 
 

Table 18 - Unincorporated Inyo County Households by Income Level 
(2013-2017) 

 
Income Level Owners  Renters Total Percentage  

Extremely low (0–30% HAMFI) 375 380 755 9% 

Very low (30–50% HAMFI) 530 525 1,055 13% 

Low (50–80% HAMFI) 810 770 1,580 20% 

Moderate and above moderate  
(80% -100% HAMFI) 

575 255 830 10% 

Above (100% HAMFI) 2,815 990 3,805 47% 

Total 5,110 2,915 8,025 100% 
Source: Comprehensive Housing Affordability Strategy (CHAS) HUD Data Report, 2013-2017  

Local nonprofit community agencies and the County Health and Human Service Department 
organize and operate a number of programs countywide, including low-income housing, emergency 
shelter, emergency food/commodities, and weatherization programs. 

Inyo County has one assisted housing project in its jurisdiction owned by the Lone Pine Economic 
Development Corporation, the Mt. Whitney Apartments, which is a 33-unit housing project 
developed with funds from the Farmers Home Administration Section 515 Rental Housing Program 
and managed by a nonprofit staff.  

The Housing Authority of the County of Stanislaus administers the Section 8 Housing Assistance 
Program - Housing Choice Voucher program, which provides vouchers for local privately owned 
housing to eligible families. The vouchers represent credit that can be applied to rental cost of any 
housing unit. Currently, there are approximately 29 vouchers allocated to Inyo County residents. 

Persons with Disabilities 

As reported by the 2018 ACS 2,489 (14%) of the population reported a disability. As seen on Table 
18 below, about less than 1% of people reporting a disability are not employed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 20 April 2021 
 

Table 19 - Persons with Disability by Employment Status  
 

 Number Percentage 

Total 8,003 100% 
In the labor force: 6,433 80% 
Employed: 6,092 76% 
With a disability 252 3% 
No disability 5,804 73% 
Unemployed: 341 4% 
With a disability 21 >1% 
No disability 320 4% 
Not in labor force: 1,570 20% 
With a disability 324 4% 
No disability 1,246 16% 
Source: HCD 2020 Data Package 

Table 19 displays the total number of disabilities reported by type of disability. For persons between 
the ages of 5 and 64, cognitive disabilities were the most prevalent, followed by ambulatory and 
independent living difficulties. In the 65-years and over category ambulatory disabilities were the 
most prevalent, followed by independent living difficulties.  

Developmentally Disabled 

The Census Bureau does not include developmental disabilities in their data and so it is not shown 
on Table 21. Developmental disabilities are defined as a continuing disability that originates before 
an individual becomes 18 years old and includes Mental Retardation, Cerebral Palsy, Epilepsy, and 
Autism. The Kern Regional Center located in Bakersfield, CA provides services to about 8,000 
individuals with developmental disabilities who live in Inyo, Kern and Mono Counties. The Kern 
Regional Center reports that they serve 128-people with developmental disabilities that are from 
Inyo County.  
 
People with developmental disabilities can often live and work independently. Individuals with more 
severe developmental disabilities may require group living quarters with supervision. The most 
severely affected individuals may require an institutional environment where medical attention and 
physical therapy are also provided. Since developmental disabilities begin before adulthood, housing 
for persons with developmental disabilities is a progression from the person’s living situation as a 
child to their needs as an adult. 
 
There are several housing types appropriate for people living with a development disability: rent 
subsidized homes, licensed and unlicensed single-family homes, inclusionary housing, Section 8 
vouchers, special programs for home purchase, HUD housing, and veteran’s homes. The design of 
housing- accessibility modifications, the proximity to services and transit, and the availability of 
group living opportunities represent some of the types of considerations that are important in 
serving the needs of this group. Incorporating ‘barrier-free’ design in all, new multi-family housing 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 21 April 2021 
 

(as required by California and Federal Fair Housing laws) is especially important to provide the 
widest range of choices for residents with disabilities. Special consideration should also be given to 
the affordability of housing, as people with disabilities may be living on a fixed income. 
 
The Housing Element contains Program 6.2.1 - Reasonable Accommodation. It ensures the 
availability of reasonable accommodations for persons with disabilities to make modification or 
exception to the rules, standards, and practices for the siting, development, and use of housing or 
housing-related facilities in an effort to eliminate barriers to equal opportunity to housing of their 
choice. This needs to be defined and included in the in the County’s zoning code and is included as 
such in the Housing Programs section. 
 

Table 20 - Persons with Disabilities by Disability Type 
Unincorporated Inyo County 

 

 Disability Number Percentage 

Total Disability Population 5 to 64 years 634 37% 
With a hearing difficulty 107 6% 
With a vision difficulty 79 5% 
With a cognitive difficulty 325 19% 
With an ambulatory difficulty 311 18% 
With a self-care difficulty 191 11% 
With an independent living difficulty 310 18% 
Total Disabilities for Ages 65 and Over 1,074 63% 
With a hearing difficulty 410 24% 
With a vision difficulty 164 10% 
With a cognitive difficulty 301 18% 
With an ambulatory difficulty 776 45% 
With a self-care difficulty 299 18% 
With an independent living difficulty 530 31% 
Total Disabilities 1,708 100% 

                  Source: 2020 HCD Data Package 
 

All forms of disability can hinder access to housing units of conventional design as well as limit the 
ability to earn adequate income. Although needs can vary widely, disabled persons need special 
facilities to help them overcome their disability or make their housing units more convenient. Some 
of these amenities include wide doorways that can accommodate wheelchairs, special bracing for 
handrails, lower countertops, and switches and outlets at the proper height to allow easy use. 
Unfortunately, very few housing units have these features, and consequently, they must be 
remodeled to serve the disabled. The conversion of a conventionally designed housing unit is usually 
well beyond the financial capability of most disabled persons. 

The County actively implements state standards for the provision of accessible units in new 
developments. The County also encourages housing provided for disabled persons to be in close 
proximity to public transportation and services.  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 22 April 2021 
 

Seniors 

The special needs of many senior households result from limited fixed incomes and from physical 
disabilities and dependence needs. As a result, seniors experience financial difficulty in coping with 
rising housing costs. The financial capacity for coping with increased housing costs depends heavily 
on the tenure status (owner or renter) of the elderly household. With infrequent and small increases 
in income and potentially large increases in housing costs, seniors who rent are at a disadvantage 
compared to seniors who own. Table 20 displays householders by tenure and age from the HCD 6th 
Cycle Data Package derived from the 2018 ACS. As shown in the table, 2,043 households had a 
senior householder (age 65 years and older) in Inyo County, representing a significant portion of 
Inyo County’s household population, 33-percent. Of the over 65-years household population 13-
percent rent their home.   

Table 21 - Householders by Tenure by Age – Unincorporated Inyo 
County 

 
Householder Age Owners Renters Total 

Householder 15 to 24 years 17 151 168 

Householder 25 to 34 years 205 503 708 

Householder 35 to 44 years 485 327 812 

Householder 45 to 54 years 670 250 920 

Householder 55 to 59 years 578 98 676 

Householder 60 to 64 years 704 117 821 

Householder 65 to 74 years 913 199 1,112 

Householder 75 to 84 years 681 47 728 

Householder 85 years and over 181 22 203 

Total Households 4,434 1,714 6,148 
                       Source: HCD 6th Element Data Package 2020  

One area of great concern relates to rent increases in mobile home parks. Senior citizens are 
particularly vulnerable and often cannot afford the cost of moving their mobile homes to less 
expensive spaces. For example, disassembling, moving, and reassembling a doublewide mobile home 
can cost several thousand dollars. To troubleshoot this problem, the County supports local 
assistance organizations in addressing senior housing needs through policies and programs 
supporting rental subsidies, tenant purchase of mobile home parks, and housing rehabilitation 
assistance, including weatherization. 

Large Households 

Large households are defined as households with 5 or more persons. Data provided by HCD 
indicates that Inyo County has about 6-percent of households meeting that criterion. In comparison 
with the 2014 Housing Element data, the percentage of large families has decreased slightly by 1-
percent. In circumstances in which the housing market does not meet the unique needs of large 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 23 April 2021 
 

families, overcrowding can result.  Fortunately, the county’s relatively small overcrowding problem 
does not indicate this trend occurring on a broad scale. Table 21 shows households by tenure 
including large households in the unincorporated county. 

The Housing Element establishes programs such as density bonus incentives for larger units and 
self-help housing to meet the needs of the county’s large households. The County has had Density 
Bonus in its code for years. It will be update as well to accurately reflect current State law. 

 Table 22 - Household Size by Tenure – Unincorporated Inyo County 
Source:  Source: HCD 6th Cycle Data Package 

Female-Headed Households 

According to the 2020 HCD data package, 16-percent of all households within Inyo County are 
headed by a female and 9% of these have children. Female headed households with children are 
commonly in need of assistance and are often the households in most need of affordable housing, 
childcare, job training, and rehabilitation funds.   

The financial constraints of single-parent households, especially those headed by females, are seen 
by the share of households reporting to be below the poverty level. The total number of families 
living below the poverty level is 468. Of the 468 households living below the poverty level, 188 or 5-
percent of households were headed by females. Table 22 provides a summary of female headed 
households in the county as reported by the ACS 2014-2018.  

Table 23 - Female Headed Households – Unincorporated Inyo County 
 

Householder Type Number Percentage 

Female Headed Households   550 16% 

Female Heads with Own Children 301 9% 

Female Heads without Children 249 7% 

Total Householders 3,524 100% 

Female Headed Households Below Poverty 
Level 188 5% 

Total Families Below Poverty Level 468 13% 
Source:  2020 HCD Data Package 

 Living Alone  2–4 persons 5+ Persons Total 

 Number Pct Number Pct Number Pct Number Pct 

Owner 1,290 59% 2,937 83% 207 60% 4,434 73% 

Renter 902 41% 622 17% 137 40% 1,661 27% 

Total 
Househ
olds 

2,192 100
% 3,559 100% 344 100% 6,095 100% 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 24 April 2021 
 

The needs of a single, employed, parent typically includes housing that requires minimal 
maintenance and is located near employment, schools, transit, shopping, and day care. To address 
the housing needs of single-parent-headed households, the 2021 Housing Element extends existing 
affordability programs, such as rent subsidies, and sets forth several new programs, including 
supporting housing rehab, ADU and affordable housing development to increase the supply.  
 
Families and Persons in Need of Emergency Shelter 

There are many social, economic, and physical conditions that have led to an overall increase in the 
homeless populations throughout the State of California. Factors contributing to the rise in 
homelessness include the general lack of housing affordable to low, very low, and extremely low-
income persons, increases in the number of persons whose incomes fall below the poverty level, 
reductions in public subsidies to lower-income persons, and the deinstitutionalization of persons 
with mental illness. The 2020 Point in Time Count found there are 123-homeless individuals who 
are homeless in the County. Seventeen of these individuals are children and 39 are homeless for the 
first time. Sixty-one people are living out of their vehicles. Table 23 illustrates the number of 
homeless people by category. 

 

Table 24  - Homeless Persons - Inyo County (2020) 
 

Category  Number 

Total Homeless   123 

Sheltered 22 

Unsheltered 101 

Number of Children 17 

Chronically Homeless  26 

First Time Homeless 39 

Veterans 16 

With a Physical Disability 39 

With a psychiatric or Emotional Condition 46 

Fleeing Domestic Violence 19 

In Families with Children 27 

Sleeping in Vehicles 61 
Source:  Inyo Mono Advocates for Community Action (2020 point in time count) 

 
Inyo County has a transitional housing program (THP+) that serves foster or group home children 
when they reach age 18. The County helps these populations find an apartment, helps with financial 
support, and assists with searching for employment. Area non-governmental organizations the Inyo 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 25 April 2021 
 

Mono Advocates for Community Action (IMACA) and Wild Iris also operate around 14-transitional 
housing units.  

The County does not have a homeless shelter, but along with IMACA, the Salvation Army and 
others, provide hotel/motel vouchers for emergency shelter. For homeless families, County Child 
Protective Services will rent a hotel room for one night then, County Social Services will pay for a 
longer-term temporary hotel rooms and assist with finding long-term housing and obtaining 
services.  

A housing development currently being planned by IMACA within the City of Bishop that serves all 
of Inyo County will include 5-permanent Supportive Housing Units. There are currently none in 
Inyo County. IMACA also administers a Rapid Rehousing Project on properties scattered 
throughout the area. There is currently no Low Barrier Navigation Centers in the County; however 
IMACA is proposing one that will be located within the City of Bishop that will serve all of Inyo 
County. 

The County operates two Wellness Centers one on Short Street in Bishop and one on Washington 
Street in Lone Pine. The centers provide case management services and provide a place for anyone 
who needs a free shower, coffee, meals, a safe place to be, referrals, bilingual services, and activities. 
If no temporary shelter can be found, the centers will provide a free sleeping bag and tent. The 
centers do not advertise their services and instead depend on referrals from the County’s Social 
Services and Mental Health divisions, the Salvation Army, and IMACA. Wellness Center staff also 
regularly search for people in need, especially during the summer months when there are more 
homeless in the area - see the Governmental Constraints section of this Housing Element for more 
discussion on housing for persons in need of emergency shelter and transitional housing services.  

Farmworkers 

According to the 2017 USDA Census of Agriculture as shown in Tables 24 and 25, there were 
approximately 193 farmworkers in Inyo County, 57-percent of which are seasonal workers (i.e., less 
than 150 days). The housing needs of farmworkers do not represent a large portion of the County’s 
housing needs and can be addressed through existing programs to identify lands and assist in the 
development of housing for low and moderate-income households. Since farmworkers are mostly 
found in the unincorporated County, countywide data is representative of it. 

Table 25 - Number of Farmworkers (2017) – Inyo County 
 

Hired Farm Labor 

Farms 58 
Workers 193 

Source: USDA 2017 Census of Farmworkers 

 
 

 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 26 April 2021 
 

Table 26 - Farmworkers by Days Worked (2017) – Inyo County 
 

150 Days or More 

 Farms 34 
 Workers 82 
 Farms with 10 or More Workers  

 Farms 0 
 Workers 0 

Fewer than 150 Days (Seasonal) 

 Farms 33 
 Workers 111 

Source: USDA 2017 Census of Farmworkers 

The 2004 update of the Inyo County Zoning Code included amendments that ensured the County is 
in compliance with Health and Safety Code Sections 17021.5 and 17021.6, the Employee Housing 
Act, to facilitate the provision of employee housing, including farmworkers. The County’s Open 
Space and Recreational Commercial zone (C5), which include agriculture provides for employee 
housing as an accessory use stated by: Dwellings of persons regularly employed on the premises for agricultural 
or domestic duties (OS) or Dwellings of persons regularly employed on the premises for commercial recreational 
activities (C5) mobile homes subject to the provisions of state law, may be used for this purpose. There are no 
limitations on the number of people or structures that can be used for employee housing in this 
language. There is, however, some disconnect in the County’s definition of employee housing to the 
implementation of it. Although the term ‘employee housing’ is used in no place in the code except in 
the definition, it will be changed from calling out “five or more unrelated persons or families” to not 
calling out a specific number (Program 2.1.5). 

Units at Risk of Converting to Market-Rate Uses 

Affordable housing units in Inyo County consist of one assisted housing project, the Mt. Whitney 
Apartments. It is a 33-unit housing project developed with funds from the Farmers Home 
Administration Section 515 Rental Housing Program. The project was constructed in 1987 and is 
owned by the Lone Pine Economic Development Corporation (LPEDC). Given its nonprofit 
ownership and operation, it has been determined that the project is not at risk of converting to 
market-rate housing. The state of affordable housing in the County has not changed since the 2014 
update as no new assisted housing projects have been built since. The County has also not had any 
developments that have taken advantage of its density bonus program.  

CHAPTER THREE: NEED, RESOURCES AND CONSTRAINTS AND 
AFFIRMATIVELY FURTHER FAIR HOUSING 
 
REGIONAL HOUSING NEED 
A Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) Plan is required pursuant to Section 65584 of 
Article 10.6 of California Housing Element law and is prepared for jurisdictions in the State by 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 27 April 2021 
 

HCD. The housing need is the minimum number of units needed to serve the projected household 
population and to accommodate a normal vacancy rate and the expected loss of housing stock.    

As shown below on Table 26, unincorporated Inyo County has a projected housing unit need of 205 
total units based on household growth expected during the 2021 Housing Element timeframe, with 
at least 42-percent of these units targeted toward lower-income households. The County has been 
allocated 46-units for very low-income households and approximately half of those are presumed to 
be for extremely low-income households (in accordance with AB 2634, which requires the County 
to document its projected extremely low-income housing need).  

Table 27 - Regional Housing Needs (2019-2029) – Unincorporated 
Inyo County 

 
Income Group Number Percentage 

Extremely Low 23 11% 

Very Low 23 11% 

Low 40 20% 

Moderate 39 19% 

Above Moderate 80 39% 

Total 205 100% 
                          Source: 2020 HCD Data Package 

For the 6th cycle Housing Element update, the RHNA for Inyo County covers a planning period of 
December 31, 2018 through April 30, 2029.  Therefore, all units built or permitted between that date 
and the present day can be credited toward the County’s RHNA. For a credit to apply to an 
extremely low, very low, low, or moderate-income allocation, it must have a deed restriction or 
otherwise documented sales price or rental rate that falls within the affordable range for those 
income groups.  

Population growth and development, in general, in the County is low and slow. As shown in Table 
27, the County has issued no building permits since January 1, 2021. Also, no development has 
occurred since 2018 that counts towards the RHNA progress in Inyo County.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 28 April 2021 
 

Table 28 - Progress toward Regional Housing Needs (2019 to 2029) 
 

Income Group RHNA Units Built Since 
January  2019 

Remaining 
RHNA 

2021-2029 
 

Extremely Low 23 0 23 

Very Low 23 0 23 

Low 40 0 40 

Moderate 39 0 39 

Above Moderate 80 0 80 

Total 205 0 205 
                        Source: Regional Housing Need Plan, 2019-2029; County of Inyo Planning Department 

RESOURCES AND CONSTRAINTS 
Land Inventory  

Inyo County has a very large land area (10,500-sq-miles). More than 98-percent of this land, 
however, is public land and under Federal and State management or owned by the City of Los 
Angeles. This leaves less than 2-percent of the land in the County for development. A vacant land 
inventory conducted by the County in 2020 found that most of the County’s privately owned vacant 
land is outside of established communities, in areas with environmental constraints, located outside 
of fire district boundaries (making subdivision impossible), outside of water and sewer service 
district boundaries (making development prohibitively expensive) and large distances from services. 
Virtually, all of the vacant land within or adjacent to existing infrastructure, within the communities 
located along the Highway 395 corridor where a majority of Inyo County’s population lives, is 
owned by the City of Los Angeles. 

Since 1970, Inyo County and the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (DWP) have been in 
litigation over the construction of a second aqueduct and associated groundwater pumping and 
water export. In 1989, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors and Los Angeles City Council gave 
tentative approval to a groundwater management agreement. An environmental impact report (EIR) 
was prepared by the two parties to address the impacts of the second aqueduct and the agreement.  
One of the mitigation measures identified in both the tentative agreement and the EIR was the need 
to release Department-owned lands in the Owens Valley to lessen the impacts of DWP land 
ownership patterns on the orderly growth of the county and affordability of housing. 

 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 29 April 2021 
 

Map – Department of Water and Power Owned Property - Owens Valley  

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 30 April 2021 
 

The final agreement provided for the release of 75-acres of land in the county adjacent to 
communities with access to water and sewer systems. A majority of the properties selected are 
currently zoned for residential development and were given General Plan designations appropriate 
for residential development. The identified parcels are in or adjacent to the communities of Lone 
Pine, Independence, Big Pine, and Bishop. To date none of these lands located in the 
unincorporated county has been sold to private interests. Past housing elements have included much 
of this land in the inventory, but since countless years have passed and none of it has been 
developed for housing, only two DWP parcels are included in this update.  

The LADWP also owns properties located along the main streets of Inyo County towns that could 
also be considered for sale. Practically all of these properties are zoned for commercial and mixed 
use development that allows for multi-family dwellings.  

For the 2021 update a new site list has been developed. The parcels included on it (for very low to 
moderate income categories) are: located within fire districts; within or adjacent to water and sewer 
service districts; are outside of environmentally sensitive areas; and, they are vacant. County 
Assessor Parcel Maps were reviewed by County staff to determine the development potential of 
residential lots.  

Analysis of Suitability - General: Physical and Environmental 

There are many physical and environmental attributes of land in Inyo County that can impede 
development. There are potential physical and environmental constraints to consider that can inhibit 
development on vacant and underutilized sites.  

Physical Attributes – A majority of vacant parcels in Inyo County have development limitations based 
on their distance from existing infrastructure. Most of the undeveloped private land in the county is 
located in remote areas or rural communities that do not have water and sewer systems nor are they 
located within a local fire district.  

Vacancy Rates – Inyo County’s reliance on tourism for its economic foundation also plays a part in 
the lack of available land and/or properties for suitable housing. The County has a rather high 
vacancy rate (about 18%), which would intuitively equate to more available rentals or sales. This is 
not the case; however. Many of the County’s vacancies are actually second/vacation homes. This 
keeps them both empty most of the time and off rental and/or sales market exacerbating the already 
constrained housing inventory. 

Infrastructure – As previously mentioned, many communities in Inyo County are not served by water 
or sewer services primarily due to the expense of creating new systems to serve outlying rural areas 
with low populations. 
 
Environmental Attributes – Due to the remoteness and the long-term vacancies of undeveloped 
properties in Inyo County, there are many environmental attributes that affect developable areas. 
The presence of listed species is the most common. There are also wetlands, earthquake faults and 
some areas are also prone to avalanches. These physical attributes do not prohibit development but 
rather restrict development and increase development costs.  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 31 April 2021 
 

The County of Inyo does not have any Williamson Act properties but does have several large tracts 
of agricultural land. These lands were not considered for the land inventory identifying potential 
residential development.  

AFFIRMATIVELY FURTHERING FAIR HOUSING (AFFH) 
 

Introduction AFFH 

Affirmatively furthering fair housing means “taking meaningful actions, in addition to combatting 
discrimination, that overcome patterns of segregation and foster inclusive communities free from 
barriers that restrict access to opportunity based on protected characteristics.” These characteristics 
include, but are not limited to: race, religion, age, ancestry, sexual orientation, gender identity, marital 
status, national origin, color, familial status, or disability. Assembly Bill 686 (AB 686) caused AFFH 
to be included into California State Law. An assessment of AFFH must now be included in all 
Housing Elements. 
 
The California Department of Housing and Community Development prepared the 2020 
Impediments to Fair Housing Choice (AI) for regions in California. Inyo County is part of Region 8 
– the Eastern Central California Region. It also includes: Alpine, Amador, Calaveras, Mariposa, 
Mono, and Tuolumne counties. Information in the AI has been used, in part, to help prepared this 
section of the 2021 Housing Element update.  
 
Most of the counties in the Eastern Central Region had a low number of building permits occurring 
from 2013 to 2018 and Calaveras was the only county with a significant amount of units built that 
count towards the very low and low income RHNA allocation. Inyo County had a total of 31 
building permits occurring between 2013 and 2018. This is an average of about 6-units per year, 
illustrating the slow growth and development in Inyo County. There were no very low income units, 
1-low income, 8-moderate and 22-above moderate. Only 14-percent of the Inyo County’s RHNA 
was realized during this 5-year period, including in the above moderate category.  
 
Fair Housing Enforcement and Outreach 

The Fair Housing Act prohibits discrimination in housing because of: Race; Color; National Origin; 
Religion; Sex; Familial Status; Disability or other protected characteristics.  The eastern sierra, 
including Inyo County is served by one fair housing service provider, the Eastern Sierra Continuum 
of Care (CoC). It also serves Mono and Alpine Counties and all of the incorporated cities in the 
three counties. The CoCs mission is to end homelessness through street outreach and providing 
emergency shelters, transitional housing, permanent supportive housing, rapid rehousing and other 
assistance to homeless individuals and families. The CoC’s partners include IMACA, Wild Iris, the 
Inyo County department of Health and Human Services, Mammoth Lakes Housing, Inyo-Mono 
Association for the Handicapped, the Mono County Dept. of Social Services, the Alpine County 
Dept. of Health and Human Services, and the Salvation Army. Current CoC programs include: 
Homeless Housing, Assistance and Prevention (HHAP) Program, a 1-time block grant providing 
local jurisdictions with funds to address homelessness challenges (CoC is also seeking HHAP funds 
to support new and expanded safe parking facilities, a new homeless navigation/crisis center, 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 32 April 2021 
 

landlord incentives and new/expanded youth homeless service projects). These will primarily be 
located within or on the boundary of the City of Bishop, but will service all of Inyo County. 

Information on the AFFH Data Viewer indicates that no Equal Opportunity Fair Housing and 
(FHEO) cases have been filed in Inyo County as of 2020. The Department of Fair Employment and 
Housing (DFEH) also take complaints regarding employment and fair housing infractions. The 
annual reports prepared by DFEH for the years 2015-2019 showed there were no fair housing 
complaints filed in Inyo County, as well.  
 
A comment was received during a public outreach meeting for the update, regarding fair housing 
complaints which pointed out that most people in the County probably do not know where to file a 
complaint or who to ask about access to fair housing. The County is currently in the process of 
working on establishing a housing specialist position for the County. A program is being added to 
the Update to include within this program having this specialist’s services including helping people 
submit fair housing complaints, as well as, providing housing information (Program 3.1.7). 
 
Opportunity Mapping 

HCD together with the California Tax Credit Allocation Committee (TCAC) created the California 
Fair Housing Task Force to provide research, policy and other strategic recommendations to further 
assist public entities in California in affirmatively furthering fair housing. The Task force developed 
Opportunity Area Maps to examine and demonstrate how resources are geographically distributed.  
The maps provide an illustrative summary of economic, environmental, and education resources 
available, and include a “filter” to identify areas with poverty and racial segregation based on the 
following criteria: 
 
• Poverty: Tracts with at least 30 percent of population under federal poverty line 
• Racial Segregation: Tracts with location quotient higher than 1.25 for Blacks, Hispanics, Asians, or 
all people of color in comparison to the County. 
 
As the following table and map indicate, Block Groups 060270008003, 060270008004 and 
060270001001 are low resource areas. Block Groups 060270008003 and 060270008004 include the 
town of Lone Pine. It is the second largest community in the County with approximately 1,800 
people. The third Block Group is located outside of the City of Bishop to the north and east. People 
living in this Block Group are located on the west and south sides of it and have access to moderate, 
high and very high resource areas surrounding them. Most of this Block Group is unpopulated and 
located in the Inyo National Forest and Bureau of Land Management lands.  

The County is adding a program to the 2021 Housing Element Update to research possible 
opportunities and potential funding sources to help develop infrastructure in the more remote 
locations in the County (also moderate and low opportunity areas) to help promote more housing 
development (Program 5.3.1). There is still very little in the way of growing employment 
opportunities in these areas, however, which causes a more limited need for housing and services. 
 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 33 April 2021 
 

 
Table 29 - Inyo County Opportunity Areas by Block Group 

 
Block Group 

 
Opportunity 

Category 
Economic 

Score 
Environmental 

Score 
Education 

Score  

060270001001 Low 0 78 21 
060270001002 Highest 78 78 21 

060270002001 High 64 64 7 

060270002002 High 71 64 21 

060270003001 High 92 50 21 

060270003002 Highest 100 50 21 

060270004001 Moderate 50 0 21 

060270004002 High 86 0 21 

060270004003 Moderate 57 0 21 

060270004004 Low 36 0 21 

060270005001 Moderate 14 92 85 

060270005002 Highest 43 93 100 

060270008001 Moderate 21 29 93 

060270008002 N/A N/A N/A N/A 

060270008003 Low 29 29 0 

060270008004 Low 7 29 14 

 

 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 34 April 2021 
 

Opportunity Map 

 

Integration and Segregation 

Race and Ethnicity 

Because Inyo County’s towns are small and the geographies used to illustrate segregation are too 
large, it is difficult, at best, to determine whether there are pockets of concentrated protected classes 
in the County. The small town sizes most likely works to the benefit of better integration than is 
found in urban areas. For example, all children in a specific Inyo County town go to the same 
school. Everyone has access to the same stores, transit system, parks, medical facilities and etc. 
According the DFEH reports 2015-2019 there were no reports of civil rights infractions in Inyo 
County. Based on the County’s local knowledge, some of the towns located in remote areas do tend 
to have lower income residents than in the more populated area in the northern part of the County 
near the City of Bishop. People living in these remote areas must travel long distances to acquire 
goods and services, but even in these instances, everyone who lives in these communities face the 
same limitations.  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 35 April 2021 
 

 

The 2020 Regional Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice (2020 Regional AI) defined 
minority concentrations as a census block group with a proportion of minority households that is 
greater than the overall minority average of the total area (in this case Inyo County). In Inyo County 
the minority population represents 37-percent of the total population. This percentage does include 
the City of Bishop as it could not be subtracted out based on data available from the Census. The 
following Map shows that the highest concentration of minorities in Inyo County is found in the 
Lone Pine area Block Groups 060270008003 and 060270008004 Big Pine 060270005002, the area 
north and east of Bishop 060270001001 and Block Group 060270004001, which entirely covers the 
Bishop Paiute Reservation where the high minority percentage (91-percent) is by design. In total, 
there are 5 total Block Groups with high minority concentrations. It is of worthy of noting that the 
Big Pine Block Group 060270005002 is also a high opportunity area (see map below). There is also a 
concentration of minority population in the Lone Pine Block Groups. An Indian reservation is 
included in one of the Lone Pine Block Groups 060270004001, as well, but it is not all of it. 

 

Disability 

Census data captures disability characteristics as having: vision, hearing, ambulatory, cognitive, and 
independent living difficulties. As seen on the map below, in Inyo there are no Census Tracts with a 
disability percentage over 20-percent. The percentages of disabled people in the County are also very 
evenly distributed between Census Tracts showing no areas of concentration. The highest rate of 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 36 April 2021 
 

disability by Census Tract is found in CT 4, CT 5 and CT 8 all with 16-percent; CT 1 is 15-percent; 
CT 2 11-percent and CT 3 has 8-percent. This illustrates no areas of concentrated disability in the 
County. The overall disability rate in the County is 14-percent. This is somewhat higher than the 
State rate of about 11-percent. The County also has an older population, which likely influences the 
disability rate. 

 
 
Familial Status 
 
As shown on the following table, about 42-percent of households in Inyo County identify as married 
couple families. Census Tracts CT 1, CT 2 and CT 3 exceed this number with about 56, 58, and 73-
percent respectively. CT 4 has the lowest percentage of married couple households with 25-percent. 
In the County, about 12-percnet of households have children under 18-years. CT 3 has the highest 
percentage of households with children under 18 with 25-percent. Census Tract 4 has the lowest 
percentage of married couple households (25-percent) and the highest percentages of both female 
headed households and those with children under 18 (15-percent and 7-percent respectively). Non-
family households exceed the percentage of married couple households in CT 1, CT 4, CT 5 and CT 
8. CT 4 has the highest percentage of non-family households at 56-percent. It also has the highest 
percentage of householders living alone at 52-percent. Householders living alone that are also over 
65-years are fairly evenly distributed from 13-20-percent, except in CT 2 where it is 9-percent. 
Overall, the County has a 45-percent of householders living alone and 20-percent are over 65-years. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 37 April 2021 
 

This is another example of the aging population trend in Inyo County. Female Householders with 
children under 18-years do not represent a large proportion of Inyo County Households and they 
are fairly evenly distributed. Census Tracts 4 and 8 have the highest percentages (6.8 and 6.7 
respectively). 
 

Table 30 – Familial Status 
 

Inyo County CT 1 CT 2 CT 3 CT 4 CT 5 CT 8
Total Households 7,950 1,177 703 973 2,601 1,076 1,420

Number Married Couple Households (HH) 3,307 660 406 709 655 336 541
Pct. Married Couple 41.6 56.1 57.8 72.9 25.2 31.2 38.1

Households with Children under 18 988 189 88 241 497 142 239
Pct. HH with Children under 18 12.4 16.1 12.5 24.8 19.1 13.2 16.8

Number Female Householder no spouse present 779 124 39 39 386 82 109
Pct. HH Female Householder no spouse present 9.8 10.5 5.5 4.0 14.8 7.6 7.7

Number Female Householder no spouse present with Children under 18 315 0 11 19 178 12 95
Pct. HH Female Householder no spouse present with Children under 18 4.0 0.0 1.6 2.0 6.8 1.1 6.7

Number Non-Family Household 3,654 368 247 214 1,464 598 763
Pct. HH Non-Family Hous 46.0 31.3 35.1 22.0 56.3 55.6 53.7

Pct. Housholder Living Alone 45.0 29.9 22.8 20.0 52.0 44.0 45.0

Pct. Householder Living Alone Over 65 20.0 14.0 9.0 13.0 16.0 20.0 20.0  
 
Poverty Status 
 
Inyo County as a whole has a 9.3-percent poverty rate, or 1,635 people who are identified as living 
under the poverty level. This number is dispersed across the County fairly evenly with one Census 
Tract (CT 3) with a much lower rate than the rest with 3.6-percent. Census Tract 8 has the highest 
poverty rate of 14.5-percent. None of the CTs are over 30-percent, which is a metric in the 
opportunity mapping conducted by California Fair Housing Task Force. 
 

Table 31 – Poverty Status 
 
 

Inyo County CT 1 CT 2 CT 3 CT 4 CT 5 CT 8
Total Population for Whom Poverty Status is determined 17,562 2,709 1,693 2,541 5,395 2,215 3,009

Number below Poverty Level 1,635 277 185 92 459 187 435
Pct. Below Poverty Level 9.3 10.2 10.9 3.6 8.5 8.4 14.5  
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 38 April 2021 
 

 

Racially Concentrated Areas of Affluence 

Another indicator used help evaluate fair housing choice is Racially Concentrated Areas of Affluence 
(RCAAs). These are broadly defined by HUD as affluent white communities. No formal definition 
for RCAA has been offered by HCD or HUD, though. HCD has suggested that they can be 
determined by identifying census tracts with a white population over 40-percent, and high median 
income levels. Inyo County overall has a 62-percent White population. There is not a single Census 
Tract with a White population under 40-percent. Census Tract 3 has the highest White population 
with 87-percnet and CT 4 has the lowest with 50-percent, showing some varying range, but no 
concentration in specific areas. The County’s median household income is $57,316. This is lower 
than the State median household income of $75,235. There are, however, two Census Tracts that are 
over the County and State median incomes at $86,875 (CT2) and $96,036 (CT3). Based on HCD’s - 
Inyo County-State Income Limits by Household Size (2020) the County’s median income as a whole 
and by Census Tract fall roughly fall into the Low – Moderate income categories.  

Racially/ethnically concentrated areas of poverty 

The Housing and Urban Development Department (HUD) Racially and Ethnically Concentrated 
Areas of Poverty (RECAPs) illustrate the cross sections of poverty and segregation found within a 
community. These areas are common throughout California; however, the Eastern Central Region 
does not have any RECAP areas according to the current data used to identify them. This means 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 39 April 2021 
 

that there are not intersections of concentrated poverty and race/ethnicity classified in Inyo County 
based on the RECAP data. To further explore this, the CoC developed a tool called the Racial 
Equity Tool. It includes homelessness and poverty counts by race in the CoC area (Inyo, Mono and 
Alpine counties) and for California as a whole. This Tool is was developed to help analyze potential  
racial disparities among people experiencing homelessness. Using the data gathered from the CoC 
Point-In-Time Count, and American Community Survey data, racial equity data was created for the 
CoC Counties (Alpine, Inyo and Mono).  
 
The data summarized on the following table indicates that the CoC study area has an overall lower 
rate of poverty, and substantially lower rate of homelessness, than California as a whole. The CoC 
has a slightly higher rate of poverty for black residents (24.8%) than the State overall (22.2%), but a 
lower rate of homelessness than for all races evaluated. 
 

Table 32 – Racial Equity in Continuum of Care Counties 
 
State of California and CoC Counties (Alpine, Inyo Mono)  - Race Equity Comparison

CA CoC CA CoC CA CoC
Total Pop. 33,982,847 33,457 5,773,408 3,419 151,378 214
Total Pct. 100% 100% 17% 10.20% 4.70% 0.64%

White Tot 23,607,242 27,498 3,183,011 2,623 92,164 195
White Pct. 61% 82% 13% 9.50% 3.90% 0.004%

Black Tot. 2,263,222 266 502,610 66 44,086 0
Black Pct. 6% 1% 22.20% 24.80% 0.019% 0

Native Tot. 292,018 2,730 62,078 462 6,797 19
Native Pct. 1% 8% 21.20% 16.90% 2.30% 0.7%

Asian Tot. 5,655,699 602 629,262 125 4,783 0
Asian Pct. 15% 2% 23.70% 21% 0.8% 0

Other Tot. 7,164,666 2,360 1,396,447 143 13,448 0
Other Pct. 18% 7% 19.5 6% 0.19% 0

Total Population
Population living below 
poverty rate Homeless Population

 
 
This of course does not mean that there are no areas with some concentrations of race/ethnicity and 
poverty in the County, even though they do not rise to the levels usually found in more populated 
urban and suburban areas. CT 8 has the highest levels of minority population, female householders 
with no spouse present and children under 18, persons with disabilities and persons livening in 
poverty. A program has been included to focus efforts on housing opportunities for extremely low 
income groups, in general, and with a special focus on CT 8, especially the area including Lone Pine 
(Program 7.1.1). 
 
Access to opportunity 

Residents in the remote areas of the County have less access to opportunity than those living in the 
more populated areas. Towns located in the south and east parts of the County range from around 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 40 April 2021 
 

230 to 7 people. Some of these communities require long distance travel to employment, schools, 
medical facilities, stores and etc.  

Education 

Inyo County has six public school districts. These are Bishop Unified, Big Pine, Death Valley, Lone 
Pine, Owens Valley and Round Valley. Between these Districts there are 17 schools. Several of these 
schools operate from the same campus. For example, an elementary, middle and high school are all 
located on a single site in Shoshone. Inyo County’s public schools are located in CT 2, 3, 4, 5 and 8. 
There are also various private schools and preschools scatter throughout the County. A Community 
College (a branch of the Cerro Coso system) is located in the Bishop area in CT2. Between 2015 and 
2020 all of the County’s School Districts, except Owens Valley (in CT5) had Title I eligible schools. 
The other school District in CT5 was Title 1 eligible. A Title I eligible school is one in which the 
percentage of children from low-income families is at least 35 percent of the children from low-
income families, served by the Local Education Agencies. This data is consistent with the County’s 
overall poverty data and does not show concentrations of schools with children in poverty in 
specific areas. They tend to be spread over the County fairly evenly. 

The High school graduation rate in Inyo County is 85.2%. This is only slightly less than the State 
rate of 87.6%. It is impossible to get these rates by district as many of the County’s high schools are 
very small in population and graduate less than 10 students per year. The State Office of Education 
does not release date for less than 10 graduating students due to privacy issues. 

Employment 

According to the 2019 ACS data, there are 8,579 people 16-years and over that are in the civilian 
labor force. Of these, 8,229 were employed. This represents 96% of the civilian labor force, leaving 
about a 4-percent unemployment rate.  The poverty rate for employed people in the County is 5.4-
percent and for unemployed it is 36.9-percent. The following Table shows these same characteristics 
by Census Tract: 
 

Table 33 – Employment Status 
 

Inyo County CT 1 CT 2 CT 3 CT 4 CT 5 CT 8
Total Population for Whom Poverty is Determined 17,562 2,709 1,693 2,541 5,395 2,215 3,009
Civilian labor force 16 years and over 8,579 1,233 891 1,136 2,794 1,082 1,443

Number Civilian labor force 16 Years and Over Employed 8,229 1,171 860 1,118 2,644 1,055 1,381
Pct. Civilian labor force 16 Years and Over Employed 95.9% 95.0% 96.5% 98.4% 94.6% 97.5% 95.7%

Number Civilian labor force 16 Years and Over Unemployed 350 62 31 18 150 27 62
Pct. Civilian labor force 16 Years and Over Unemployed 4.1% 5.3% 3.6% 1.6% 5.4% 2.5% 4.3%

Percent Total Pop for Whom Pov is Determined in Civilian 
Labor Force 16-Years and Over 

Pct. Living in Poverty of Civilian labor force 16 Years and 
Over Employed

Pct. Living in Poverty of Civilian labor force 16 Years and 
Over Unemployed 36.9% 64.5% 55.6% 26.7% 3.7% 61.3%

5.4% 4.7% 4.0% 5.1% 4.9% 9.6%

N/A

5.1%

48.8% 45.5% 52.6% 44.7% 51.8% 48.8% 48.0%

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 41 April 2021 
 

Only CT 5 shows a poverty rate of employed people (9.6-percent) that is (slightly) higher than the 
County’s overall poverty rate of (9.3-percent). It also has the second highest percentage of employed 
people and lowest percentage people who are unemployed in poverty. The rest of the Census Tracts 
have rates of working poor (those employed and living in poverty) that are quite a bit lower than the 
County’s poverty rate. This is a good sign that the rate of working poor in the County is not 
especially high.  
 
Transportation 
 
Transportation is an important factor in the ability of a person to access opportunity. Inyo County’s 
low population and huge land area make access to jobs, schools, goods and services much more 
difficult than in urban and suburban areas. There is one transit service provider in the County 
(Eastern Sierra Transit) and it does not service all of the small towns in the County. The southwest 
part of the County has no transit service and southeast has one bus a week that takes people from 
Tecopa to Pahrump Nevada. The City of Bishop and closely surrounding area has more local service 
provision than the rest of the County. There are two buses that go from Bishop to Lone Pine and 
back twice a day.  
 
All Transit provides and evaluates metrics that reveal the social and economic impacts of transit, 
specifically by looking at connectivity, access to jobs, and frequency of service. According to All 
Transit, and not surprisingly, Inyo County has a very low ranking of 0.4. This indicates a low 
combination of trips per week and a low number of jobs accessible by transit resulting in a low 
number of people who take transit to work. This is, again, a symptom of the geography and land use 
patterns in the County. 
 
Environmental 
 
The California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) assesses health risks 
caused by environmental contaminants. To help identify areas that are disproportionately burdened 
by pollution, OEHHA developed the California Communities Environmental Health Screening 
Tool (CalEnviroScreen). The OEHHA assessment for Inyo County’s six Census Tracts can be seen 
on the following Table. A higher score reflects a higher burden. The results for each indicator range 
from 0-100 and represent the percentile ranking of the census tracts compared to other census tracts 
throughout the State. Census Tracts 5 and 8 have the highest percentile ranking in the County. 
These rankings are, however, low-moderate at 40 and 47 respectively. They both have high solid 
waste effects CT 5 is high and CT 8 is very high and both have County landfills within their 
boundaries. Census Tracts 5 and 8 have the highest percentile of population characteristics. 
 

Table 34 – Environmental Factors 
 

CT 1 CT 2 CT 3 CT 4 CT 5 CT 8
Overall Percentiles
CalEnvrioScreen 4.0 Percentile 8 19 14 37 40 47
Pollution Burden Percentile 0 17 2 14 21 70
Population Characteristics Percentile 40 24 43 59 54 33
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 42 April 2021 
 

Disproportionate Housing Needs 

‘Disproportionate housing needs’ as defined by (24 C.F.R §5.152) are: ‘significant disparities in the 
proportion of members of a protected class experiencing a category of housing needs when 
compared to the proportion of a member of any other relevant groups or the total population 
experiencing the category of housing need in the applicable geographic area.’ The determination of 
disproportionate need accounts for housing cost burden (payments exceeding 30% of gross income) 
and severe burden (payments exceeding 50-percent of gross income), overcrowding (housing with 
more than 1 person per room), and substandard housing (lacking complete kitchen or bathroom 
facilities), are shown on the following table – note that data showing payments exceeding 50-percent 
of gross income are unavailable. 
 

Table 35 –Disproportionate Housing Needs 
 

Inyo County CT 1 CT 2 CT 3 CT 4 CT 5 CT 8
Housing Factor
Occupants per Room
Occupied Housing Units 7,950 1,177 703 973 2,601 1,076 1,420
1.00 or fewer occupants 4,452 1,116 699 966 2,583 1,074 1,314
Pct. 1 or fewer 97.5% 94.8% 99.4% 99.3% 99.3% 99.8% 92.5%
1.01 or more occupants 177 50 4 7 13 2 101
Pct. 1.01 - 1.51 2.2% 4.2% 0.6% 0.7% 0.5% 0.2% 7.1%
1.51 or more 21 11 0 0 5 0 5
Pct 1.51 or more 0.3% 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.4%

Gross Rent as a Percentage of Household Income
All Occupied Units Paying Rent 2,428 102 151 N/A 1,391 271 490
Less than 30% of Gross Income 56.6% 88.2% 65.6% N/A 51.5% 68.3% 58.2%
More than 30% of Gross Income 43.4% 11.8% 34.4% N/A 48.5% 31.7% 41.8%

Substandard Conditions
Occupied Houisng Units 7,950 1,177 703 973 2,601 1,076 1,420
Lacking Complete Plumbing 48 0 0 0 0 0 48
Pct. Lacking Complete Plumbing 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.4%
Lacking Complete Kitchen 114 0 0 0 63 2 49
Pct. Lacking Complete Kitchen 1.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.4% 0.2% 3.5%
No Telephone Service 92 9 5 0 20 3 55
Pct. No Telephone Service 1.2% 0.1% 3.3% 0.0% 0.8% 0.3% 3.9%  
 
Inyo County and its associated Census Tracts do not have significant numbers of overcrowding or 
substandard conditions. The County as a whole, however, does show that 43.4-percent of occupied 
rental units have renters who are cost burdened. Census Tract 4 has the highest percentage of 
renters who are cost burdened at 48-percent this is the CT that primarily represents the City of 
Bishop and it is subject to the City’s jurisdiction and Housing Element.  Census Tract 8 has 41.8-
percent of renters that are cost burdened. Programs 2.1.4, 3.1.2, 3.2.2, 3.2.3 and 3.2.4 are included to 
help in the provision of high density housing, ADU/JADU development, more rental opportunity 
in single family homes and opening up commercially zoned property to more multi-family housing, 
which is intended to promote higher density housing and more rentals in the County. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 43 April 2021 
 

Other factors contributing to disproportionate housing needs are elderly residents who are 
commonly on fixed incomes. As can be seen on Table 30, age is a factor in Inyo County where 20-
percent of Households have a householder who is 65-years or older. Census Tracts 5 and 8 both 
also show that 20-percent of households have a householder 65-years or older. The County shall 
explore the issues facing its seniors and their housing needs. The housing stakeholder group 
established during the housing element update will continue to meet to further define housing issues 
in the county including senior and employee housing. This work will include identifying and 
applying for grants to provide affordable and special needs housing (Program 7.2.1).  

Displacement Risk 

The level of displacement risk faced by Inyo County residents is difficult to assess primarily due to 
geography and landuse patterns. There are definite concerns about availability of housing, rental 
costs and an aging population, though. During the several public meetings held for the housing 
element, lack of housing, lack of land to build housing and lack of rentals and rental costs were 
expressed repeatedly. There are also concerns related to the increase of second home ownership in 
the County. The high costs and lack of availably has been and can continue to drive prices up that 
could result in people leaving the County.  Census Tract 8 has the highest proportion of renters 
paying over 30-percent of their income to rent at 41.8-percent and CT 2 is the next highest with 
34.4-percent.  
 
Summary of Fair Housing Issues and Programs 

1. Inyo County does not currently have a person dedicated to helping people with fair housing 
complaints and working to help fill the housing needs of its citizens. 
 
The County is currently in the process of developing a housing specialist position for the County. This specialist’s 
services will include taking fair housing complaints, as well as, providing information and support for affordable 
housing, as well as, other services as appropriate. (Program 3.1.7). 
 
2. There are extremely low income people scattered throughout the county. Census Tract 8, 
however, does show some concentration of poverty, disability, female householders with children 
under 18 and householders 65-years and older. 
 
Efforts to provide housing opportunities for the extremely low income group and special needs populations will include 
an additional focus on CT 8, especially in the Lone Pine and Tecopa areas (Program 7.1.1). 
 
3. Factors contributing to disproportionate housing needs are elderly residents who are commonly 
on fixed incomes. Inyo County overall has 20-percent of Households with a householder who is 65-
years or older. Census Tracts 5 and 8 on their own also show that 20-percent of households have a 
householder 65-years or older. 

The housing stakeholder group established during the housing element update will continue to meet to further define 
housing issues in the county including senior housing. This work will include identifying and applying for grants to 
provide affordable and special needs housing including senior housing (Program 7.2.1).  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 44 April 2021 
 

4. Census Tract 8 has the highest percentages of people identified, by the metrics analyzed in this 
assessment, as disproportionately disadvantaged when compared to the remaining 5 Census Tracts 
in Inyo County. Census Tract 8 also includes two of the Block Groups that are identified as low 
resource in the County. Census Tract 1 is also identified as low resource, but based on the other 
evaluations at a finer scale, this is inconsistent. The geography of CT1 is more likely the culprit to its 
low resource score. The population lives on south and west sides of CT1. The rest of the Tract is in 
the Inyo Nation Forest and BLM lands that are vacant. The people who live in CT 1 use the 
resources found in the Bordering Census Tracts that are High and Moderate Resource areas. This 
leaves CT 8 as the Tract with the highest displacement risk. 
 
A program has been included in the Housing Element to direct special focus to CT 8 when pursuing affordable 
housing grants and fair housing support opportunities (Program 7.1.1). 
 
5. High cost burdens on renters is found within all of the County’s Census Tracts, except CT 1. All 
but CT 1 have over 30-percent of renters cost burdened. In contrast, CT 1 is roughly 12-percent. 
The distribution of this is fairly even 31.7-percent to 41.8-percent across the other five CTs. This 
excludes CT 4, which is primarily influenced by the City of Bishop. It is 48.5-percent, but would fall 
under the City’s jurisdiction and Housing Element programs.  
 
(Programs 1.1.1, 2.1.3, 2.1.4, 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4, and 5.3.1 address affordable housing, including 
rental housing). 
 
Analysis of Realistic Capacity 

The County’s RHNA suitable sites as a product of the analysis realistic capacity (see below) are 
enough to meet the County’s allocation of 23-units for Extremely Low 23-units, Very-Low, 23-units 
for Low and 39-units for Moderate income residents. Since there are no projects on the horizon and 
land owned by the City of Los Angeles has been identified for the RHNA sites (due to a complete 
dearth of land that meets HCD’s criteria for RHNA site selection) the County will likely not realize 
the construction of all of these units during the Housing Element period. This is a shame as the 
County would like to see more housing opportunity for its residents, especially affordable housing. 
In an effort to help achieve the goal of providing affordable housing for extremely low income and 
special needs residents, the County has developed several programs to address these issues, please 
see programs section. 
 
The Residential Site Inventory only evaluates those lands that are between 2 and 10-acres, are 
sufficiently served by existing infrastructure, can be easily connected to sewer and water systems, or 
have the required area for individual water wells and septic systems and have access to phone and 
internet services. Since Inyo County has no privately owned vacant land that meets this criteria, sites 
owned by the City of Los Angeles and the County were used for the extremely low, very low, low 
and moderate income sites. The capacity calculations used to identify sites for extremely low, very 
low, low and moderate income housing were conducted per Government Code 65583.2(c)(2). The 
20-unit per acre, based on the County being listed as a non-metropolitan county, was used along 
with an 80% reduction of total capacity to achieve realistic capacity. It should also be noted that since 
Inyo County also has no parcels that meet the site criteria, provided by statute that are zoned for 
high density residential development, anywhere near infrastructure and services, Sites 2 and 3 will be 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 45 April 2021 
 

required to be re-zoned so the County can meet the overall capacity requirements. Program 2.1.3 is 
included to ensure that Sites 2 and 3 are re-zoned within 2-years of the Housing Element adoption. 
These parcels are currently part of a vacant land study and re-zone analysis being conducted by the 
County through an SB2 grant.  
 
Sites Suitable for Extremely Low, Very Low, Low and Moderate Income Units  
Inyo County’s RHNA allocation for very-low (includes extremely low), low and moderate-income 
units is 125, with no carry over units from 2014. The County has identified 3-sites (see Appendix C 
for maps) that can accommodate the allocations, these include:  
 
Site 1 – Bartell Street/Big Pine – This is an approximate 3-acre parcel that is located in the 
community of Big Pine. The General Plan designation of this parcel is Residential High Density that 
allows up to 24-dwelling units per acre, meeting the 20-unit/per acre site selection requirement for 
non-metropolitan counties. This parcel is zoned Multi-family Residential, 3 units and above (R3). 
The 20-unit per acre calculation also had an 80% reduction to achieve a realistic capacity number of 
51-units. These units are a mix of (extremely low, very-low, low and moderate-income households). 
Adequate sewer and water is available through the Big Pine Community Service District to this 
parcel and the infrastructure for it is available to the site. It is also located in a local fire district and 
has readily available phone and internet service. It is currently owned by the City of Los Angeles. 
There are no current plans to sell the property within the planning period and the County will 
continue to try to work with DWP on land releases and more specifically to this site. Since the 
County Code includes that multi-family residential development of more than 15-units per acre, in 
the R3 zone, requires a conditional use permit and this can be considered a constraint, a program 
(Program 2.1.4) is being added to remove this requirement within 2-years of the Housing Element 
adoption.  

This site is in an area that is identified as a High Resource area. This means that quality services are 
readily available to people living in the area. 

Site 2 – East South Street/Bishop – This parcel is over 5-acres and has a General Plan 
designation of Retail Commercial and a Zoning designation of One-Family Residential. This parcel 
is currently undergoing CEQA review for a General Plan designation change to Residential High 
Density and zoning to Multi-family Residential, 3 units and above (R3), which meets the 20 dwelling 
unit per-acre requirement for a non-metropolitan county. Since the County Code includes that 
multi-family residential development of more than 15-units per acre, in the R3 zone, requires a 
conditional use permit, the same program to eliminate this requirement as in Site 1 (Program 2.1.4) 
affects this parcel. These units can be a mix of (extremely low, very-low, low and moderate-income 
households). Adequate sewer and water is available to this parcel from the City of Bishop, although 
it will require either a boundary adjustment or out of area service contract through the Local Agency 
Formation Commission (LAFCo). The site is located in a local fire district and has available phone 
and internet service. It is currently owned by the City of Los Angeles; there are no current plans to 
sell the property within the planning period. A program to require the zone and General Plan 
designation change within 2-years of adoption of the housing element is included under 2.1.3. 

This site is in an area that is identified as a High Resource area. This means that quality services are 
readily available to people living in the area. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 46 April 2021 
 

Site 3 – First Street/Bishop – This parcel is close to 6-acres and has a General Plan Designation of 
Public Facilities and a zoning designation of Public. This parcel is currently undergoing CEQA 
review for a General Plan designation change to Central Business District and zoning to Central 
Business (CB), which meets the 20 dwelling unit per-acre requirement for a non-metropolitan 
county. The County’s CB zone allows for mixed use commercial/residential outright as well as 
multi-family with a CUP. Since requiring a CUP can be considered a constraint a program (Program 
3.2.3) has been included for the County to move forward with evaluating a zone change to allow for 
multi-family outright in the CB zone. The 20-unit per acre calculation also had an 80% reduction to 
achieve a realistic capacity number of 91-units. These units can be a mix of (extremely low, very-low, 
low and moderate-income households). Adequate sewer and water is available to this parcel from 
the City of Bishop, although it will require either a boundary adjustment or out of area service 
contract through the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo). The site is located in a local 
fire district and has available phone and internet service. It is currently owned by the County. 
Although there are no current plans to sell the property within the planning period or development 
plans on the near horizon, this parcel is considered a good candidate for a mixed commercial/mixed 
income residential project. 

This site is in an area that is identified as a High Resource area. This means that quality services are 
readily available to people living in the area. 

Sites Suitable for Above Moderate Income 

The County identified 58 infill parcels that can accommodate the 80 above moderate income 
dwelling units identified in the RHNA. All of these parcels are located within a local fire district 
boundary so they can be subdivided where appropriate. These parcels are also either located within 
or adjacent to a water and sewer service provider, or they are over .5-acres as recommended for 
septic systems.   

Communities in the more remote areas of the county such as Keeler, Darwin, Cartago, Olancha, 
Tecopa, Shoshone, Sandy Valley, and Charleston View, include vacant parcels with residential 
zoning. Since limited development of residential units in these areas can be anticipated, they are not 
included in the land inventory. These areas do; however, provide for additional residential 
development opportunities throughout the planning period including for affordable housing. 

Accessory Dwelling Units are also a realistic means to provide more housing opportunities in Inyo 
County. Permits are being applied for more frequently for ADUs in the County and the County has 
updated its code to reflect all current State regulations regarding ADUs. Although not counted 
towards the site inventory, they will most likely add to it during the 6th Housing Element Cycle. The 
County’s housing rehabilitation loan program also includes funding for ADU and JADU 
development. 

Table 36 below provides a site-by-site inventory of the vacant land that is currently available to 
provide sites to meet the County’s 2021 RHNA. Table 37 provides a comparison of the County’s 
remaining RHNA with the capacity provided by the sites in Table 36.  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 33 April 2021 
 

Table 36 - Vacant Land Inventory – Unincorporated Inyo County  
(SEE MAP IN APPENDIX B) 

 

Site 
number APN Project Type 

GP 
Desig-
nation 

Zoning 

Allow- 
able 

Densit
y 

Acres 

General 
Plan 
Max. 
Units 

Realistic 
capacity 

Existing 
Use 

Infrastructure 
Present/On-site 

Constraints 

1 004-160-05 
Mixed income: 
extremely low, very 
low, low, moderate 

RH R3 7.6-24 3.2 24 51 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

2 008-240-01 
Mixed income: 
extremely low, very 
low, low, moderate 

Changing 
to RH 

Changing 
to R3 7.6-24 5.25 24 84 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

3 008-240-01 
Mixed income: 
extremely low, very 
low, low, moderate 

Changing 
to CBD 

Changing 
to CB 7.6-24 5.69 24 91 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

4 002-036-10 Subdivision RMH RMH-
5,800 7.6-15 0.17 

 2 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

5 002-034-07 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.15 2.6 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

6 002-095-09 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.15 1.1 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

7 002-051-04 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.15 1.1 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

8 002-043-14 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.15 1.1 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

9 002-055-12 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.30 1.1 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

10 004-070-42 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.17 2.3 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

11 004-020-48 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.23 1.3 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 34 April 2021 
 

Site 
number APN Project Type 

GP 
Desig-
nation 

Zoning 

Allow- 
able 

Densit
y 

Acres 

General 
Plan 
Max. 
Units 

Realistic 
capacity 

Existing 
Use 

Infrastructure 
Present/On-site 

Constraints 

12 004-031-17 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.25 1.7 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

13 004-090-05 Subdivision RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.60 1.9 3 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

14 004-101-09 Subdivision RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 1.00 4.5 5 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

15 005-071-09 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.16 7.5 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

16 005-071-10 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.17 1.2 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

17 005-109-48 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.20 1.3 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

18 005-113-32 Infill RM RMH-
5,800 4.6-7.5 0.25 1.5 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

19 008-270-14 Subdivision RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.45 1.9 2 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

20 010-352-15 Infill RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.31 3.4 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

21 010-352-15 Infill RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.31 2.3 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

22 010-361-28 Infill RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.32 2.3 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

23 010-361-27 Subdivision RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.38 2.4 2 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

24 010-353-13 Subdivision RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.41 2.9 2 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

25 010-550-23 Infill RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.22 3.1 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 35 April 2021 
 

Site 
number APN Project Type 

GP 
Desig-
nation 

Zoning 

Allow- 
able 

Densit
y 

Acres 

General 
Plan 
Max. 
Units 

Realistic 
capacity 

Existing 
Use 

Infrastructure 
Present/On-site 

Constraints 

26 010-550-22 Infill RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 0.22 1.7 1 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

27 011-080-55 Infill RRH R1-1.0 1 0.56 1.7 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

28 011-080-53 Infill RRH R1-1.0 1 0.56 0.6 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

29 011-020-50 Infill RRH R1-1.0 1 0.76 0.6 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

30 011-070-51 Infill RRH R1-1.0 1 1.05 0.8 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

31 011-080-31 Infill RRH R1-1.0 1 1.16 1.1 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

32 011-330-56 Infill RL R1-10,000 2.0-4.5 0.64 1.2 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

33 011-480-20 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 0.51 2.9 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

34 011-480-21 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 0.51 1.0 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

35 011-470-04 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 0.71 1.0 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

36 011-470-31 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 0.71 1.4 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

37 011-500-21 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 0.88 1.4 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

38 011-490-09 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 0.99 1.8 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

39 011-480-16 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 1.01 2.0 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 36 April 2021 
 

Site 
number APN Project Type 

GP 
Desig-
nation 

Zoning 

Allow- 
able 

Densit
y 

Acres 

General 
Plan 
Max. 
Units 

Realistic 
capacity 

Existing 
Use 

Infrastructure 
Present/On-site 

Constraints 

40 011-490-15 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 1.08 2.0 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

41 011-470-17 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 1.13 2.2 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

42 011-500-06 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 1.15 2.3 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

43 011-500-02 Infill RVL R1-0.5 2 1.15 2.3 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

44 011-520-23 Infill RL R1-14,000 2.0-4.5 0.65 2.3 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

45 011-530-01 Infill RL R1-14,000 2.0-4.5 1.17 2.9 2 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

46 011-430-32 Subdivision RL R1-14,000 2.0-4.5 1.33 5.3 3 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

47 013-100-23 Infill RRH RMH-1.0 1 0.67 6.0 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

48 026-044-01 Subdivision RM RMH-
7,200 4.6-7.5 1.25 0.7 6 Vacant Water and sewer 

available to property 

49 026-430-01 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 9.4 1 Vacant Water and sewer 
available to property 

50 026-430-06 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

51 026-430-10 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

52 026-430-03 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

53 026-430-04 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 37 April 2021 
 

Site 
number APN Project Type 

GP 
Desig-
nation 

Zoning 

Allow- 
able 

Densit
y 

Acres 

General 
Plan 
Max. 
Units 

Realistic 
capacity 

Existing 
Use 

Infrastructure 
Present/On-site 

Constraints 

54 026-430-07 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

55 026-430-02 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

56 026-430-05 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

57 026-430-08 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

58 026-430-09 Infill RRM RR-2.5 0.4 2.50 6.3 1 Vacant Septic and well 
required 

59 002-036-10 Subdivision RMH RMH-
5,800 0.4 0.15 6.3 2 Vacant Septic and well 

required 
 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 38 April 2021 
 

 
Table 30 provides a summary of the County’s RHNA needs and the units provided to meet the 
remaining allocations in the land inventory from Table 29 above. Table 30 shows that based on the 
reasonable estimates of realistic capacity that were developed by the County, there is a slight surplus 
of sites to fulfill the RHNA. 

Table 37 - RHNA and Vacant Land Summary 
 

Income Level 2021 RHNA Allocation Unit Provided by Land 
Inventory Shortfall/Surplus 

Extremely Low  23 23 0 

Very Low  23 23 0 

Low  40 85 +45 

Moderate 39 110 +71 

Above Moderate 80 80 0 

Total 205 321 +116 

 
 
OTHER HOUSING RESOURCES 
 
Tribal Housing Departments 
 
Local Native American tribes provide housing services, including programs for construction and 
rehabilitation of residences, relocation assistance, and emergency housing. Although units produced 
pursuant to these programs on tribal lands cannot be counted toward the RHNA, the programs 
provide important resources for housing production and support for affordable and emergency 
housing in Inyo County. 
 
ANALYSIS OF GOVERNMENTAL CONSTRAINTS 
 
Housing affordability is affected by factors in both the private and public sectors. Actions by the 
County can have an impact on the price and availability of housing in Inyo County. Land use 
controls, site improvement requirements, building codes, fees, and other local programs intended to 
improve the overall quality of housing may serve as a constraint to housing development. 
 
Land Use Controls 
 
Land use and zoning regulations are designed to protect and promote the health, safety, and general 
welfare of residents as well as implement the policies of the General Plan. The Zoning Ordinance 
also serves to preserve the character and integrity of existing neighborhoods.  
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 39 April 2021 
 

The Land Use Element of the Inyo County General Plan and corresponding zoning provide for a 
full range of residential types and densities dispersed throughout the county. Residential densities in 
Inyo County provide for a wide range of development from Residential High (RH), which has a 
minimum density requirement of 15.1-dwelling units per acre and a maximum of 24-dwelling units 
per acre and its corresponding zoning districts for multiple residential, to larger lot 5-acre minimum 
rural residential designations. The Zoning Ordinance contains six residential districts that 
correspond to the residential densities established in the General Plan. Further description of each 
zone can be found in Table 31 below. 

Table 38 - Land Use Designations 
 

Land Use Designation Description 

Rural Residential (RR) 

Intended to protect established neighborhoods of one-family 
dwellings and to provide space in suitable locations for 
additional development of this kind, with appropriate 
community facilities. 

Starlite Estates Zone (RR-0.5) 

Provides suitable areas and appropriate environment for low 
density, single-family rural residential uses, where certain 
agricultural activities can be successfully maintained in 
conjunction with residential uses. The RR (rural residential) 
0.5 acre-Starlite Estates zone is intended to be applied to the 
area known as Starlite Estates and adjoining private lands 
which may be without fully developed services. 

One Family Residence (R-1) 

Intended to protect established neighborhoods of one-family 
dwellings and to provide space in suitable locations for 
additional development of this kind, with appropriate 
community facilities. 

Multiple Residential (R-2) 
Intended to protect established neighborhoods of such 
dwellings and to provide space suitable in appropriate 
locations for additional housing developments of duplexes. 

Multiple Residential (R-3) 

Provides a zone classification for those areas designated for 
multiple residential development beyond that permitted by 
the R-2 zoning district. It is intended to provide locations for 
multiple-housing developments such as apartments, 
townhouses, condominiums and mobile home parks. 

Source: Inyo County Code, 2009 

Tables 32 and 33 below show the development standards for each residential land use and zoning 
designation. Residential densities range from less than 1 dwelling unit per acre in the Residential 
Ranch, Residential Estate, and Rural Residential designations to between 15.1 and 24 units per acre 
in the Residential High designation. The maximum height limit for residential units in the R-2 and 
R-3 zones under the Residential Medium High and Residential High designations allows up to 3 
stories or 40 feet, which is appropriate for population centers where higher density development is 
encouraged in a rural area such as Inyo County. Parking standards for single-family require two off-
street parking spaces per unit. The requirements are appropriate for a rural county and are 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County 40 April 2021 
 

considered vital to preserving the county’s character. Therefore, considering the variety of land use 
and zoning designations provided by the County’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance, the 
development standards displayed in the following two tables do not constrain housing development.   

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County  April 2021 
41 

Table 39 - General Plan Land Use Designations for Residential and Commercial Uses 
 

General Plan Zoning 

Land Use Designation Label 
Residential 

Density 
(du/acre) 

Non-
residential 
Intensity 

(FAR) 

Minimum 
Parcel Size 

(Acre) 
District Label Minimum Lot 

Size 

Residential 
Residential High RH 15.1–24.0 N/A N/A Multiple Residential R-3 10,000 sq. ft. 

Residential Medium-High RMH 7.6–15 N/A N/A 

Multiple Residential R-2 6,500 sq. ft. 
Multiple Residential R-3 10,000 sq. ft. 
Single Residential or Mobilehome 
Combined RMH Varies (5,800 sq. 

ft. typical) 

Residential Medium RM 4.6–7.5 N/A N/A 

One Family R-1 1 acre 
Single Residential or Mobilehome 
Combined RMH Varies (5,800 sq. 

ft. typical) 
Misc. Misc. Misc. 

Residential Low RL 2.0–4.5 N/A N/A 

One Family R-1 1 acre 
Single Residential or Mobilehome 
Combined RMH Varies 

Misc. Misc. Misc. 

Residential Very Low RVL 2.0 N/A 0.5 

One Family R-1 None 
Single Residential or Mobilehome 
Combined RMH Varies 

Starlite Estates RR-0.5 
Starlite 0.5 acre 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County  April 2021 
42 

General Plan Zoning 

Land Use Designation Label 
Residential 

Density 
(du/acre) 

Non-
residential 
Intensity 

(FAR) 

Minimum 
Parcel Size 

(Acre) 
District Label Minimum Lot 

Size 

Residential Rural High RRH 1.0 N/A 1.0 

Rural Residential RR 1 acre 
One Family R-1 1 acre 
Single Residential or Mobilehome 
Combined RMH Varies 

Misc. Misc. Misc. 
Rural Residential Medium RRM 0.4 N/A 2.5 Rural Residential RR 1 acre 
Residential Estate RE 0.2 N/A 5 Rural Residential RR 1 acre 
Residential Ranch RR 0.1 N/A 10 Rural Residential RR 1 acre 
Commercial 
Central Business District CBD 7.6–24.0 1.00 N/A Central Business CB 10,000 sq. ft. 

Retail Commercial RC 7.6–24.0 0.40 N/A 
General Commercial and Retail C-1 10,000 sq. ft. 
Highway Services and Tourist Commercial C-2 10,000 sq. ft. 
Misc. Misc. Misc. 

Heavy Commercial/ 
Commercial Service HC 7.6–24.0 0.40 N/A Heavy Commercial C-4 10,000 sq ft. 

Resort/Recreational REC 0.4–24.0 0.40 2.5 

Open Space OS 40 acres 
Commercial Recreation C-5 5.0 acres 
Misc. Misc. Misc. 
Misc. Misc. Misc. 
Misc. Misc. Misc. 

Source: Inyo County Zoning Ordinance and General Plan. 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County  April 2021 
43 

Table 40 - Additional Residential Zoning District Development Standards 
 

Development Standard RR RR-0.5 R-1 R-2 R-3 RMH 

Minimum Lot Width 125 ft 100 ft 50 ft 50 ft 75 ft 50 ft 

Front Yard Setback 50 ft 25 ft 25 ft 25 ft 15 ft3 25 ft 

Interior Side Yard Setback 2 20 ft 5 ft 5 ft 5 ft 5 ft 1 5 ft 

Street Side Yard Setback 2 20 ft 5 ft 5 ft 5 ft 5 ft 1 5 ft 

Rear Yard Setback 2 30 ft 25 ft 20 ft 20 ft 15 ft 20 ft 

Maximum Building Height of 
Primary Structures 1 2.5 stories 2.5 stories 2.5 stories 3 stories (or 40 ft) 3 stories (or 40 ft) 2.5 stories 

Parking 2 sp/du 2 sp/du 2 sp/du 2 sp/du 2 sp/du; 1 guest 
sp/4 du 2 sp/du 

Source: Inyo County Code, 2009; Land Use Element of General Plan 
1 5 feet for one-story. An additional 5 feet per story is required for multi-story projects. 
2 Accessory structures (other than second dwelling units) may encroach into required side and rear yards in the rear half of the property, provided that at least a 5-foot setback from the property line is maintained. In the 
R-3 zone, no rear yard setback is required. In the RMH zone, primary structure encroachments may be permitted into the rear yard under specified circumstances. 
3  Exceptions apply. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

 June 2021 
   

PROVISION FOR A VARIETY OF HOUSING TYPES 
 
The Housing Element must identify adequate sites that are available for the development of housing 
types for all economic segments of the population. Part of this identification is evaluating the County’s 
Zoning Code and its provision for a variety of housing types. Housing types include single-family 
dwellings, duplexes, guest dwellings, mobile homes, group residential homes, multiple unit dwellings, 
convalescent homes, accessory structures, supportive housing, and single-room occupancy units. 
Table 34 below summarizes the housing types permitted, conditionally permitted, and prohibited 
under the County’s Zoning Code.   
 
The Zoning Ordinance permits residential development in the county’s non-CB commercial districts 
as a conditional use. In the CB zone, multi-family uses are conditionally permitted and mixed-use is 
permitted by right. ADUs and JADUs are allowed in all of the residential and mixed use zones. Single 
family homes are allowed in the industrial zones as an accessory use if occupied by the owner, lessee, 
caretaker, or watchman of the business and agriculture worker housing is allow in the Open Space 
zone. Mobile home parks are permitted in the commercial, C-5 zone. The County has approved an 
ordinance to conditionally permit multiple dwellings and mixed uses in the remaining non-CB 
commercial zones.  

 
Table 41 - Housing Types Permitted by Zoning District 

 
Housing Types RR RR-

0.5 
R1/ 

RMH 
R-2 R-3 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 CB OS 

Single-Family 
Detached P P P P P P 2 P 2 P 2 P 2 P 2 C 1 P 

Accessory  
Dwelling 
Units/Junior 
Accessory 
Dwelling Units 

P P P P P P P P P P P P 

Single-Family 
Attached P P P P P P 2 P 2 P 2 P 2 P 3 C 1 NP 

Duplexes NP NP NP P P C C C C C C NP 

3 & 4-plexes NP NP NP NP P C C C C C C NP 

Multi-family 
(< 15 units) NP NP NP NP P C C C C C C NP 

Multi-family 
(>15 units) NP NP NP NP C C C C C C C NP 

Mobile Homes/ 
Manufactured 
Homes 

P P P P P P 2 P 2 P 2 P 2 P 3 C 1 P 

Farm Worker 
Housing NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP P 

Emergency 
Housing/ NP NP NP NP NP A5 A5 A5 A5 A5 A5 NP 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
45 

 

Housing Types RR RR-
0.5 

R1/ 
RMH 

R-2 R-3 C-1 C-2 C-3 C-4 C-5 CB OS 

Shelters 

Single-Room 
Occupancy 
(SRO) 

NP NP NP NP NP P P P NP NP P NP 

Transitional/ 
Supportive 
Housing/ Group 
Homes 

P* P* P* P* P* P* P* P* P* P* P* NP 

Boardinghouse NP NP NP C NP NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Mobilehome 
Park NP NP NP C C NP NP NP NP C NP NP 

Residential Care 
Facility C NP NP NP P NP NP NP NP NP NP NP 

Source: Inyo County Zoning Code, 2021 
P = Permitted Use 
C = Conditional Use 
A = Accessory Use 
NP = Not permitted 
 P* = Transitional housing, supportive housing and group homes are permitted in the same manner as other residential dwellings of the same type in the same 
zone 
(Government Code Section 65583(a)(5)). 
1 Conditionally allowed when: A detached residential dwelling unit, if it is for occupancy by the owner or lessee of the business premises on the same parcel, or by a 
caretaker or watchman. 
2 A dwelling unit within a business building may be qualified as an accessory use if it is for occupancy by the owner or lessee of business premises therein, or by a 
caretaker or watchman, provided that a minimum fifty percent of the usable floor area is being utilized for the principal permitted use. 
3 As an accessory use: dwellings of persons regularly employed on the premises for commercial recreational activities. Mobile homes may be used for this purpose. 
4 Allow outright if proposal meets the requirements provided for in CA Government Code 65662 
5 Parking requirements can only include for staff working at the facility  
 
Density Bonus Overlay Zoning District 

The State enacted density bonus law to allow developers to build residential projects at greater 
densities than a jurisdiction’s General Plan allows if such projects include very low, low and moderate-
income housing units. Inyo County’s Density Bonus Overlay Zone District (Inyo County Code 
Chapter 18.65) was adopted in 2004 and amended in 2007. It follows the provisions of CA 
Government Code 65915 Density Bonuses and other Incentives, and includes language that ‘the 
maximum building density for any affordable housing development or senior citizen development shall be as follows or as 
required by statute . . .’ ‘Or, as required by statue’ causes the County’s Density Bonus Zoning 18.65 to 
continue to be in compliance as any updates to the building densities made by the state automatically 
update the code. The County will, however, update its Density Bonus code section to consistently 
reflect current State law as the table included does not. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
46 

 

Central Business Zoning District 

The County’s General Plan, which was adopted in 2001, included provisions to allow for mixed and 
residential uses in commercially designated areas. Subsequently, the County implemented the General 
Plan’s direction to permit such uses in the Central Business (CB) District land use designation. This 
action instituted a new CB zoning district in the hearts of Big Pine, Independence, Lone Pine, and 
Keeler that conditionally permits multiple dwellings and permits mixed uses by right.  The ordinance 
creating the new CB zoning district regulations and amending the County’s zoning maps accordingly 
was adopted in early 2007, and it is current. The County is also including a program to evaluate 
allowing multi-family dwellings in the CB zone by right (Program 3.2.3). 

Multiple Dwellings and Mixed Uses in all Commercial Zoning Districts 

The County’s General Plan and Zoning Code include provisions to allow for mixed and residential 
uses in all of the County’s commercially designated areas as conditional uses, except for the CB zone 
where mixed use is allow outright.  The County is also including a program to evaluate allowing for by 
right mixed use in additional commercial zones (Program 3.2.3). 

Constraints to Housing for Persons with Disabilities (Community Care Facilities 
Act SB 520) 

Inyo County recently updated its Zoning Code with a process for individuals with disabilities to make 
requests for reasonable accommodation with respect to zoning, permit processing, or building laws. 
The Planning Director may administratively approve requests for modification to certain standards 
with regard to reasonable accommodation (Program 6.3.1). The County Building and Safety Division 
is also responsible for ensuring that all building permit applications for new construction meet the 
requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the California Disabled Accessibility 
Guidebook (CalDAG). Additionally, any permits for renovation or structure modification require that 
the structure be brought into conformance with ADA and CalDAG. 
 
Senate Bill 812 (Persons with Disabilities) 

In January 2011, California housing element was amended by SB 812. This law requires an analysis of 
the special housing needs of persons with disabilities, including an estimate of the number of persons 
with developmental disabilities, an assessment of their housing needs, and discussion of potential 
resources. SB 812 defines a "developmental disability" as a continuing disability that originates before 
an individual becomes 18 years old, and includes Mental Retardation, Cerebral Palsy, Epilepsy, and 
Autism. These estimates can be found in the Person’s with Disabilities section.  
 
Zoning and Land Use 

In effort to remove any zoning or land use regulations that may inhibit the development of housing 
and facilities for disabled persons the County updated its Zoning Code with language addressing 
reasonable accommodation. Also, the 2004 update of the Zoning Code reviewed and modified the 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
47 

 

County’s policies to ensure compliance with fair housing law, including occupancy standards. These 
are still relevant in this 2021 update.  

The Zoning Code does not provide residential parking standards for persons with disabilities that 
differ from the County’s regulated parking standards. However, exceptions to the parking 
requirements may be granted in conjunction with any discretionary development permit, including a 
reduction in parking requirements for special needs housing.  

Inyo County has made efforts to remove constraints on housing for persons with disabilities by 
providing flexibility as to the location of group homes, adult day care homes, and residential care 
homes and facilities. Residential care facilities for more than 6 persons must be permitted without 
discretionary review in all residential zones.  The County will update its zoning code to correctly state 
this (Program 6.2.1). 

Permits and Processing for Reasonable Accommodation 

The County strives to remove any permitting and processing barriers for persons with disabilities by 
ensuring that requests to retrofit homes for accessibility comply with ADA and CalDAG, and meet all 
of the development and building standards in Title 24. These would be reviewed on a case by case 
basis by Building and Safety staff in conjunction with planning staff. The Planning Director will 
approve the exceptions to the zoning (Program 6.3.1). 

Building Codes 

The County uses and enforces the Uniform Building Code (UCB) as its local building code as 
mandated by the State Attorney General. These codes are considered to be the minimum necessary to 
protect public health, safety, and welfare. Enforcement of the UBC is delegated to the County’s 
Building and Safety Department and is carried out at the plan review stage and at the time of 
building/site inspection as well as thorough code enforcement. All work for which a building permit is 
issued must be inspected at the time of completion and/or at specified stages of construction. Inyo 
County does not have cases where the cost or length of time to obtain a building permit have 
hampered or ended a development project. Typically, the time from a call for a request for an 
inspection to the time the building inspector shows up is less than a week. Inspections to the remote 
areas of the County tend to take longer than those located in the Owens Valley. 
 
Any request by a developer to build units under the minimum set by the General Plan and 
implemented by the zoning code, would require a Variance approval from the Planning Commission. 
A request to lower the unit requirement in a multi-family zone or commercial zone that does not have 
a verifiable reason based on a parcel’s inability to accommodate the units would not be recommend by 
staff and would not likely be approved by the Planning Commission. 
 
The County does not have code that conflicts with the UCB or that might diminish the ability to 
accommodate persons with disabilities and as discussed above the County is open to amendments to 
its codes as long as the health and safety of persons who may be effected are not effected by them. 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
48 

 

The county had approximately 1,708 residents living with a disability according to the 2020 HCD Data 
Package American Community Survey and roughly 128 with Developmental Disabilities, also per the 
HCD data. To better accommodate the needs of this population and provide for persons with 
disabilities seeking fair access to housing in the application of its zoning and building regulations, the 
County has incorporated a reasonable accommodations ordinance into the Zoning Code per Program 
6.3.1. This ordinance will provide a means of requesting exceptions to the zoning and building 
regulations that may be a barrier to fair housing opportunities. These requests will be reviewed on a 
case by case basis and will be approved based on a criterion that the building inspectors’ finding that 
the proposed changes will not affect the building’s ability to meet building and safety code. 
Additionally, the County has amended the Zoning Code to allow residential care facilities for 6 or 
fewer persons in all residential zones as permitted uses as well as Single Room Occupancy 
opportunities are allowed in all of the County’s commercial zones. 
 
State Requirements Regarding Fire Hazards 

Senate Bill 1241 Section 66474.02 was added to the Government Code on September 13, 2012. 
66474.02. It requires that before approving a tentative or a parcel map for which a tentative map was 
not required, the legislative body of a County make three findings regarding areas located in either a 
state responsibility area or a very high fire hazard severity zone, these findings include: 
(1) A finding supported by substantial evidence in the record that the design and location of each lot 
in the subdivision, and the subdivision as a whole, are consistent with any applicable regulations 
adopted by the State Board of Forestry and Fire Protection pursuant to Sections 4290 and 4291 of the 
Public Resources Code. 
(2) A finding supported by substantial evidence in the record that structural fire protection and 
suppression services will be available for the subdivision through any of the following entities: 
(A) A county, city, special district, political subdivision of the state, or another entity organized solely 
to provide fire protection services that is monitored and funded by a county or other public entity. 
(B) The Department of Forestry and Fire Protection by contract entered into pursuant to Section 
4133, 4142, or 4144 of the Public Resources Code. 
(3) A finding that to the extent practicable, ingress and egress for the subdivision meets the regulations 
regarding road standards for fire equipment access adopted pursuant to Section 4290 of the Public 
Resources Code and any applicable local ordinance. 
(b) This section shall not supersede regulations established by the State Board of Forestry and Fire 
Protection or local ordinances that provide equivalent or more stringent minimum requirements than 
those contained within this section. 
 
These new requirements have already affected the County’s ability to subdivide land, as the findings 
have proven impossible to meet due to the County’s very rural nature and the fact that Cal Fire will 
not enter into agreements to provide service to residential areas. Fire Districts in the County are all 
volunteer organizations. This makes providing additional facilities and firefighters extremely difficult. 
Currently, no subdivision applications affected by SB-1241 include those that have been identified in 
this updated Housing Element for meeting the County RHNA, the County anticipates, however, that 
the fire findings will continue to be an issue until there are changes or clarifications in SB-1241.  

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
49 

 

Second Residential Units/Accessory Dwelling Units 

To ensure compliance with new State ADU laws and to mitigate the constraints to the development of 
ADUs, the County amended the Zoning code to allow for ADUs as permitted uses, in all Residential 
and Mixed Use zones, and allows all ADU applications to be ministerially reviewed for conformance 
with the minimum allowable standards. The County is also participating in a loan program for housing 
rehabilitation and ADU and JADU development and it has been included as a program (Program 
3.1.2). 
 
Emergency Shelters, Transitional and Supportive Housing 

The County’s zoning code allows transitional housing as a permitted use in all residential zones and 
emergency shelters as a permitted use in the Commercial Zone – Highway Services and Tourist 
Commercial (C2). This complies with Senate Bill 2 (SB 2) that was signed into law effective January 1, 
2008.  The C2 zoning encompasses approximately about 490-acres over 166-parcels. Currently, there 
are 8-vacant parcels of land with the C2 Zoning designation. They range in size from about 100,000-
sq-ft to 8,000-sq-ft. Any of these could be used as a whole parcel or the parcel could be partially used 
for emergency shelters. They also range in location and are found in Pearsonville, Olancha, Cartago, 
and there are several in the City of Bishop. This indicates there is potential for emergency shelters to 
be built on each end of the County and in the most populated area – Bishop. To satisfy the 
requirement that emergency shelters must be regulated the same as other residential uses of the same 
type in the same zone the County will review and update its code where necessary (Program 5.1.1). 

Additionally, transitional and supportive housing types must be considered residential uses and be 
subject only to the restrictions that apply to other residential uses of the same type in the same zone. 
Both “transitional” and “supportive” housing must be explicitly defined as they are in the California 
Health and Safety Code Sections 50675.2 and 50675.14, respectively. Transitional housing may take 
many forms, including group housing or multi-family units, and may provide supportive services for 
its recipients but with a limited stay of up to 6-months. Supportive housing is more permanent in 
nature, is linked to either on-site or off-site services, and is occupied by a target population as defined 
by Health and Safety Code 53260 such as persons with AIDS, low-income persons with mental 
disabilities, person recovering from substance abuse, or persons with chronic illnesses.  

To comply with current State regulations, the County will expand its definition of transitional housing 
and will add a separate definition for supportive housing types to ensure clarity in the zoning code. 
Transitional and supportive housing will also be listed as permitted accessory uses in each residential 
zone. To satisfy the requirement that these use types must be regulated the same as other residential 
uses of the same type in the same zone the County will review and update its code where necessary 
(Program 5.1.1). 

AB 2162 requires that supportive housing meeting specific criteria be permitted by right where multi-
family housing is permitted including in mixed use and nonresidential zones.  And if such housing is 
located within half mile from transit, no minimum parking can be required.  The County will update 
the zoning code to ensure compliance with AB 2162 (Program 5.1.1). 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
50 

 

Extremely Low-Income Households 

Assembly Bill 2634 (AB 2634) (Lieber, 2006) requires the quantification and analysis of existing and 
projected housing needs of extremely low-income households. The County’s existing need is 
documented in Table 37 and its projected need is 23-units, which is half of its official very low-income 
allocation as discussed in the RHNA section. Housing Element updates must also identify zoning to 
encourage and facilitate housing for extremely low-income households. These housing types tend to 
be supportive housing and single-room occupancy units (SROs). As noted in the discussion of 
transitional and supportive housing above, Program 3.1.4 addresses the County’s need to facilitate 
supportive housing types.   

In an effort to facilitate the development of housing for extremely low-income households and 
comply with AB 2634, the County has explicitly listed single-room occupancy unit as a use type in the 
Zoning Code. SROs are typically meant for occupancy by one person as they are small (200–250 
square feet) and may include food preparation or sanitary facilities, or both. The update includes SROs 
as an outright permitted use in the C1, C2, C3 and CBD Zones (Program 3.1.4). 

Zoning and Fees Transparency  

Inyo County charges various fees and assessments to cover the cost of processing permits and 
providing certain services and utilities. Table 35 summarizes the County’s fee requirements for 
residential development. These fees are considerably lower than fees charged in most jurisdictions 
throughout the state. Fees do not impose an unreasonable burden upon applicants, as Inyo County 
has one of the lowest fee structures in the state.  

A typical building permit is a ministerial action in Inyo County. After a building permit is submitted, it 
is reviewed by Planning Department staff for zoning consistency (also see Table 36). Typically, there 
are no zoning issues that cause a land use entitlement to be required (for those that might occur, see 
Tables 36 and 42). For this typical review, the Planning Department charges $50. Building and safety 
also charges for building permit applications. According to the Building and Safety Department a 
typical building permit for an average single family home is about $7,000. This is basically double 
($14,000) for a typical multi-family home permit. Applicants can find all of the information they need 
to complete an application for a building permit on the County’s website. The fee structure for land 
use entitlements and ‘how to’ handouts are also available.  

Anyone can also access the County’s Geographic Information Systems portal to look up individual 
parcels to find zoning and General Plan designations as well as parcel size. The County Planning 
Department webpage provide access to the General Plan and its landuse designations. The zoning 
code can be found on the County’s main page, as well as, through a link on the Planning Department 
webpage. It contains all of the development standards necessary to prepare a development proposal. 
In addition to this, planning and building and safety staffs are always available to answer questions via 
phone call or email. 

 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
51 

 

Table 42 - Inyo County Typical Fees for a Typical Residential 
Development 

 

TYPICAL FEES FOR TYPICAL RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT 

FEE CATEGORY FEE AMOUNT 

PLANNING AND APPLICATION Single-
Family Multifamily 

Plan Check $50 $50 

Conditional Use Permit – A conditional use permit is 
required by the County for Multi-family structures over 15-
units (R-3 zone) 

Not Typical 
$1,500 

$1,490 

Variance – Variances may be required if the proposed 
project does not meet the development standards of the 
district in which it is proposed. 

Not Typical 
$1,500 

Not Typical 
$1,500 

General Plan Amendment – A General Plan Amendment 
would be required if someone wished to change the 
designation or allowed residential density of a parcel. 

Not Typical 
$1,525 

Not Typical 
$1,525 

Zone Reclassification – A Zone Reclassification would be 
required if someone wished to change the designation or 
allowed residential density of a parcel. 

Not Typical 
$1,450 

Not Typical 
$1,450 

SUBDIVISION   

Certificate of Compliance $1,000 $1,000 

Parcel Merger $600 $600 

Parcel Map $1,800 $1,800 

Tract Map $2,325 $2,325 

ENVIRONMENTAL   

Initial Study  $500  $500 

Negative Declaration $600 $600 

Environmental Impact Report Cost deemed 
by estimate 

Cost deemed 
by estimate 

IMPACT   

List typical fees, e.g., Police, fire, water and sewer, etc.  N/A N/A  

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
52 

 

On/Off-site Improvement Standards and Impact fees 

The County does not currently charge the type of impact fees common in many municipalities.  
Instead, it requires each land developer to mitigate only the problems that their subdivision or project 
creates. For example, if a subdivision is located in an area where drainage may be an issue, the 
developer is required to mitigate the problem so that it will not adversely affect surrounding 
properties. For roads, the County’s requirements are based on Caltrans requirements which specify 
only those on- and off-site improvements necessary to maintain an efficient and safe road system.  
  
The exclusion of costly impact fees effectively reduces the cost of developing housing in Inyo County. 
More specifically, the County subdivision ordinance requires 60-foot street widths for local and 
collector streets, with curbs, gutters and sidewalks (40 feet with a waiver). However, “rolled curbs” are 
permitted, and the Planning Commission often waives requirements for sidewalks where 
circumstances warrant, such as in lower density developments. The County also provides flexibility in 
these requirements for affordable housing projects. Circulation improvements in mobile home parks 
are governed by Title 25, which allows for gravel roads and reduced street widths, resulting in lower 
development costs.  
 
In addition to County fees charged at the time building permits are issued, fees for sewer and water 
connections and school impact fees are collected by each individual district. These fees vary widely by 
district according to the services they provide, individual financial and project objectives, and the 
special circumstances of each district. The fees these districts charge are not under the control of the 
County. 
 
 

Table 43 - Process, Procedures and Timeframes 
 

 Process/Procedure Time/Approximately 

Single Family 
Dwellings 

A Plan check review is conducted for zoning and 
general plan compliance, including: density, height, 
setbacks, use, parking and environmental factors. 

One week 

Multi Family Dwellings 
A Plan check review is conducted for zoning and 
general plan compliance, including: density, height, 
setbacks, use, parking and environmental factors. 

One week 

Ministerial Building 
Permit 

For new homes, building permits typically can be 
reviewed and approved in two to three weeks. The 
permit is reviewed by both the Building and 
Planning Departments before final approval. 

2-3-weeks 

Tentative Tract Map 

Reviewed by Subdivision Committee and other 
required agencies; CEQA evaluation is conducted; 
Planning staff presents to Planning Commission; if 
approved Final Map must be approved by Board of 
Supervisors 

45-90-days Negative 
Declaration 
120 and up for Environmental 
Impact Report 
The applicant then has 2-years 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
53 

 

 to complete and submit the 
Final Map. 

Tentative Parcel Map 

Reviewed by Subdivision Committee and other 
required agencies; CEQA evaluation is conducted; 
Planning staff presents to Planning Commission; if 
approved Final Map must be approved by Board of 
Supervisors 

45-90-days Negative 
Declaration 
120 and up for Environmental 
Impact Report 
The applicant then has 2-years 
to complete and submit the 
Final Map. 

Conditional Use 
Permit and Variance 

Reviewed by County departments, planning staff 
and other required agencies; CEQA evaluation is 
conducted; Planning staff presents to Planning 
Commission. 

45-60-days with a Negative 
Declaration, 90-120 and up for 
Environmental Impact 
Report. 

Enforcement 

Inyo County enforces the California State Building 
Codes (UBC).  These codes are considered to be 
the minimum necessary to protect public health, 
safety, and welfare. Enforcement of the UBC is 
delegated to the County’s Building and Safety 
Department and is carried out at the plan review 
stage and at the time of building/site inspection. 
All work for which a building permit is issued must 
be inspected at the time of completion or at 
specified stages of construction. 
Inyo County primarily enforces housing code 
violations through inspections performed on a 
complaint basis. Where code citations are issued, 
property owners are given a reasonable time frame 
in which to correct deficiencies.    

30-days and up 

 
ANALYSIS OF NON-GOVERNMENTAL CONSTRAINTS 

 
Fees, site improvement costs, processing and permit procedures, building codes, land use controls, 
availability of public services, and environmental considerations are necessary considerations but do 
not impose significant constraints to development in Inyo County in comparison to non-
governmental factors such as limited private land resources and high housing costs in relation to 
incomes. These variables are national in scope and widely recognized. The discussion below focuses 
on these non-governmental and market constraints to housing development. 
 
Land Costs  
 
While land costs in Inyo County are well below highly urbanized areas, the scarcity of privately owned 
vacant land has resulted in inflated land values (especially in northern Inyo County near Bishop). The 
most significant constraint to provision of additional housing opportunities in Inyo County is the lack 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
54 

 

of privately owned vacant land. Currently land costs in the County, based on Zillow listings, range 
from around $11,000 for a third of an acre in Olancha to $225,000 for just over a third of an acre in 
the Bishop area. These land costs are lower than the State average, but can still constrain development. 
According to the Federal Housing Finance Agency, the average land value in California in 2019 was 
$512,500 for a quarter-acre lot.  
 
Construction Costs  
 
Construction costs include materials, labor, construction financing, and builder profit. These costs will 
vary depending on structural requirements and by the quality of the construction (such as roofing 
materials, carpeting, cabinets, bathroom fixtures, and other amenities). Because of these factors, it is 
hard to establish an absolute measure of construction cost. 
 
The International Code Council provides estimates of construction costs. The average cost to 
construct a one-two residential unit home (2020) is $124-$157 per square foot. Multi-family buildings 
average $114-$169 per square foot. Based on previous evaluations, the material costs represents about 
57-percent, labor costs approximately 42-percent, and equipment 1-percent of the total cost estimate. 
This would make a modest 1,200-square-foot house cost about $148,800 to build.  
 
Custom homes and units with extra structural requirements or amenities can run much higher.  Lower 
costs can be achieved by reducing amenities and using less costly building materials, decreasing 
construction financing costs, and use of alternative construction methods such as manufactured 
housing or mobile homes. Additional savings can be realized through use of mass production 
methods. This can be of particular benefit when density bonuses are used for the provision of 
affordable housing. 
 
Though the County does not have much control over market conditions, lower housing costs can be 
achieved by encouraging (a) reduction in amenities and quality of building materials (above a minimum 
acceptability for health, safety, and adequate performance); (b) availability of skilled construction crews 
who will work for reasonable wages; and (c) use of manufactured housing (including both mobile 
home and modular housing). 
 
An additional factor related to construction costs is the number of units built at the same time. When 
the number of units developed is increased, construction costs over the entire development are 
generally reduced based on economies of scale. This reduction in costs is of particular benefit when 
density bonuses are used for the provision of affordable housing. 
 
Infrastructure Constraints 

Another factor adding to the cost of new construction is the cost of providing adequate infrastructure 
including major and local streets, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, water and sewer lines, and street lighting. In 
many cases, these improvements are dedicated to the County which is then responsible for their 
maintenance. The cost of these facilities is borne by developers and added to the cost of new housing 
units. These expenses are eventually passed on to the homebuyer or property owner. 
 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
55 

 

Availability of Financing  

Interest rates are determined by national policies and economic conditions, and there is little that local 
governments can do to affect these rates. Although Inyo County cannot affect interest rates charged 
by lending institutions, they can assist developers of low cost housing in finding more favorable 
financing, such as financing through the Community Reinvestment Act. According to lending 
institutions in the county, currently, most homebuyers will secure a mortgage with an interest rate 
between 2.5 and 4 percent, depending on the financial position of the mortgage applicants. 
 
Environmental Constraints 

Some land in Inyo County is unavailable for development because of environmental features. These 
features either pose a hazard to those who may choose to build in the area or diminish valuable 
resources. As a result, County regulations limit development in these areas because of the danger 
involved. Environmental constraints to development include the following: 
• Geologic Hazards – Earth quake zones, landslide and avalanche areas and other geologic hazards 

may pose a threat to property and lives. County policy discourages development in these areas to 
ensure the public’s safety, although it does not prohibit it. 

• Soils with Low Permeability Rates – Many parts of the county are not served with public sewer 
systems and therefore must rely on septic systems. In some parts of the county, non-engineered 
septic systems cannot be used because the soils have low permeability rates which prevent 
effective operation of septic tank systems. 

• Excessive Slope – In areas of 30-percent slope, improvements for accessibility, site preparation, 
and sewage disposal are very difficult. 

• Listed Species – In some areas of the county, private land is situated within endangered or 
threatened species habitats. Development within these areas requires mitigation measures that may 
be costly to implement. 

Energy Conservation 

Inyo County has adopted and implemented Title 24 of the California Code of Regulations through its 
Building and Safety Department. This allows the County to apply the most up-to-date energy 
conservation standards to all new residential buildings (and additions to residential buildings) except 
hotels, motels, and buildings with four or more habitable stories. The regulations specify energy-saving 
design for walls, ceilings, and floor installations, as well as heating and cooling equipment and systems, 
gas cooling devices, conservation standards, and the use of non-depleting energy sources, such as solar 
energy or wind power. 
 
Opportunities for additional energy conservation practices include the implementation of “mitigation 
measures” contained in environmental documents prepared on residential projects in Inyo County. 
The energy consumption impacts of housing developments may be quantified within the scope of 
these reports, prepared by or for the County. Mitigation measures to reduce energy consumption may 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
56 

 

be proposed in the appropriate section of the reports. These mitigation measures, in turn, may be 
adopted as conditions of project approval. 
 
Although the standards seem extensive and costly, builders and consumers realize that the benefits in 
energy savings over the long run outweigh the initial cost, especially in climates like that of Inyo 
County. Utilities now account for a substantial amount of the total monthly cost of maintaining a 
house. Building energy-efficient homes and encouraging weatherization programs will over time 
reduce residents’ monthly housing expenses (Program 1.3.1). 
 
Zoning Ordinance 18.79 governs the installation of small wind energy conversion systems in the 
unincorporated portion of the county. The ordinance is designed to allow residents to take advantage 
of generating power via wind while ensuring that the placement and installation of wind energy 
conversion systems does not have an adverse impact on public health and safety. 
 
The county encourages small-scale renewable energy facilities in the Government Element and 
through the Renewable Energy General Plan Amendment. The County also provides for streamlined 
permitting for small-scale, such as roof-top and ground mount solar energy generation. 

 
Energy Conservation Programs for Low-Income Households 

Southern California Edison (SCE) operates numerous programs that are available to assist low-income 
families with conserving energy and reducing expenditures for electricity. The High Bill Helper 
provides for rebates for new air conditioners, refrigerators, swamp coolers, and pool pumps. The 
Energy Star Lighting program provides compact fluorescent bulbs. Through its Energy Management 
Assistance program, SCE pays for purchase and installation of certain appliances for income-qualified 
applicants. SCE’s CARE and FARE programs provide for utility bill reductions for income-qualified 
applicants as well. Additionally, local SCE staff will undertake on-site energy audits upon request to 
advise how to reduce energy consumption and associated costs.  
 
LADWP has similar programs to help with rebates for inefficient appliances and assistance for low-
income rate payers through its Lifeline program. LADWP staff will also provide energy audits upon 
request. 
 
CHAPTER FOUR: PROGRESS IN MEETING 2014 HOUSING ELEMENT GOALS 
 
Appendix B includes a table of the effectiveness of the implementation measures from the 2014 
Housing Element. The County did not include programs for special needs housing in the 2014 
version. To remedy this exclusion Programs: 3.1.4, 5.1.1, 6.3.1 and 7.1 have been included in this 6th 
Cycle Housing Element Update. 
 
The County’s primary accomplishments regarding the Housing Element has been updating the zoning 
code to make Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit development, only 
subject to County design guidelines when they are not in conflict with State regulation; beginning a 
rehabilitation program for affordable housing and ADU/JADU development, and continuing to work 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
57 

 

with the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (DWP) to release land located in the county to 
increase the amount of buildable land. An increase in available vacant land in populated areas would, 
in turn, increase the capacity for residential development in the county, which would help facilitate 
development of housing for all income levels. Another major accomplishment was the reclassification 
of the Central Business (CB) zone in the County Code to allow for mixed and residential uses, thus 
increasing the residential development capacity throughout the county. In addition, amendments to 
the remaining commercial zones have been approved that will open up land in these zones to 
residential development, as well. These actions will provide additional capacity for residential units.  
 
In many cases, the essence of existing programs has been continued but may have been combined 
with other programs or the language may have been modified to better reflect the County’s role in the 
housing market and to focus on the tools it has at its disposal to facilitate the development of housing 
affordable to all income levels. The required review of the statues of reaching the Goals stated in the 
2014 Housing Element Update includes: 
 
CHAPTER FIVE: HOUSING PROGRAM 
 
This section of the Housing Element contains goals and policies the County has adopted and will 
continue to implement as practicable to address a number of important housing-related issues. Six  
major issue areas are addressed by the goals and policies of the Housing Element: (1) maintain the 
supply of sound, affordable housing through the conservation of existing sound housing stock; 
(2) provide adequate sites for housing; (3) ensure that a broad range of housing types are provided to 
meet the needs of both existing and future residents; (4) increase opportunities for homeownership; 
(5) remove constraints to the development of affordable housing; and (6) promote equal opportunity 
of housing choice for all residents. Each issue area and the supporting goals and policies are identified 
and discussed in the following section. Implementation measures identifying the time frame in which 
each policy will be implemented and the responsible entity follows the discussion of each program. 
 
GOALS AND POLICIES 
 
Maintenance and Preservation of Housing 
 
Existing housing conditions vary considerably throughout Inyo County. Although much of the 
housing stock may be sound, there are many dwelling units that are dilapidated or require substantial 
repairs. As the County’s housing stock continues to age, ongoing maintenance is vital to prevent 
widespread deterioration. It is also important to focus on what is already built as the County has very 
little available, vacant, land. The Housing Element focuses on expanding rehabilitation efforts by 
pursuing available federal and state funds to upgrade and maintain the County’s housing stock. 
 
Goal 1.0 - Maintain the existing housing stock and eliminate substandard housing conditions 
in Inyo County.  
 
Policy 1.1 - Housing Rehabilitation Funding 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
58 

 

In addition to its own investment, the County shall seek and manage additional federal and state funds 
for housing rehabilitation and weatherization assistance.  The County will also continue to provide 
outreach programs to educate the public about available housing rehabilitation and weatherization 
assistance and fire safety issues. 

Program 1.1.1:  The County supports the provision of rehabilitation assistance to owner and renter-
occupied households to facilitate unit upgrading. The County has initiated a rehabilitation program 
with the goal of encouraging owners of vacant houses to rehabilitate them and rent or sell them. This 
program also includes funding for ADUs/JADUs as well as the management of other rehabilitation 
funding such as No Place Like Home that focuses on low-income rentals and owner occupied 
dwellings. 

Funding: Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and Inyo County. The County shall 
encourage financing housing rehabilitation efforts and ADU/JADU development. To do this, the 
County shall consider and if appropriate complete grant applications for CDBG and possibly HOME 
funds at least twice during the planning period for extremely low, very low and low income units. 
Research available state funds on an annual basis as Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA) is 
released. The County has set a goal of the rehabilitation of 15-unitsbetween 2021-2029 (equals 3-units 
per year for 5-years). 

Responsible Party: County Planning Department; Department of Health and Human Services. 

Time Frame: CDBG, HOME applications, 2021-2029 as NOFAs are released and 15-units 2021-
2029  

Policy 1.2 - Housing Rehabilitation Code Enforcement 

The County shall advocate for the rehabilitation of substandard residential properties by homeowners 
and landlords.  

Program 1.2.1: The County shall ensure sensitive residential code enforcement and provide 
information on available rehabilitation assistance to bring substandard residential structures and 
neighborhoods into compliance with County Codes and to be improved to meet current fire safe 
ordinances pertaining to access, water flow, signing, and vegetation clearing. Fire safety is also 
enforced by the County Building and Safety officials as a required element of their inspections of new 
buildings and is commonly an element of subdivision applications. 

Funding: Community Development Block Grant (CDBG). The County shall encourage financing 
housing rehabilitation efforts and affordable housing construction. To do this, the County shall 
consider and if appropriate, complete grant applications for CDBG and possibly HOME funds.  
Research available state funds on an annual basis and pursue as appropriate (as Notice of Funding 
Availability (NOFA) is released). 

Responsible Party: County Planning Department and Building and Safety Department 

Time Frame:  2021-2029 as NOFAs are released 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
59 

 

Policy 1.3 - Energy Efficiency  

The County will focus efforts to promote energy efficiency by supporting programs such as 
weatherization and utility assistance programs that alleviate energy costs for households. The County 
shall maintain its webpage dedicated to energy efficiency education and programs. 

Program 1.3.1: The County shall continue to support efforts to improve the energy efficiency of 
dwelling units by providing an informational webpage dedicated to energy efficiency and programs 
that support providing weatherization and utility bill assistance to low-income households; 
encouraging reduction of housing costs through energy conservation by providing households with 
light bulbs, reduced price energy-efficient appliances, energy audits, and other services. 

Funding: CDBG, LIHEAP, Southern California Edison, and the Los Angeles Department of Water 
and Power. 

Responsible Party: Planning and Building and Safety Departments, local housing service providers, 
Southern California Edison, Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP) 

Time Frame: Ongoing 

Program 1.3.2: The County shall rebuild its dedicated webpage to housing resources including for 
energy efficiency and loan programs. 

Funding: Planning Department budget. 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 1-year of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 

Goal 2.0 - Provide adequate sites for residential development.  

For the 2021 update the County reevaluated its site inventory. No sites identified in the 4th or 5th Cycle 
Update were re-used as most relied on land that cannot be subdivided and/or is not near necessary 
infrastructure, or services. None of sites identified in the 4th or 5th Cycle Update have been developed; 
therefore, none identified to meet the very low, low or moderate income RHNA have developed at 
inappropriate densities.    

Policy 2.1 – Adequate Sites 2021-2021, monitoring: The County will monitor the sites identified for 
very low, low and moderate income units.  

Program 2.1.1 – If monitoring indicates that development has occurred on any of the parcels 
identified in the site inventory, the County shall ensure there is existing adequate capacity or identify 
additional sites to compensate for the loss.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
60 

 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

Program 2.1.2: The County shall maintain an up-to-date inventory of sites suitable for residential 
development and provide this information to residential developers and to the real estate community. 
This inventory will include DWP land release sites.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

Program 2.1.3: The County shall complete the re-zoning of Sites 2 and 3 as identified in the sites 
inventory within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element. 

Funding: SB2 Grant Funding 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 

Program 2.1.4: The County shall complete an update to the Code to remove the requirement for 
multi-family housing over 15 units to require a conditional use permit 2-years of HCD Certification of 
the 6th Cycle Housing Element. 

Funding: Planning Department budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 

Program 2.1.5: The County shall update its Code definition of employee housing to remove the 
description of “five or more unrelated persons or families” eliminating the number based restriction in 
the definition, and making it compliant with current State regulations, within 2-years of HCD 
Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element. 

Funding: Planning Department budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
61 

 

Housing Opportunities 

Inyo County encourages the construction of new housing units to ensure that an adequate housing 
supply is available to meet the County’s existing and future needs. Providing a balanced inventory of 
housing in terms of unit type (single-family, mobile home, multi-family, etc.), cost, and location will 
allow the County to fulfill a variety of housing needs. 
 
Goal 3.0 - Encourage the adequate provision of housing by location, type of unit, and price to 
meet the existing and future needs of Inyo County residents.   

Policy 3.1 - Variety of Housing 

The County shall continue to identify and evaluate the best approaches to providing a variety of 
residential development opportunities to meet the needs of all its citizens. This includes all housing 
types, such as: single-family homes, mobile homes, accessory dwelling units (ADU/JADU), 
apartments, to accommodate specials needs and income levels.  

Program 3.1.1: The County shall continue to work with DWP, BLM, the Forest Service and other 
federal, state, and local agencies to identify appropriate land for release, thus enabling the County to 
provide additional sites for housing development. Additionally, the County will continue to coordinate 
with various Tribal Councils to pursue collaborative housing projects.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers, Tribal Councils, Bureau of Land 
Management (BLM), DWP, Forest Service 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe  

Program 3.1.2: The County shall continue to encourage ADU/JADU development. Since 
development opportunities are mostly available through infill, the County has consistently followed 
State law regarding ADUs, although it has had outdated ADU language in its zoning code. In March 
2021 the zoning code was updated to accurately reflect State ADU regulations, by incorporating the 
State regulations by reference. Along with this work, ideas were brought forward related to additional 
allowances for ADU/JADUs (2 per parcel) in the County beyond the State’s. The County will 
continue to explore ideas for allowing expanded ADU/JADU development. 

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

Program 3.1.3: Tiny Homes are currently not defined in the County code. They are allowed by right 
as the County does not regulate the minimum size of residential units. They are also allowed as 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
62 

 

ADU/JADUs. To make tiny home development more accessible the County shall update the zoning 
code to include a definition of Tiny Homes.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element  

Program 3.1.4: Based on new and still relevant existing State law, Low Barrier Navigation Centers, 
and Transitional and Supportive Housing will be added to the County code definitions. These along 
with Emergency Shelters and Single Occupancy Residences will have language added and/or updated 
to accurately match requirements provided for by State law. This includes: Transitional housing, 
supportive housing and group homes are permitted in the same manner as other residential dwellings 
of the same type in the same zone. Low Barrier Navigation Centers and Emergency shelters cannot 
have parking requirements beyond spaces needed for employees and cannot be required if located 
within one-half-mile of a transit stop. 

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element. 

Program 3.1.5:  The County shall provide expanded affordable housing opportunities by partnering 
with local organizations and providing technical assistance and/or pass-through funds as appropriate 
for the development of units affordable to extremely low, very low, or low-income households.  

Funding: Available State, Federal, and local funds (HOME, MHP, CDBG, etc.) 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers  

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe as opportunities arise 

Program 3.1.6: The County will continue to explore Employer Assisted Housing Programs by 
forming a working group with major employers in the area to discuss how the County can assist in the 
development of employer-assisted housing in Inyo County.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget; available state, federal, and local funds (HOME, MHP, 
CDBG, etc.) 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers  

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
63 

 

Program 3.1.7: The County will continue working on establishing a housing specialist position for the 
County. This person will help identify housing opportunities for income levels, be available to take fair 
housing complaints and help get people to the appropriate organization/agency for help. 

Funding: County General Fund 

Responsible Party: County, Mammoth Lakes Housing  

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

Policy 3.2 - High Density Housing 

The County shall encourage the development of higher density housing in appropriate locations 
throughout the communities. Locate higher density residential development within close proximity to 
services, jobs, transit, recreation, and neighborhood shopping areas.   

Program 3.2.1: The County shall encourage higher density residential development in areas of 
population concentration by conducting outreach to developers and property owners to encourage 
higher density residential development. In addition, the County will explore funding options for 
appropriate housing as funds become available. 

Funding: Planning Department Budget  

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers  

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe as development applications are 
processed 

Program 3.2.2: The County shall encourage development of housing for low-income households 
through provision of density bonus incentives. The County shall prepare updates to the density bonus 
chapter (18.65) of the County code as required by the State and inform applicants of new 
opportunities for density increases.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget (development fees) 

Responsible Party: Planning Department  

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 

Program 3.2.3: Encourage high density residential development in specific Commercial Zones. The 
County will continue to explore ideas brought forth during its SB2 Vacant Lands grant work in 
allowing for outright permitting of multi-family units in the Central Business zone, as well as, explore 
opportunities for permitted by right mixed use and high density housing in other commercial zones. 

Funding: Planning Department Budget 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
64 

 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within 3 years of HCD certifying the 2021-2029 Housing Element  

Program 3.2.4: Encourage higher density in established residential neighborhoods by evaluating 
current residential codes for the appropriateness of increasing the number of rooms allowed to be 
used for long term rentals.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

Policy 3.4 - Manufactured and Mobile Homes 

The County will continue to promote the utilization of manufactured housing and mobile home 
purchase and placement as an affordable homeownership opportunity. 

Program 3.4.1: The County shall provide technical assistance to mobile home park residents who 
want to purchase their mobile home park. To accomplish this, the County will advertise the program 
to mobile home park residents, including conducting meetings with tenants.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget, Mobilehome Park Resident Ownership Program (MPROP) 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe on an as-needed basis and as 
NOFAs for MPROP are released 

Program 3.4.2: The County will remove its Mobile Home overlay as it is not used and is non-
compliant. Language clarifying that mobile/manufactured homes on a foundation are to be processed 
the same as the process applicable to a conventional single dwelling unit in the same zone. 

Funding:  Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element  

Policy 3.5 - Financial Assistance for Housing 

Provide financial assistance for the conservation and/or development of housing affordable to 
extremely low, very low, and low-income households. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
65 

 

Program 3.5.1:  The County will support the efforts of local housing service providers to assist low-
income households with utility bills by providing assistance to a minimum of 150-households annually 
through the LIHEAP (Low-income Energy Assistance Program).   

Funding: State Department of Economic Opportunity, CSBG 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe  

Program 3.5.2: The County shall encourage rental subsidies for lower-income families and elderly 
persons. The County shall encourage listing of rental units with local housing service providers.  

Funding: HUD Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 

Responsible Party: County, Stanislaus Housing Authority 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe  

Program 3.5.3: The County shall provide for the continued affordability of the County’s low and 
moderate-income housing stock. Although not anticipated, if any deed-restricted affordable units 
currently serving County residents are at risk of converting to market rates, the County will facilitate a 
preservation program with the owner and/or operator of the project at risk. The goal will be to 
identify additional funds to either continue the affordability of the at-risk project or to replace those 
units once they are no longer affordable to lower-income households.  

Funding: County, local housing service providers 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe  

Homeownership 

The option of homeownership in California has become a privilege which is often not available to 
lower-income households or potential first-time homebuyers. Rising construction and land costs due 
to the scarcity of land for residential development in Inyo County have greatly contributed to the cost 
of housing. In addition, interest rates can exclude certain households from qualifying for loans.  The 
County will continue to help facilitate the creation of affordable homeownership opportunities in its 
jurisdiction. 
 
Goal 4.0 - Provide increased opportunities for homeownership.  

Policy 4.1 - Self-Help 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
66 

 

The County shall encourage “self-help” housing to allow lower-income households to build their own 
homes.  

Program 4.1.1: The County will continue to make efforts to coordinate with established self-help 
housing groups to solicit interest in developing projects in the county to facilitate self-help housing as 
a form of homeownership for lower-income households.   

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers  

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

Policy 4.2 - Purchase Assistance Programs 

The County will facilitate the availability of home purchase assistance programs for low and moderate-
income households.  

Program 4.2.1: The County will consider, as appropriate, applying for state and federal grant funds to 
provide homeownership opportunities that may include interest rate write-downs, down payment 
assistance, and mortgage revenue bond financing through state and federal programs.  

Funding:  Planning Department Budget, CDBG, HOME   

Responsible Party: Planning Department 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe, with a goal of completing at least 
one project benefiting low income households. 

Removal of Constraints on Housing Development 

Governmental and non-governmental constraints to development can impede both the supply and 
affordability of housing. Certain governmental constraints can be minimized to facilitate new 
construction.   
 
Goal 5.0 - Remove governmental constraints on housing development.   

Policy 5.1 - Compliance with new State Regulations 

Program 5.1.1: The County shall update its zoning code to properly address new State laws regarding 
Density Bonus, Low Barrier Navigation Centers, Emergency Shelters and Transitional and Supportive 
Housing.  

Funding:  Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
67 

 

Time Frame: Within 1-year of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element  

Program 5.2.1: The County routinely works with homeowners to expedite their permits and provide 
flexibility in submittal requirements for owners developing their own homes. The County will also 
annually review its permit and development plan processing timelines and look for ways to expedite or 
simultaneously conduct development reviews to ensure timely processing.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 

Time Frame: Annually and ongoing as projects are submitted for review 

Policy 5.2 - Expedited Permit Processing and Project Review: The County shall continue to 
expedite project review and facilitate timely building permit and development plan processing for 
residential developments, especially those with an affordable housing component or density bonus 
proposal.  

Program 5.2.1: The County routinely works with homeowners to expedite their permits and provide 
flexibility in submittal requirements for owners developing their own homes. The County will also 
annually review its permit and development plan processing timelines and look for ways to expedite or 
simultaneously conduct development reviews to ensure timely processing.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 

Time Frame: Annually and ongoing as projects are submitted for review 

Program 5.2.2: The County shall consider alternative processes in updates to the Zoning Ordinance 
to facilitate housing projects, such as administrative approvals of use permits and modifications to 
setbacks and other development standards, and/or other procedures to otherwise expedite and 
encourage residential development. 

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 

Time Frame: Concurrently with Zoning Ordinance updates 

Policy 5.3 - Infrastructure 

The County will work to identify new ways provide adequate infrastructure to accommodate 
residential development in all areas of the unincorporated county. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
68 

 

Program 5.3.1: The County shall explore ways to help to facilitate the provision of infrastructure to 
accommodate residential development by researching opportunities for providing the necessary 
infrastructure in more remote locations for residential development. 

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers. 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe  

Accessibility of Housing 

In order to make adequate provision for the housing needs of all segments of the community, the 
County must ensure equal and fair housing opportunities are available to all residents.   
 
Goal 6.0 - Promote equal opportunity for all residents to reside in housing of their choice.   

Policy 6.1 - Equal Opportunity 

The County shall work to prohibit discrimination in the sale or rental of housing with regard to race, 
ethnic background, religion, handicap, income, sex, age, household composition or other protected 
characteristics.  

Program 6.1.1: The County shall take positive action to assure unrestricted access to housing. The 
County will continue to support local housing service providers to provide fair housing services and 
assist in program outreach.   

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers, Stanislaus Housing Authority 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe 

 
Policy 6.2 - Residential Care Facilities The County shall work to ensure that equal and fair housing 
opportunities are available to all residents.   
 
Program 6.2.1: The County will continue efforts to mitigate or remove constraints on housing for 
persons with disabilities and will update its code to accurately follow new State regulations.  
 
Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 

Policy 6.3 - Reasonable Accommodation – The County shall ensure the availability of reasonable 
accommodations for persons with disabilities, including developmental disabilities. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
69 

 

Program 6.3.1 

The zoning code will be updated to more clearly state that the Planning Director may administratively 
approve requests for modification to certain standards with regard to reasonable accommodation on a 
case by case basis and with the criterion that the modifications do not affect the structure meeting 
building and safety standards per Building and Safety staff.  

Funding: Planning Department Budget 

Responsible Party: County 

Time Frame: Within 2-years of HCD Certification of the 6th Cycle Housing Element 

Goal 7.0 – Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing. 

Policy 7.1 The County shall work to ensure housing opportunities in areas with concentrations of 
minority population, female householders with no spouse present and children under 18, persons with 
disabilities and persons livening in poverty that were found in the County through the AFFH 
evaluation. Even though they do not rise to the levels usually found in more populated urban and 
suburban areas in Inyo County, they are there. Census Tract 8 that incorporates the entire county 
south of Lone Pine and east to the Nevada border has the highest levels these concentrations. 
 

Program 7.1.1  

The County shall work to provide affordable housing opportunities for areas with concentrated 
poverty and other protected characteristics in the County. This is primarily found in Census Tract 8, 
and more specifically the community of Lone Pine. This will be accomplished by partnering with local 
organizations to target this area and providing technical assistance and/or pass-through funds as 
appropriate for the development of units affordable to extremely low, very low, or low-income 
households.  

Funding: Available State, Federal, and local funds (HOME, MHP, CDBG, USDA, etc.) 

Responsible Party: County, local housing service providers  

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe as opportunities arise 

Policy 7.2 - The County shall work to ensure that the needs of its senior population are met. Inyo 
County overall has 20-percent of Households with a householder who is 65-years or older. Census 
Tracts 5 and 8 on their own also show that 20-percent of households with a householder 65-years or 
older.  

Program 7.2.1 
The County will continue working with the housing stakeholder group established during the housing 
element update to further define housing issues in the county and specifically senior housing. This 
work will include identifying and applying for grants to provide affordable housing located near 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
70 

 

services. A focus will be placed on Census Tracts 5 and 8 as these include the areas in the County with 
the highest percentages of households with a householder 65-years and older. 
 
Funding: County Planning Department budget, available State, Federal, and local funds (HOME, 
MHP, CDBG, USDA, etc.) 
 

Responsible Party: County, housing stakeholder group, local housing service providers, senior 
program providers 

Time Frame: Within the 2021-2029 Housing Element timeframe as opportunities arise 

 
Table 44 - Quantified Objectives  

 

Task 
Income Level 

Extremely 
Low 

Very 
Low Low Moderate Above  

Moderate Total 

Fair Share Allocation 
  

23 
 

23 
 

40 
 

39 
 

80 
 

205 

Residential Permits Issued 
 Since December, 2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 

New Construction 
Objectives 3 3 5 5 5 21 

Rehabilitation 3 3 3 3 3 15 

Conservation (at-risk) N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* 

Total 
 

6 6 8 8 8 36 

Source: HCD, 2020 and Inyo County Planning Department, 2020  
* The County does not have at risk units, please see Units at Risk of Converting to Market-Rate Uses 

 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

 June 2021 
   

 
Appendix A   

Public Outreach 
 

The County began work on the 2021 update in November 2020. Staff took questions and comments 
related to housing issues during a public outreach meeting for a Vacant Lands Inventory and 
Evaluation of General Plan and Zoning Designations for Possible Rezoning to Encourage 
Affordability through Higher Density Housing. A meeting was also held with County Health and 
Human Services and Mammoth Lakes Housing (a local affordable housing non-profit) in November 
2020 and a meeting with the Inyo Mono Advocates for Community Action (IMACA) in January 2021, 
a low income (focus on extremely low), special needs and housing non-profit. These meetings focused 
on the barriers to providing housing for the populations they work with. The issues they identified 
were: 

• No land for development 

• No developer interest/affordable housing not profitable  

• Infrastructure issues to support development are too expensive to address 

• Rural area non-profits have a difficult time competing for funding  

• Rural areas cannot get the necessary points for grant opportunities due to transit 
requirements among others. Funding geared to urban areas. 

Possible solutions: 

• Continue to work with the Los Angeles Department of Water and 
Power (DWP) on land divestments and long term leases for mobile 
home parks located on their land 

• Grants for infrastructure improvements 

• More opportunities for re-purposing and rehabilitating properties, 
especially multi-family, with restrictions on raising rents 

• Include the communities in the remote southeast part of the County, 
primarily Tecopa 

• Incentives for owners of vacant houses to rent, IMACA can provide 
property rehabilitation funding if rented to homeless or at risk people 

• Encourage ADU development. 

To initiate the formal outreach process, more than 20-letters/emails were sent to a broad cross-section 
of stakeholders in the County. Consultation invitations were also sent to 10-tribal representatives. The 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

letters briefly described the reason for the update and requested the stakeholders provide input at any 
time during the update process by visiting the Housing Element update section on the County’s 
website, directly contacting County staff, requesting a meeting, or by attending a virtual public 
workshop.  

Tribal Consultations 

One Tribe, the Big Pine Paiute Tribe of the Owens Valley, requested consultation, but never 
responded to scheduling requests.  

Public Workshops  

In addition to the several meetings County staff held with local non-profits. A meeting with: 
IMACA and Mammoth Lakes Housing; a local realtor; property manager; developer; a 
representative from DWP; and a representative from the Northern Inyo Hospital District (a major 
employer in the County) was held in February 2021. An additional public workshop was hosted by 
the Planning Commission during the draft stage of the 2021 Housing Element in March 2021. The 
goal of these workshops was to gather feedback from stakeholders and the attending public 
regarding the housing concerns of Inyo County residents and housing service providers.  

At the first meeting staff posed several questions, including: 

1. What do you see as the most limiting factor in your organizations’ 
ability to succeed in its housing mission? 

2. What sort of policies or programs do you think would be the most 
effective in improving your organization’s ability to succeed your housing 
mission? 

3. What do you think local governments should do to help your 
organization achieve its mission? 

4. Other relevant questions, thoughts, ideas? 

Responses included: 

1. 

• I deal primarily with moderate and above moderate properties; there is 
never enough rental stock 

•  All but one attendee agreed that there is not enough housing stock or 
land for development in the County 

• DWP has to balance. Their land is considered essential for water 
provision for the City of Los Angeles 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

• State regulations regarding fire protection puts limitations on 
subdivision and the affordability of building 

• The lack of housing opportunity is a challenge for local employers. It 
affects their ability to secure and retain employees. This includes even 
at the high end of housing opportunities  

• DWP employees leave the area too, due to the lack of available housing 

• It took IMACA over 10-years to purchase property from DWP for a 
permanent supportive housing project, this is too long 

• There is a growing homeless population 

• There needs to be more gap funding from local jurisdictions to make 
up for what grants do not cover. 

2. 

• Change County zoning to allow for more than one ADU per property 
(restrict to long term rentals) 

• Relax zoning to allow for more units in general 

• Create incentives for developers 

• Creation of more Community Service Districts – fire protection 

• Infrastructure planning 

• Infrastructure financing 

• DWP needs to release more land, especially in the Bishop City limits 

• Down payment assistance programs by employers (DWP) 

• Assistance for rehabilitation of rundown and/or vacant properties 

• Loan fund for ADU development or vacant houses (income restricted) 

• New taxes or fees to create a pool of money to grant or loan to 
developers 

• Self-build housing projects and co-ops. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

3.  

• It is easier for DWP to release land to other jurisdictions than to 
private parties 

• Create a twenty-year housing plan identifying areas for development, 
rezoning, etc. Community input would be very beneficial. Plan should 
include south County as well 

• Put limitations on the number of short-term rental permits per year and 
limit the number of nights they can be rented 

• Work on vacancy issues (second homes) 

• Landlord incentives to rent to low income and get more to participate 
in Section 8 housing 

• Rehabilitation funding can create more habitable space 

• Allow for more residential use on commercially zoned property 

• Get DWP properties zoned for residential development prior to 
divestment. Chose by infrastructure availability 

• Target properties that are easiest to develop for General Plan and 
zoning designation changes 

• Taxation programs for vacant properties with a very targeted program 
for allocation these funds to affordable housing projects. 

4. There were no additional questions, thoughts or ideas. 

Planning Commission Workshop 

The Planning Commission hosted a public workshop on the Housing Element Update on March 24, 
2021. Staff prepared a number of questions for the attendees to respond to. These questions were: 

1. Have you or someone you know experienced housing discrimination in 
 Inyo County? 

2. If so, were there barriers to reporting it? 

3. What barriers exist locally to access to housing? 

4. What do you think the County can do to improve access to housing? 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

5. Is access to services an issue where you live? 

6. If you have a disability, does your home have reasonable 
accommodations? 

7. What housing types does the County need more of? 

8. What housing types does the County need less of? 

9. What has been the most difficult barrier for you, personally, in finding 
housing opportunities in the County? 

10. Where should additional housing be located in the County? 

11. What is your dream home? 

Responses included: 

1. 
No one had experiences with housing discrimination 

2. 
There may be barriers to reporting. People might not know where to 
report and there may also be a lack of legal aid. 

3. 
•As a property manager the barriers to getting rental housing I find 

are: income, credit, a lack of rental housing and multi-family 
units, and pets. As for ownership: out of price range, no 
workforce housing or down payment assistance, not enough 
land for development. 

•The hospital has contract employees that need shorter rental 
periods and lower costs as many have homes and mortgages 
elsewhere, pets. The hospital has had to purchase property so 
there contract employees have housing 

•The costs of development here are too high for non-profit 
developers to be interested 

•The lack of land has made it impossible for the hospital to build 
housing for their workers 

•Look into vacant commercial buildings and sites for residential 
development. Local gap funding for grants, makes getting the 
points for low-income housing easier to get 

•Look into land transfer concept and lots sales DWP-USDA 
• Allow for 2 ADUs per parcel and make rezoning requirements 

easier for smaller lots so more units can be built per parcel.  
•Limit ADUs rented for short-term 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

4.  
•Reasonable accommodations for disabled is expensive there need 

to be programs to help financially 
 

5. There were no responses to this question 
 
6. 

•Small infill, affordable rentals and ownership opportunities, first 
time buyer help 

•Look into homeowner land trust model 
•Senior housing 
•1 and 2 bedroom units are in high demand – not enough of them 
•Encourage repurposing vacant commercial properties 
•Empty DWP homes should be rented or sold 
•Help people who want to move here from somewhere else 

without community connections to find available housing a 
housing availability clearinghouse 

•Local online rental finder 
•Approach owners of vacant homes to try to get them to rent or 

sell 
•Create a vacant building tax to help fund affordable housing 

projects 
•The lack of land supply creates the biggest barrier, maybe use 

eminent domain to get land and/or units in disrepair, etc. 
 

7. 
•County does not need more large lot developments, there are 

plenty 
 

8.  

•I just had the opportunity to get a job in the County and a rental 
in Big Pine that is my dream home. 

•Safe and warm that costs no more than 35% of monthly incomes. 
 

Planning Commission Hearing 

Board of Supervisors Hearing 

Comment Letters 

In addition to gathering comments from attendees at the public workshop, residents were invited to 
submit comments directly to the County regarding the questions related to access and availability as 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

well as the draft of the Housing Element update. No comment letters were received by the County 
during the housing element update process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

Appendix B Housing Program Review 2014-2020 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 
Implements Policy 1.1 
The County supports the provision of 
rehabilitation assistance to lower-
income owner and renter-occupied 
households to facilitate unit upgrading. 
The County will encourage initiation 
of a rehabilitation program with the 
goal of improving 15 units over the 
planning period (3 per year). Funding:  
CDBG 

2014–2019 Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
did not initiate a rehabilitation program 
during the planning period due to a lack 
of staff and funding for this type of 
activity.  

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue to 
support local housing 
assistance providers’ 
efforts and is in the 
process of initiating its 
own rehabilitation loan 
program. 

Implements Policy 1.2 
The County shall ensure sensitive 
residential code enforcement and 
provide information on available 
rehabilitation assistance to bring 
substandard units into compliance 
with County Codes and to meet 
current fire safe ordinances. Funding: 
County 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
continued to educate the public and 
stakeholders about housing programs, 
including housing rehabilitation and 
weatherization assistance.   

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue to 
support outreach efforts 
for rehabilitation, fire 
safety or weatherization 
efforts in the county. 
These are primarily 
conducted by Building and 
Safety and Planning staff. 

Implements Policy 1.3 
The County shall continue to provide 
outreach programs to educate the 
public about available housing 
rehabilitation assistance and fire safety 
issues. 

 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress:  
The County continued to educate the 
public and stakeholders about housing 
programs, including housing 
rehabilitation and weatherization 
assistance.   

Appropriateness: Will 
continue this program. It 
has been added to the one 
above to reduce repetition. 

Implements Policy 1.4 
The County shall continue to focus 
efforts on promoting energy efficiency 
through participation in 
weatherization, utility assistance and 
maintaining an energy efficiency 
webpage. 
Funding: County, local utility 
providers 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
works with local non-profits and utility 
providers to raise awareness of energy 
efficiency, utility assistance and 
weatherization programs. 

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue to 
support outreach efforts 
for energy efficiency 
programs and maintain its 
webpage.  

Implements Policy  1.4 
The County shall continue to support 
efforts to improve the energy 
efficiency of dwelling units by 
providing weatherization assistance to 
low-income households. Funding: 
HUD Section 8 Certification and 
Housing Vouchers 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
does not provide funding for this 
activity but if a need for this service 
arises, the County would refer inquiries 
to local housing service providers. The 
County coordinated a series of task 
forces to educate the public and 
stakeholders about housing programs, 
which may have included roommate 
location assistance. 

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued.  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 

Implements Policy  1.4 
The County shall work to provide 
assistance to low-income households 
with utility bills by encouraging utilities 
and local housing service providers to 
continue to implement and expand 
programs to assist such households, 
including reductions and other utility 
assistance programs for income-
qualified candidates. Augment current 
program funding. Funding: State of 
California Older Americans Act, 
CDBG 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: According to 
DWP, one local housing service 
provider assists approximately 150 
households per year through the 
LIHEAP (Low-income Energy 
Assistance Program). The utilities also 
provide assistance to income-qualified 
families. They intend to continue and 
expand these programs. 

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued.  

Implements Policy 1.4 
The County shall continue to 
encourage utility providers and local 
housing service providers in reducing 
housing cost through energy 
conservation by providing households 
with light bulbs, reduced price energy-
efficient appliances, energy audits, and 
other services. Funding: CDBG 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress:  The County 
is not aware of the effectiveness or 
progress of this light bulb program. 
However, if possible, the County would 
continue to support this program if 
implemented. Alternatively, the County 
refers interested residents to the 
Southern California Edison (SCE) 
California Alternate Rates for Energy 
(CARE) and Family Electric Rate 
Assistance (FERA) program. 

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue to 
support weatherization and 
energy efficiency  efforts 
administered by other 
entities in the county. 

Implements Policy 2.1   
The County shall facilitate the 
development of vacant and 
underutilized residential parcels 
identified in the Housing Element 
residential site inventory.  

Ongoing This program has been implemented, 
however, no sites in the inventory were 
developed. 

Appropriateness: 
This program has been 
revamped to meet new 
state regulations and will 
continue. 

Implements Policy 2.1  
The County shall maintain an 
up-to-date inventory of sites suitable 
for residential development and 
provide this information to residential 
developers and to the real estate 
community. This inventory includes 
DWP land release sites. Funding: 
State Department of Economic 
Opportunity, CDBG 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: Site 
information was provided through a 
Vacant lands inventory and general plan 
and zoning designation assessment. The 
Planning Department provides 
information about property that is 
available for housing development 
upon request. The County has 
continued to try to coordinate with 
DWP and other public agencies for 
land releases of property available for 
housing development. 
 

Appropriateness: This 
program is updated and 
will be continued. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 

Implements Policy 3.1  
The County shall continue to work 
with DWP, BLM, the Forest Service 
and other federal, state, and local 
agencies to identify appropriate land 
for release, thus enabling the County 
to provide additional sites for housing 
development. Additionally, the County 
will continue to coordinate with 
various Tribal Councils to pursue 
development of affordable housing 
units on reservations. Funding: 
Planning Department budget 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
has worked with DWP to release lands 
for residential development. The 
County is currently working with a 
variety of local, state, and federal 
agencies to identify appropriate 
government lands for release. 
 

Appropriateness: 
Continue to work with 
DWP and various federal, 
state, and local agencies to 
identify appropriate 
government land for 
release. This program will 
continue. 

Implements Policy 3.1 
The County shall provide expanded 
affordable housing opportunities by 
partnering with local organizations and 
providing technical assistance and/or 
pass-through funds as appropriate for 
the development of units affordable to 
extremely low, very low, or low-
income households. 
Funding: Planning Department 
budget  

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
did apply for CDBG funding in 2013, 
but was not awarded. The County will 
continue to facilitate the application for 
funding with local partners.  

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue to 
pursue funding 
opportunities as 
appropriate.  

Implements Policy 3.1 
The County will explore an Employer 
Assisted Housing Program by forming 
a working group with major employers 
in the area to discuss how the County 
can assist in the development of 
employer-assisted housing in Inyo 
County. Funding: Planning 
Department budget  

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress:  The County 
was not able to make progress on this 
program due to the depressed economy 
and subsequently Covid.  

Appropriateness: The 
County will facilitate 
discussions with employers 
regarding housing 
assistance.  



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 

Implements Policy 3.1 
The County will continue to 
implement the final Housing Plan 
developed by the Housing Task Force 
adopted in 2005 in conjunction with 
the Housing Element programs. 
Funding: Planning Department 
budget (development fees) 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
has continues to monitor the Home 
program and potential opportunities for 
additional housing funding as well as 
provide information to developers 
about the density bonus provisions in 
the code. 

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue this 
program. 

Implements Policy 3.1  
The County shall support local 
housing assistance providers to work 
to assist in locating roommates to 
share existing housing. This will be 
accomplished by contributing to 
funding and assisting in program 
outreach to expand program 
utilization. Funding: Planning 
Department budget 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
does not provide funding for this 
activity but if a need for this service 
arises, the County would refer inquiries 
to local housing service providers.  

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued.  

Implements Policy 3.2 
The County shall encourage higher 
density residential development in 
areas of population concentration by 
conducting outreach to developers and 
property owners to encourage higher 
density residential development. In 
addition, the County will explore 
funding options for appropriate 
housing as funds become available. 
Funding: Planning Department 
budget 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
works with land owners and develops 
to encourage and aid in the 
development of high density residential 
construction.  

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued 
to facilitate the provision 
for affordable home 
opportunities. 

Implements Policy 3.2 
The County shall encourage 
development of housing for low-
income households through provision 
of density bonus incentives. The 
County shall provide the updated 
density bonus chapter of the code as 
requested to inform applicants of 
opportunities for density increases. 
Funding: Respond to NOFAs for 
MHP, HOME program 
 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
does offer a density bonus to 
developers. The ordinance was updated 
in 2007. It includes guidelines for one, 
two, or three concessions for affordable 
housing: one concession for housing 
developments that include at least 5 
percent of the total units for very low-
income households, at least 10 percent 
for lower-income households, or at 
least 10 percent for moderate-income 
households in a common interest 
development; two concessions for 
housing developments that include at 
least 10 percent of the total units for 
very low-income households, at least 20 
percent for lower-income households, 
or at least 20 percent for moderate-
income households in a common 

Appropriateness: This 
program is not appropriate 
to continue because the 
County is not a developer. 
However, it does support 
the efforts of developers 
planning to build homes 
affordable to low- or 
moderate-income 
households. The County 
will also update the Code 
to reflect current State 
Law. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 
interest development; three concessions 
for projects that include at least 15 
percent for very low-income 
households, at least 30 percent of the 
total units for lower-income 
households, or at least 30 percent for 
persons or families of moderate income 
in a common interest development. The 
density bonus chapter of Title 18 of the 
County Code is distributed upon 
request.  

Implements Policy 3.4  
The County shall provide technical 
assistance to mobile home park 
residents who want to purchase their 
mobile home park. To accomplish this, 
the County will advertise the program 
to mobile home park residents, 
including conducting meetings with 
tenants. Funding: Available State, 
Federal, and local funds (HOME, 
MHP, CDBG, etc.) 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
provides information to mobile home 
park residents and provides referrals to 
HCD, USDA and other mobile home 
advocacy groups, as well as local real 
estate lenders.  

Appropriateness: This 
program will continue. 

Implements Policy 3.4  
The County will continue to allow 
manufactured housing as a permitted 
use in all residential zones. Funding: 
Planning Department budget, 
HOME, MHP 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: County Code 
allows for manufactured housing in all 
residential zones.  
 

Appropriateness: This 
will continue as practice, 
but since it is not a 
program, it will be 
removed. 

Implements Policy 3.5 
The County will support the efforts of 
local housing service providers to 
assist low-income households with 
utility bills by providing assistance to a 
minimum of 150 households annually 
through the LIHEAP (Low-income 
Energy Assistance Program). 
Funding: Pursue FmHA funds 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
works with local non-profit recipients 
of LIHEAP funding to continue this 
program 

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued. 

Implements Policy 3.5 
The County shall encourage rental 
subsidies for lower-income families 
and elderly persons. The County shall 
encourage listing of rental units with 
local housing service providers. 
Coordinate with HCD to receive 
additional subsidies for rental 
assistance.  
Funding:  Planning Department 
budget 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: One local 
housing service provider administers 
Housing Choice Vouchers (Section 8) 
for the County. The County routinely 
refers inquiries to local housing service 
providers. 

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued. 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 

Implements Policy 3.5 
The County shall provide for the 
continued affordability of the County’s 
low and moderate-income housing 
stock. Although not anticipated, if any 
deed-restricted affordable units 
currently serving County residents are 
at risk of converting to market rates, 
the County will facilitate a preservation 
program with the owner and/or 
operator of the project at risk. The 
goal will be to identify additional funds 
to either continue the affordability of 
the at-risk project or to replace those 
units once they are no longer 
affordable to lower-income 
households. Funding: Planning 
Department budget 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
works with housing developers to 
provide for and maintain housing, in 
the event that deed restricted units are 
at risk, the County will work to preserve 
the units and educate the public 
regarding the importance of low-
income units.  

Appropriateness: This 
program will continue 

Implements Policy 4.1 
The County will continue to make 
efforts to coordinate with established 
self-help housing groups to solicit 
interest in developing projects in the 
county to facilitate self-help housing as 
a form of homeownership for lower-
income households. Funding:  
Planning Department Budget, 
CDBG 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
routinely works with potential housing 
developers to increase housing supply.  
This includes to self-help housing 
groups.  

Appropriateness: The 
County will continue to 
provide homeownership 
information to county 
residents.  

Implements Policy 4.2 
The County will annually consider 
applying for state and federal grant 
funds to provide homeownership 
opportunities that may include interest 
rate write-downs, down payment 
assistance, and mortgage revenue bond 
financing through state and federal 
programs.  
Funding: Planning Department 
budget 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
did not directly apply for any funding to 
provide homeownership opportunities 
that include interest rate write-downs, 
down payment assistance, and mortgage 
revenue bond financing through state 
and federal programs. 

Appropriateness: This 
program will be continued. 

Implements Policy 4.2 
The County shall coordinate with local 
lenders to provide program 
information to the public about 
homebuyer assistance programs such 
as CalHFA, RCRC, and USDA. 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
works with local lenders, real estate 
professional and housing providers to 
provide information to the public on 
loan opportunities available.  

Appropriateness: Lenders 
do not work with these 
programs – Removed. 

Implements Policy 5.1 
The County shall continue to allow 
second units, condominium 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: Zoning code 
allows for all of these affordable 
options to be available to County 

Appropriateness: This 
practice will continue, but 
since it is not a program it 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 
conversions, density bonuses, and 
residential units in commercial zones 
as specified in the County’s Zoning 
and Subdivision Ordinances.   

residents.  is being removed. 

Implements Policy 5.1  
The County shall continue to expedite 
project review and facilitate timely 
building permit and development plan 
processing for residential 
developments, including those with an 
affordable housing component. 

Ongoing Effectiveness/Progress: The County 
routinely works with homeowners to 
expedite their permits and provides 
flexibility in submittal requirements for 
owners developing their own homes.  
Typical processing times are relatively 
short. County staff attempt to do all 
plan processing as efficiently as 
possible. A planner is assigned to a 
project when it is first submitted as 
follows it through permitting to 
minimize some inefficiency. 

Appropriateness: This 
program will continue. 

COMPLTED PROGRAMS    

Chapter 633 of the Statutes of 2007, 
also known as SB 2, requires 
jurisdictions to allow for permanent 
emergency shelters as a permitted use 
in at least one zone. This zone may be 
residential, commercial, or industrial 
but must be appropriate for this type 
of use and not be completely built out. 
In accordance with SB 2, the County 
will evaluate the most appropriate 
zone to permit shelters and amend the 
County Code accordingly within one 
year of the adoption of this Housing 
Element. 

Completed   

According to Chapter 633 of the 
Statutes of 2007, also known as SB 2, 
the County must explicitly allow both 
supportive and transitional housing 
types in all residential zones. The 
County shall update its Zoning 
Ordinance to include separate 
definitions of transitional and 
supportive housing as defined in 
Health and Safety Code Sections 
50675.2 and 50675.14.  Both 
transitional and supportive housing 
types will be allowed as a permitted 
use subject only to the same 
restrictions on residential uses 
contained in the same type of 
structure. 

Completed   

To ensure zoning flexibility that allows Completed   



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

2014 Housing Program Time Frame Accomplishments 
Continue/Modify/ 

Delete 
for the development of single-room 
occupancy (SRO) units, the County 
will update its Zoning Ordinance to 
explicitly allow for SROs in developed 
areas near services and transit. 

Chapter 1062 of the Statutes of 2002, 
also known as AB 1866, requires 
jurisdictions to allow second units 
ministerially in all residential zones. 
The County will amend the County 
Code to reflect this requirement while 
maintaining its current standards for 
second units that require a floor area 
of up to 30 percent of the principal 
dwelling unit up to a maximum of 
1,200 square feet. 

Completed   

Currently residential care facilities are 
permitted with a conditional use 
permit in the RR and R-3 zones. 
Pursuant to Chapter 671 of the 
Statutes of 2001, also known as SB 
520, the County will amend the 
County Code to allow flexibility for 
the location of residential care facilities 
by permitting facilities for 6 or fewer 
persons by right in all residential 
zones.   

Completed   

The County shall incorporate 
reasonable accommodation provisions 
into its Zoning Code to provide a 
means for persons with disabilities to 
request exceptions to zoning and 
building regulations that may be act as 
a barrier to their housing choice.   

Completed   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HOUSING ELEMENT 

Inyo County    
 

 

Appendix C – Proposed RHNA Sites Maps 



HWY 16
8

COUNTY

BARTELL

MA
IN

PIP
ER

SC
HO

OL

CR
AT

ER

WE
ST

GL
AC

IER
 LO

DG
E

NE
W

MA
N

RI
CH

AR
DS

RE
YN

OL
DS

US HWY 395

BAKER CREEK

BIG PINE CANAL LEIGHTON

SUGARLOAF

HI
LL

PINE

BLAKE

HA
RR

Y

OLIV
IA

DEWEY

BIG PINE DUMP

CA
LL

IN
A

BAKER
LOCUST
POPLAR

SPRATT

MA
IN

BIG PINE CANAL

BIG PINE CANAL

US HWY 395

BIG PINE CANAL

PIN
E

Proposed - Site 1

Big Pine



LINE

MA
IN

SIERRA

BA
RL

OW

PA
 H

A
WYE

DIAZ

BR
OC

KM
AN

TU
 SU

HW
Y 6

SCHOBER

WI
NU

BA

REATA

SE
E V

EE
ELM

SU
NL

AN
D

SUNSET

POLETA

YANEY

HO
ME

TH
IR

D

SOUTH

MAY

UNDERWOOD

FO
W

LE
R

GUS CASHBAUGH

PA
 M

E

PINE

HA
NB

Y

JAY

SP
RU

CE

SA
NI

GE
R

MA
TL

IC
K

SUNRISE

MANDICH

LONGVIEW

LA
ZY

 A

NU
UM

U
MA

CG
RE

GO
R

SIERRA VISTA

RA
NC

H

SH
OS

HO
NE

FIORA

ME
AD

OW

TABOOSE

INDIAN CREEK

KE
LS

O

HAMMOND
ROME

HI
GH

BIRCH

RICE

SE
WA

YE

LE
E

PIO
NE

ER

IR
IS

JO
HN

ST
ON

BILLY WILLIAMS

ELM

YANEY

Proposed - Site 2

City of Bishop and Surrounding Area



LINE
MA

IN

BA
RL

OW

WYESIERRA

AI
RP

OR
T

TU
 SU

POLETA

SE
E V

EE

ELM

DIAZ
YANEY

HO
ME

TH
IR

D

SU
NL

AN
D

SOUTH

MAY

HW
Y 6

FO
W

LE
R

PINE

HA
NB

Y
JAY

GROVE

SP
RU

CE

SUNSET

WA
RR

EN

MA
TL

IC
K

SUNRISE

MANDICH

LA
ZY

 A

NU
UM

U
MA

CG
RE

GO
R

SHORT

PA
YA

HU
UP

U

FIORA

BRUCE

TABOOSE

BAR L

BAR M

KE
LS

O

HO
BS

ON

ROME

EARLY POND

PA
RK

LE
E

PIO
NE

ER

IR
IS

JO
HN

ST
ON

SN
OW LORENZO

CO
AT

S
ELM

YANEY

Proposed - Site 3

Bishop Area



LINE

SIERRA

MA
IN

BA
RL

OW

DIXON

PA
 H

A

AI
RP

OR
T

WYE

HW
Y 6

DIAZ

BR
OC

KM
AN

POLETATU
 SU

SU
NL

AN
D

SCHOBER

MU
MY

ELM

RE
AT

A

WI
NU

BA

SE
E V

EE YANEY

SUNSET

HO
ME

TH
IR

D

MAYPINE

GUS CASHBAUGH

FO
WL

ER

UNDERWOOD

PA
 M

E

HA
NB

Y

JAY

SP
RU

CE

SA
NI

GE
R

MA
TL

IC
K

SUNRISE

RANCH

LA
ZY

 A

US
 H

WY
 39

5

LONGVIEW

SH
EP

AR
D

PA
YA

HU
UP

U

IRENE

CHOCTAW

FIORA

ME
AD

OWBA
RT

ON

INDIAN CREEK

RICE

RO
SE

IR
IS

YANEY

Bishop and Surrounding Areas

Legend
Sites 18-45

City of Bishop



MA
IN

PIP
ER

SC
HO

OL

WEST

CR
AT

ER

RI
CH

AR
DS

PIN
E

BAKER CREEK

BARTELL

HI
LL

GL
AC

IER
 LO

DG
E

CROCKER

BO
WE

RS

BLAKE

HA
RR

Y

DEWEYCORNELL

SEPSEY

CA
LL

IN
A

WALNUT

WA
TS

ON

RO
SS

I

BAKER

CHESTNUTHA
LL

POPLAR

HOME

US HWY 395

CENTER

SPRATTSEPSEY

CROCKER

Big Pine

Legend
Sites 9-13

COLLINS

GE
RK

IN

COUNTY
US HWY 395

AXFORD

NORTH
Wilkerson

Legend
Site 46



CLAY
MARKET

EDWARDS

DALE

MARY

MAIN

LILY

PARK

JACKSON

PAYNE

WEBSTER

WALL

INYO

WASHINGTON

ON
ION

 VA
LL

EY

SARAH

MAZOURKA CANYON

KEARSARGE

CITRUS

RO
SE

DA
LE

SUSAN

GRANT

JEWEL

VALLEY VIEW

PAVILION

CA
RO

LY
N

US HWY 395

CROCKETT
CENTER

SUSAN
LILY

SARAH

PAVILION

Independence

Legend
Sites 3-8



MAIN

F
B HA

Y

C

E

INYO

MUIR

BUSH

LOCUST

WHITNEY PORTAL

LA
KE

 VI
EW

SUB STATION

LIN
E

LONE PINE NARROW GAUGE

D

LO
NE

 PI
NE

A
BREWERY

LUBKEN

LA
SK

Y

WILLOW

MOUNTAIN VIEW

US HWY 395

EN
TR

AN
CE

MO
UN

T W
HI

TN
EY

E-
SH

A

POST

SCHOOLFA
IR

BA
NK

S

BEGOLE

STATHAM

BUSH

A

Lone Pine and Surrounding Areas

Legend
Sites 14-17, 47



MA
IN

TU
TT

LE
 C

RE
EK

HO
RS

ES
HO

E M
EA

DO
WS

SUNSET

WHITNEY PORTAL
MOVIE

TEYA

US HWY 395

INDIAN SPRINGS

ALABAMAGRANITE VIEW

HWY 136

SHAHAR

E-
SH

A

MA
GA

ZIN
E ZU

CC
O

THUNDERCLOUD

GO
OD

WI
N

BURKHARDT

QUING-AH

Alabama Hills

Legend
Sites 48-57



RESOLUTION NO. 2021- 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE COUNTY 
OF INYO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA RECOMMENDING THAT THE 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CERTIFY THE 2021 HOUSING ELEMENT 
UPDATE  IS A NEGATIVE DECLARATION OF ENVIRONMENTAL 

IMPACT AND MAKE CERTAIN FINDINGS WITH RESPECT TO AND 
APPROVE, GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENT NO. 2021-01/INYO 
COUNTY HOUSING ELEMENT UPDATE AND SEND TO THE 

CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT FOR CERTIFICATION 

 
WHEREAS, the General Plan Housing Element is required pursuant to California 
Government Code Section 65580 et seq., and works to provide housing for all of Inyo 
County’s residents;  
 
WHEREAS, the Housing Element is required to be updated periodically, and the 
deadline to next update Inyo County’s Housing Element is August 30, 2021 for the 
period extending between April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2029;  
 
WHEREAS, Inyo County adopted a Housing Element in 1992 and updated it in 2001, 
2003, 2009 and 2014;  
 
WHEREAS, on April 20, 2020 the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development (HCD) transmitted the Regional Housing Need Allocation (RHNA) to 
Inyo County;  
 
WHEREAS, the County began work on updating the Housing Element in June 2020;  
 
WHEREAS, correspondence was transmitted to stakeholders in the County in October 
2020, including real estate professionals, homeless service providers, public agencies, 
and others, advising them of the update process and requesting input;  
 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Senate Bill 18 (SB18) and Government Code Section 65352.3, 
on October 28, 2020 the County requested a list of appropriate native American 
contacts from the California Native American Heritage Commission (NAHC), to 
request consultations with, regarding the Housing Element update 
 
WHEREAS, the NAHC transmitted a list of Native American contacts to the County on 
October 14, 2020 for purposes of SB18 consultation regarding the Housing Element 
update;  
 
WHEREAS, on October 28, 2020 the County initiated Native American Consultation 
pursuant to the California Government Code Sections 65040.2, 65092, 65351, 65352.3, 
65352.4, 65562.5, with the Big Pine Band of the Owens Valley, Bishop Paiute Tribe, 
Fort Independence Community of Paiute, Timbisha Shoshone, Kern Valley Indian 



 2 

Council, Walker River Reservation, 29 Palms Band of Mission Indians and the Lone 
Pine Paiute Shoshone;   
 
WHEREAS, no Tribes requested consultation;  

 
WHEREAS, on May 17, 2021 the County initiated Native American Consultation 
pursuant to Assembly Bill 52 (AB52) and per Public Resource Code Section 
21080.3.1(b) with the Big Pine Band of the Owens Valley, Bishop Paiute Tribe, Fort 
Independence Community of Paiute, Timbisha Shoshone, Kern Valley Indian Council, 
Walker River Reservation, 29 Palms Band of Mission Indians, Cazaban Band of Mission 
Indians, Torres Martinez Desert Cahuilla Indians and the Lone Pine Paiute Shoshone 
Tribe;  
 
WHEREAS, the only Bishop Paiute Tribe requested consultation;  
 
WHEREAS, on May 27, 2021 County Staff and the First and Third District Supervisors 
meet with the Bishop Paiute for consultation to discuss housing issues and the Tribe had 
no comments;  

 
WHEREAS, on Wednesday April 26, 2021 the County held an advertised public 
workshop via a Zoom meeting to educate interested parties about housing issues, the 
Housing Element update process, the sections with proposed changes and took 
comments;  
 
WHEREAS, on April 28, 2021 the County sent a draft of the proposed  
changes to the Housing Element to the California Department of Housing and 
Community Development for review and comment;  
 
WHEREAS, on June 25 the California Department of Housing and Community 
Development sent a letter of findings regarding the Housing Element and on June 16 
and July 29, 2021 the County met with the California Department of Housing and 
Community Development to discuss recommended changes;  
 
WHEREAS, after the California Department of Housing and Community Development 
review staff made the recommended changes; 
 
WHEREAS, the Inyo County Board of Supervisors, through Section 15.12.040 of Inyo 
County Code, has designated the Planning Commission to serve as the Environmental 
Review Board pursuant to Section 15022 of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) Guidelines, which is responsible for the environmental review of all County 
projects;  
 
WHEREAS, the 2021 Housing Element is a policy document that works to provide 
housing for all of Inyo County’s residents and has been updated to meet the requirements 
set forth by the State of California;  
 



 3 

WHEREAS, on June 18, 2021 the County submitted a Notice of Availability for an Initial 
Study and Draft Negative Declaration of Environmental Impact to the State 
Clearinghouse and County Clerk for public review and comment; 
 
WHEREAS, on July 18, 2021 the comment period for the Initial Study and Draft 
Negative Declaration of Environmental Impact ended and no comments were received; 
  
WHEREAS, this Commission does hereby find and declare approval of the updated 
General Plan Housing Element to be in the public interest;  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that, based on all of the written 
and oral comment and input received at the August 11, 2021 hearing, including the staff 
report for the project, this Planning Commission makes the following findings 
regarding the final draft updated General Plan Housing Element and hereby 
recommends that the Board of Supervisors adopt the following findings for the 
proposed project: 
 
RECOMMENDED FINDINGS 
 
1.) The 2021 Housing Element update is a policy document that works to provide 
 housing for all of Inyo County’s residents and is a Negative Declaration of 
 Environmental Impact as reviewed and discussed in the Initial Study. 

 
2.)   Based on substantial evidence in the record, the proposed updated General Plan 
 Housing Element is consistent with the goals and policies of the Inyo County   
 Plan. 
 
3.) Based on substantial evidence in the record, the proposed updated General Plan 

Housing Element is consistent with the purposes and intent of Title 18 (Zoning 
Ordinance) of the Inyo County Code. 

 
4.) Consistent with California Government Code Section 65585, the County 

submitted the draft updated Housing Element to HCD, and HCD provided 
comments regarding said document, and the County modified the Element 
appropriately in response to those comments. 

 
5.) Based on substantial evidence in the record, the updated Housing Element 

complies with California Government Code Section 65580 et seq. (i.e., the State’s 
regulations for Housing Elements). 

  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Planning Commission recommends that the Board of 
Supervisors take the following actions: 
 
 
 
 



 4 

RECOMMENDED ACTIONS 
 

1. Certify that the Housing Element Update is a Negative Declaration per CEQA 
Guidelines, Section 15070(a) as was presented to and considered by the Board, 
and reflects the independent judgment of the Board. 

2. Make certain findings with respect to, and approve General Plan Amendment No. 
2021-01/Inyo County (Updated Housing Element) based on all of the information 
in the public record and on recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

3. Direct staff to forward the updated Housing Element to HCD for certification. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 11th day of August, 2021, by the following vote of the 
Inyo County Planning Commission: 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSTAIN:  
ABSENT:  
 
 
 
      _____________________________ 
      Caitlin J. Morley, Chair 
      Inyo County Planning Commission 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
Cathreen Richards, Planning Director 
 
 
 
By _____________________________ 
        Paula Riesen. Secretary of the Commission 


	 Call to Order
	1. PUBLIC COMMENT (Join meeting via Zoom here)

	 Closed Session
	2. PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT – Pursuant to Government Code §5
	3. CONFERENCE WITH COUNTY’S LABOR NEGOTIATORS – Pursu

	 Open Session
	4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	5. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION AS REQUIRED BY LAW.
	6. PUBLIC COMMENT
	7. COUNTY DEPARTMENT REPORTS (Reports limited to two 
	8. COVID-19 STAFF UPDATE
	9. INTRODUCTIONS - The following new Sheriff's deputi

	 Departmental - Personnel Actions
	10. Request Board to fill vacant position
	Agenda Request Form

	11. Request Board find that, consistent with the adopt
	Agenda Request Form


	 Consent Agenda
	12. Clerk/Recorder - Request Board approve payment to 
	Agenda Request Form
	DFM Annual Payment 2021-2022
	DFM Sole-Source Form & Master Contract 2021-2022

	13. Request approval to pay County Behavioral Health D
	Agenda Request Form
	 CBHDA 2021-22 Annual Update
	CBHDA 2021-22 Dues Invoice

	14. Request Board approve Resolution No. 2021-43, titl
	Agenda Request Form
	Proposed Resolution No. 2021-43


	 Departmental
	15. Request Board waive further reading of the propose
	Agenda Request Form
	Title 22 Update Ordinance
	Code Enforcement Complaint Form
	Code Enforcement Flow Chart

	16. Request Board ratify and approve the agreement between the County of Inyo and HolaDoctor Inc. for Language Services.
	Agenda Request Form
	HolaDoctor Inc. Contract

	17. Request Board ratify and approve the agreement bet
	Agenda Request Form
	Cardno ChemRisk Contract

	18. Request Board ratify and approve the contract betw
	Agenda Request Form
	CDSS Agreement

	19. Request Board ratify and approve the contract betw
	Agenda Request Form
	Inyo County - Hanson Bridgett LLP Contract

	20. Request Board: A) declare a limited amount of offi
	Agenda Request Form

	21. Request Board approve the minutes of the regular B
	Agenda Request Form


	 Timed Items
	22. 11 a.m. - County Counsel/County Administrator - Re
	Agenda Request Form
	Ordinance Repealing Chapter 2.07
	Ordinance Replacing Chapter 2.30

	23. 11 a.m. - Planning Department - Request Board: A) 
	Agenda Request Form
	2021 Housing Element Update Draft
	Planning Commission Resolution


	 Comment
	24. PUBLIC COMMENT

	 Board Members and Staff Reports

	Text1: 
	Text2: 
	Text4: 
	Text5: 
	Text6: 
	Text7: 
	Text8: 
	Text9: 
	Text10: 
	Text11: 
	Text12: 
	Check Box13: Off
	Check Box14: Off
	Text15: 
	Check Box16: Off
	Check Box17: Off
	Text18: 
	Text19: 
	Text20: 
	Text21: 
	Text22: 
		2021-07-22T07:25:24-0700
	Digitally verifiable PDF exported from www.docusign.com




